
17.0261.03000 FISCAL NOTE
Requested by Legislative Council

03/20/2017

Amendment to: Engrossed HB 1434

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Expenditures $0 $0 $265,117 $217,244 $265,117 $217,244

Appropriations $0 $0 $265,117 $217,244 $265,117 $217,244

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium

Counties $0 $0 $69,480

Cities $0 $0 $58,050

School Districts $0 $0 $35,280

Townships $0 $0 $0

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

The bill provides health plan coverage for autism disorders.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

Sanford Health Plan estimates a $1.25 per contract per month premium impact from this bill. Their estimate is based 
on analysis done on other similar mandates in other states.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

N/A

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

Based on the executive budget FTE count, the additional premium required for the autism coverage would be 
$482,361 for the biennium ($265,117 general funds and $217,244 other funds).

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.

The appropriation for this bill is not in the executive budget. As amended this bill would be effective for the July 1, 
2017 contract period.



Name: Bryan Reinhardt

Agency: NDPERS

Telephone: 701-328-3919

Date Prepared: 01/18/2017



 

2017-2019 NDPERS Health Plan HB 1434

  

2017-2019 Monthly

Department FTE Change General Other Total

101 Office of the Governor 18.00 $1.250 $540.00 $0.00 $540.00

108 Office of the Secretary of State 33.00 $1.250 $960.04 $29.96 $990.00

110 Office of Management and Budget 119.00 $1.250 $2,934.92 $635.08 $3,570.00

112 Information Technology Department 349.30 $1.250 $1,872.83 $8,606.17 $10,479.00

117 Office of the State Auditor 53.80 $1.250 $1,224.72 $389.28 $1,614.00

120 Office of the State Treasurer 8.00 $1.250 $240.00 $0.00 $240.00

125 Office of the Attorney General 234.00 $1.250 $6,430.95 $589.05 $7,020.00

127 Office of the Sate Tax Commissioner 133.00 $1.250 $3,990.00 $0.00 $3,990.00

140 Office of Administrative Hearings 5.00 $1.250 $0.00 $150.00 $150.00

150 Legislative Assembly 141.00 $1.250 $4,230.00 $0.00 $4,230.00

160 Legislative Council 36.00 $1.250 $1,080.00 $0.00 $1,080.00

180 Judicial Branch 354.50 $1.250 $10,635.00 $0.00 $10,635.00

188 Legal Counsel of Indigents 40.00 $1.250 $1,170.95 $29.05 $1,200.00

190 Retirement and Investment Office 19.00 $1.250 $0.00 $570.00 $570.00

192 Public Employees Retirement System 34.50 $1.250 $0.00 $1,035.00 $1,035.00

201 Department of Public Instruction 97.75 $1.250 $905.15 $2,027.35 $2,932.50

226 Department of Trust Lands 32.00 $1.250 $672.08 $287.92 $960.00

250 State Library 29.75 $1.250 $0.00 $892.50 $892.50

252 School for the Deaf 45.61 $1.250 $527.84 $840.46 $1,368.30

253 N.D. Vision Services 29.50 $1.250 $386.20 $498.80 $885.00

270 Dept of Career and Technical Ed 25.50 $1.250 $324.07 $440.93 $765.00

215 ND University System 148.40 $1.250 $1,164.86 $3,287.14 $4,452.00

227 Bismarck State College 358.35 $1.250 $2,636.02 $8,114.48 $10,750.50

228 Lake Region State College 129.61 $1.250 $953.25 $2,935.05 $3,888.30

229 Willliston State College 100.75 $1.250 $1,493.96 $1,528.54 $3,022.50

230 University of North Dakota 2218.07 $1.250 $37,118.25 $29,423.85 $66,542.10

232 UND Medical Center 435.75 $1.250 $4,302.93 $8,769.57 $13,072.50

235 North Dakota State University 1895.66 $1.250 $24,821.37 $32,048.43 $56,869.80

238 ND State College of Science 345.04 $1.250 $5,030.05 $5,321.15 $10,351.20

239 Dickinson State University 168.90 $1.250 $2,369.28 $2,697.72 $5,067.00

240 Mayville State University 210.53 $1.250 $6,315.90 $0.00 $6,315.90

241 Minot State University 441.65 $1.250 $11,569.17 $1,680.33 $13,249.50

242 Valley City State University 202.75 $1.250 $5,905.77 $176.73 $6,082.50

243 Dakota College Bottineau 84.30 $1.250 $2,526.90 $2.10 $2,529.00

244 ND Forest Service 27.00 $1.250 $810.00 $0.00 $810.00

301 North Dakota Department of Health 381.00 $1.250 $5,910.49 $5,519.51 $11,430.00

305 Tobacco Prevention 0.00 $1.250 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

313 Veterans Home 120.72 $1.250 $1,235.17 $2,386.43 $3,621.60

316 Indian Affairs Commission 4.00 $1.250 $120.00 $0.00 $120.00

321 Department of Veterans Affairs 9.00 $1.250 $234.41 $35.59 $270.00

325 Department of Human Services 2204.23 $1.250 $55,482.19 $10,644.71 $66,126.90

360 Protection and Advocacy Project 27.50 $1.250 $825.00 $0.00 $825.00

380 Job Service North Dakota 181.61 $1.250 $36.50 $5,411.80 $5,448.30

401 Office of the Insurance Commissioner 47.00 $1.250 $0.00 $1,410.00 $1,410.00

405 Industrial Commission 105.25 $1.250 $2,968.25 $189.25 $3,157.50

406 Office of the Labor Commissioner 14.00 $1.250 $420.00 $0.00 $420.00

408 Public Service Commission 45.00 $1.250 $819.94 $530.06 $1,350.00

412 Aeronautics Commission 7.00 $1.250 $0.00 $210.00 $210.00

413 Department of Financial Institutions 30.00 $1.250 $0.00 $900.00 $900.00

414 Office of the Securities Commissioner 9.00 $1.250 $0.00 $270.00 $270.00

471 Bank of North Dakota 181.50 $1.250 $0.00 $5,445.00 $5,445.00

473 North Dakota Housing Finance Agency 46.00 $1.250 $0.00 $1,380.00 $1,380.00

475 North Dakota Mill & Elevator Association 153.00 $1.250 $0.00 $4,590.00 $4,590.00

485 Workforce Safety & Insurance 260.14 $1.250 $0.00 $7,804.20 $7,804.20

504 Highway Patrol 206.00 $1.250 $4,938.86 $1,241.14 $6,180.00

530 Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation 846.29 $1.250 $23,750.07 $1,638.63 $25,388.70

540 Adjutant General 234.00 $1.250 $2,815.72 $4,204.28 $7,020.00

601 Department of Commerce 66.40 $1.250 $1,559.65 $432.35 $1,992.00

602 Department of Agriculture 75.00 $1.250 $1,236.36 $1,013.64 $2,250.00

627 Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute 43.88 $1.250 $331.36 $985.04 $1,316.40

628 Branch Research Centers 110.29 $1.250 $2,415.82 $892.88 $3,308.70

630 NDSU Extension Service 252.98 $1.250 $3,867.44 $3,721.96 $7,589.40

638 Northern Crops Institute 11.80 $1.250 $299.17 $54.83 $354.00

640 NDSU Main Research Center 336.12 $1.250 $6,508.40 $3,575.20 $10,083.60

649 Agronomy Seed Farm 3.00 $1.250 $0.00 $90.00 $90.00

670 Racing Commission 2.00 $1.250 $60.00 $0.00 $60.00

701 State Historical Society 77.00 $1.250 $2,112.41 $197.59 $2,310.00

709 Council on the Arts 5.00 $1.250 $150.00 $0.00 $150.00

720 Game & Fish Department 163.00 $1.250 $0.00 $4,890.00 $4,890.00

750 Department of Parks & Recreation 65.00 $1.250 $1,876.86 $73.14 $1,950.00

770 State Water Commission 96.00 $1.250 $0.00 $2,880.00 $2,880.00

801 Department Of Transportation 1054.01 $1.250 $0.00 $31,620.30 $31,620.30

 

State Total 16078.69 $1.250 $265,117 $217,244 $482,361

17-19 Funding Adjustments
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17.0261.02000 FISCAL NOTE
Requested by Legislative Council

02/08/2017

Amendment to: HB 1434

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Expenditures $0 $0 $265,117 $217,244 $265,117 $217,244

Appropriations $0 $0 $265,117 $217,244 $265,117 $217,244

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium

Counties $0 $0 $69,480

Cities $0 $0 $58,050

School Districts $0 $0 $35,280

Townships $0 $0 $0

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

The bill provides health plan coverage for autism disorders.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

Sanford Health Plan estimates a $1.25 per contract per month premium impact from this bill. Their estimate is based 
on analysis done on other similar mandates in other states.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

N/A

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

Based on the executive budget FTE count, the additional premium required for the autism coverage would be 
$482,361 for the biennium ($265,117 general funds and $217,244 other funds).

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.

The appropriation for this bill is not in the executive budget. As amended this bill would be effective for the July 1, 
2017 contract period.



Name: Bryan Reinhardt

Agency: NDPERS

Telephone: 701-328-3919

Date Prepared: 01/18/2017



 

2017-2019 NDPERS Health Plan HB 1434

  

2017-2019 Monthly

Department FTE Change General Other Total

101 Office of the Governor 18.00 $1.250 $540.00 $0.00 $540.00

108 Office of the Secretary of State 33.00 $1.250 $960.04 $29.96 $990.00

110 Office of Management and Budget 119.00 $1.250 $2,934.92 $635.08 $3,570.00

112 Information Technology Department 349.30 $1.250 $1,872.83 $8,606.17 $10,479.00

117 Office of the State Auditor 53.80 $1.250 $1,224.72 $389.28 $1,614.00

120 Office of the State Treasurer 8.00 $1.250 $240.00 $0.00 $240.00

125 Office of the Attorney General 234.00 $1.250 $6,430.95 $589.05 $7,020.00

127 Office of the Sate Tax Commissioner 133.00 $1.250 $3,990.00 $0.00 $3,990.00

140 Office of Administrative Hearings 5.00 $1.250 $0.00 $150.00 $150.00

150 Legislative Assembly 141.00 $1.250 $4,230.00 $0.00 $4,230.00

160 Legislative Council 36.00 $1.250 $1,080.00 $0.00 $1,080.00

180 Judicial Branch 354.50 $1.250 $10,635.00 $0.00 $10,635.00

188 Legal Counsel of Indigents 40.00 $1.250 $1,170.95 $29.05 $1,200.00

190 Retirement and Investment Office 19.00 $1.250 $0.00 $570.00 $570.00

192 Public Employees Retirement System 34.50 $1.250 $0.00 $1,035.00 $1,035.00

201 Department of Public Instruction 97.75 $1.250 $905.15 $2,027.35 $2,932.50

226 Department of Trust Lands 32.00 $1.250 $672.08 $287.92 $960.00

250 State Library 29.75 $1.250 $0.00 $892.50 $892.50

252 School for the Deaf 45.61 $1.250 $527.84 $840.46 $1,368.30

253 N.D. Vision Services 29.50 $1.250 $386.20 $498.80 $885.00

270 Dept of Career and Technical Ed 25.50 $1.250 $324.07 $440.93 $765.00

215 ND University System 148.40 $1.250 $1,164.86 $3,287.14 $4,452.00

227 Bismarck State College 358.35 $1.250 $2,636.02 $8,114.48 $10,750.50

228 Lake Region State College 129.61 $1.250 $953.25 $2,935.05 $3,888.30

229 Willliston State College 100.75 $1.250 $1,493.96 $1,528.54 $3,022.50

230 University of North Dakota 2218.07 $1.250 $37,118.25 $29,423.85 $66,542.10

232 UND Medical Center 435.75 $1.250 $4,302.93 $8,769.57 $13,072.50

235 North Dakota State University 1895.66 $1.250 $24,821.37 $32,048.43 $56,869.80

238 ND State College of Science 345.04 $1.250 $5,030.05 $5,321.15 $10,351.20

239 Dickinson State University 168.90 $1.250 $2,369.28 $2,697.72 $5,067.00

240 Mayville State University 210.53 $1.250 $6,315.90 $0.00 $6,315.90

241 Minot State University 441.65 $1.250 $11,569.17 $1,680.33 $13,249.50

242 Valley City State University 202.75 $1.250 $5,905.77 $176.73 $6,082.50

243 Dakota College Bottineau 84.30 $1.250 $2,526.90 $2.10 $2,529.00

244 ND Forest Service 27.00 $1.250 $810.00 $0.00 $810.00

301 North Dakota Department of Health 381.00 $1.250 $5,910.49 $5,519.51 $11,430.00

305 Tobacco Prevention 0.00 $1.250 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

313 Veterans Home 120.72 $1.250 $1,235.17 $2,386.43 $3,621.60

316 Indian Affairs Commission 4.00 $1.250 $120.00 $0.00 $120.00

321 Department of Veterans Affairs 9.00 $1.250 $234.41 $35.59 $270.00

325 Department of Human Services 2204.23 $1.250 $55,482.19 $10,644.71 $66,126.90

360 Protection and Advocacy Project 27.50 $1.250 $825.00 $0.00 $825.00

380 Job Service North Dakota 181.61 $1.250 $36.50 $5,411.80 $5,448.30

401 Office of the Insurance Commissioner 47.00 $1.250 $0.00 $1,410.00 $1,410.00

405 Industrial Commission 105.25 $1.250 $2,968.25 $189.25 $3,157.50

406 Office of the Labor Commissioner 14.00 $1.250 $420.00 $0.00 $420.00

408 Public Service Commission 45.00 $1.250 $819.94 $530.06 $1,350.00

412 Aeronautics Commission 7.00 $1.250 $0.00 $210.00 $210.00

413 Department of Financial Institutions 30.00 $1.250 $0.00 $900.00 $900.00

414 Office of the Securities Commissioner 9.00 $1.250 $0.00 $270.00 $270.00

471 Bank of North Dakota 181.50 $1.250 $0.00 $5,445.00 $5,445.00

473 North Dakota Housing Finance Agency 46.00 $1.250 $0.00 $1,380.00 $1,380.00

475 North Dakota Mill & Elevator Association 153.00 $1.250 $0.00 $4,590.00 $4,590.00

485 Workforce Safety & Insurance 260.14 $1.250 $0.00 $7,804.20 $7,804.20

504 Highway Patrol 206.00 $1.250 $4,938.86 $1,241.14 $6,180.00

530 Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation 846.29 $1.250 $23,750.07 $1,638.63 $25,388.70

540 Adjutant General 234.00 $1.250 $2,815.72 $4,204.28 $7,020.00

601 Department of Commerce 66.40 $1.250 $1,559.65 $432.35 $1,992.00

602 Department of Agriculture 75.00 $1.250 $1,236.36 $1,013.64 $2,250.00

627 Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute 43.88 $1.250 $331.36 $985.04 $1,316.40

628 Branch Research Centers 110.29 $1.250 $2,415.82 $892.88 $3,308.70

630 NDSU Extension Service 252.98 $1.250 $3,867.44 $3,721.96 $7,589.40

638 Northern Crops Institute 11.80 $1.250 $299.17 $54.83 $354.00

640 NDSU Main Research Center 336.12 $1.250 $6,508.40 $3,575.20 $10,083.60

649 Agronomy Seed Farm 3.00 $1.250 $0.00 $90.00 $90.00

670 Racing Commission 2.00 $1.250 $60.00 $0.00 $60.00

701 State Historical Society 77.00 $1.250 $2,112.41 $197.59 $2,310.00

709 Council on the Arts 5.00 $1.250 $150.00 $0.00 $150.00

720 Game & Fish Department 163.00 $1.250 $0.00 $4,890.00 $4,890.00

750 Department of Parks & Recreation 65.00 $1.250 $1,876.86 $73.14 $1,950.00

770 State Water Commission 96.00 $1.250 $0.00 $2,880.00 $2,880.00

801 Department Of Transportation 1054.01 $1.250 $0.00 $31,620.30 $31,620.30

 

State Total 16078.69 $1.250 $265,117 $217,244 $482,361

17-19 Funding Adjustments
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17.0261.01000 FISCAL NOTE
Requested by Legislative Council

01/16/2017
Revised
Bill/Resolution No.: HB 1434

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Expenditures $0 $0 $397,675 $325,866 $397,675 $325,866

Appropriations $0 $0 $397,675 $325,866 $397,675 $325,866

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium

Counties $0 $104,220 $104,220

Cities $0 $87,075 $87,075

School Districts $0 $52,920 $52,920

Townships $0 $0 $0

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

The bill mandates health plan coverage for autism disorders.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

Sanford Health Plan estimates a $1.875 per contract per month premium impact from this bill. Their estimate is 
based on analysis done on other similar mandates in other states.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

N/A

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

Based on the executive budget FTE count, the additional premium required for the autism coverage would be 
$723,541 for the biennium ($397,675 general funds and $325,866 other funds).

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.

The appropriation is not in the executive budget. Based on the executive budget FTE count, the additional premium 
required for the autism coverage would be $723,541 for the biennium ($397,675 general funds and $325,866 other 
funds).



Name: Bryan Reinhardt

Agency: NDPERS

Telephone: 701-328-3919

Date Prepared: 01/18/2017



 

2017-2019 NDPERS Health Plan HB 1434

  

2017-2019 Monthly

Department FTE Change General Other Total

101 Office of the Governor 18.00 $1.875 $810.00 $0.00 $810.00

108 Office of the Secretary of State 33.00 $1.875 $1,440.06 $44.94 $1,485.00

110 Office of Management and Budget 119.00 $1.875 $4,402.38 $952.62 $5,355.00

112 Information Technology Department 349.30 $1.875 $2,809.24 $12,909.26 $15,718.50

117 Office of the State Auditor 53.80 $1.875 $1,837.08 $583.92 $2,421.00

120 Office of the State Treasurer 8.00 $1.875 $360.00 $0.00 $360.00

125 Office of the Attorney General 234.00 $1.875 $9,646.42 $883.58 $10,530.00

127 Office of the Sate Tax Commissioner 133.00 $1.875 $5,985.00 $0.00 $5,985.00

140 Office of Administrative Hearings 5.00 $1.875 $0.00 $225.00 $225.00

150 Legislative Assembly 141.00 $1.875 $6,345.00 $0.00 $6,345.00

160 Legislative Council 36.00 $1.875 $1,620.00 $0.00 $1,620.00

180 Judicial Branch 354.50 $1.875 $15,952.50 $0.00 $15,952.50

188 Legal Counsel of Indigents 40.00 $1.875 $1,756.42 $43.58 $1,800.00

190 Retirement and Investment Office 19.00 $1.875 $0.00 $855.00 $855.00

192 Public Employees Retirement System 34.50 $1.875 $0.00 $1,552.50 $1,552.50

201 Department of Public Instruction 97.75 $1.875 $1,357.73 $3,041.02 $4,398.75

226 Department of Trust Lands 32.00 $1.875 $1,008.12 $431.88 $1,440.00

250 State Library 29.75 $1.875 $0.00 $1,338.75 $1,338.75

252 School for the Deaf 45.61 $1.875 $791.76 $1,260.69 $2,052.45

253 N.D. Vision Services 29.50 $1.875 $579.31 $748.19 $1,327.50

270 Dept of Career and Technical Ed 25.50 $1.875 $486.11 $661.39 $1,147.50

215 ND University System 148.40 $1.875 $1,747.29 $4,930.71 $6,678.00

227 Bismarck State College 358.35 $1.875 $3,954.03 $12,171.72 $16,125.75

228 Lake Region State College 129.61 $1.875 $1,429.87 $4,402.58 $5,832.45

229 Willliston State College 100.75 $1.875 $2,240.94 $2,292.81 $4,533.75

230 University of North Dakota 2218.07 $1.875 $55,677.38 $44,135.77 $99,813.15

232 UND Medical Center 435.75 $1.875 $6,454.40 $13,154.35 $19,608.75

235 North Dakota State University 1895.66 $1.875 $37,232.06 $48,072.64 $85,304.70

238 ND State College of Science 345.04 $1.875 $7,545.08 $7,981.72 $15,526.80

239 Dickinson State University 168.90 $1.875 $3,553.92 $4,046.58 $7,600.50

240 Mayville State University 210.53 $1.875 $9,473.85 $0.00 $9,473.85

241 Minot State University 441.65 $1.875 $17,353.76 $2,520.49 $19,874.25

242 Valley City State University 202.75 $1.875 $8,858.65 $265.10 $9,123.75

243 Dakota College Bottineau 84.30 $1.875 $3,790.35 $3.15 $3,793.50

244 ND Forest Service 27.00 $1.875 $1,215.00 $0.00 $1,215.00

301 North Dakota Department of Health 381.00 $1.875 $8,865.74 $8,279.26 $17,145.00

305 Tobacco Prevention 0.00 $1.875 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

313 Veterans Home 120.72 $1.875 $1,852.75 $3,579.65 $5,432.40

316 Indian Affairs Commission 4.00 $1.875 $180.00 $0.00 $180.00

321 Department of Veterans Affairs 9.00 $1.875 $351.62 $53.38 $405.00

325 Department of Human Services 2204.23 $1.875 $83,223.29 $15,967.06 $99,190.35

360 Protection and Advocacy Project 27.50 $1.875 $1,237.50 $0.00 $1,237.50

380 Job Service North Dakota 181.61 $1.875 $54.75 $8,117.70 $8,172.45

401 Office of the Insurance Commissioner 47.00 $1.875 $0.00 $2,115.00 $2,115.00

405 Industrial Commission 105.25 $1.875 $4,452.37 $283.88 $4,736.25

406 Office of the Labor Commissioner 14.00 $1.875 $630.00 $0.00 $630.00

408 Public Service Commission 45.00 $1.875 $1,229.90 $795.10 $2,025.00

412 Aeronautics Commission 7.00 $1.875 $0.00 $315.00 $315.00

413 Department of Financial Institutions 30.00 $1.875 $0.00 $1,350.00 $1,350.00

414 Office of the Securities Commissioner 9.00 $1.875 $0.00 $405.00 $405.00

471 Bank of North Dakota 181.50 $1.875 $0.00 $8,167.50 $8,167.50

473 North Dakota Housing Finance Agency 46.00 $1.875 $0.00 $2,070.00 $2,070.00

475 North Dakota Mill & Elevator Association 153.00 $1.875 $0.00 $6,885.00 $6,885.00

485 Workforce Safety & Insurance 260.14 $1.875 $0.00 $11,706.30 $11,706.30

504 Highway Patrol 206.00 $1.875 $7,408.29 $1,861.71 $9,270.00

530 Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation 846.29 $1.875 $35,625.10 $2,457.95 $38,083.05

540 Adjutant General 234.00 $1.875 $4,223.59 $6,306.41 $10,530.00

601 Department of Commerce 66.40 $1.875 $2,339.48 $648.52 $2,988.00

602 Department of Agriculture 75.00 $1.875 $1,854.55 $1,520.45 $3,375.00

627 Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute 43.88 $1.875 $497.04 $1,477.56 $1,974.60

628 Branch Research Centers 110.29 $1.875 $3,623.73 $1,339.32 $4,963.05

630 NDSU Extension Service 252.98 $1.875 $5,801.17 $5,582.93 $11,384.10

638 Northern Crops Institute 11.80 $1.875 $448.75 $82.25 $531.00

640 NDSU Main Research Center 336.12 $1.875 $9,762.59 $5,362.81 $15,125.40

649 Agronomy Seed Farm 3.00 $1.875 $0.00 $135.00 $135.00

670 Racing Commission 2.00 $1.875 $90.00 $0.00 $90.00

701 State Historical Society 77.00 $1.875 $3,168.62 $296.38 $3,465.00

709 Council on the Arts 5.00 $1.875 $225.00 $0.00 $225.00

720 Game & Fish Department 163.00 $1.875 $0.00 $7,335.00 $7,335.00

750 Department of Parks & Recreation 65.00 $1.875 $2,815.29 $109.71 $2,925.00

770 State Water Commission 96.00 $1.875 $0.00 $4,320.00 $4,320.00

801 Department Of Transportation 1054.01 $1.875 $0.00 $47,430.45 $47,430.45

 

State Total 16078.69 $1.875 $397,675 $325,866 $723,541

15-17 Funding Adjustments

$1.875

Executive Budget



17.0261.01000 FISCAL NOTE
Requested by Legislative Council

01/16/2017

Bill/Resolution No.: HB 1434

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and appropriations anticipated under current law.

2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds

Revenues $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Expenditures $0 $0 $1,336,187 $1,094,910 $1,336,187 $1,094,910

Appropriations $0 $0 $1,336,187 $1,094,910 $1,336,187 $1,094,910

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political  
subdivision.

2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 2019-2021 Biennium

Counties $0 $350,179 $350,179

Cities $0 $292,572 $292,572

School Districts $0 $177,811 $177,811

Townships $0 $0 $0

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters).

The bill mandates health plan coverage for autism disorders.

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal  
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis.

Sanford Health Plan estimates a $6.30 per contract per month premium impact from this bill. Their estimate is based 
on analysis done on other similar mandates in other states.

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please:

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget.

N/A

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected.

Based on the executive budget FTE count, the additional premium required for the autism coverage would be 
$2,431,098 for the biennium ($1,336,187 general funds and $1,094,910 other funds).

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation.

The appropriation is not in the executive budget. Based on the executive budget FTE count, the additional premium 
required for the autism coverage would be $2,431,098 for the biennium ($1,336,187 general funds and $1,094,910 
other funds).



Name: Bryan Reinhardt

Agency: NDPERS

Telephone: 701-328-3919

Date Prepared: 01/18/2017



 

2017-2019 NDPERS Health Plan HB 1434

  

2017-2019 Monthly

Department FTE Change General Other Total

101 Office of the Governor 18.00 $6.30 $2,721.60 $0.00 $2,721.60

108 Office of the Secretary of State 33.00 $6.30 $4,838.61 $150.99 $4,989.60

110 Office of Management and Budget 119.00 $6.30 $14,792.01 $3,200.79 $17,992.80

112 Information Technology Department 349.30 $6.30 $9,439.04 $43,375.12 $52,814.16

117 Office of the State Auditor 53.80 $6.30 $6,172.60 $1,961.96 $8,134.56

120 Office of the State Treasurer 8.00 $6.30 $1,209.60 $0.00 $1,209.60

125 Office of the Attorney General 234.00 $6.30 $32,411.97 $2,968.83 $35,380.80

127 Office of the Sate Tax Commissioner 133.00 $6.30 $20,109.60 $0.00 $20,109.60

140 Office of Administrative Hearings 5.00 $6.30 $0.00 $756.00 $756.00

150 Legislative Assembly 141.00 $6.30 $21,319.20 $0.00 $21,319.20

160 Legislative Council 36.00 $6.30 $5,443.20 $0.00 $5,443.20

180 Judicial Branch 354.50 $6.30 $53,600.40 $0.00 $53,600.40

188 Legal Counsel of Indigents 40.00 $6.30 $5,901.57 $146.43 $6,048.00

190 Retirement and Investment Office 19.00 $6.30 $0.00 $2,872.80 $2,872.80

192 Public Employees Retirement System 34.50 $6.30 $0.00 $5,216.40 $5,216.40

201 Department of Public Instruction 97.75 $6.30 $4,561.98 $10,217.82 $14,779.80

226 Department of Trust Lands 32.00 $6.30 $3,387.29 $1,451.11 $4,838.40

250 State Library 29.75 $6.30 $0.00 $4,498.20 $4,498.20

252 School for the Deaf 45.61 $6.30 $2,660.31 $4,235.92 $6,896.23

253 N.D. Vision Services 29.50 $6.30 $1,946.47 $2,513.93 $4,460.40

270 Dept of Career and Technical Ed 25.50 $6.30 $1,633.34 $2,222.26 $3,855.60

215 ND University System 148.40 $6.30 $5,870.91 $16,567.17 $22,438.08

227 Bismarck State College 358.35 $6.30 $13,285.55 $40,896.97 $54,182.52

228 Lake Region State College 129.61 $6.30 $4,804.37 $14,792.67 $19,597.03

229 Willliston State College 100.75 $6.30 $7,529.57 $7,703.83 $15,233.40

230 University of North Dakota 2218.07 $6.30 $187,075.98 $148,296.20 $335,372.18

232 UND Medical Center 435.75 $6.30 $21,686.78 $44,198.62 $65,885.40

235 North Dakota State University 1895.66 $6.30 $125,099.71 $161,524.08 $286,623.79

238 ND State College of Science 345.04 $6.30 $25,351.46 $26,818.59 $52,170.05

239 Dickinson State University 168.90 $6.30 $11,941.18 $13,596.50 $25,537.68

240 Mayville State University 210.53 $6.30 $31,832.14 $0.00 $31,832.14

241 Minot State University 441.65 $6.30 $58,308.63 $8,468.85 $66,777.48

242 Valley City State University 202.75 $6.30 $29,765.06 $890.74 $30,655.80

243 Dakota College Bottineau 84.30 $6.30 $12,735.59 $10.57 $12,746.16

244 ND Forest Service 27.00 $6.30 $4,082.40 $0.00 $4,082.40

301 North Dakota Department of Health 381.00 $6.30 $29,788.88 $27,818.32 $57,607.20

305 Tobacco Prevention 0.00 $6.30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

313 Veterans Home 120.72 $6.30 $6,225.24 $12,027.62 $18,252.86

316 Indian Affairs Commission 4.00 $6.30 $604.80 $0.00 $604.80

321 Department of Veterans Affairs 9.00 $6.30 $1,181.44 $179.36 $1,360.80

325 Department of Human Services 2204.23 $6.30 $279,630.26 $53,649.32 $333,279.58

360 Protection and Advocacy Project 27.50 $6.30 $4,158.00 $0.00 $4,158.00

380 Job Service North Dakota 181.61 $6.30 $183.97 $27,275.46 $27,459.43

401 Office of the Insurance Commissioner 47.00 $6.30 $0.00 $7,106.40 $7,106.40

405 Industrial Commission 105.25 $6.30 $14,959.97 $953.83 $15,913.80

406 Office of the Labor Commissioner 14.00 $6.30 $2,116.80 $0.00 $2,116.80

408 Public Service Commission 45.00 $6.30 $4,132.48 $2,671.52 $6,804.00

412 Aeronautics Commission 7.00 $6.30 $0.00 $1,058.40 $1,058.40

413 Department of Financial Institutions 30.00 $6.30 $0.00 $4,536.00 $4,536.00

414 Office of the Securities Commissioner 9.00 $6.30 $0.00 $1,360.80 $1,360.80

471 Bank of North Dakota 181.50 $6.30 $0.00 $27,442.80 $27,442.80

473 North Dakota Housing Finance Agency 46.00 $6.30 $0.00 $6,955.20 $6,955.20

475 North Dakota Mill & Elevator Association 153.00 $6.30 $0.00 $23,133.60 $23,133.60

485 Workforce Safety & Insurance 260.14 $6.30 $0.00 $39,333.17 $39,333.17

504 Highway Patrol 206.00 $6.30 $24,891.84 $6,255.36 $31,147.20

530 Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation 846.29 $6.30 $119,700.33 $8,258.72 $127,959.05

540 Adjutant General 234.00 $6.30 $14,191.25 $21,189.55 $35,380.80

601 Department of Commerce 66.40 $6.30 $7,860.64 $2,179.04 $10,039.68

602 Department of Agriculture 75.00 $6.30 $6,231.28 $5,108.72 $11,340.00

627 Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute 43.88 $6.30 $1,670.05 $4,964.60 $6,634.66

628 Branch Research Centers 110.29 $6.30 $12,175.72 $4,500.13 $16,675.85

630 NDSU Extension Service 252.98 $6.30 $19,491.91 $18,758.66 $38,250.58

638 Northern Crops Institute 11.80 $6.30 $1,507.79 $276.37 $1,784.16

640 NDSU Main Research Center 336.12 $6.30 $32,802.31 $18,019.03 $50,821.34

649 Agronomy Seed Farm 3.00 $6.30 $0.00 $453.60 $453.60

670 Racing Commission 2.00 $6.30 $302.40 $0.00 $302.40

701 State Historical Society 77.00 $6.30 $10,646.56 $995.84 $11,642.40

709 Council on the Arts 5.00 $6.30 $756.00 $0.00 $756.00

720 Game & Fish Department 163.00 $6.30 $0.00 $24,645.60 $24,645.60

750 Department of Parks & Recreation 65.00 $6.30 $9,459.38 $368.62 $9,828.00

770 State Water Commission 96.00 $6.30 $0.00 $14,515.20 $14,515.20

801 Department Of Transportation 1054.01 $6.30 $0.00 $159,366.31 $159,366.31

 

State Total 16078.69 $6.30 $1,336,187 $1,094,910 $2,431,098

15-17 Funding Adjustments

$6.30

Executive Budget
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HB 1434 
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D Subcommittee 

Relating to health insurance coverage for autism-related services; to provide a statement of 
legislative intent; and to provide for a report to the legislative management. 

Minutes: 

Chairman Weisz: Called the committee to order. 

Attendance taken . 

1, 2, 3, 4 , 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 , 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 1 , 
19, 20,21 

Chairman Weisz: Opened the hearing on HB 1434. 
Is there any one with testimony in support of HB 1434? 

Thomas Beadle 
(Attachment 1) 
9:22 

Chairman Weisz: Are there any questions from the committee? Seeing none. 
Further testimony in support of HB 1434 

Rep. Kasper, Health Insurance 
I have been in the health insurance business for many years and until I met with folks in 
Fargo that have a concern about autism I didn't know autism was not covered. When I 
learned the facts about early intervention and early treatment for these kids. The fact that 
not only we can save money, but make their lives better. If you can spend a little money now 
and save a lot of money later, doesn't that make sense. I would urge you to vote for a do 
pass on HB 1434. 

Chairman Weisz: Are there any questions from the committee? Seeing none 
Is there more testimony in support of HB 1434? 

12:07 
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Judith Ursitti , CPA and Director of State Government Affairs for Autism Speaks 
Mother of a 13 year old with severe autism. 
(Attachment 2) 
I speak strongly in support of HB 1434 as it is written. 
26:05 

Chairman Weisz: Are there questions from the committee? 
Further testimony in support of HB 1434 

Jennifer L. Skjod 
(Attachment 3) 
29:21 
Chairman Weisz: Questions from the committee? Seeing none. 

Representative Schneider: What residential options do we even have in ND? 

J. Skjod: Right now we are looking at Dakota Boys and Girls Ranch . He is on their waiting 
list. 

Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support of HB 1434 

Dr. Daisha Seyfer, Developmental Behavioral Pediatrician 
(Attachment 4) • 
I drove 7 hours to be here today to talk to you about autism and applied behavior analysis. I 
can assure you that ABA is not experimental treatment for autism. It is widely known to be 
the best treatment. Research tells us that when ABA is applied , 47% of children will be able 
to enter a regular education classroom without an aide by 1st grade. An additional 42% may 
improve to the point of needing much less special education . That is a huge impact for the 
children and their families . Studies have shown that children who receive ABA may make 
significant and sustained gains in IQ, language, functional living skills , academic 
performance, self-care behaviors and social skills. ABA can address a very wide range of 
problems including functional living skills, language, reading , social skills , peer interaction 
and academic engagement. ABA can also address problem behaviors which tend to be an 
issue for many families. Many well- known national health organizations endorse the use of 
this treatment for autism. The benefits of ABA are very well documented . It is absolutely the 
therapy that any one of us would want for our child or other family member with autism 
spectrum disorder. I have a two year old child and if she ever needed treatment for autism 
she would absolutely get ABA. If I had to change jobs or move to another state I would do 
it. I have known many families that have made those decisions and more to access this 
therapy. That is how important this therapy is. Sadly, the majority of children in this state 
and others are not able to access ABA and a very big reason is lack of insurance coverage. 
Clearly there is tremendous need for a law or something to require coverage of this treatment. 
There has been a huge effort in the last few years to diagnose autism early. The entire 
reason being so we can treat early, because we know that if we treat early we have better • 
outcomes. The first 5 or 6 years of a child 's life is when the brain is growing and developing 
at it's most rapid pace. So to have the biggest impact we need to act during those early years . 
Even receiving ABA at a later age can have a positive impact on children. One child that 
didn't begin treatment until age 8 said his first words at age 8. Also older kids can have great 
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improvement in behavioral problems with ASA. I have been asked if speech or occupational 
therapy could take the place of ASA and that is a valid question because those therapies are 
easier to access. I never know how to answer that question, because all 3 of those therapies 
have been useful to kids with autism. However, they are 3 totally different therapies. There 
is a little overlap, but one doesn't take the place of another. In summary I hope that you will 
consider passing this bill. 
37:43 
Chairman Weisz: Questions from the committee? 

Representative Porter: Inside of this bill it talks about the specific benefit the portion of the 
bill talks about dollar amounts that are much higher than what other states have done. Like 
a 30 cent per member mandate, but looking at your state it is limited to $36,000 up to age 7, 
$25,00 between 7 and 13, and $12,500 between the ages of 14 and 18 with an age cap of 
18. Does SD's plan work and is it doing what it is intended to do at those cap levels? 

Dr. Seyfer: It depends on what your child's needs are. If it is a specific targeted problem 
that they want to work on a lower dollar cap is doable, but the families that have very severely 
affected children such as 2 and 3 year olds that say 0 words and spend the time in the corner 
of their daycare doing disruptive and repetitive behaviors that is probably not going to be 
enough. That has been a struggle in my state. 

Representative Porter: So part of our problem is that we have to take a whole lot of people 
that are not affected and put a mandate on their policy to pay for it anyway. We could see 
employers drop their insurance coverage for their employees and put them on the exchange. 
We could end up where they would pick a plan that requires a lot more out of pocket expense 

for them because this was the tipping point for their plan. Inside of our balance as we talk 
about these things we don't need the Cadillac version, but maybe the Chevy version and 
work out the details at some other time. Where do we fit into a version that is going to help 
us the most, but not have negative effects on the other insured populations of the state? 

Dr. Seyfer: I am more familiar with SD law and it would be hard for me to answer. There are 
others that are going to testify that can answer that. 

Representative Porter: You are practicing in SD and SD has a law in place. Is it working? 

Dr. Seyfer: It is not working as well as I would like to see it. 

Vice Chairman Rohr: Since you have worked with this for a long time, is there a federal 
reimbursement? 

Dr. Seyfer: I am not familiar with that. 

Representative McWilliams: I am wondering if it would work with a lifetime cap instead of 
limiting it to an age or limited to a dollar amount per year. That way a family could use more 
in the early years and then taper off. How would you see that? 
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Dr. Seyfer: The concern that I sometimes have that if families know that there is a lifetime 
cap and they knew they had time to use it they would put it off. That doesn't work. 

Representative P. Anderson: When you say it could be better in SD, what could be better? 

Dr. Seyfer: Only the top tier of analysists is covered by insurance. Often they are the ones 
supervising the program, but not doing the therapy, so it would not be covered. 

Chairman Weisz: Further questions from the committee? Seeing none. 

Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support of HB 1434? 
46:46 
Chelsea Evenstad, M.S., BCBA, LABA 
(Attachment 5) 
54:29 
Chairman Weisz: Questions from the committee? 

Representative P. Anderson: When you describe a family without insurance. How much 
would it be? 

C. Evenstad: $100/ hour for a behavior analyst, and it would be $50/hour for the behavior 
technician. 

Representative P. Anderson: Can you give us an average of how many hours we are talking 
about? How many hours a week or how many hours a month? 

C. Evenstad: No I can't. It really depends on the severity of their problems. The ones with 
more severe problems could be looking at 20-40 hours a week. 

Representative Schneider: I see from earlier testimony that there is a service in West Fargo. 
Is there service available in other parts of the state? 

C. Evenstad: No that is the only center of its kind. I don't foresee that more providers will 
open a practice until something passes like this so that it will pay for the providers to come 
in. 

Representative McWilliams: How many Board Certified practitioners do we have in ND? 

C. Evanstad: Right now we currently have about 23. 

Representative Skroch: Are there other treatments available in the state? 

C. Evanstad: It really is the only treatment that works. 

Chairman Weisz: Further Testimony in support of HB 1434? 
59:00 
Ethan Paul Suda, a child with autism 
(Attachment 6) 
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1:03 
Chairman Weisz: Are there any questions from the committee? 

Representative Schneider: Do you still have to have therapy? 

E. Suda: No, I haven't done it since I was in the second grade. 

Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support of HB 1434? 

The Kern Family (Attachment 7) 
Charlie 
Kenny 
Tommy 
Jack 
Janice 
1 :15:40 
Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support of HB 1434 

Sharbono Family (Attachment 8) 
Jens 
Kristin 
Doug 

Chairman Weisz: Are there questions from the committee? 

Chairman Weisz: Is there further testimony in support of HB 1434? 

1:25 
Ted Fogarty, MD 
(Attachment 9) 
Chairman Weisz: Are there questions from the committee? 

Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support of HB 1434? 

Sandy Smith , Exe. Dir. ND Autism Center, Inc. 
(Attachment 10) 
1:46 
Chairman Weisz: Questions from the committee? 

Representative Porter: Inside of your business model you deal will a lot of different insurance 
companies and forms of reimbursements. I am kind of curious about different 3rd party payers 
and how they participate. 

S. Smith: Some of the 3rd party payers are obviously Microsoft and Premiere Blue Cross and 
Blue Shield. They have always allowed us to bill to them directly. Up until January of 2017, 
we were unable to bill any out of state insurance through the ND Blues because they didn't 
offer ABA therapy as a benefit. I believe that is fixed now. We are in the final stages of 
getting our paperwork completed so we can do that. We are on BC and BS of Illinois. It 
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does happen to be a self- funded plan. My son does not have therapy anymore because I 
gave that up. We also have BC and BS of Minnesota which now we will be able to start 
serving through the ND blues. Tricare which military insurance we do have some clients with 
that. Other than that the development disabilities waiver has $5200 of behavior consultation 
in it. Some of those families have taken advantage of that and engaged us to come in and 
help them. We work for a local school district that keeps us very busy. If it is not treated it 
just goes down-hill rapidly. It will continue to be an issue unless the state decides to do 
something about this problem. I also want you to know there is no money. We are a non
profit. I believe this year after our audit we will end up in the red. It is very difficult to keep 
staff without having insurance reform. 

Representative Kiefert: Are the kids left untreated continuing to stay in that cycle or do they 
gradually grow out of it. What is your success rate. 

Sandy Smith: It depends on the severity. I don't know exact numbers. 

Representative Skroch: Have you been able to obtain any data to show the comparison 
between the early intervention and those not treated and the cost to the state. Like the ones 
that received early intervention and the ones that did not. 

Sandy Smith: I really don't have time to do this. I am the everything at our facility. I do think 
there are other resources that. 

Is there further testimony in support of HB 1434? 

Eric Mauch, Father of an autistic child 
(Attachment 11) 

Chairman Weisz: Questions from the committee? 

Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support of HB 1434? 
1:57 
Jen Werder, IT Systems Coordinator 
(Attachment 12) 

Chairman Weisz: Are there questions from the committee? 

Chairman Weisz: Is there further testimony in support of HB 1434? 
2:03 
Samantha Stewart, Mother of a child with autism 
(Attachment 13) 

Chairman Weisz: Are there questions from the committee? 

Chairman Weisz: Is there further testimony in favor of HB 1434? 

Jeff Schatz, Supt. Of Fargo Public Schools • 
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I did not plan on testifying today, so I have nothing prepared for you . As I listened to the 
testimony today I realized that one voice that has not spoken today is the school district. I 
can tell you that this is a real problem, for these families and for all of us. In society when we 
don't take care of the neediest when we know there is something to take care of them, in my 
business we call that educational neglect. I have visited with some of these families. I am 
not a career superintendent. I am only 5 years into this. I spend 17 years as a high school 
principal. I worked daily with parents and children that struggled in school and have all sorts 
of issues when it comes to different types of disabilities. The autism spectrum is impacting 
our schools greatly. When we know that we could be proactive and provide some kind of 
therapy that would help our students be better prepared to come to school and to be able to 
learn and be among their peers and to function in a normal environment then it is incumbent 
for us to do something about it. I wanted to stand up today to say there is a strong voice in 
the school to support these parents and all of those affected by this. 

Chairman Weisz: questions from the committee? 

Representative McWilliams: Is there a way to quantify how much it is costing the schools in 
working through autism scenarios in the classroom, the principal's office and the disruption 
it causes to the schools. Is there a way to quantify that? 

J. Schatz, In Fargo public schools it costs 29 million dollars a year to provide special 
education services. What is reimbursed to us and what is not is a difference of 11 million 
dollars to our general fund . You talk about the number of students here on the spectrum. I 
will tell you that out of the 1200 students that we have a great number will be effected 
somehow or some way. The cost to the school district in totality is probably 29 million . Costs 
to us on a daily rate. The biggest need that we have right now is the one to one support to 
help in the classroom to deal with those behaviors. We have 298 paraprofessionals in our 
district and not a week goes by that I don't get a request for another one. A paraprofessional 
costs us about $30,000/year. When you look at salary and benefits . I can stand up here and 
say that at a cost of $29 ,000,000 and of that the $11,000,000 that is not reimbursed that is 
inadequate. 

Representative McWilliams: Would it be fair to say that the state of ND is already paying the 
cost of this program in other forms and implementing this would end up saving the schools 
time and resources? 

J. Schatz: There are two things we are looking at as a school district right now. We can't 
just hire a paraprofessional to stand next to someone. They have to be trained and the 
training is very expensive, but it is necessary! 

Chairman Weisz: Further questions in support of HB 1434 

Jeanelle Griggs 
He receives $5200/ year for ABA. We tried to do one hour a week. It worked well, but one 
hour a week didn 't go very fast. Then when we ran out of money and we had to stop and so 
the next year, we decided to do more hours for a shorter part of time. He made great 
progress, but then we ran out of money and it had to stop. He lost everything he had gained. 
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Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support? 

Linda Thorson , Speech and Language Pathologist 
I have worked at the School for the Deaf and one of my first students there was a young man 
who was much taller than I. He was a senior and both deaf and autistic. If you can imagine 
a 19 year old woman beginning as a speech therapist pathologist. I had no clue how to reach 
this young man, but I want you to know one thing he did. He was 19 years old he still had 
stressors and the way he worked that out was to attack me. He would run fast and put his 
arms around my legs. It happened so that the governor was visiting our school that day and 
thankfully I knew the young man needed to go outside and he followed me. Someone asked 
if these children out grow this? That is what we are talking about. If we can reach them in 
the preschool years we see them change. That young man never did leave an institution , 
because he took a bat to the house and the car where his parents lived. So I am here today 
that I believe these children are reachable when you give them the opportunity. 

Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support of HB 1434? 

Testimony in opposition to HB 1434? 

Seeing none, we will close the hearing on HB 1434 

Dr. Tracie T. Newman, MD, MPH, FAAP 
(Attachment 14) 

Stephanie Hanson, MD, FAAP 
(Attachment 15) 

Pam Gallagher, LSW 
(Attachment 16) 

Dr. Lisa Faust, Senior Medical Director of Behavioral Health for BCBSND 
(Attachment 17) 

Brent Bogar, Greater ND Chamber 
(Attachment 18) 

Christopher H. Tiongson , MD 
(Attachment 19) 

Dr. Carrie Brower-Breitwieser 
(Attachment 20) 

Dr. Patrick Welle 
(Attachment 21) 
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Minutes: 

Chairman Weisz: Called the committee to order. 
Attendance was taken. 
Opened the discussion on HB 1434 

(Attachment 1) 

1, 2, 3 

Chairman Weisz: Several sessions ago we passed legislation that said that if any particular 
bill is declared a mandate, or deemed to be a mandate at the discretion of chair of the Senate 
and the House, then there has to be an actuarial analysis done and that is what you have 
here. The first 2 years it would apply only to PERS. The bill in front of you says that it is not 
a mandate for purposes of that PERS position that the legislature had passed several 
sessions ago. That doesn't mean that it is not a mandate, it means that it would go into effect 
right away. It wouldn't run through the normal PERS process. 
That is the reason for the Actuarial Analysis in front of you. It is somewhat lengthy, but you 
can see where they came up with the average per person per month. Both PERS and the 
insurance department are here. Does either one of you have any comments based on the 
actuarial analysis? 

We did this to see if the actual costs agreed with the what the Actuarial Analysis says. 

Representative Porter: I would be interested in hearing from PERS in regards to their fiscal 
note which shows $1 .87 per policy. The first one came back at $6 and the second one came 
back at $1 .87 per policy on the same bill. I would be interested to know what brought it down 
to that level and then how they plugged it into the bill. 

Sparb Collins, Director of PERS 
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When the bill was originally costed out PERS send the bill to our carrier. Previously we sent 
it to BC and BS and their actuary costed it out and this time we sent it to Sanford and their 
actuary costed it out. They originally came up with the $6 number based upon their 
underlying assumptions that they had. They had an opportunity to follow up with some other 
individuals that had worked on the bill , some individuals from other states that had similar 
legislation in place. As a result of those conversations they were able to update their cost 
estimate and change some of their underlying assumptions which brings down the cost right 
now to the $1.87 per contract. Keep in mind there are two ways these numbers get looked 
at and $1 .87 is per contract per month. Then there is another way that says it is per member 
per month. Per member per month is going to be substantially cheaper. For example, in 
PERS we have about 28,000 contracts and we have about 68,000 members. So if you divide 
it by the contracts you divide by 28,000 and if you divide by the members, you divide by 
68,000. At this point the note that we did our number was $1 .88 per contract per month or 
$.75 per member per month. Then I happened to take a look on page 21 and they are coming 
in at about $.71 with administrative costs per member per month. So their $.71 to compare 
to our $.75 per member per month. Now concerning the fiscal note. What we do when we 
come up with a fiscal note is once we get that number we convert it to the per contract and 
take it times the number of contracts there are in the state in our participating political 
subdivisions. You will note that the first fiscal note had a fiscal impact in the upcoming 
biennium and at that time we were assuming that this was a mandate bill , so that would mean 
it would take effect in PERS immediately. Then we noticed that it was not a mandate bill so 
that is the reason the fiscal note was updated. How that works is that if it is not a mandate 
bill it will take effect August 1. It would be effective for contracts after August 1. The PERS 
contract starts July 1, so our next contract after August 1 would be July 1 of 2019. That is 
when it would take effect for us. If you change it to a mandate, we would have to update that 
fiscal note. 

Representative Porter: If it is a mandate, what number did you come up with . 

S. Collins: The dollar amount that we came up with was 1.3 million in general funds and 1 
million in other funds. I am sorry, that is the wrong note. It would be $397,000 in general 
and $325,000 in other funds for the state. 

Representative Porter: When would it go into effect? 

S. Collins: This assumes that it would be a mandate and it would go into effect with us on 
July 1. If it is not a mandate, then it wouldn't go into effect until the 2019 - 2021 biennium. 

Chairman Weisz: You are assuming the exact same fiscal effect if it went into effect for either 
biennium. 

Representative Porter: On page 3 of the bill on line 6 we set the maximum benefit at $50,000 
and I would guess that was per year. If we would change that to $25,000 would that cut your 
fiscal note in half? • 

S. Collins: No, I am not an actuary, but I answer that from past experience that many times 
I have applied that to something and it doesn't. It depends on how they change that 
underlying assumption. This would go down by half if the assumption was that everyone 
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used $50,000, but that is not necessarily going to occur. So they will have to build in some 
assumption and figure it out. 
Representative McWilliams: In the bill and the analysis the rates go down at 26 years old . 
Would the rates go down if that was capped at 10 years old or 12 years old . 

S. Collins: That would have to be figured by the actuary. It would have an effect, but I don't 
know what that would be. 

Chairman Weisz: Are there any further questions for Mr. Collins? 

Chairman Weisz: What was the PERS recommendation? 

S. Collins: They didn't take a position on this . There is a whole process that takes place 
before they would come forward with a recommendation . 

Chrystal Bartuska, Division Director over Forms and Rates in the ND Insurance Dept. 
In looking at this actuary analysis he does reference in here regarding the $50,000. 
He says in here that it is not very common that most people would go to the $50,000 limit. 
It is naturally an assumption on his part. I think that if you are considering changing those 
limits you should go back to the actuary. He could produce those figures quickly. 

Chairman Weisz: Are there any questions for the insurance department? 

C. Bartuska: Chairman Weisz you and I had talked and we discussed this being a 
mandate, for those of you that don't know, the Affordable Care Act in 2012 was established 
was that if the state passed a mandate past a certain time frame it was the responsibility of 
the state to pay for those costs . I have done some research on that piece of it. This bill 
actually would not require the state to pay for those costs. The way the Autism Speaks 
group has gotten this passed at a national level is that they pulled out the ACA plans. 

Chairman Weisz: You are sure that it won't come back and make us pay? 

C. Bartuska: This has been adopted by 44 other states in some form . Of those 44, 20 of 
those were after the 2012 mark and the feds have not required any of them to pay for those 
costs. ACA then allows the caps. 

Representative Porter: page 3 lines 29, 30, and 31 is that exemption component that throws 
out the other plans. So then my question is what plans would this effect? 

C. Bartuska: It would affect all grandfathered business and the carriers for all of the 
grandfathered business in the state are BC and BS and Sanford having the PERS plan and 
then all large group. Large group encompasses more than just the three carriers that we 
commonly hear in the state. Medica, Sanford, BC & BS, Aetna, United Health Care, anybody 
that sells large group plans would then also be required to cover these benefits. The 
department doesn 't take a position on the caps, because we have caps in code now. OPur 
concern is the cap being based off of this price index. The challenge is that you guys as an 
insured get your certificate of insurance it tells you what your caps are and your copayments, 
etc. If this cap changes every year and it is based on a price index that means the carriers 
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would have to refile those forms every year. There is no fiscal note coming from our 
department. We would just absorb those costs, but commonly large group carriers once they 
file their products, they are filed . They don't change a lot of things. 

Vice Chairman Rohr: So is there a cost each time that filing is done? 

C. Bartuska: Not if you are domestic company. The domestic companies in ND don't have 
to pay filing charges. But if you are a nondomestic company and your state requires a fee, 
then they would have to pay a fee to ND. 

Representative Skroch: You were referring the section 6 - 9. Would it be possible for us to 
put a time frame in there like it has to be updated every 6 years or something? Do they 
update their stuff every so often and maybe we could do it at the same time. 

C. Bartuska: It would be up to the carriers. Usually they don't change things through us. 
Their contracts may stay the same. It depends on the company. 

Chairman Weisz: Do you have any idea how many would be under this mandate? 

C. Bartuska: No, I don't. In looking at the actual report he did some analysis on page 8 and 
talks about the autism registry. That would give you more information. 

Chairman Weisz: How many plans or people are we talking about under insurance. • 

C. Bartuska: I actually have those numbers. I can give you a ballpark number. Between 
grandfathered and large group in the state of ND I would say 100,000 and 150,000, but that 
is just the 3 carriers that we do stuff on. 

Chairman Weisz: Any further questions for Crystal? 

Chairman Weisz: Representative Porter had some question about removing the cap. 

T .Beadle 
(Attachment 2) 
He went through his amendment. 

Chairman Weisz: Questions 

Representative McWilliams: Why are you looking at Texas? 

T.Beadle: It was the most easily searchable. I have some other states as well , Ohio, 
Georgia, Iowa. It was a cleaner statute and they are very similar to us. 

Representative McWilliams: Are you aware of what Texas is doing currently with this 
legislation? On what is being purposed there? 
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T. Beadle: I don't think they are doing anything currently. They were debating this issue in 
2009 and then again in 2013. Gov. Perry at the time was trying to get the cap for under 10 
removed, but I don't believe they are currently doing anything to adjust that statute. 
33:08 
Representative McWilliams: My understanding comes from my cousin who has a degree in 
ABA in Texas. They are currently looking at putting that cap back down to 10 or 12 for the 
age cap of ABA services. I think they are looking at bring this cap back down to a lower level 
to adjust to cost, but to reduce that maximum. 

T. Beadle: I had no idea what they are doing. I really don't have any hard feelings as to 
where we would do a cap. I just know that the younger intervention is what is important. 

Chairman Weisz: Ok committee do you have any more questions for those in the room? 

Representative Devlin: I am just curious if BC & BS is going to offer this year. Is that true? 

Megan Smith Harn: Blue Cross and Blue Shield of North Dakota 
Yes, BC & BS of North Dakota has every intention of implementing an ABA benefit on Jan. 
1, 2018. They feel that the evidence is at a tipping point. The FEP feels that in certain 
instances often times age 2 - 12 there is starting to be some outcome for ABA. As the 
administrator of the federal employee program in ND, for those 8000 plus employees here, 
we just decided that if the science is coming to a tipping point, we prefer to apply that for our 
commercial market as well. We cover all of the diagnostic assessments, we cover all of the 
medication, the psych visits, your physical therapy, speech therapy, your occupational 
therapy. We already cover all of the evidence based therapies and we always have. We are 
now saying is that if ABA in various instances is going to be helpful to our members with 
autism, we think that we should be providing it similar to what is happening with the FEP. 
We will be doing that on January 1, 2018 and that charge is actually being led by our CEO. 
The problem that you are going to find here is that we can't really do both. There is cost 
associated with ABA therapy and when we dive into other blue plans and what is happening 
in other states. Whether it is $50,000 or $36,000 you are grossly underestimating the cost 
of what ABA therapy is for these children. We have looked into our plan between $150,000 
and $200,000 annually per child. That is in those instances where it is 2 - 12 and they are 
receiving a 12- hour assessment. They are getting revaluated every 6 months. There is a 
very cohesive plan. They are receiving some after school care which the parents are very 
involved, because if it is going to be after school hours and more than 8 hours a day the 
parents need to be engaged as well. All of that is happening, but it does come at a significant 
cost, but that is something we are looking at doing. It is just that we can't really do both. If 
we are going to mandate that it needs to be O - 26, that $50,000 cap every year we can't do 
the FEP program as well. The other concern that we would have is that this is really kind of 
cherry picking. When we apply something, we apply it to our whole commercial market. 

Chairman Weisz: Can you tell me what the terms will be on your contract when you come 
out with it in 2018? 

Megan: It is very specific on age and treatment. It is really based on the provider and the 
patient. We don't engage in what they receive and what they don't receive. It is kind of the 
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same as we have it now with our plans with speech and physical therapy and all of that. We • 
will be matching FEP exactly. 

Chairman Weisz: Does it follow what we have here? 

Megan: I can tell you that I don't believe that it follows what you have here. I think there is 
some information that we have. We don't have the policy completely outlined, but I can some 
of it to the committee. 

Vice Chairman Rohr Will this drive up the cost. 

Megan: There will be an actuary done in two weeks, based on what we are doing to our 
commercial market. 

Vice Chairman Rohr: You are expecting an increase? 

Megan: Yes, 

Representative Skroch: Do you have data supporting your testimony about ABA therapy 
having a much higher cost than what we have estimated. Could you produce that data for 
us? If you have that data nationwide and if you can show any benefit of that treatment in the 
long term. 

Megan: I think the important thing to note too is that just because we have 45 mandates 
passed doesn't mean that we have a standardization of care. If you look at the 45 mandates 
right now they are all different. 

Representative Kiefert: So if this bill passes it will limit what you can do? So I am assuming 
it would be a bad thing. 

Megan: Yes. I think that you see historically with BC/BS of ND when we went through the 
process of selecting the benchmark we had a richer plan that we ended up having to roll back 
some, because there was a different benchmark selected. I think you would see the same 
thing here. We anticipate providing a fairly rich benefit to our members and if you did this it 
would roll it back some. 

Representative Kiefert: Do you know of any other insurance companies that are doing this? 

Megan: No I don't know, but usually they follow suit to stay competitive. 

Chairman Weisz: So to be clear, you are going to be offering this January, 2017 to the 
federal. If this passes would you say that it would be somewhat or substantially different than 
your federal program. So do you have two different programs? 

Megan: The federal benefit went into effect on January 1, 2017. BC/BS intends to copy that 
benefit and provide it to our commercial market January 1, 2018. If this mandate passes we 
won't be able to offer the FEP to our commercial market because those resources will be 
used to cover this mandate. 



House Human Services Committee 
HB 1434 
2/7/17 
Page 7 

Representative McWilliams: Is there a way in this bill that we could set minimums? Like 
saying instead of being a mandate you could cover up to this amount? If we amend the bill 
and say that you have to cover at least this amount. Would that open up the market if it 
wanted to open up different levels of coverage/ 

Megan: I really leave that to you all to decide. If you are looking at the free market, all I can 
tell you is that on our own, having studied this over the last several years , because this is not 
the first time an ABA mandate has come up at the legislature, we are willing to offer it because 
science is moving and we want to support our members with autism that are seeking this 
benefit. If you are applying the free market principle, we are doing that without a mandate. 
The only other caution I have is that when you mandate in state code we have never seen a 
mandate come off of the books. Like the PSA test that was mandated a few years ago, 
because it was the scientific evidence then, but now the PSA test has a 50 something percent 
false positive, however we have never taken the mandate off the books here in ND. 

Representative P. Anderson: We did do that with dense breast tissue. It comes off in July of 
this year. 

Representative Kiefert: What is the% of the population in ND have Blue Cross right now? 

Megan: I am looking at Chrystal because she has the numbers. 

C. Bartuska: In 2015 the market was 75%. That would have been after the PERS change. 
Prior to that it was at 90%. Once Sanford got PERS, that's when it came down. 

Chairman Weisz: Are there any more questions from the committee? 

Daniel Hannaher, Sanford Health 
No, I don 't have that information, but I can get it. I will have a statement from Sanford Health 
for you on that topic. 

Chairman Weisz: We have a bill before us with some suggested amendments. I guess we 
have heard everything we want to hear or didn't want to hear. What does the committee 
wish? 

Representative Devlin: I have been consistent in my legislative career in not voting for 
mandates. We got into the study for two years because we were getting this double digit 
increase in healthcare premiums. We found out that mandates were costing consumers so 
much money and we put in the two- year test to see if they actually were going to work the 
way they were intended. If it were a clear mandate bill I would just vote no, but to fix it, I think 
we need to get rid of sections 2 and 3 and get rid of the mandate. 

Chairman Weisz: Ok offer it to the committee> 

Representative Devlin: I offer an amendment on HB 1434 to eliminate sections 2 & 3. 
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Chairman Weisz: Ok committee, the motion is to eliminate section 2 and 3 on page 4 of the • 
bill. Is there a second? · 

Vice Chairman Rohr: I will second it. 

Chairman Weisz: Discussion? I want the committee to be clear about what this does if you 
have a question on this. This will basically move it back to PERS. It will start immediately. 

Representative Devlin: Greater ND association said they don't know what is going to happen 
to Obama Care and for us to start adding regulatory requirements based on that going to be 
there is uncertain. We have seen before that the marketplace takes care of it. I think that 
is what BC is doing. They offer the insurance that the people want. I have never seen where 
mandates do anything but drive up the cost for all consumers. There is no way I can support 
this as it is written. I understand the parents and the issues they are going through, but I 
don't think it is fair to do this to all consumers when we have a better option to study this and 
then allow us to make an educated decision. 

Representative P. Anderson: I think 2 years is too long for some of these families. I think we 
have to do something. Whether it is a mandate or not or whether it goes away in two years. 
I just think we need to do something. 

Representative McWilliams: Can we put a sunset on this mandate? So we can see what it 
will do by the next biennium. • 

Chairman Weisz: We can do it, but it is hard for insurance companies. Once they develop it, 
get it filed and approved and then in 2 years it goes away? I would guess that is not going 
to be very popular from that standpoint. Yes, we can do it, good or bad. 

Representative Porter: One thing I think we need to keep in mind is that we are not saying 
that other insurance plans and companies can't adopt all of the same things. States that 
adopt the federal employee plan as the gold standard of mandates, they are looking at the 
fact that there is a component of that plan that includes autism coverage. There isn't some 
kick the can down the road and wait. All we are dealing with here is the PERS plan and 
seeing how this model works. There are other models out there. This isn't a one size fits all 
situation. There are other models out there in the private health insurance industry is looking 
at implementing in the meantime. I think saying that we aren't doing something is not correct. 
When there are other options out there. 

Chairman Weisz: Representative Porter, while you were gone they told us they are offering 
a plan on January, 2018 

Representative Porter: One of my problems with insurance mandates has always been that 
they are emotionally based and have nothing to do with medicine or science, and when the 
science changes we never go back and tweak the language of the mandate. We just keep • 
on paying. Like the PSA test. It is outdated. 

Chairman Weisz: That came up while you were gone too. 
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Representative Porter: I would like to see this expanded to the gold standard of the industry 
rather than have these pieces of emotion come in and pick and choose which one wins and 
loses each go around . 

Representative Kiefert: I would like to ask Rep. Beadle a question. If BC/BS does what they 
are planning this bill could limit their treatment options to $36,000/year where it could be 
close to $100,000, are we really helping? I think this could actually make things worse. 

T. Beadle: That is something we need to consider, but what the families say is that they 
have been told that we are going to get coverage before and it doesn't happen, so this is kind 
of a hold their feet to the fires so that we really get what they say we are going to get. That 
is why this was brought forward . That is why I said we are open to amending this. 

Representative Kiefert: So, if we hear that Sanford is going to cover it too, would that be ok. 

T. Beadle: They really don't care what you do as long as they get some coverage, 

Chairman Weisz: In the FEP it is limited to 12 and that is where some of our discussion has 
come in. 

T. Beadle: There are a couple of differences. The age limit and also I believe that it is very 
restrictive in the steps you need to take before you get the coverage. The FEP language is 
very close and tightly covered . In the original bill draft I think the families wanted a little more 
flexibility in there than what it was. Like going to the dentist's office. If the dentist does it or 
the hygienists does it the insurance covers them both. They want to be sure whether the 
therapist or the technician does it that it is covered. 

Representative Kiefert: Is there any way that we can have an amendment so if they do 
provide coverage we are not limiting it. 

T. Beadle: We just want something in there that says that they will cover it. The science has 
fairly well proven this since 2008 or 2009 when we started seeing a lot of these first getting 
introduced and popping up. In 2013 is when the majority of the states started passing this 
language. We just want to be sure we do have it there, because since 1987 they have been 
doing ABA therapy. 

Representative Schneider: How critical is that APA component to the folks that are pushing 
this to pass this bill? It definitely was emotional testimony that we heard, but it was 
compelling in that we heard that it has a dramatic difference in allowing children that were 
extremely ill to make them so much better. Parents were all giving credit to ABA therapy for 
that and if BC/BS is just beginning to cover it and does not cover it to the extent that the bill 
does. Is that a deal breaker for those families? 

T. Beadle: I know that ABA therapy is critical for some of these families, but not everyone is 
seeing the kinds of results with ABA, but it definitely helps. There are all kinds of new things 
out there. The ABA therapy really helps. 



House Human Services Committee 
HB 1434 
2/7/17 
Page 10 

Representative Schneider: Are you concerned that if we rely on BC/BS to develop their plan 
that we are going to be missing out? 

T. Beadle: I am concerned that if we don't have ABA therapy coverage in the state that we 
are missing an opportunity to try to benefit some of the most vulnerable citizens. It is a very 
solid approach and it is different than other therapies. 

Representative Devlin: Can you tell me where BC/BS or Sanford has said they would do 
something and then they didn't? 

T. Beadle: I heard it from the families. They have never lied to me. The parents wanting 
the feet held to the fire. I trust the companies we have in the state. They have never done 
anything wrong to me. They just want their feet held to the fire. 

Representative Devlin: Saying that the parents want their feet held to the fire is different than 
what you said. 

T. Beadle: I didn't intend for it to be different. I see no problem with it. I see no problem if 
they cover it and it is proven to work. This is something that is going to benefit our state. 
This is another tool in the toolbox. I would really like to see this done. 

D. Hannaher: Sanford does cover ABA in both ND and SD. In SD it is mandated. They 
passed coverage of $36,000 of children through the age of 6, $25,000 from ages 7 - 13, and • 
$12,500 for ages 14 - 18. Their services must be provided by providers that have masters 
or doctoral degrees. 

Chairman Weisz: Ok committee, there is a motion on the floor. 
If there is no further discussion on that, the clerk will call the roll on the motion. 

Roll call vote taken on motion to remove sections 2 & 3 

Motion carried Yes 7 No 4 Absent 3 

Chairman Weisz: We have amendments presented by Rep. Beadle. 

Representative Porter: Based on what D. Hannaher gave us on the SD stair step coverage, 
I like that concept better than what Rep. Beadle is proposing on the first 3 lines of his 
amendment. 

Chairman Weisz: Rep. Beadle would have no limit under age 10 and then a $36,000 cap 
through 19. 

Representative Porter: Then I guess I like the SD language a little bit better. Is there a way 
to get that printed out so we can see that? 

Chairman Weisz: There probably is, but I would like to take this up before Feb. 23rd. 

(Attachment 3) 
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Representative Porter: In the testimony that came in it was very apparent that the treatments 
are more intense at the younger ages and then get to a point where they are ineffective after 
a certain age also. I think based on the science and the testimony it pays to be intense and 
do the stair step like SD did rather than just kind of a blanket coverage that is being proposed 
here. 

Chairman Weisz: Megan is getting the copies for us. We will take a to minute break while 
she does that. 

Vice Chairman Rohr: D. Hannaher I know you just started this a few years ago, but do you 
have any data from SD? 

D. Hannaher: No, I don't think they would have any data that would be important at this point. 

Representative Porter: I would move an amendment on page 2 line 20 change that from 26 
years of age to say 19. Then on page 3 lines 5-12 replace that language with "the coverage 
for ABA shall provide an annual maximum benefit that shall not be less than the following, 
through age 6 $36,000, age 7 - 13 $25,000, age 14-18 $12,500" 

Representative B. Anderson : seconded 

Chairman Weisz: taking Rep. Beadle's amendment and making it a 3 tier model. 

Representative P. Anderson: As I read it they could do more. 

Chairman Weisz: Yes, but they have to provide at least that minimum . 
Does everyone understand the amendment? If so we will try a voice vote . 

Voice vote carried . 

Chairman Weisz: Are there any further amendments? 

Representative McWilliams: I know that we voted to take out the mandate in section 2, but I 
make a motion to reinstate section 2 and 3 

Representative P. Anderson: second 

Chairman Weisz: Is there any discussion on that? 

Representative Porter: I am still going to be against that. I think other insurance companies 
will be working on this and we will be able to see what the effects were over the interim. 
think to make this into a mandate when the industry is already working on it now. 

Chairman Weisz: Any further discussion? Seeing none, the clerk will call the roll for this 
motion to reinstate section 2 and section 3 of HB 1434. 

Roll call vote taken Yes 4 No 7 Absent 3 
Motion failed 
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Representative Porter: I move that we do pass as amended and rerefer to appropriations. 

Vice Chairman Rohr: second . 

Chairman Weisz: Now we are back on PERS. Is there any further discussion on the bill? 
It is for a do pass as amended and to refer it back to appropriations. 

Roll call vote taken on do pass as amended on HB 1434. 

Motion carried Yes 9 No 2 Absent 3 

Chairman Weisz: do I have a volunteer to carry this bill? 
Representative Porter: I will carry it. 

• 
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Adopted by the Human Services Committee 

February 7, 2017 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1434 

Page 1, line 1, remove "and a new section to" 

Page 1, line 2, remove "chapter 54-52.1" 

Page 1, line 3, remove "to provide a statement of legislative intent;" 

Page 2, line 20, replace "twenty-six" with "nineteen" 

Page 3, line 5, remove "Coverage for applied behavior analysis under this section is subject to 
a maximum" 

Page 3, replace lines 6 through 15 with: 

"Coverage for applied behavioral analysis must provide an annual 
maximum benefit that may not be less than: 

a. Thirty-six thousand dollars for individuals under the age of seven; 

9.:. Twenty-five thousand dollars for individuals between the ages of 
seven and not yet fourteen; and 

_g_,_ Twelve thousand five hundred dollars for individuals between the ages 
of fourteen and not yet nineteen." 

Page 4, remove lines 13 through 20 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 17.0261 .01001 
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Com Standing Committee Report 
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Module ID: h_stcomrep_24_018 
Carrier: Porter 

Insert LC: 17.0261.01001 Title: 02000 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1434: Human Services Committee (Rep. Weisz, Chairman) recommends 

AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended , recommends DO PASS 
and BE REREFERRED to the Appropriations Committee (9 YEAS, 2 NAYS, 
3 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING) . HB 1434 was placed on the Sixth order on the 
calendar. 

Page 1, line 1, remove "and a new section to" 

Page 1, line 2, remove "chapter 54-52.1" 

Page 1, line 3, remove "to provide a statement of legislative intent;" 

Page 2, line 20, replace "twenty-six" with "nineteen" 

Page 3, line 5, remove "Coverage for applied behavior analysis under this section is subject 
to a maximum" 

Page 3, replace lines 6 through 15 with : 

"Coverage for applied behavioral analysis must provide an annual 
maximum benefit that may not be less than: 

a. Thirty-six thousand dollars for individuals under the age of seven; 

!:L Twenty-five thousand dollars for individuals between the ages of 
seven and not yet fourteen ; and 

c. Twelve thousand five hundred dollars for individuals between the 
ages of fourteen and not yet nineteen." 

Page 4, remove lines 13 through 20 

Renumber accordingly 
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2017 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Appropriations Committee 
Roughrider Room, State Capitol 

HB1434 
2/9/2017 

Recording Job# 28158 

D Subcommittee 
D Conference Committee 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Relating to health insurance coverage for autism-related services; and to provide for a report to the 
legislative management. 

Minutes: 

Representative Weisz: Explained HB1434. 

Chairman Delzer: I understand Sanford is already honoring this? 

Representative Weisz: Blue Cross Blue Shield, which runs the federal employment, they 
have that contract. The federal government required, as of January 1, 2017, they'd have to 
offer coverage for ABA therapy. 

Chairman Delzer: 17 or 18? 

Representative Weisz: It is 2017 for the federal. As of April they will be covering that and 
it goes from zero to 12 years of age with no limits. As of January 1, 2018, they plan to roll it 
out on all the Blue's policies. Because of the mandate in South Dakota, Sanford are 
instituting that in all their plans. 

Chairman Delzer: The Blue's are even above that right now? 

Representative Weisz: In the bill it goes to age 21 and they have caps of $36,000.00, 
$25,000.00 and $12,500.00. The Blue's will have an unlimited cap; but it only goes to age 
12. 

Representative Weisz continued with his explanation. 

Chairman Delzer: My understanding is that employed benefits also reviewed this and came 
out with an unfavorable recommendation? 

Representative Weisz: That's my understanding. 
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Representative Boehning: I think we've seen the original one. This one wasn't in front of 
us; because the fiscal note at that time was $2 million. 

Representative Weisz: I think PERS had estimated about $1 .5 million. The fiscal note that 
we received before we amended the bill was $396,000.00. 

Chairman Delzer: But that one bypassed the two year PERS study part. It mandated it 
across the board as soon as the bill would become effective. 

Representative Weisz: That's correct. 

Chairman Delzer: What's the effective date on the bill? 

Representative Weisz: The original bill, because it declared it wasn't mandated; had no 
fiscal effect for the 2017-2019 biennium and the date would have been August 1. Contracts 
are effective July 1, so it wouldn't apply to the PERS plan for the 2017-2019 biennium. 

Chairman Delzer: It would have applied to everyone except PERS? 

Representative Weisz: It would apply to everyone except PERS because of the contract 
dates. 

Chairman Delzer: If you put a mandate on, is there an issue where there's a certain amount 
of time? If they're in a contract with someone for a year, does that wait until that policy is 
up? 

Representative Weisz: Yes. The insurance department did do an analysis from the 
standpoint of grandfathering with ACA. In this case, it would not affect the grandfathering 
clause as far as changing our policy. 

Chairman Delzer: Either one? 

Representative Weisz: Correct. 

Representative Monson: The Blue's will cover until age 12? Is there an age limit with 
PERS? 

Representative Weisz: Yes. We have two distinct categories under the bill. The first one 
is until age 6 and that's $36,000.00; then it goes to $25,000.00, and then $12,500.00; that's 
through age 18. The limit on this would be through age 18. 

Representative Weisz continued with his explanation. 

Chairman Delzer: Does this list who can perform those therapies? 

Representative Weisz: No. We have discussed that over the last four years. 
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Chairman Delzer: Does this say who they have to cover? One of the first mandates we 
ever dealt with was whether you covered chiropractic care. Does this say who can bill 
insurance and they have to pay for it? 

Representative Weisz: That is not specified in this bill. 

Chairman Delzer: So it would be wide open; so anybody could charge as long as they had 
a license of some sort? 

Representative Weisz: It's not quite that wide open. 

Representative Weisz continued with his explanation. 

Chairman Delzer: Under therapeutic care, not many of them are stand-alone individuals. 
Who would actually bill for it? 

Representative Weisz: That would be up to the insured to decide within their codes who's 
eligible to provide these services. These aren't medical services. 

Chairman Delzer: Are there any pre-approval processes in the bill or is it just mandate? 

Representative Weisz: This bill just mandates that applied behavioral analysis is covered. 
It's a very broad range of services in dealing with autistic people. 

Chairman Delzer: Do you know of any other place where the insurance companies get into 
therapeutic care? Are there any kind of restrictions on it as far as who can apply for those 
and who can't? 

Representative Weisz: I guess it could depend on how you want to define that. The feds 
have come down and said that the federal employment policies have to now add this. There's 
a controversy within the profession on whether it should be covered and whether it's effective 
or not. 

Representative Monson: When you're talking about licensed speech language 
pathologists, you're now getting into education services. 

Representative Weisz: They're talking about after school care that's all part of the therapy 
program. 

Chairman Delzer: The real question is whether or not you want to mandate this; if it's a 
South Dakota and federal mandate already, it's a question of whether we want to mandate 
the South Dakota stuff onto PERS immediately. At the end of two years it automatically takes 
effect? How does that work? 

Representative Weisz: It goes into PERS and then it comes back to the body. Then we 
have the data from PERS to see what the actual cost is and then it could be introduced to go 
forward. 
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Representative Boehning: Was there any discussion with this bill what the cost is if we 
don't do it to the state? If we don't help them on this end , at some point, what's it going to 
cost the state to take care of these people? 

Representative Weisz: There was testimony that indicated they felt there would be 
increased burdens on the state; but there are no numbers to prove it. 

Chairman Delzer: Closed the discussion. 
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Appropriations Committee 
Roughrider Room, State Capitol 
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2/13/2017 

Recording Job# 28288 

D Subcommittee 
D Conference Committee 

Explanation r reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

A BILL for an Act to create and enact a new section to chapter 26.1-36 of the North Dakota 
Century Code, relating to health insurance coverage for autism-related services; and to provide 

for a report to the legislative management. 

Minutes: 

Chairman Delzer: Brought the committee to order. 

Chairman Delzer discussed the bill. 

Representative Martinson: The Blue's will offer it but it won't be a mandate. 

Chairman Delzer: Right. Sanford is only a mandate because it's a mandate in South Dakota. 
This would create a mandate. 

Chairman Delzer continued with his discussion. 

Chairman Delzer: The employed benefits committee looked at this and gave it an 
unfavorable recommendation? 

Representative Boehning: We did at that time; but that was with a different fiscal note on 
it. I think it's something we should be covering. 

Chairman Delzer: If all the major carriers are going to cover it, why would we want to 
mandate and have the study on PERS for two years? They're going to be covering it without 
a mandate. 

Representative Boehning: I think the Blue's have been talking about covering this for some 
time; but they haven't covered it yet. 

Representative Streyle: If one's already covering it and one's going to cover it, it seems 
that we already have this trial in place. I don't see this necessary at all. 
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Chairman Delzer: I'm very uncomfortable with doing mandates; because they always cost 
a lot, especially if one's going to be covered. 

Representative Boehning: On fiscal note HB1719, which would start in the next biennium; 
if we don't do anything, our state employees or people covered under PERS won't have the 
coverage for two years. We're still going to have to pay for that $1 .25 per head; because 
Sanford is covering it. 

Chairman Delzer: It must be figured in. It would have been part of the bid for PERS. 

Representative Boehning discussed the language in the fiscal note. 

Chairman Delzer: Why would they say they are covering it then? This is to gather the 
information and bring the information back; because that's what the PERS study does. 

Representative Boe: If they're covering it, the fiscal note would have been zero. 

Chairman Delzer: You would think so; this does create PERS having to gather the 
information. This isn't the Sanford cost; this is the PERS cost for doing the study. 

Representative Boe: It says that the Sanford health plan estimates the $1.25. 

Representative Boehning: Made a motion for a "Do Pass". 

Representative Delmore: Seconded the motion. 

Roll Call Vote: 6 Yeas 14 Nays 1 Absent 

Motion Failed 

Representative Streyle: Made a motion for a "Do Not Pass". 

Representative Vigesaa: Seconded the motion. 

Roll Call Vote: 16 Yeas 4 Nays 1 Absent 

Motion Carried 

Representative Streyle will carry the bill 

Chairman Delzer: Closed the discussion. 



House Appropriations 

2017 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE 
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BILL/RESOLUTION NO. HB1434 

D Subcommittee 

Amendment LC# or Description: 

Date: 2/13/2017 
Roll Call Vote#: 1 

Committee 

------------------------

Recommendation: D Adopt Amendment 
IZI Do Pass D Do Not Pass 
D As Amended 
D Place on Consent Calendar 

Other Actions: D Reconsider 

D Without Committee Recommendation 
D Rerefer to Appropriations 

D 

Motion Made By Representative Boehning Seconded By Representative Delmore 

Representatives Yes No Representatives Yes No 
Chairman Delzer X Representative Schatz X 
Vice Chairman Kempenich X Representative Schmidt X 
Representative Boehning X Representative Streyle X 
Representative Brabandt X Representative Vigesaa X 
Representative Brandenburg X 
Representative Kading X Representative Boe X 
Representative Kreidt A Representative Delmore X 
Representative Martinson X Representative Holman X 
Representative Meier X 
Representative Monson X 
Representative Nathe X 
Representative J Nelson X 
Representative Pollert X 
Representative Sanford X 

Total (Yes) 6 No 14 ------------ ----------------
Absent 1 --------------------------------
Floor Assignment 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 
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2017 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE 
ROLL CALL VOTES 

BILL/RESOLUTION NO. HB1434 

0 Subcommittee 

Amendment LC# or Description: 

Recommendation: D Adopt Amendment 

Date: 2/13/2017 
Roll Call Vote #: 2 

Committee 

D Do Pass IZl Do Not Pass 
D As Amended 

D Without Committee Recommendation 
D Rerefer to Appropriations 

D Place on Consent Calendar 

Other Actions: D Reconsider D 

Motion Made By Representative Streyle Seconded By Representative Vigesaa 

Representatives Yes No Representatives Yes No 
Chairman Delzer X Representative Schatz X 
Vice Chairman Kempenich X Representative Schmidt X 
Representative Boehning X Representative Strevle X 
Representative Brabandt X Representative ViQesaa X 
Representative BrandenburQ X 
Representative KadinQ X Representative Boe X 
Representative Kreidt A Representative Delmore X 
Representative Martinson X Representative Holman X 
Representative Meier X 
Representative Monson X 
Representative Nathe X 
Representative J Nelson X 
Representative Pollert X 
Representative Sanford X 

Total (Yes) 16 No 4 ------------ ----------------
Absent 1 --------------------------------
Floor Assignment Representative Streyle 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1434, as engrossed: Appropriations Committee (Rep. Delzer, Chairman) 

recommends DO NOT PASS (16 YEAS, 4 NAYS, 1 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). 
Engrossed HB 1434 was placed on the Eleventh order on the calendar. 
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2017 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Human Services Committee 
Red River Room, State Capitol 

HB 1434 
3/6/2017 

Job Number 28731 

D Subcommittee 
D Conference Committee 

Committee Clerk Signature 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

A bill relating to health insurance coverage for autism-related services; and to provide for a 
report to the legislative management. 

Minutes: Attachments 

Chair J. Lee: Brought the hearing to order, all members were present. 

Rep. Thomas Beadle District 27 (1:10-11:) testified in favor, please see attachments 
#1, 2, 3. Will propose an amendment. Simplify bill, take out under 19 years of age, removes 
middle sections limit bill, definitions remain in place, remove sub section 4-10 leaving section 
11, give the insurance companies more flexibility, closely mimic existing language. Attempt 
to mitigate some of these adjustments. 

Chair J. Lee: What's the impact on self-insured plans? 

Rep. Beadle: I'm not fully aware, somebody from insurance will be better to specify that. The 
language that was written in here regarding the grandfather plan, that is all falls under 
subsection 10. Someone from the insurance department is more familiar with all the 
differences of all the plans and could answer that question. 

Chair J. Lee: Even if this passes this won't affect all North Dakotans. 

Rep. Beadle: You're correct, but it sends a strong message from a state that we value these 
therapies and want to see them offered and available for our most vulnerable citizens. 

Senator Piepkorn: On page 1, bottom family in process, coverage isn't sufficient in their 
area. What does that mean, what kind of coverage, insurance coverage, or treatment 
coverage or what? 

Rep. Beadle: It's a variety of issues, ND is rural, difficult to provide treatment in all areas. 
But it's a combination of a few things. One they are consistently paying out of pocket 
expenses above and beyond what insurance covers. The insurance doesn't currently cover 
the behavioral therapy treatment that they do receive. So they are paying thousands of 
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dollars annually out of pocket and so when they couple that with the fact that they are 
currently having to drive on extensive miles in order to access these treatments, that is all 
factoring into the move to West Fargo. So part of it comes from the fact that we don't have a 
lot of providers up in that Langdon, Cavalier area, but the other factor on it they could deal 
with that and they could deal with riding it. But when their losing thousands of dollars out of 
pocket a year that coupled with the time ends up being problematic for them. 

Senator Piepkorn: They're moving to West Fargo because they are going to have better 
insurance company there? 

Chair J. Lee: No, larger school districts offer better services, school district asks why they're 
coming, and it's the services. We have the benefit of density. 

Rep. Beadle: West Fargo Public school district in particular does a tremendous job and they 
have ABA licensed therapists within their school district. I know they have a working 
relationship with the Autism Day Center in Fargo. 

Chair J. Lee: We are short of workforce everywhere, help in the recruitment effort. 

Rep. Beadle: Drafting get OHS streamline the licensure of ADA therapists throughout the 
state and that was a tough thing to try to figure out how to do. One of the areas more 
therapists, as we get more insurance companies covering it might be more of an economic 
benefit for those licensed individuals. 

Chair J. Lee: The state is the largest employer of ADA but in a different format for it because 
it is for those individuals primarily with intellectual disabilities. 

Rep. Jim Casper District 46 in Fargo (19:50) testified in favor, agrees with Rep. Tom 
Beadle, two I want the committee to know that a representative from Blue Cross about 2.5 
weeks ago, in the House chambers after the hearing on the Autism bill said to me, if you pass 
this bill, we'll cover the minimum that bill requires, but we're planning effective January 1, 
2018 to provide coverage for Autism, that sort of mirrors the federal plan that Rep. Beadle 
outlined. I want to go on the record that I was told that directly from a Blue Cross rep that 
they will do that. 

Senator Heckaman: As a sponsor, I agree with the Reps. I won't take up testimony time. 

Chelsea Evenstad, Behavior Support Program Director, ND Autism Center (21 :00-
27:45) testified in favor, please see attachment #4. 

Sandy Smith, Executive Director, Autism Center (28:11-35:45) testified in favor, please 
see attachment #5. 

Catherine Yeager, clinical psychologist, co-owner Assessment and Therapy 
Associates (36:15-43:40) testified in favor, please see attachment #6. 
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V-Chair Larsen: Looking at other states, that are allowing it and of those states are any 
insurance providers in those states going above and beyond that platform or are they tapped 
out and that's what they are offering? 

Ms. Yeager: I'm not sure, I know there's data on it. 

V-Chair Larsen: With the new administration's cross state- cross lines policies, with that has 
traction and gains, will this be necessary if we have cross boarder policies? 

Ms. Yeager: Perhaps, the problem in order to use out of state it still goes through, it is 
processed through North Dakota, and families have had a great deal of difficulty getting it 
processed through to our local Blue Cross, Blue Shield. So they are not able to use those 
benefits. 

Chair J. Lee: The whole purpose is to open the market place but the problem is the other 
states don't have same criteria for insurance quality and coverage that North Dakota does. 
If you have a problem with an insurance coverage and you're in North Dakota and you bought 
your policy, because it was cheaper from somebody in Mississippi, the Mississippi 
Department of Insurance is the one who has to deal with your problem. That we think is a big 
deal. So that is part of the challenge our Department of Insurance regulates closely how 
policies are written, approve rate changes, agents are licensed and educated, the potential 
advantage of that out of state policy is dulled by the challenges. 

Ms. Yeager: Preauthorization for things outside of just our state. It is hard enough in our 
state. 

Chair J. Lee: We know it isn't perfect but we're accessible enough that usually you can find 
a person to even if the challenge is bigger than you would like it to be, that there is somebody 
that you can talk to about it. It is quite as bureaucratic all the time. 

Janis and Charlie Kern (47:50-48:50) Testified in favor, please see attachment #7. 

Senator Piepkorn: I have difficulty not losing my cool too, perhaps you could give me some 
pointers. 

Dr. Shannon Alexander, practicing psychologist, parent of autistic child (49:50-58:20) 
testified in favor, please see attachment #8. 

V-Chair Larsen: I've been hearing there is no other therapies, this is the newest, in our 
hospital we have a wing, there's one person who's certified in ASA therapy, they've been 
dealing with behavioral and mental health issues, they're billing under a different type of 
therapy, so what other therapies are they using that are as meeting this ASA need prior to 
this ABA therapy? 

Dr. Alexander: It's not new, its 30 years old, I can't speak for others, in the prison, I'm using 
a modified version of behavior modification. In other states there's occupational therapy, they 
work with sensory processing needs, he gets speech therapy services to help him try to learn 
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how to speak, psychotropic medicines, there's many different ways. Applied Behavior 
Analysis is one of those. 

V-Chair Larsen: Those are being covered by insurance currently or are they having to pay 
out of pocket? 

Dr. Alexander: Some are, typically speech therapy, occupational therapy, they are willing to 
cover those. 

Chair J. Lee: The OMS didn't include ABA, as a medically effective treatment at the time 
that the original North Dakota Legislation was passed which was a very short time ago. The 
new DSM has a different approach to it which is different. So one of the important things 
when the Legislature is looking at this as well as insurance companies I am sure, is what is 
viewed from a medical point of view as being medically effective, because if it isn't regardless 
of how many years they have been doing it, it isn't something that is likely to be reimbursed. 
There have been so many changes in a very short period of time, not only in who is included 
on the spectrum, which is why we have a large increase in numbers, but also in the treatment 
center seen as valuable depending on what the individual needs might be and a lot of 
situations are really co-occurring conditions as well, as I think you would acknowledge. 
Sometimes it might be an intellectual disability as well as autism, or any combination of things 
like that. So this is with you particularly professionally understand this is a very complicated 
thing. Each unique individual has his/her own needs and plans and so it is up to the 
Legislature not to get into the way of treatments being provided that may come out new. I 
don't care whether its testing for prostate cancer or figuring out what to do with early 
intervention for children, I think the last thing we want to do is get in the way by saying this is 
what we're going pay for and as a result that is what you're going to get regardless of what 
comes out 8 months from now that might prove to be some kind of effective thing. So I am 
not saying for or against here, I am just saying that the deal. I've been long concerned about 
legislature getting involved in medical care. 

Dr. Alexander: As I testified I feel strongly this should be the domain of experts. If there is 
empirically support by peer reviewed research, that we should be allowed to utilize that in 
treating this individual, this is tough work. Being limited in some way about especially when 
we know that there is a research supported, empirically supported treatment and not being 
able to utilize that is very frustrating both as a professional and mother knowing that Trey 
could be further along than he is except for the dollars. It might work at the prison, I've seen 
what happens when folks don't get the necessary mental health care, that is the worse- case 
scenario. I've treated individuals with autism on my unit. 

Sen. J. Lee: They come out and don't have the community services they need. That is 
another discussion we've already had. 

Senator Clemens: How is ABA unique compared to treatments? List a few things that ABA 
addresses that other types of treatment wouldn't? 

Dr. Alexander: With occupational therapy, it's important, but working with him on diet, vs 
aba which is going to work with him on reinforcing, you break it down into little steps, you do 
it over and over. What he's learning through skills training, its different versus the 
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occupational therapy, where he is learning how to process his different sensory needs. We 
have a swing and he needs time to swing before he's able to focus on different activities. 
There's different approaches, the ABA, they look at different deficits, they break it down. And 
then reinforce him to do those, when a behavior is reinforced, they're more likely to do it 
again. We know through operant conditioning that when a behavior is reinforced, the more 
likely to do that behavior again. That is kind of the bare bones look at ABA and how it can be 
different than giving somebody a medication or giving somebody dietary therapy or speech 
therapy. 

Doug Sharbono (1 :07:50-1 :11 :00) testified in favor, please see attachment# 9. 

Holly Johnson ND Licensed Applied Behavior Analyst (1 :11 :20-1 :14:35) testified in 
favor, please see attachment #10. 

Britney Hanson (1 :14:50-1 :18:49) We benefit from the waiver having previously also had 
very hard to come by autism slot as well. Large companies would be effected. As a consumer, 
I feel threatened by BCBS statements. There's been no verification of this, there has been 
no black white, as this is what we are going to do. I feel like when the answers I received as 
well as we will do this if, there is not a mandate. If there is a mandate, were not going to help 
you now. We will just do the minimums. This is not a positive relationship to have for the 
consumer. This is multifaceted, speech, occupational therapies are the main services that a 
lot of kids with autism or adults or adolescence of autism receive in ND. Sanford doesn't 
cover speech, OT, PT services on many of their plans to include many of their employee 
plans. MA pays for all of our rehabilitative services, my senator was told that they do. That's 
incorrect. We're at a critical point with waivers. Now that secondary payer for many of these 
families may not be able to get services to that route either, without primary insurance, with 
many of these service plans. So this bill goes back into that. The providers haven't taken it 
upon themselves to meet the needs of their consumers, so begging the Legislature to stand 
up and say you can't keep ignoring the needs of the people. 1 in 5 families with special needs, 
it insurance would help it might give us a little bit. 

Kristin Sharbono (1 :19:20-1 :20:00) testified in favor, please see attachment #11. 

Opposition 

Megan Houn Director of Government Relations for Blue Cross, Blue Shield of ND 
(1 :21 :20-1) testified in opposition, please see attachment #12, from Elizabeth Faust. 

V-Chair Larsen: Mandate at the cost that they are hearing you guys are going to support, 
what's on the bill now is a little lower than what you guys are talking about is that something 
that maybe we should just have it at what you guys are saying it's going to be? 

Megan Houn: Other mandates across the nation, the cost varies significantly. To provide a 
robust and comprehensive ABA benefit, the cost will be significantly more than what's 
included in the bill. 

V-Chair Larsen: When I was talking early about areas that people working with autism, they 
may have someone certified in the ABA, fielding cases, do you think that currently they're 
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taking those pieces and then just kind of melding them into the cogitative behavior therapy • 
and getting those insurances paid so they can continue to be helping these patients? 

Megan Houn: I know there's a comprehensive licensing certification between the Board 
Certified Behavioral Analysists nationally and also the Board of Psychology here in the state, 
and as I mentioned previously, we support and reimburse and have for a decade, all of the 
medical and diagnostic and other therapies, so that might be one that you want to have the 
doctors stamp. 

V-Chair Larsen: I got your brochure, it says you pay 30%, if it's in the DSM its covered and 
their charting it, its paid for right? 

Megan Houn: correct. 

Senator Heckaman: We've heard that they're not sure about your commitment to the 
January 1, 2018. Is that an absolute where Blue Cross is coming forward on January 1, 2018 
with services? 

Megan Houn: To be honest that was a track we were exploring, we are about 8 months out 
from implementation of that being as we were looking at January 1, 2018. I think that then 
you start looking at the various routes that we have to take, I think from Pam's statement that 
we will follow the law 

Senator Heckaman: That wasn't my question. Is it an absolute for you on January 1, 2018 • 
that you're telling the families here? 

Megan Houn: That depends on what happens here. 

Chair J. Lee: Can I rephrase that? How about is January 1, 2018 a realistic goal for the 
process for which I absolutely understand of actuarial studies and all of the things that have 
to be done, is that a realistic goal, recognizing how many policies begin on January 1st . That 
is sort of the big deal. 

Megan Houn: The intention was to roll out January 1, 2018, we could not get into our filings 
as quickly to do a simultaneous roll out with the SEP when it came out on January1, 2017. 
Therefore, we needed the extra year, to be able to add that benefit to our filing with the 
insurance department. Yes, the intention is the Jan 1, 2018. 

Chair J. Lee: You still feel that would be a realistic roll, I am not asking you to promise please 
understand that. We can't ask you to promise that at this point, but I am asking if it's a realistic 
goal to continue to progress through the process which is a complex one, in order to make 
sure it adds this to every other benefit considered, completes this process of study and 
research and medical efficacy and actuarial concerns and what does it do to the premiums 
and all that good stuff? 

Megan Houn: It's a realistic date. 
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Senator Piepkorn: Have you worked with the proponents to address some of the problems 
you see with it, or do you just really want to see it stopped in its tracks and then they would 
trust you then to proceed in everyone's best interest? 

Megan Houn: We were willing to work with the bill. We discussed the issues, this was being 
brought at the hand of constituents, we met since to discuss the issues that we had with the 
bill, some of the values, mandates, in addition VP actually requested a meeting with Autism 
Speaks more than once, and never received a response. So the first meeting we were able 
to get with the proponents was last week Tuesday. So we did meet with them, and we are 
willing to work with them on some of these issues. There is some pretty significant issues, to 
one of the questions that was asked earlier, I think by Senator Larson, not only does this 
mandate not extend these benefits to self-funded groups, the individual plans and the small 
groups, but it could jeopardize the grandfathered status of the large groups that have been 
intended to cover. So there are some pretty big issues with this bill as it stands. But yes, we 
are willing to collaborate. We have been from the start. 

Sen. Nicole Poolman District 7 (1:33:50-1:40:10) testified in opposition The Employee 
Benefits Committee gave unfavorable recommendation. I have been a big advocate for 
vouchers and waivers that we have used in the past. I am a board member at the Anne 
Carlson Center and I am a parent raising a beautiful boy with autism for 14 years. I thought I 
could give my perspective on the bill itself. I think that is where we have to reign this testimony 
in, is on the bill before us. It came to Employee Benefits long after our deadline. Even though 
the bill was drafted through the summer. The sponsors were asked to bring it to Employee 
Benefits and they chose not to. I am concerned that they wanted to keep the argument 
emotional and not factual based on the bill and the facts before it. That is one concern that 
we have. The other concern that we had is that we didn't have appropriate time and hearing 
to hear from providers, to hear from autism organizations. I think that you should notice that 
there aren't very many providers here. There aren't very many autism organizations here, 
there absence should be very telling to you. You have a lot of emotional parents here and I 
understand how emotional that is, I have been there. So, I wanted to talk about employee 
benefits gave it an unfavorable recommendation twice, both the first time it came and the 
second. Both times we really believed that this bill as written will do more harm than good. 
That is really the bottom line. This bill will be more harmful than beneficial. I think when you 
hear from some of the other providers in testimony today, you'll have them walk through the 
bill and talk about all the problems with the bill itself. It is not just the fact that it caps it at 
$36,000, when we are literally on the cusp of having a market that is going to cover far more 
than that. There are all sort of issues in terms of whose providing the therapy, how we define 
it. Someone made an excellent point, I don't think legislators should be getting between 
doctors and patients in terms of coverage. I would absolutely echo that comment. We don't 
know enough about ABA as legislators to decide what is appropriate and what is medically 
necessary and what is medically proven. Just to give you a little bit of my own background, 
my son is 14, when he was first diagnosed that was well over a decade ago. I had the benefit 
of being covered by Blue Cross and Blue Shield at that time, and now I am under Sanford. 
Blue Cross/Blue Shield over a decade ago, covered all of his speech therapy, his 
occupational therapy, his behavioral health visits, his medications. As we made the switch 
over to Sanford, the same has been true. They have covered all of his medications, all of his 
behavioral health therapy, so it's important to note that insurance companies aren't ignoring 
people with autism. They are covering those services that have been proven to be medically 
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necessary. A decade ago, ABA was not proven to be medically effective. ABA was compared 
to within all sorts of new therapies, we had parents putting children in hyperbaric chambers 
and accidentally killing children with autism, with therapies that they were trying. So I think it 
is important to note that the science is finally catching up and that's why insurance companies 
are now catching up. I think that we should allow those insurance companies to do so. This 
isn't an ideological argument; this is a practical argument before us. The bill before us is 
written in a way that it is not beneficial, that it will do more harm than good. When you have 
a provider with 75 % share saying we are about to cover starting January 1, without visit 
limits, without age limits, this type of therapy because now the science says it is going to 
work and it's going to be medically necessary. I don't know why we would say we are the 
government, and we are here to help. We are going to cap that at $36,000 and we are going 
to limit to who can provide it, and were going to limit how it's defined. In a nutshell, my 
experience as we take a look at mandates generally across the country, I would encourage 
you to read US News and World Report did a study on the impact of mandates across the 
country. They took a look at all 50 states and the mandates that were implemented and it's 
nice because it is an objective source. We don't want to look at the insurance companies to 
see what mandates do. We don't want to look at Autism Speaks to see what mandates do, 
because they both have skin in the game. But, I would recommend that you read that article, 
because it does talk about something that has really become obvious to me in my discussions 
with both Blue Cross/Blue Shield and Sanford Health . That when these mandates go into 
effect, they aren't really improving access, only on average about 12% more are getting 
access to services and the reason that is, is because these caps are so low. These providers 
that are going to provide this early, intensive, 40hour week, service they don't come into 
those states, because the caps still can't cover the coverage. So it's not improving access 
nearly as much as we would like too, and I just think capping it at $36,000 and certainly 
cutting it off to only state employees for the next 2 years when you look at 75% of the families 
in North Dakota become eligible January 1, it just is not practical for us to pass the bill at this 
time. There may have been a time when a mandate would be beneficial, when we would 
have been so far behind the game and the market had nothing on the horizon. But that is not 
where we are today. 

Senator Heckaman: Are you aware that some amendments are coming forward? 

Sen. Poolman: I am not aware. 

V-Chair Larsen: You said that you're in the Anne Carlson umbrella are they ABA, are they 
practicing those therapies? 

Sen. Poolman: We do offer those therapies. 

V-Chair Larsen: 100% or what is the percentage? 

Sen. Poolman: About market share across the state I have no idea what the percent? mixing 
with other therapies 

V-Chair Larson: I am wondering the therapists that are certified to give those services and 
is it just that or are they mixing it in with other therapies? 
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Sen. Pool man: Its very common to mix in with other therapies. That you're working in tandem 
with a number of different therapists, yes. 

Senator Piepkorn: If this bill passes it goes into effect August 1? I've heard BCBS would 
live by the letter of the law. Now is this bill passes, and goes into effect August 1, and if what 
Blue Cross and Blue Shield eventually intends and hopefully would come up with by January 
1st , and it was more comprehensive and didn't have some of the problems that have been 
pointed out with the current bill, would BCBS go ahead with their new and better plan? 

Sen. Poolman: As you look across the country; the mandate becomes what is covered. You 
can't have a business model where your forced to pay for all of these things of the state has 
said you have to pay for and then have the freedom to cover the medically necessary and 
intensive therapy that you wanted to cover because the science says its correct. I wouldn't 
see BCBS offering their robust plan if you have a $36,000 cap and you are forcing the 
language of this bill on to every insurance company in the state. 

Senator Piepkorn: You're saying the proposed plan from BCBS that would be rolled out on 
January 1, 2018 would be better than this bill? 

Sen. Poolman: Yes that is what I am saying, significantly better. 

Senator Piepkorn: But none the less the people who are here testifying in favor are trusting 
you to not yield to BCBS to provide this. 

Sen. Poolman: Correct. 

Chair J. Lee: If the bill goes through, it goes through the PERS system for the first two years 
so it will be delayed another year for the general public. 

RaeAnn Kelsch: (1 :44:30-1 :45:35) testified in opposition. Small business, National 
Federation Independent Business (NFIB); on record do not agree with insurance mandates 
that will cost them more money in providing insurance coverage and health coverage for their 
employees. It becomes a point where small businesses absorb additional costs. 

Dr. Barbara Stanton, Prairie St. John's (1 :46:25-1 :55:20) testified in opposition, please 
see attachments #13 and 14. 

Chair J. Lee: Accountability we really look at outcomes, and whether or not investments in 
whatever is happens to be, does have some accountability, can you comment on that? 

Dr. Stanton: I work at Prairie St. John's and I worked in a number of different programs 
including out-patient intensive care day treatment program, and as an out-patient therapist, 
in the clinic. So I work with what is required by insurance companies. Typically, when I talk 
about insurance companies, I do understand there needs to be a relationship between those 
who are providing the funding and those of us who are providing the services. I understand 
that as a professional that it is critical that I am able to document medical necessity. I have 
tailored the forms that I use, the intake form, the treatment plans, in order to reflect that, so 
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that when information does go to the insurance company for reimbursement I don't always 
get what I want, but sometimes I do. That's part of accountability piece. 

Chair J. Lee: May require a report, annually is not enough in my view, that would not be 
adequate. 

Dr. Stanton: I agree with you, as providers, we do have a responsibility not so much to the 
insurance companies but more to the children and families that we are working with that we 
are very transparent in the treatments that are providing. That we are able to document 
progression toward an ultimate treatment goal and that once that we reached that goal, then 
we reevaluate where are we going next. 

Chair J. Lee: The provider can provide a report that the payer cannot require it, so it wouldn't 
even have to be annual. 

Dr. Stanton: This is part of my issue with the bill is that there is so many questions about 
how that accountability piece is just one part of the language in the bill that I don't believe is 
specific enough. 

Senator Piepkorn: We have to give credit to parents, it's easier to come along after fact 
point out flaws, why haven't you been involved to come up with something better, it's too 
easy to point out what's wrong? 

Dr. Stanton: That's a good question. I was unaware this bill existed, I'm a part of ND Autism 
Advocacy Coalition. This is something that has evolved so quickly, we haven't had a lot of 
time to even talk about it. I'm a board member Emeritus of the Red River Valley Asperger 
Autism Network. We were not invited to be a part of what was going on. I wasn't' a part of it, 
because I didn't know it existed. Dr. Faust from BC/BS contacted me to talk about their 
proposed plan rolling out in January of 2018, this was all occurring long before we knew this 
bill existed. I would have loved to have been a part of this and would've certainly contributed 
ideas and expertise had I known. 

Neutral testimony 

Dr. Dan Hannaher: (2:00:50-2:02:20) testified neutral, please see attachment #15. 

Senator Heckaman: If Sanford bills a plan that included ABA services or therapies, that 
cost has to be built in to your monthly benefits, right? 

Mr. Hannaher: That's correct 

Senator Heckaman: If the plan is more robust than any kind of state mandate would be, it's 
my perception that those costs per month would be higher? 

Mr. Hannher: Yes, that would be an accurate assessment. 

Senator Clemens: ABA program, does that include medications, or is it outside of that? 



Senate Human Services Committee 
HB 1434 
3/6/17 
Page 11 

Mr. Hannaher: To my understanding it doesn't involve medications in ABA services. 

Sparb Collins, Executive Director, ND Public Employees Retirement System (2:03:45) 
Test neutral. There is a question that has arisen about the application date of this bill and 
whether it goes to PERS first or whether it goes to the general group first. Work with 
committee to get that clarified in the bill, so that we know what's expected as an agency. 
There's a lot of details in going through with it. That is essentially the issue that we need to 
take a look at. 

Chair J. Lee: Details because it isn't going to affect audience. Tell us if the mandate remains, 
or the PERS exposure I should say. The PERS pilot is it included, as it comes to us from the 
House, tell us what the time table is then for PERS and then for the general public 

Sparb Collins: As written, the bill on House side, a provision that excluded it from section 
that applies to PERS. That was taken out on the House side and based upon that we 
assumed the bill would apply to PERS first, however the way the statute is worded it may 
need more affirmative language inn there to make sure that it applies to PERS first and that 
affirmative language isn't there, there's a question as to whether it does to PERS first or goes 
to the general public. That's the issue that needs some clarification here going forward . 

Chair J. Lee: It would go to PERS in the 17-19 biennium the way it's currently written? 

Mr. Sparb Collins: I don't know. It would be helpful to get that taken care of. 

Senator Heckaman: I don't see any place in here where it says that, that's why I was looking 
at having our intern look up that Chapter 26.1-36 in which there is an exception, because I 
didn't see anything in this bill that said a 2- year pilot project for PERS. Am I missing it? 

Mr. Sparb Collins: Here, in the past, only one bill has done this. But other bills that haven't 
have had explicit exclusionary language in it that said it doesn't apply. For example, last 
session exclusion, this bill had an exclusion, it was taken out. The assumption is if there is 
no exclusion, then it applies. But as we've looked at this, it may not be as clear as that. That's 
why the need for clarification. 

Senator Piepkorn: You said that we can't make insurance companies promise to do so, I 
wish it was within our authority to make them promise that by January 1, 2018 we will have 
a plan in place that exceeds the standards that are put forth by this bill. 

Chair J. Lee: If we can decide we can pass that kind of law, we can do that, but that's not 
what we're talking about this morning. 

Senator Piepkorn: I think they should be held accountable and if that's what their plans are, 
just do it. 

Attachments 16-19 were provided for the committee's reference. 

Sen. J. Lee: closed the public hearing on HB 1434. 
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Chair J. Lee: Brought the meeting to order 
Mr. Munson, CEO of Anne Carlsen Center, (0:15-4:30) Stated that the bill wouldn't give 
them full autism coverage, and that the private market will provide more coverage sooner. 
The Anne Carlsen Center has been working for increase autism waivers . He doesn 't believe 
the mandate is the way to go. 

Chair J. Lee: I agree the market will catch on much faster than the mandate. There are 
parents who say just raise the amount; it isn't an entitlement. I'm concerned about what 
happens when the early intervention money is gone. Nobody's going to do more than 
whatever amount we set. 
V-Chair Larsen and Mr. Munson discussed ABA therapies and who is able to provide 
them. (5:30-8:45) 

Committee discussed the January 1, 2018 start date. (8:55-40:45) 

Senator Kreun: Sanford Health Plan has been evaluating ABA services using professionals, 
and have some preliminary ideas about program design for insurance coverage. If that's not 
a hint that they're going to be participating, that's as close as you're going to get from them. 
they're still doing the same evaluation that we're going to be doing if we pass the bill. My 
point of thinking is along the lines if we're going to go through a testing program, or actuarial 
analysis of this, it's going to be done quicker by BCBS or Sanford, we will take 2 years. 

Chair J. Lee: We do need an amendment to clarify the PERS language. 

Senator Kreun: Are we going to go for a fiscal note for this too? 

Chair J. Lee: It doesn't affect the state; this will be insurance company money. 
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Senator Kreun: So the rates are going up? 

Chair J. Lee: Well maybe the BCBS doesn't have the PERS contract right now. 

Senator Kreun: They're not hedging their bets, just by those statements they made 
publically. 

Chair J. Lee: Without being critical, it's just not an unusual process when a new treatment 
comes along to consider. Story about not legislating between doctors and patients. 

Senator Kreun: In the cognitive behavioral intervention program and comprehensive 
behavioral treatment for young people, is that in this bill? Are we paying for that, did you 
analyze any of those treatments, so we can say yes, this is what's going to happen? Some 
of these treatments aren't going to be in this bill and they won't have access to them, is that 
correct? 

Mr. Munson: I'm not sure of the specific reference, the ABA is specifically called for in the 
bill, and BSBC has researched, they now consider it to be medically necessary. We have 
considered ABA to be part of a series of interventions you might use on the Spectrum; not 
every child would be a candidate for ABA, there may be other things that we do. I think that 
with the addition of ABA coverage by insurers, we probably have a full repertoire of 
interventions to use. 

Senator Kreun: In 1434, does that include what your indicating might be in the BCBS 
package? 

Chair J. Lee: With the DSM-4, ABA wasn't included, the DSM-5 does include it. It provides 
us with opportunity to move forward . 

Senator Kreun: Where is the ND autism center? 

Chair J. Lee: Fargo. 

Senator Kreun: They've got some information too. I'm trying to figure out avenues of 
treatment that aren 't in this bill. 

Senator Heckaman: Did everyone get the email from North Dakota Autism Coalition? Prairie 
St. John, Anne Carlsen Center P&A, they sent out a memo. 

Senator Anderson: That coalition, they supported ABA insurance coverage, they didn't say 
the supported the bill. 

Senator Heckaman: We have amendments before us, 2003 amendments from Rep. Beadle 
(please see attachment #8) , those change the bill quite a bit. 

Chair J. Lee: Megan would you answer our question about what the BCBS position is? 

• 

• 
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Megan Smith-Houn, Director, Government Relations BCBS, There's some confusion 
about our position, as stated in Dr. Faust's testimony, mandates are not a public policy that 
we endorse. ASA is at a tipping point in the evidence, the USPSTF has not endorsed it as a 
best practice. After our meeting with the parents on this issue, it's very clear that they want 
the mandate. Therefor with this mandate passed and some strengthening on the PERS trial , 
that is what we will implement. 

Chair J. Lee: If we don't implement it, are you going to do what you told us you were going 
to do a few days ago, and implement the parallel to the FEP on January 1st 2018? 

Ms. Smith-Houn: That has been our intention; the January 1 timeline is because we cannot 
include at present time benefits that have not already been included in our rate filing. 

Chair J. Lee: Policies begin January 1. 

V-Chair Larsen: Even if we weren't talking about ASA you guys couldn't include anything 
until you have the plan built. 

Ms. Smith-Houn: That's correct we have to include in our benefit plan that are submitted to 
the Department of Insurance for rate approval by them, all of the benefits that are included . 
We can't add a benefit until January 1. 

Chair J. Lee: We are going to have the amendments that clarify that it goes through PERS. 
We will continue tomorrow. 

Attachments #1-7 were provided for committee reference. 

Chair J. Lee: Closed the public hearing. 



2017 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Human Services Committee 
Red River Room, State Capitol 
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Job Number 29233 

D Subcommittee 
D Conference Committee 

Committee Clerk Signature 41/ 
Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

A bill relating to health insurance coverage for autism-related services; and to provide for a 
report to the legislative management. 

Minutes: jJ 1 Attachment 

Chair J. Lee: Brought the meeting on 1434 to order. All members were present. 
Jennifer Clark, Legislative Council 
(0:15-9:10) The Committee and Jennifer Clark discussed what the amendments should 
be. They discussed putting the amendments in the proper section of code, decided 
that they will need two versions, a Hoghouse and a redrafting of Rep. Beadle's 
proposed amendment. Federal approval of an insurance mandate was mentioned. 

Ms. Clark: If you have the Insurance Department in, ask about putting into PERS for two 
years, does it affect federal regulation. 

(9:30-14:00) discussion about next meeting and fiscal notes. 

Senator Clemens: It talks about health insurance in the bill, there is statute that says new 
insurance has to go to PERS, even though it already says that, you still want it in there? 

Chair J. Lee: The House thinks it's in here, and it's not. The original bill was trying to avoid 
that by saying it's not a mandate. The verbiage they changed in the House they thought 
would make it clear it was in PERS, it's not. I'm not interested in having it move forward not 
going to PERS. 

Ms. Clark: We know how to draft a law that goes to PERS, and how to draft one that goes 
to the private market. This looks like neither. Explained law to the committee. 

Chair J. Lee: The committee in the House thinks it's required to go to PERS, I talked to the 
chairman, they believe that it did. 

Senator Heckaman: In what I'm understanding, it was specifically written this way; we've 
got to get it fixed the right way. 
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General discussion about when to meet. (18:20-20:37) 

Senator Piepkorn: What does Sanford think? 

Chair J. Lee: It's not the same. 

Dan Hannaher: It would be incorporated into the plan . 

Senator Kreun: Sanford health has been evaluating services using professionals, and have 
ideas about program design, so if somebody else does it, they're going to do it. 

Chair J. Lee: They are going to do through the processes they have in place, to figure out 
what's going to be done here. 

Senator Kreun: Mentioned a TV segment that talked about a minimum maximum. 

Ms. Clark: If you put that PERS policy in Title 54, I think it's reasonable to think they are 
going to design their plan to specifically meet what we put down here, otherwise the two-year 
study doesn't do any good. When we put it out to the private market after, that's different 
setting a floor and you can do anything above it, going into the PERS to 2 years, you are 
setting the standard. For those 2 years, otherwise the study doesn't do any good . 

Attachment #1 provided for committee's reference. 
Chair J. Lee: Closed the meeting. 

• 
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Job Number 29247 

D Subcommittee 
D Conference Committee 

Committee Clerk Signature /h1 ~ 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

A bill relating to health insurance coverage for autism-related services; and to provide for a 
report to the legislative management. 

Minutes: ment 

Crystal Bartuska, Insurance Department, Director forms and rates product filing 
department 

Chair J. Lee: What insurance lives are not going to be covered by this mandate, which we 
are going to send to PERS, when it talks about non-grandfathered, individual, small group, 
self-funded , tell us who will be covered and who won 't be? 

(1 :05-13:50) Ms. Bartuska and the committee discussed different types of plans and 
who will be excluded from this mandate. Please see attachment #1 . The mandate 
exempts individual and small group policies under the scope of ACA. 73,000 not 
covered there. Erisa plans are exempt, 180,495 covered lives exempt. 358,275 Covered 
lives will have coverage. 

Senator Piepkorn: This bill provides for 2-year study through PERS; what are the possible 
outcomes? 

Chair J. Lee: It will show that it's been effective or not. 

Senator Piepkorn: So if it's been determined that it is effective or not effective then what? 

Chair J. Lee: Then they decide or decide not to move it forward to the general public. 

Senator Piepkorn: If it did not, then what happens? 

• Chair J . Lee: It goes away. 

Senator Anderson: It also gives us numbers and actuarial data. 
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Chair J. Lee: We don't know what the cost or usage is going to be. PERS is the control 
group. See how it affects them, we don't want to break the bank down the line. 

Chair J. Lee: Closed the hearing. 

• 
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Job Number 29359 

D Subcommittee 
D Conference Committee 

Committee Clerk Signature 1J1 ~ 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

A bill relating to health insurance coverage for autism-related services; and to provide for a 
report to the legislative management. 

Minutes: 6 attachments 

Chair J. Lee: Brought the hearing to order. Senators Clemens and Kreun were absent. 

Reviewed the amendments, please see attachments #1, 2, 3. 

Chair J. Lee: Are we satisfied with these amendments? 

Senator Heckaman: I see from the bill there's a significant change between the 2005 
version and the 2007. On the 2nd page section 2 sub c, the change is coverage for ABA must 
provide for an annual maximum benefit that may not be less than. The original had a floor in 
it, versions 2005 and 2007 have a ceiling. 

(1 :20-7:50) The committee and Jennifer Clark discussed the difference between a floor 
and a ceiling; and what they are directing PERS to do. 

Chair J. Lee: The Cost-Benefit Analysis will mess us up if we have to wait 2 weeks. 

(9: 10-11 :05) The committee and Jennifer Clark discussed getting a cost-benefit 
analysis. 
(11:10-18:00) Committee discussed when to meet next. 

Senator Anderson: I move to recess until 8:30am tomorrow. 
Senator Heckaman: Second. 
Jennifer Clark provided information for the committee's reference, please see 
attachments #4, 5, 6. 

Chair J. Lee: Committee recessed until 8:30 tomorrow morning. 
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D Subcommittee 
D Conference Committee 

Committee Clerk Signature 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

A bill relating to health insurance coverage for autism-related services; and to provide for a 
report to the legislative management. 

Minutes: Ii 2 attachments 

Chair J. Lee: Brought the hearing to order, all members present. 
Chair J. Lee: Reviewed what the committee discussed in the previous meeting. 
Senator Heckaman: Before we move the 2007 amendments, I'd like to move the 2006 
ones. 
V-Chair Larsen: Second. 
Senator Heckaman: This takes out the issues we looked at whether it's the floor from the 
2000 version, and it takes out some of the other issues with having to look at small market 
companies on the bottom of page3 that were concerns, it's in the right section. 
Senator Anderson: I think there are additional changes in 2007 that we really want, so I will 
support that one instead. 
A roll call vote was taken. 
Motion fails 2-5-0. 

V-Chair Larsen: I move adopt .02007 
Senator Kreun: Second. 
V-Chair Larsen: this amendment puts this bill in the best possible shape to get it out of 
committee. 
Chair J. Lee: And it does include that work by the insurance department that would gather 
information and data. 
A roll call vote was taken. 
Motion passes 5-2-0. 
V-Chair Larsen: I move Do Not Pass as Amended, and re-refer to Appropriations. 
Senator Kreun: Second. 

Senator Clemens: The motion is do not pass for the amended bill . 

Chair J. Lee: With the market the way it is the purposes will be met more quickly than by 
waiting through the PERS period. 
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V-Chair Larsen: I know a mandate is not something that any states want to pursue. As an 
insurance agent, with the Medicaid Expansion from last session, the information provided 
was a follow through, I believe this will be a follow through. I know the with the DSM change 
all of the stuff we've rechurned and rehashed, this is the best way that this need to proceed. 

Senator Clemens: I was under the impression we were going to try and move this bill 
forward with this amendment. 

V-Chair Larsen: It's up to the floor, we've made the bill is the best we can make it as a 
committee, it's good but it isn't good enough. 

Senator Anderson: The preponderance of evidence from people that treat autism, the 
PERS business, to put a mandate on them at this point is a long term negative for the 
treatment of autism. I'm still not in favor of the mandate, and moving ahead with this approach 
to requiring autism treatment in PERS or anything else. I think the open market is working, 
that's the best approach. 

Chair J. Lee: Three of the most credible providers of services to children with autism in the 
state have said that this is not a good bill; because of the things that are limited and not 
included. It's not an example of a good way to do it. I trust these people, they're all working 
for insurance companies. I think they're going to get better provision of services, sooner, if 
we allow the market to do it. The private carriers, one has said they are looking at doing this 
by the 1st of next year. If it passes, it goes to PERS for 2 years, remember we've got 255,000 
people who aren't covered by this bill . 

Senator Clemens: I understand that approach, on the other side I've been working with the 
autism group in Fargo, I will support this, they feel if we don't pass the bill, we're not 
supporting them. 

Chair J. Lee: One of the solutions is additional waiver and voucher slots through the 
Department programs, we have waiting lists there. We have to make sure our Appropriations 
people know how important it is for those services too. 

Senator Heckaman: Looking at additional waiver and voucher slots, we're going to have 
minimal results in that this biennium, because the allotments took quite a few away. I don't 
think there will be more money going into those. In looking at age limits, as these children 
are receiving services and age out, we've got to address those needs, I'd like to see more 
slots and extended ages. My concern on allowing this to go to the private market, we do not 
have that 100% reassurance that they're going to be a plan. There's only one market right 
now. This would be under PERS, I don't know that this denies anyone else from going to the 
market, I would encourage those in the gallery to work on those plans. I've been working on 
this since 2007 and we haven't addressed an insurance mandate. I'm going to vote nay on 
the motion to Do Not Pass, we're leaving some opportunities behind that could benefit some 
families right now. 

Senator Piepkorn: This is a 2-year trial, the insurance department will be making quarterly 
surveys of groups involved, at the end of the 2 years, there will be a report at which time it 
will be determined whether they want to continue. there is nothing in this bill, that prevents 
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the private market from working on their own coverage, I think they've made it clear they're 
going to deliver what you ask for. As far as the fear of delay they've been working on it for 10 
years, at the end of the trial, I'm sure the people will be back to work on it. 

Senator Kreun: In visiting with individuals that want this, I had the opportunity to visit with 
parents and explain, their position was do it right the first time. They know it will take some 
time, their issue was don't pass something just to get it done. The other thing, what can it 
hurt to have it go through, what happens if it doesn't work? Then we're stuck for another year 
or two, we're going to kick it down the road, just because it might pass this particular time on 
the floor, doesn't mean it will pass 2 years from now, there is a consequence to this plan. I'm 
betting on private sector. 

Chair J. Lee: It isn't going to keep the insurance people from setting up a plan if we don't 
pass it either. I believe the carriers recognize how much importance is attached to this; 
otherwise it's going to be a serious problem two years from now. 

A roll call vote was taken. 
Motion passes 4-3-0. 
Chair J. Lee will carry. 
Chair J. Lee: Closed the hearing. 
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Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senate Human Services Committee 

March 15, 2017 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1434 

Page 1, line 1, after "A BILL" replace the remainder of the bill with "for an Act to create and 
enact a new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to 
public employees retirement system uniform group insurance coverage of autism 
services; to require a report regarding coverage of autism services; and to provide an 
expiration date. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. A new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

Coverage of autism services . 

.L As used in this section: 

a. "Applied behavior analysis" has the same meaning as "practice of 
applied behavior analysis" as defined under section 43-32-01 . 

Q_,_ "Autism spectrum disorder" means any of the pervasive 
developmental disorders or autism spectrum disorders as defined by 
the "Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders," American 
psychiatric association, fifth edition (2013) or a more recent version as 
identified by the board or as defined by the edition in effect at the time 
of diagnosis. 

~ "Behavioral health treatment" means a counseling or treatment 
program, including applied behavior analysis, that is: 

ill Necessary to develop, maintain, or restore, to the maximum 
extent practicable, the functioning of an individual; and 

@ Provided or supervised by a licensed behavior analyst or 
psychologist. 

g,_ "Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder" means any medically 
necessary assessment. evaluation, or test to diagnose whether an 
individual has an autism spectrum disorder. 

~ "Pharmacy care" means a medication prescribed by an individual 
authorized to prescribe such a medication and any health-related 
service deemed medically necessary to determine the need or 
effectiveness of the medication. 

t. "Psychiatric care" means a direct or consultative service provided by a 
psychiatrist licensed in the state in which the psychiatrist practices. 

g_,_ "Psychological care" means a direct or consultative service provided 
by a psychologist licensed in the state in which the psychologist 
practices. 
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Q. "Therapeutic care" means any service provided by a licensed speech 
language pathologist, occupational therapist. or physical therapist. 

L. "Treatment for autism spectrum disorder" means evidence-based care 
and related equipment prescribed or ordered for an individual 
diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder by a licensed physician 
or a licensed psychologist who determines the care is medically 
necessary, including behavioral health treatment, pharmacy care, 
psychiatric care, psychological care, and therapeutic care. 

2. For all policies that become effective after June 30, 2017, and which do not 
extend past June 30, 2019, the board shall provide health benefits 
coverage for the screening for, diagnosis of, and treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder. Coverage under this section is not subject to limitations 
on the number of visits a covered individual may make for treatment for 
autism spectrum disorder. 

SECTION 2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM - COVERAGE 
OF AUTISM SERVICES. Pursuant to section 54-03-28, the public employees 
retirement system shall prepare and submit for introduction a bill to the sixty-sixth 
legislative assembly to repeal the expiration date for section 1 of this Act and to extend 
the coverage of autism services to apply to all group and individual health insurance 
policies. The public employees retirement system shall append to the bill a report 
regarding the effect of the autism services coverage requirement on the system's 
health insurance programs, information on the utilization and costs relating to the 
coverage, and a recommendation regarding whether the coverage should continue. 

SECTION 3. EXPIRATION DATE. Section 1 of this Act is effective through 
July 31 , 2019, and after that date is ineffective." 

Renumber accordingly 
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17.0261 .02007 
Title. 03000 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator J. Lee 

March 17, 2017 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1434 

Page 1, line 1, after "A BILL" replace the remainder of the bill with "for an Act to create and 
enact a new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to 
public employees retirement system uniform group insurance coverage of autism 
services; to require a report regarding coverage of autism services; and to provide an 
expiration date. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. A new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

Coverage of autism services. 

1.,, As used in this section: 

£:. "Applied behavior analysis" has the same meaning as "practice of 
applied behavior analysis" as defined under section 43-32-01 . 

b. "Autism spectrum disorder" means any of the pervasive 
developmental disorders or autism spectrum disorders as defined by 
the "Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders," American 
psychiatric association, fifth edition (2013) or a more recent version as 
identified by the board or as defined by the edition in effect at the time 
of diagnosis. 

c. "Behavioral health treatment" means a counseling or treatment 
program, including applied behavior analysis, that is: 

ill Necessary to develop, maintain, or restore, to the maximum 
extent practicable, the functioning of an individual; and 

ill Provided or supervised by a licensed behavior analyst or 
psychologist. 

d. "Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder" means any medically 
necessary assessment, evaluation, or test to diagnose whether an 
individual has an autism spectrum disorder. 

e. "Pharmacy care" means a medication prescribed by an individual 
authorized to prescribe such a medication and any health-related 
service deemed medically necessary to determine the need or 
effectiveness of the medication. 

:l "Psychiatric care" means a direct or consultative service provided by a 
psychiatrist licensed in the state in which the psychiatrist practices. 

9..:. "Psychological care" means a direct or consultative service provided 
by a psychologist licensed in the state in which the psychologist 
practices. 
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h.:_ "Therapeutic care" means any service provided by a licensed speech 
language pathologist, occupational therapist, or physical therapist. 

L_ "Treatment for autism spectrum disorder" means evidence-based care 
and related equipment prescribed or ordered for an individual 
diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder by a licensed physician 
or a licensed psychologist who determines the care is medically 
necessary, including behavioral health treatment, pharmacy care, 
psychiatric care, psychological care, and therapeutic care. 

£. For all policies that become effective after June 30, 2017, and which do not 
extend past June 30, 2019, the board shall provide health benefits 
coverage for the screening for, diagnosis of, and treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder in covered individuals under nineteen years of age. 

a. Coverage under this section is not subject to limitations on the number 
of visits a covered individual may make for treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder . 

.l:L Except as allowed under subdivision c, coverage under this section is 
not subject to dollar limits, deductibles, or coinsurance provisions less 
favorable to a covered individual than the dollar limits, deductibles, or 
coinsurance provisions that apply to substantially all medical and 
surgical benefits under the health benefits coverage. 

c. Coverage for applied behavioral analysis under this section must 
provide an annual maximum benefit of: 

ill Thirty-six thousand dollars for individuals under the age of 
seven; 

Q2 Twenty-five thousand dollars for individuals between the ages of 
seven and not yet fourteen; and 

.Q.l Twelve thousand five hundred dollars for individuals between 
the ages of fourteen and not yet nineteen. 

d. The coverage for applied behavior analysis must include the services 
of the personnel who work under the supervision of the licensed 
behavior analyst or psychologist overseeing the program. 

e. Except for inpatient services, if a covered individual is receiving 
treatment for an autism spectrum disorder, the coverage may allow for 
annual review of the treatment plan, unless a more frequent review is 
necessary. An agreement regarding the right to review a treatment 
plan more frequently than annually is limited in application to a 
particular covered individual being treated for an autism spectrum 
disorder. The cost of obtaining a review or treatment plan must be 
borne by the policy. 

~ This section does not limit benefits otherwise available to a covered 
individual under the uniform group insurance program. This section does 
not affect an obligation to provide services to a covered individual under an 
individualized family service plan, an individualized education program, or 
an individualized service plan. 
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SECTION 2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM - COVERAGE 
OF AUTISM SERVICES. 

1. Pursuant to section 54-03-28, the public employees retirement system 
shall prepare and submit for introduction a bill to the sixty-sixth legislative 
assembly to repeal the expiration date for section 1 of this Act and to 
extend the coverage of autism services to apply to all group and individual 
health insurance policies. The public employees retirement system shall 
append to the bill a report regarding the effect of the autism services 
coverage requirement on the system's health insurance programs, 
information on the utilization and costs relating to the coverage under this 
Act, a comparison of the system's coverage of autism services under this 
Act and the coverage of autism services by North Dakota insurers, and a 
recommendation regarding whether the coverage under this Act should 
continue as provided in this Act or should continue with amendments. 

2. Quarterly during the 2017-18 interim, the insurance commissioner shall 
survey health insurance carriers in the state to collect data regarding policy 
coverage and utilization of autism services. The commissioner shall 
provide this data to the public employees retirement system for inclusion in 
the report prepared under subsection 1. 

SECTION 3. EXPIRATION DATE. Section 1 of this Act is effective through 
July 31, 2019, and after that date is ineffective." 

Renumber accordingly 
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Committee 
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Recommendation: !;xi Adopt Amendment 

Other Actions: 

0 Do Pass D Do Not Pass 
0 As Amended 
0 Place on Consent Calendar 
0 Reconsider 

D Without Committee Recommendation 
D Rerefer to Appropriations 

D 
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Com Standing Committee Report 
March 20, 2017 8:11AM 

Module ID: s_stcomrep_50_001 
Carrier: J. Lee 

Insert LC: 17.0261.02007 Title: 03000 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1434, as engrossed: Human Services Committee (Sen. J. Lee, Chairman) 

recommends AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends 
DO NOT PASS and BE REREFERRED to the Appropriations Committee 
(4 YEAS, 3 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). Engrossed HB 1434 was placed 
on the Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 1, after "A BILL" replace the remainder of the bill with "for an Act to create and 
enact a new section to chapter 54-52. 1 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to 
public employees retirement system uniform group insurance coverage of autism 
services; to require a report regarding coverage of autism services; and to provide 
an expiration date. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. A new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

Coverage of autism services . 

.L As used in this section: 

a. "Applied behavior analysis" has the same meaning as "practice of 
applied behavior analysis" as defined under section 43-32-01 . 

.b.,. "Autism spectrum disorder" means any of the pervasive 
developmental disorders or autism spectrum disorders as defined by 
the "Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders," 
American psychiatric association, fifth edition (2013) or a more 
recent version as identified by the board or as defined by the edition 
in effect at the time of diagnosis. 

c. "Behavioral health treatment" means a counseling or treatment 
program, including applied behavior analysis, that is: 

ill Necessary to develop, maintain, or restore, to the maximum 
extent practicable, the functioning of an individual; and 

ill Provided or supervised by a licensed behavior analyst or 
psychologist. 

Q... "Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder" means any medically 
necessary assessment, evaluation, or test to diagnose whether an 
individual has an autism spectrum disorder. 

e. "Pharmacy care" means a medication prescribed by an individual 
authorized to prescribe such a medication and any health-related 
service deemed medically necessary to determine the need or 
effectiveness of the medication. 

f. "Psychiatric care" means a direct or consultative service provided by 
a psychiatrist licensed in the state in which the psychiatrist practices. 

g.. "Psychological care" means a direct or consultative service provided 
by a psychologist licensed in the state in which the psychologist 
practices. 

11. "Therapeutic care" means any service provided by a licensed 
speech language pathologist. occupational therapist. or physical 
therapist. 
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L. "Treatment for autism spectrum disorder" means evidence-based 
care and related equipment prescribed or ordered for an individual 
diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder by a licensed physician 
or a licensed psychologist who determines the care is medically 
necessary. including behavioral health treatment. pharmacy care. 
psychiatric care. psychological care. and therapeutic care. 

2. For all policies that become effective after June 30. 2017. and which do 
not extend past June 30. 2019. the board shall provide health benefits 
coverage for the screening for. diagnosis of. and treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder in covered individuals under nineteen years of age. 

a. Coverage under this section is not subject to limitations on the 
number of visits a covered individual may make for treatment for 
autism spectrum disorder. 

b. Except as allowed under subdivision c. coverage under this section 
is not subject to dollar limits. deductibles. or coinsurance provisions 
less favorable to a covered individual than the dollar limits. 
deductibles. or coinsurance provisions that apply to substantially all 
medical and surgical benefits under the health benefits coverage. 

c. Coverage for applied behavioral analysis under this section must 
provide an annual maximum benefit of: 

ill Thirty-six thousand dollars for individuals under the age of 
seven: 

m Twenty-five thousand dollars for individuals between the ages 
of seven and not yet fourteen: and 

ill Twelve thousand five hundred dollars for individuals between 
the ages of fourteen and not yet nineteen. 

g,_ The coverage for applied behavior analysis must include the 
services of the personnel who work under the supervision of the 
licensed behavior analyst or psychologist overseeing the program. 

~ Except for inpatient services. if a covered individual is receiving 
treatment for an autism spectrum disorder. the coverage may allow 
for annual review of the treatment plan. unless a more frequent 
review is necessary. An agreement regarding the right to review a 
treatment plan more frequently than annually is limited in application 
to a particular covered individual being treated for an autism 
spectrum disorder. The cost of obtaining a review or treatment plan 
must be borne by the policy. 

~ This section does not limit benefits otherwise available to a covered 
individual under the uniform group insurance program. This section does 
not affect an obligation to provide services to a covered individual under 
an individualized family service plan. an individualized education 
program. or an individualized service plan. 

SECTION 2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM - COVERAGE 
OF AUTISM SERVICES. 

1. Pursuant to section 54-03-28, the public employees retirement system 
shall prepare and submit for introduction a bill to the sixty-sixth legislative 
assembly to repeal the expiration date for section 1 of this Act and to 
extend the coverage of autism services to apply to all group and 
individual health insurance policies. The public employees retirement 
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system shall append to the bill a report regarding the effect of the autism 
services coverage requirement on the system's health insurance 
programs, information on the utilization and costs relating to the 
coverage under this Act, a comparison of the system's coverage of 
autism services under this Act and the coverage of autism services by 
North Dakota insurers, and a recommendation regarding whether the 
coverage under this Act should continue as provided in this Act or should 
continue with amendments. 

2. Quarterly during the 2017-18 interim, the insurance commissioner shall 
survey health insurance carriers in the state to collect data regarding 
policy coverage and utilization of autism services. The commissioner 
shall provide this data to the public employees retirement system for 
inclusion in the report prepared under subsection 1. 

SECTION 3. EXPIRATION DATE. Section 1 of this Act is effective through 
July 31, 2019, and after that date is ineffective." 

Renumber accordingly 
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Chairman Robin Weisz, House Human Services Committee 

Good afternoon Chairman Weisz and members of the House Human Services Committee, for the record, 
my name is Thomas Beadle, State Representative from District 27 in Fargo. I am here today on behalf of 
hundreds of families across our state who are leading a grassroots effort pushing Autism Insurance 
Reform in North Dakota. I will try to be brief in my remarks and in my walk-through of this bill, as there 
are families and industry professionals here to testify in support of this bill. 

As you will hear from those that will speak after me, having a family member on the Autism Spectrum is 
a life-changing impact, both in terms of cost, and in terms of lifestyle. There is plenty of data on this 
topic. It is estimated that nationwide, 1 in 68 children are diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder, 
and it is higher amongst boys at 1 in 42. According to the Harvard School of Public Health, the estimated 
costs over the lifetime of an Autistic individual is $3.2 Million dollars. This is a huge issue! And studies 
show, that early detection, intervention, and therapy support can save $1 million off of these lifetime 
costs. 

In terms of changing the lifestyle, I have handed out testimony on behalf of my aunt, Heidi Amundson 
with regards to her experiences with son Zack. Her years of work in advocating for her son has pushed 
her into going back to school to become a speech pathologist, and has caused them to sell off the farm 
equipment in order to fund their treatments, and has them moving to West Fargo in order to be closer 
to the services they need. This is a very needed bill. 

A quick summary of the bill itself: 

Subsection 1 of the bill is definitions. Referenced definition in subsection l(a) is below. 

43-32-01. Definitions 

8. "Practice of applied behavior analysis": 

a. Means the application of the principles, methods, and procedures of the experimental 
analysis of behavior and applied behavior analysis, including principles of operant and 
respondent learning. The term includes applications of those principles, methods, and 
procedures to: 

(1) Design, supervise, evaluate, and modify treatment programs to change the behavi.or 
of individuals diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder; 

(2) Design, supervise, evaluate, and modify treatment programs to change the behavior 
of individuals; 

(3) Design, supervise, evaluate, and modify treatment programs to change the behavior 
of groups; and 

(4) Consult with individuals and organizations. 

Subsection 2 - Institutes an age limit of 26 years old, and makes sure that an autism diagnosis is not 
grounds for denial of or termination of an insurance contract. Aside from the 8 states that have no Age 
limit in place, this would be the highest threshold in the nation. One change that I would like to 
entertain as we continue this discussion, is to look at placing an age threshold in the 18-21 range which 
is most common across the nation. 
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Subsection 3 - Prohibits the number of limits on number of visits for treatments 

Subsection 4 - Cannot set dollar limits substantially lower than all other medical and surgical benefits in 
the plan. 

Subsection 5 - Not limit other benefits that are available in the plan 

Subsection 6 - Coverage for ABA therapy is subject to a maximum of $50,000 per year 

Subsection 7 - Coverage for ABA must include the services of the personnel who work under the 
supervision of the licensed behavior analyst or psychologist overseeing the program. 

Subsection 8 - Allows an insurer to annually review the treatment plan for an insured receiving 
treatment for Autism spectrum disorder, unless the insurer and the insured's treating physician or 
psychologist agree to more frequent review as being necessary. 

Subsection 9 - This whole section does not affect an obligation to provide services for an individual 
under an individualized family service plan, an individual educational program or an individualized 
service plan. 

Subsection 10 - This section does not apply to nongrandfathered plans in the individual or small group 
markets under the ACA. 

Subsection 11 - Before August of each even numbered year, the Insurance Commissioner shall submit a 
biennial report to Legislative Management regarding the implementation of the coverage. This report 
will give us plenty of data to work with, including the number of diagnosed individuals, costs of claims 
received, cost per insured for coverage. 

Section 2 - Directs ND PERS to include Autism coverage in their plan. 

Section 3 - This language is identical to last session when we discussed Oral Chemotherapy. If 
something is declared to be a mandate, it must be subject to a 2 year review process by PERS before it 
goes into effect for commercial lines. This language is necessary to bypass that, as it directs autism 
coverage to be available January 1, 2018 instead. 

This language is essentially model language from Autism Speaks, a national organization that is working 
on behalf of families dealing with these issues, and versions of this language has now passed in 45 states 
with the remaining states looking at language this year. Someone from Autism Speaks is here and can 
go in much more depth on this language than I can. 

Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee. I strongly believe that our assembly needs to act on this 
during this legislative session, as we have families that are facing very tough situations and has put some 
into dire financial need. I ask that you give careful review of this legislation, listen to the families and 
the experts who will follow me, and adjust this bill if needed so that we can solve some of their issues. 
This is truly some of the most vulnerable members in our society, and we ought to do what we can to 
ensure that they are taken care of. I ask for a Do Pass recommendation, and will stand for any 
questions. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
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Bringing 
Meaningful z 

Autism Insurance 
Coverage to 
North Dakota 

What is Autism? 

• Autism and autism spectrum disorder 
(ASD) are both general terms for a group 
of complex disorders of brain 
development. Z 

• Autism affects a person's communication 
abilities and social skills, and often 
causes repetitive patterns of behavior 
and a narrow range of interests. 

• Its symptoms range from mild to severe . 

I 



Severity is judged by 
amount of support one 
needs due to social 
communication 
impairments and 
restricted, repetitive 
patterns of behavior 

/ 

Autism Spectrum 
Disorder 

(The umbrella disorder in 
the DSM-V) 

Diagnosing Autism 

• The American Academy of Pediatrics 
recommends screening every child for 
autism at their 18 and 24 month 
checkups. 

• Autism is diagnosed by a physician ; 
usually by a developmental 
pediatrician, pediatric neurologist or 
team of developmental specialists. 
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Treatment 

Early diagnosis and treatment are critical to a 
positive outcome for individuals with an autism 
spectrum disorder (ASD) 

• Treatment is prescribed by a licensed physician or .a. 
licensed psychologist: iillii 

11.1111,zo,2012 

Testimony ol 

Behavioral health treatment, including 
Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) Therapy 

Speech , Occupational and Physical Therapy 

Psychological, Psychiatric, and 
Pharmaceutical Care 

American Academy '1i\ 
of Pediatrics ~ 

\len f . Tait MD, FAM 

" "Optimizing medical care and therapy can have a 
positive impact on the habilitative progress and 
quality oflife for the child. Medically necessary 
treatments ameliorate or manage symptoms, 
improve functioning, and/or prev ent 
deterioration. Thus, in addition to routine 
preventive care and treatment of acute illnesses, 
children with ASDs also require management of 
sleep problems, obsessive behaviors, hygiene and 
self-care skills, eating a healthy diet, and limiting 
self-injurious behaviors. 

On~lwf o(the 
A-rk,u1 Academy nf f'ed latrta 

Befon:tht 
Soba>mmituc DII l"cnoau l, 
Sc .. ,~ Amiee! Scn'k" Co.-im!nee 

"Effective medical care and treatment may also 
allow a child with ASD to benefit more optimally 
from therapeutic interventions. Therapeutic 
interventions, including behavioral strategies and 
habilitative therapies, are the cornerstones of care 
for ASDs. These interventions address 

7,;;..~;::- communication, social skills, daily-living skills, play 
and leisure skills, academic achievement, and 
behavior." 

:t 
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Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) 

• ABA is the most commonly prescribed 
evidence-based treatment for ASD 

• Decades of research demonstrate the 
effectiveness of ABA therapy for autism 

• Many insurers still deny coverage for 
ABA based on the assertion that ABA 
therapy is "experimental. " This 
assertion is simply not supported by 
science 

/unt l0,2012 

Testimony of 
Vua f_ Tait MD, FAAP 

Onbf:halfofthc 
American Academy of Pediatrics 

Bt forethe 
S11bcommltttc en f'en.onnd, 
Scnllt Armc-d St'n-ic:.n Com•thlct 

American Academy 
of Pediarrics 

• "An example of a demonstrated, 
effective treatment for ASD is Applied 
Behavior Analysis, or ABA. ABA uses 
behavioral health principles to increase 
and maintain positive adaptive behavior 
and reduce negative behaviors or .&. 
narrow the conditions under which they ill. 
occur. ABA can teach new skills, and 
generalize them to new environments 
or situations. ABA focuses on the 
measurement and objective evaluation 
of observed behavior in the home, 
school, and community. " 
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June,20,2012 

Testimony of 
VeraF. Ta.ltMD,FMP 

Onbeh.tlfohh, 
Amerlan Academy ofPedlatr1a 

Bcfouthe 
S-btoamltttt H PcnooHl, 
Sea1k Anotd Scnicu Co•mltttt 

American Academy , 
of Pediatrics ~ ' 

• "ASD is a medical/ 
neurodevelopmental condition with 
behavioral symptoms that are 
directly addressed by applied 
behavior analysis methods. ABA has 
proved effective in addressing the 
core symptoms of autism as well 
as developing skills and improving 
and enhancing functioning in 
numerous areas that affect the 
health and well-being of people with 
ASD." 

----·-.,-IO'lll:l>~,_~'W,5-CIOI- • "'"~'""IX!OtlOS 
,..,1011 ... u11.~~ - !·-'< •""-l,.._,.,.. 

June 20, 2012 

Testimonyot 
VuaF. TaltMD,FAAP 

OnMhal!ofthe 
American Academy of Pediatrics 

BcfORthe 
SubC'Dmmltttc en hnon,id, 
Sea.lie Amtfd Sornica Cenunht« 

American Academy " -.,. 
of Pediarrics 

• "The effectiveness of ABA-based 
interventions in ASDs has been well 
documented through a long history of 
research in university and community 
settings. Children who receive early 
intensive behavioral treatment have 
been shown to make substantial gains 
in cognition, language, academic 
performance, and adaptive behavior 
as well as some measures of social 
behavior, and their outcomes have 
been significantly better than those of 
children in control groups. " 
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Outcome of Lovaas 1987 UCLA Study 

Efficacy of ABA Therapy 

Control Group ABA Group 

e Achieved Normal IQ e Did Not Achieve Normal IQ 

• 
Outcome of Lovaas 1987 UCLA Study 

Educational Placement for Group that Received ABA 

e Mainstreamed with No Support 
e Low-Intensity Special Education Placement {for language delay) 
e High-Intensity Special Education Placement (for autism or intellectual disability) 

• 
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ABA endorsements 

United States Surgeon General (1999) ' 
"Thirty years of research demonstrated the efficacy of applied 
behavioral methods in reducing inappropriate behavior and in 
increasing communication, learning, and appropriate social 
behavior. 

I' 
-
The U.S. Office of Personnel Management (2012) 

"The OPM Benefit Review Panel recently evaluated the status 
of Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) for children with autism. 
Previously, ABA was considered to be an educational 
intervention and not covered under the FEHB Program. The ' Panel concluded that there is now sufficient evidence to 
categorize ABA as medical therapy. Accordingly, plans may 
propose benefit packages which include ABA." 

Facing Financial Reality 

According to a 2007 study conducted by the Harvard 
School of Public Health, it costs approximately $3.2 million 
to take care of an autistic person over his or her lifetime. 

* 

The Ganz 2007 Harvard study also found that caring for all Z 
people with autism over their lifetimes costs an estimated 
$35 billion per year in direct and indirect costs . 

Estimated lifetime cost savings of providing appropriate 
treatment are $1 million per child (Jacobsen et al , 1998) 

7 
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State Response 

2017 

45 states now require coverage of autism treatment, 
Including applied behavior analysis. 

B 
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United States Department 
of Defense 

Tricare provides meaningful 
autism coverage for both 
active duty and retired 
military personnel, including .a. 
behavioral health treatment .a. 
like applied behavior 
analysis . 

What about the nation's 
largest employer? 

• The Office of Personnel Management, which manages the 
Federal Employees Health Benefits Program (FEHP) has 
directed its carriers to cover applied behavior analysis 
(ABA) starting January I, 20 I 7. 

• The FEHB program is the nation's largest employer
sponsored health benefits program, covering 8.2 million 
federal employees, retirees and dependents. 

"We expect all carriers to offer clinically 
appropriate and medically necessary 

treatment for children dia~nosed with ASD." 
OPM Letter to Carriers _Oat February 26, 2016 
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In States with Autism 
Insurance Reform ... 

• People who have never before been able to 
receive treatment are making remarkable 
progress. 

• Providers have joined adequate networks of 
participating providers and negotiated 
satisfactory reimbursement rates. 

• The impact on premiums has been negligible. 

Cost of Coverage 

If the out of pocket cost of treatment can be as 
high as $60,000 per child per year, how can 
the reported claims data be so low? 

• Autism is a spectrum and treatment is 
individual ized based on the severity and 
individual needs of the affected 
individual. 

• Utilization of benefits is not 100% 

/{A 
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Utilization 
• Of the estimated number of affected individuals, 

how many access treatment? 

• Disease Prevalence ~ Treated Prevalence 

• Based on claims data collected by Autism Speaks, z 
estimated benefit utilization is 30-50%. (Minnesota 
providers report 20%.) 

• Contributing factors? 
undiagnosed individuals 
parent choice 
higher functioning 
socioeconomic status 

Projected vs Actual Costs 
• Actual Cost • Fiscal Note from State Legislature 

$15.000.000 Year of F~Notefrom "'"-" -- Total Claims 
Statele9111aturw profec;:tedVff'IU• 

-=tualcott 
$13.500.000 5856,369 S 10,590.000 1,237% -- $2,042.394 510,590,000 ""' $12.000.000 sn2.e2a 52,118.307 '"" Louiltana 

$722,828 $2,686,796 372% 
$10.500.000 5473.818 $2,500,000 528% 

$9.000.000 - - S-473,818 $4,900,000 1,034% 

S388.662 $2,500,000 .. , .. 
$7.500.000 

S388,662 54.900.000 1,261"'· 

$6.000.000 

$4.500.000 

$3.000.000 

$1 .500.000 

so 
SC SC u u A2 A2 AZ AZ 

yearl year2 yea1 2 year 2 yearl year 1 year 2 year 2 ~- h igh low high - high 

II 

:t 
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The Cost of Autism Insurance 
Reform - Year Three 

3 208,466 416,741 $ 0.17 

3 100,000 326,907 $ 0.27 

3 1,443,680 8,289,917 $ 0.48 

3 183,407 583,945 $ 0.27 

3 79000 205,573 $ 0.22 

3 597,104 4,482,066 $ 0.63 

29,637 67,384 $ 0.19 

s 0.45 

Reftrencff: Data collected by Autism Speaks from Stale agencies responsible for administering State 
Employee Health Benefits Programs (2011 ); Missouri Department of Insurance. Financial Institutions and 
Professional Registration (2012); and the Kansas Department of HeaNh and Environment (2012) 

The Cost of Autism I nsu ranee 
Reform - Year Four 

Fourth y_, eo.t PMPM S 0.49 

References: Data collected by Autism Speaks from State agencies responsible !or administering Slate 
Employee Health Benefits Programs (2011); Missouri Department of Insurance. Financial Institutions and 
Professional Registration (2012); and the Kansas Department ot Health and Environment (2012) 
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Effect on Premiums 
Annual Repcn 

to the 
Missowi Legislature 

Insurance Coverage 
for Autism Treatment & 

Applied Behavior Analysis 

Statistics Section 
Jan. 31,2012 

• DIFP -~---i-- r.-1.a1--. .1 -·-...,_ -~ n....-

Claims incurred for 
treatment of ASD 
represent 0.9% of total 
claims 

"While claims costs are 
expected to grow 
somewhat in the future, 
it seems very unlikely 
that costs for autism 
treatment will have an 
appreciable impact on 
insurance premiums." 

The Virginia State Corporation Commission reports to the Virginia 
General Assembly annually regarding the impact of health insurance 
mandates on the private health insurance market. 

The 2013 report The 2014 report The 2015 report 
reflects the following: reflects the tonowing: refleds the following: 

The average The average The average 
annual claim cost annua/dalm annual daim cost 
per contract or cost per contract per conlraet or 
certificate related or certificate certificate related 
to mandated related to to mandated 
coverage of mandated coverage of 
autism spectrum coverage of autism spectrum 
disorder is $2.19 autism spectrum disorder is S3.50 

disorder is $2.66 
This represents . This represents . 
04% of total This rep,esents . 05%01 total 
claims reported 06% of total c laims reported 
and equates a claims reported and equates a 
premium impact and equates a premium impact 
for policyholders premium impact for policyholders 
of 18 cent• per for policyholders of29centsper 
member per of 22 cents per member per 
month member per month 

/3 
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NATIONAL SURVEY OF 
EM PLOVER-SPONSORED 
HEALTH PLANS 
2013 SURVEY TABLES 

h,ecnl.\1):t: of ~,sOf"OVldln9 CO'lt"fllgt to, aulism ,pc:cuum di$ordt1s! 

lnp.atMnt/ lr.ttnM 
D'agnoltic: Mt<fic.a6on =,iht71plc1 oulpati•nt behavio:lal Autism is not 
sttvU.s man19ement UHtmtnt thtoplts CQ\.~ft'(I 

Lat9ttmp}o-Jln '14N 6lll 6Sll S6ll 36li 18!', 

--· ,. 

Wt<I 74!\ 64!\ 70li 57!\ 
.,,. 14ll 

Mld'Yn.--st 75 63 66 5" 32 20 

No,~s.t 74 61 68 59 '.19 20 

South 74 65 69 S6 32 18 
-..• -. - .. - · .. ·. 

M.anut~urlng 79ll .... 69!1 ,a,; 29" 15ll 

Wholtt.:a'URctlil 70 51 61 ss 26 22 

Servicf'.S 68 57 63 57 )I 24 

T~nspolt/Commuriic./UtUity 67 62 63 so )8 26 

Hefithc~ 72 63 69 51 37 22 
F'trt.11nc·at s-crvk:n 87 72 78 76 55 8 

Go,enuntnl 69 64 69 60 15 15 
... ~ . ' 

500-999 69" 6Sli 64'11 56!1 31!' 231' 

1.000-4,999 79 .. 72 57 39 16 

S.000-9,999 70 52 65 47 30 20 

10.000-19.999 78 57 70 62 40 13 

20.000a,more 71 S6 67 SI 3) 17 

Mercer National Survey of Employer Sponsored Health Plans 2013 

Microsoft 

AT&T 

Self-Funded Plans that Provide 
Coverage for Autism Treatment 

Wal Mart Wells Fargo 

Bank of America Jet Blue 
Turner Broadcasting JP Morgan Chase American Airlines 

·• 

• 

Georgia Power Universi ty of Minnesota Southern Baptist Convention 

Home Depot Progressive Group Northern Trust 
Arnold & Porter Intel Abbott Labs 

Symantec DTE Energy GE 
Cisco Emory University General Motors 

Ch ildren 's Healthcare of SunTrust EMC 
Atlanta Gerner American Express 
Eli Lilly Merck Liberty Mutual 
UTC State Street Michelin 
Ohio State University Corporation National Grid 
Time Warner Children's Mercy Safeway 
John Deere Capital One RR Donnelly 
MIT Yahoo T Rowe Price 
Blackbaud Rubbermaid Newell Morgan Stanley 
Partners Healthcare Sisters of Mercy Health Price Waterhouse Coopers 
Deloitte Systems 

White Castle Princeton University And Many more .. 
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WALL STREET 
JOURNAL 
More Autism Help ... As diagnoses of autism rise, a growing number 
of families are grappling with the worry and expense of finding 
treatment for children with the complex developmental disorder, 
autism. And many are pressing employers and legislators for help. 
(Wall Street Journal) 
http:// on Ii ne. wsj .com/ article/ 
S810001424052748703867704576183022242647068. html 

:t 

• Bernie Marcus, Co-Founder Home Depot .. . "The insurance 
lobbies obviously don't want to cover it and yet we know the 
cost is only 32 cents per month per member. And they're 
fighting it tooth and nail. I put it into Home Depot years 
ago and I will tell you, it didn't break Home Depot. " 

Job Growth in States with Autism 
Insurance Reform Laws 

State/(Year Law Passed) 

Board Certified Behavior Analyst 
Provider Growth By State 

Kentucky (2010) 

Rhode Island (20 t1) 

Kansas (2010) ~~~~~~:;~:::::~-Maine (2010) I: 

Arizona (2008) ~~~~~;~=~~::::=:.==--•-Nevada (2009) I: -
South Carolina (200n ~~~~;::~::::::=::--jlla-m:a 

Wisconsin (2009) I: ! 

Louisiana (2008) 1 

New Hampshire (2010) i;;;;;;,-;;:;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;~~~~--_J 
0 45 90 135 180 

• Number o1 Certlcants 2007 
• Number o1 Certificants 2015 

,/6 
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What Should an Autism 
Benefit Look Like? 

• Coverage should include 

- Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) Therapy Z 
- Speech Therapy, Occupational Therapy, 

and Physical Therapy 

- Psychological, Psychiatric, and 
Pharmaceutical Care 

- Diagnosis and Assessments 

What Should an Autism 
Benefit Look Like? 

• No denials on the basis that treatment is 

- Habilitative in nature 

Educational in nature 

Experimental in nature Z 
• For Applied Behavior Analysis coverage, treatment must 

be provided or supervised by a behavior analyst who is 
certified by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board®, or 

- a licensed psychologist so long as the services 
performed are commensurate with the psychologist's 
formal university training and supervised experience 

f 
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About Autism Speaks 

Autism Speaks is the world's largest autism science and advocacy 
organization, dedicated to funding research into the causes, 

prevention, treatments and a cure for autism; increasing awareness 
of autism spectrum disorders ; and advocating for the needs of .I. 

individuals with autism and their families. .a. 
Autism Votes is an Autism Speaks initiative; a comprehensive 

grassroots advocacy program, coordinating activist efforts in support 
of federal and state legislative initiatives. 

For more information, please visit www.autismvotes.org and 
www.autismspeaks.org 

Contact Information 

Autism Speaks 
State Government Affairs 

Lorri Unumb, Esq. 
Vice President 

lorri.unumb@autismspeaks.org 

Judith Ursitti, CPA 
Director 

judith . u rsitti @autismspeaks.org 

Michael Wasmer, DVM, DACVIM 
Director 

m ichael. w asmer@autismspeaks.org 
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Judith Ursitti , CPA 
Director State Government Affairs 
Autism Speaks 
j udith . u rstti @autismspeaks.org 

About Autism Speaks 
Autism Speaks Autism Speaks is the world 's leading autism science and 
advocacy organization. It is dedicated to funding research into the causes, 
prevention , treatments and a cure for autism ; increasing awareness of autism 
spectrum disorders; and advocating for the needs of individuals with autism 
and their families . 

* 

Autism Speaks was founded in February 2005 by Suzanne and Bob Wright, .I. 
the grandparents of a child with autism . Mr. Wright is the former vice chairman ;a. 
of General Electric and chief executive officer of NBC and NBC Universal. 
Since its inception, Autism Speaks has committed more than $500 million to its 
mission, the majority in science and medical research . 

Each year Walk Now for Autism Speaks events are held in more than 100 
cities across North America. On the global front , Autism Speaks has 
established partnerships in more than 40 countries on five continents to foster 
international research, services and awareness. 

To learn more about Autism Speaks, please visit www.AutismSpeaks.org 
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Testimony 
House Bill 1434 

Monday, January 30, 2017 
Jennifer L. Skjod (Parent) 

(701) 220-7852 / jenniferskjod@gmail.com 

Good afternoon, Chairman Weisz and members of the human services committee. My name is 
Jennifer Skjod, and I am a parent of a 12-year-old child with autism. I am here today to provide 
information and offer support to House Bill 1434. 

House Bill 1434 would establish services required by health insurance companies to cover under 
their North Dakota policies. North Dakota is one of only a few states that does not encourage this 
coverage. 

Our child was diagnosed in 2011 at age seven with autism. We, like many parents of pre
adolescent and adolescent children in North Dakota, did not have access to early intervention. 
(You have to be diagnosed to get that.) Neither did we have the benefit of the Medicaid Waiver. 
Although a step forward in services, our child was past the age limit when that was passed. 

Instead, we read enough books and visited enough websites to enable a Ph.D. in this subject! But 
that knowledge did us little good when we realized that Applied Behavior Analysis or ABA -
otherwise known as the gold standard in autism intervention, was unavailable to us. There were 
simply no providers that offered this practice within a 300-mile radius. (And why would there be 
if insurance did not cover it.) 

Finally, I was over the moon to discover there was a local expert -one person in all of the 
community that was certified to offer these services. I met with her only to find she was assigned 
to only work with children on the Medicaid waiver. This is just one long list of cracks our family 
seemed to slip through, but certainly the most devastating. 

With no certified educators in our community and none willing to put up with behaviors we were 
not successful enough to control on our own, he is on a rather long waitlist for residential care. 

I realize coverage for ABA would be an added expense for insurance companies. However, with 
the reduced need for residential care (which can cost more than $800 a day), perhaps they would 
consider this preventive medicine. 

I would be happy to answer any questions you have at this time . 
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Jan. 30, 2017 

Good afternoon everyone. Thank you for the opportunity to speak here today. My name is Dr. Daisha 

Seyfer, and I am trained as a Developmental-Behavioral Pediatrician . That means that after medical 

school and residency I went on to do a three year fellowship in Developmental-Behavioral Pediatrics at 

Nationwide Children's Hospital and Ohio State University in Columbus, Ohio. 

I spent three years doing focused training in the diagnosis, management, and treatment of autism 

spectrum disorders. I was very fortunate to be able to do my autism training at the Center for Autism 

Spectrum Disorders at Nationwide Children's Hospital, which is a very large autism center in central 

Ohio and is actually an Autism Treatment Network site. I spent two years practicing as a 

Developmental-Behavioral Pediatrician in Sioux Falls, SD. I drove seven hours from South Dakota to be 

here and talk to you today about autism and applied behavior analysis. 

I can assure you that ABA, or applied behavior analysis, is absolutely not an experimental therapy for 

autism. Among those in my field and other professionals who are knowledgeable about autism 

spectrum disorders, ABA is widely considered to be one of the best known therapies for autism. Thirty 

years of research support its use. You don't have to just take my word for it; I have compiled a sampling 

of some of the research articles that have been produced over the last three decades that support its 

use, which you may review at your leisure. Research tells us that when comprehensive ABA therapy is 

provided at the prescribed intensity to children, 47% of individuals will be able to mainstream into 

regular education classes without an aide by first grade. An additional 42% may improve such that they 

require much less intense special education (Lovaas, 1987). That is a HUGE impact, not only for the 

children themselves but for their families and communities as well. 

Studies have shown that kids with autism spectrum disorder who receive ABA may make significant and 

sustained gains in IQ, language, academic performance, self-care behaviors, and social skills (Myers, 

2007). ABA can address a wide range of problems, including functional living skills, language, reading, 

social skills, peer interaction, and academic engagement. ABA can also address problem behaviors such 

as tantrums, noncompliance, feeding problems, aggression, and self-injury. Notable national health 

organizations such as the U.S. Surgeon General (Satcher, 1999) and the American Academy of Pediatrics 

(Myers, 2007) endorse the use of this significant treatment for autism. 

The enormous potential benefits of ABA are well-documented in the scientific literature. It is absolutely 

the therapy that any of you would want for your child, grandchild, niece, nephew, or other family 

member with autism. I am a mother of a two year-old child . If my child were to ever be diagnosed with 

autism, there is NO WAY that my child would ever go without ABA. And if we had to move to a different 

state or switch jobs to access it, then so be it. I actually personally know multiple families who have 

done those exact things- and more- to access ABA for their children. That is how important this is. 

That's how big a difference this therapy can make in the life of a child. 
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Sadly, the majority of children in this state who have autism do not receive ABA currently, and a big 

reason in many cases is lack of insurance coverage. So clearly, there is a tremendous need for a law 

requiring insurance companies to cover this treatment. You know, there has been great effort in the last 

few years, both on the part of the American Academy of Pediatrics and public health organizations such 

as the Centers for Disease Control to get health care providers and communities to recognize the signs 

of autism early and diagnose it early so that we can treat early. The reason we want to treat as early as 

possible is because we know that we can have better long term outcomes, or prognosis, the earlier we 

intervene. 

The first 5-6 years of life are the period when the brain is growing and developing at its most rapid pace. 

In order to have the biggest impact on the future developmental potential of a child, we really need to 

intervene as early as possible to be able to capitalize on that period of rapid brain growth. However, 

that's not to say that children won't be able to make any progress if ABA is started later. I personally 

have seen kids say their first words at age 8 years old and older, but only after beginning to receive 

intensive ABA therapy. I've also seen older kids make dramatic improvements in some of their 

behaviors when they begin to receive ABA at an older age. ABA techniques have been shown in the 

literature to be particularly helpful for adolescents and also adults who have a specific deficits or 

behavioral problems (Bishop-Fitzpatrick, 2013) (Hagopian, 1996) (Rehfeldt, 2003) (Shabani, 2006). 

A question I have been asked by families in the past is whether something like speech therapy or 

occupational therapy could be as effective as ABA. And I never know quite how to answer that 

question, because I have seen all three of those therapies be very useful interventions for children with 

autism. They are three totally different therapies and they all have the potential to be incredibly useful 

to a child with autism. However, one does not really take the place of another. In the American 

Academy of Pediatrics' 2007 policy statement on autism (which was reaffirmed in 2011 and 2014), the 

AAP specifically lists all three interventions (ABA, speech, and OT) as specific recommended strategies to 

help children with autism enhance communication skills, learn social skills, and reduce problem 

behaviors (Myers, 2007) . 

In summary, I hope that you will consider enacting a law to help North Dakota's children with autism to 

access appropriate therapy, including applied behavior analysis. Thank you very much for your time . 

• 

• 
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TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF HOUSE BILL 1434 

INSURANCE COVERAGE FOR AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS 

January 30, 2017 
Ladies and Gentlemen of the Committee: 

I am a ND Licensed Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA). I have a bachelor's degree in 

Psychology and a master's degree in Applied Behavior Analysis and Autism. I have had the privilege of 

working with children with autism for 10 years. I have been employed at the North Dakota Autism Center 
for approximately 8 years where I work alongside highly trained behavior technicians and fellow Board 

Certified Behavior Analysts providing intensive interventions based on the field of ABA. Our team of 

professionals works daily providing evidence-based interventions to children and adolescents with autism, 

developmental disabilities, and other related disabilities and behavioral challenges. 
Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is a discipline devoted to improving the behavior of people in 

real-world settings (clinics, schools, community, and industry) using evidence-based strategies derived 

from the field. In general terms, ABA is a field that is dedicated to helping individuals be successful in 
their everyday lives. When I refer to success, I am not referring to the general public's portrayal of 

success (money, raises, and promotions); I am referring to critical life changing skills. We are focused on 
teaching patients how to communicate when they are hungry, how to get a glass of water when they are 

thirsty, how to use the bathroom independently, how to respond to the directions of others (i.e. "Stop" 

"Hot" "Dangerous), how to communicate with others, and the list of skills goes on and on. Not only are 

we focused on teaching new skills, but we are also focused on reducing unwanted behavior(s) that can be 
detrimental to the patients. When I refer to unwanted behavior(s), I am referring to life altering behaviors 
such as reducing a patient' s engagement in self-injurious behavior (i.e. a patient harming him/herself), 

physical aggression towards others, destruction of property, tantrums, and dangerous behaviors such as 

running away from caregivers or climbing on high surfaces. 
In summary, the field of ABA teaches patients the skills that many people develop naturally and 

then take for granted on a daily basis. For example, the skills that you and I utilize every day that can 
seem so basic and routine such as taking a shower, getting dressed, brushing our teeth, problem solving, 

navigating social situations, practicing safety skills (i.e. crossing the street), using calming techniques to 
stay in control are the same skills that that these incredible, hard-working patients may not develop 
"naturally" and have to work exceptionally hard to learn. Applied behavior analysis makes that possible. 

Learning what the field of ABA is and what it does is only half the battle to understanding why 
making ABA services available is so critical to helping these individuals. The other half is learning ABA 
is a safe treatment that has scientifically been shown to be effective. The successful and effective use of 

ABA-based procedures to increase wanted behavior and decrease unwanted behavior has been 
documented across 40 years of extensive research and is well documented in scientific literature. 
Research showing that ABA-based procedures are empirically supported treatments can be found in both 
behavioral and non-behavioral journals. Thousands of studies utilizing different research designs have 
been published since the 1960s and the results of these studies can best be seen in the multiple review 
papers conducted on ABA-based interventions. For example, the Journal of Pediatrics, in a review of 
scientifically supported and unsupported interventions for childhood psychopathology concluded that: 

"The most efficacious psychosocial treatment for autism is applied behavior analysis." (Lillienfeld, 2005, 
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p. 762) In addition, systematic evaluations of ABA-based procedures have been conducted based on 
standards put in place to determine if a particular intervention can be characterized as "empirically 
supported" or "established." Multiple evaluations of ABA-based procedures have concluded that ABA 

interventions are "well established" or "evidence-based." (Wong et al., 2013) Finally, in an overview and 
summary of scientific support for ABA, Hagopian and colleagues (2015) highlight the many scientific, 
government, and professional agencies that have concluded that ABA-based procedures represent best 
practice as a result of the overwhelming empirical evidence provided by the field of ABA: 

• Autism Speaks states that "A BA is widely recognized as a safe and effective treatment for autism "; and 
"Behavior analysis is a scientifically validated approach to understanding behavior and how it is affected 
by the environment. " 

• The American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (formerly the American 

Association on Mental Retardation), the oldest and largest interdisciplinary organization of professionals 

concerned with intellectual disab ility and related disabilities, designated ABA-based procedures for the 

treatment of behavioral problems with individuals with intellectual disability and related disorders as 

"highly recommended" (Rush & Frances, 2000). 

• American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry concluded: "ABA techniques have been 
repeatedly shown to have efficacy for specific problem behaviors, and A BA has been found to be effective 
as applied to academic tasks, adaptive living skills, communication, social skills, and vocational skills" 
(Volkmar et al. , 2014). 

• Organization For Autism Research ("The Best ofthe OARacle" ; see page 10) stated that " .. . [ABA} is 
distinguished from other interventions because it has been proven effective in promoting skill development 
in persons with autism. " 

• National Autism Center's National Standards Report (2009) noted that behavioral interventions based 

on ABA were found to have an established level of evidence to support their use. Examples include 

behavioral packages, antecedent packages, comprehensive behavioral treatment for young children, 

modeling, schedules, pivotal response training, and self-management packages. 

• The Association for Science in Autism Treatment (ASAT) found that " ... ABA is effective in increasing 
behaviors and teaching new skills .... ABA is effective in reducing problem behavior ... and also indicates 
that, when implemented intensively (more than 20 hours per week) and early in life (beginning prior to the 
age of 4 years), ABA may produce large gains in development and reductions in the need for special 
services. 

• The Centers for Disease Control (see types of treatment) indicated that a " ... notable treatment approach 
for people with an ASD is called applied behavior analysis (ABA). ABA has become widely accepted 
among health care professionals and is used in many schools and treatment clinics .. .. " 

• The National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) noted that ABA has become widely recognized as an 

effective treatment for individuals with autism (see treatment options section). 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

• The National Institute of Child Health and Human Development stated that " ... applied behavior 
analysis (ABA), [is} a widely accepted approach that tracks a child's progress in improving his or her 
skills ... " 

• The Surgeon General of the United States stated, "Thirty years of research demonstrated the efficacy of 
applied behavioral methods in reducing inappropriate behavior and in increasing communication, 
learning, and appropriate social behavior" (1999). 

My personal experience with this field and what these interventions are capable of are testimony 
to its effectiveness. At just 20 months old, a young boy was referred to me by his doctor as he was 
nonverbal and failing to meet his milestones. This patient had just received a diagnosis of autism, and his 
parents were motivated to get him the services he needed. Assessment of this patient revealed he was 
unable to engage in many of the expected skills for his age (request for wanted or needed items, follow 
the directions of others, label/name things in his environment, imitate the actions or sounds of others, or 

engage socially with peers or adults). Using evidence-based strategies derived from the field of ABA, a 
tailored intervention package was developed for this patient and was implemented 25 hours per week. At 
46 months when th is patient was reassessed, he had gained most of the skills of his current age matched 
peers. Today this patient is enrolled in a general education school and spends his day in the general 
education classroom and is no longer receiving ABA services. 

In a similar example, a family of a 39-month-old boy requested an intake as their son was 
diagnosed with autism, and since both parents were med ical doctors, they understood the importance of 
ABA and getting their child services. Before services started, this patient's assessment revealed high areas 

of skill deficits and engagement in barrier skills. After 3 years of receiving ABA services for IO - 25 
hours a week, the patient is now enrolled in a general education school where he spends his day in the 
general education classroom with his age matched peers and receives minimal support. 

I have also seen firsthand the implementation of evidence based ASA-procedures teach an 8-
year-old boy with a severe genetic disorder to be independent in the bathroom, eliminate the severe self

injurious behavior of head-banging in a 9-year-old, teach a nonverbal 6-year-old girl with a brain disorder 
how to communicate using pictures, a 14-year-old male how to independently engage in self-help ski lls 
and engage in numerous job ski lls in the home and community, and reduce the intense physical 
aggression of a 7-year-old girl to ensure her continued access to peers and family. These are only a few 
examples that highlight the effectiveness and significance of ABA services. 

In closing, I would like to share with you a situation that I encounter far more frequently than 
necessary . A concerned parent calls the center and explains to me that their son or daughter is engaging 
in a serious behavior and is unable to engage in some of the most fundamental skills. The parent proceeds 
to tell me how hard it is to see their loved one struggle every day and how powerless they feel as parents, 
as they do not know what to do to help their chi ld. They proceed to tell me that their doctor referred them 
to us, and they have read and researched all about the fie ld of ABA and how it can help. I listen to the 
parent and think about all of the evidence-based procedures that I have seen time and time again be 
successful with the same information the parent is sharing with me. I hear the hope and the desperation in 
that parent's voice, but instead of being optimistic about the chance of being able to teach this child the 
skills he/she needs, I sit on the other end of the line dreading the next question I have to ask and silently 
hope that this fami ly does not live in North Dakota or they have out of state insurance. I ask the parent, 
"What insurance do you have?", and undoubtedly have to spend the next part of the conversation 
explaining to this parent in desperate need that we have the evidence-based strategies that could be the 
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answer to their problems, but unless they can pay out of pocket, I cannot help them because no North 

Dakota insurance companies cover ABA, the service that was prescribed by their doctor. Now, the family 

has to make the impossible decision of giving their child the opportunity to learn the skills that so many 

of us take for granted and potentially putting their family in financial ruin, watch their child struggle daily 

knowing they could be receiving help but are not financially capable, or move to one of the other 45 states 

where ABA coverage is available. 

I strongly support House Bill 1434, Autism Insurance Reform for North Dakota Families and ask that 

you vote in support this legislation. Thank you for your time and consideration of this significant matter. 

If I can be of any assistance during this time of deliberation, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Sincerely, 

Chelsea Evenstad, M.S., BCBA, LABA 

Behavior Support Program Director 

North Dakota Auti sm Center 

West Fargo, ND 58078 
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• Good Afternoon, Chairman Weisz and representatives of the Human Service Committee: 

My name is Ethan Paul Suda. I am 13 years old and in the 7th grade. I am from Grafton, North 

Dakota. 

Currently, Autism affects 1 in 68 children, 1 in 42 boys and is still on the rise. I am here today 

rep~esenting all child ren with Autism; ho:wever I ~:Ir! only on_e.voice, one child affected by 

Autisfn. i am a boy, a son, a grandson, a brother, a cousin and a friend. this disorder do~s not 

discriminate. It affects everyone. 

I am one of those 42 boys. 

In October 2005, at the age of 2, I was diagnosed with Autism. Any skills I had learned, I had lost 
. . ' 

by 18 months. I cried a lot, I banged my head on the floor & the door, spun in circles over and 

over again. I avoided eye contact, had no speech, I acted deaf, didn't know now to imitate play 

and completely obsessed and perseverated about specific interests. 

I was gone. Lost. Trapped in my own body. For my parents, it was like a death. They lost the 

child they once had. 

When I was diagnosed, my doctor said that the only researched based therapy that would help 

• me was Applied Behavior Analysis or ABA. She said I needed 40 hours a week of ABA therapy. 

• 

We were also told that nobody in North Dakota offered it and most import antly, nobody pays 

for it. 

In 2006, My mom quit her job, which was a loss of income. We also lost our employer self

funded health insurance plan and had to pay for it 100% out of pocket. And my parents paid 

100% for all of my ABA therapy. You see, I was one of the lucky ones. My entire family 

sacrificed in order for me to receive it. My mom, along with her friend Janice dove in 100% to 

make this therapy possible. They received help from a grad student at the University of North 

Dakota who was from Canada and she trained a team of people in our community to help me 

and my friend Charlie get to where we are today. My siblings became mini therapists too, 

always making me work for a reward, helping me reach my goals. This was a family mission and 

I will be forever grateful to all who helped me along the way. I am confident in saying that 

without ABA therapy, I would not be standing up here today asking all of you for your support. 

I have a 4 point GPA, I am independent in school, participate in football, musicals, basketball, & 

baseball. I too am a representative (of student council that is!). This would not be possible 

without the proper techniques that have been taught to me over the years through many 

countless hours of therapy . 

I 



I am grateful that I have a voice. I love to draw and have a dream of becoming a cartoon 

animator for Pixar or Disney. 

Now imagine me as your son, or your grandson .... a part of your family in some way. Think 

about how you would feel having someone you love diagnosed and knowing they would not get 

the 1 treatment they needed to help them. It is devastating. 

Picture what I would be like today as if I never received ABA therapy. Think about what life 

would be like for me if I would have never gotten the chance. I think we can all agree after 

hearing my testimony that YES, I AM one of the lucky ones. 

As legislators YOU have the ability to change that. YOU have the voice for so many that do not, 

YOU can make a difference. YOU have the power to give children the therapy that they need. 

YOU can vote YES. 

I am asking for your support to pass House Bill #1434 to give children a voice, the chance to get 

the skills and independence they need to live happy, fulfilling lives. 

To each and every one of you, I Thank you from the bottom of my heart for hearing me speak 

today, a voice for so many. Kids like me need your help. 

• 

• 
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Mr. Chairman and committee members, 

My name is h,.., .. i ~ ,,. • I am 15 years old. I'm standing here talking 
to you because I got better. 

It hasn't been easy but some things I can do now are 

I can talk. Can you hear me? 

I can deal with changes in my schedule without freaking out. Like 
today. 

I can )e cool. 

I have friends. 

I can tell my brothers to leave me alone . 

I know I should also tell them ti 1ank you. They're great brothers and 
have helped me a lot. 

Vote yes today and I'll thank YOU too. 

I 
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Chairman Wiesz and committee members 

My name is Kenny Kern. I'm here because young men like me are affected by House Bill 1434. 

My brother Charlie has autism. There are 4 boys in our family and l. .. am first ... . 
or as I like to say, #1. 

One of the treatments that has really helped my brother is ABA therapy. That's why I'm here. 

ABA Therapy was, and still is, a big part of our family's life. It's worth it. 

We talk about Charlie's future just like we talk about mine - - - because he definitely has a 
future . 

Charlie can talk to me. He can also hug me, high five me, hang out with me and BUG me. 
Even young guys like me know the importance of brothers hugging AND bugging each other. 

It used to be that Charlie couldn't be around sounds. He couldn't be in music class or school 
programs. We couldn't play music in our house. Because of treatment, Charlie is in piano 
lessons, high school band and has played for our church. 

It used to be that we couldn't even say certain words in our house because certain words would 
start a nightmare of behavior for Charlie and we would all be miserable. One of the big words in 
our house was FROZEN. And as you can see, Charlie is not panicking now when I say this . 

All the pieces of progress might sound small but put them together, they are life changing. 

We can leave n e now and Charlie is safe. He doesn't wander. 

Before Charlie COULD TALK or answer to his OWN name, we needed help from POLICE to 
find him. It was scary to not be able to find him. Charlie has been helped by a lot of people but 
a 5 year old shouldn 't need help from THE POLICE for his family to find him in their own 
neighborhood. 

Please vote yes for House Bill 1434 
so more people like my brother can 
have a big future AND .. .... . 

so more guys like me 
can be a part of that 
future . 
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Chairman Wiesz and committee members 

My name is Tommy Kern. I am almost 14 years old. I'm here because of House Bill 1434 and 
want to encourage you to vote yes on it. 

This bill will help families like mine. I am brother# 3 in a family of 4 boys. The #2 in our family 
is Charlie and he was diagnosed with autism right after I was born. 

I know how hard Charlie works for lots of things that come easily for me. ASA therapy has not 
been easy for him or for our family. But it has been worth it. 

Being able to talk was something I just did. Talking to other people is something I just do. For 
Charlie, he needed treatment to be able to do these things that come so easily to me. He now 
talks to me, to our parents and to anyone else in his life. Especially if the topic is Star Wars. 

One of the successes Charlie has had involves me. We are both on the High School Cross 
Country Team. I'm glad Charlie can ride the team bus, on his own, without our parents. 
Because if Charlie needed our parents to ride the bus with him, that would mean I would be 
riding the bus with our parents too. Autism takes enough fun out of our life, we don't want 
parents riding our team bus on top of it. 

I know our family is one of the lucky ones to be able to find this treatment for Charlie and pay for 
it. But it shouldn't take luck to make this happen for families like mine and brothers like 
Charlie. When more than 5 doctors in one year agree that a person needs ASA therapy like 
they did for my brother, they should be able to have it. And they should be able to use their 
insurance to pay for it. 

You have the opportunity to change lives with House Bill 1434. Not just the lives of children with 
autism like my brother. But the lives of brothers like me. And families like mine. Take this 
opportunity. 

Vote yes. 

Thank you for your time . 

3 
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Chairman Wiesz and committee members 

My name is Jack Kern. I am 11 years old, in the 5th grade. I'm also here because of House Bill 
1434 and want to encourage you to vote yes on it. I'm the fourth and final brother. 

I like to think we've saved the best for last! 

This is what I know. My brother's doctors recommended ABA Therapy. My parents started this 
when I was born. My life has revolved around a schedule of appointments for my brother since 
as long as I can remember. And I know this is a good thing. 

Even as an 11 year old, I've been around long enough to know, has helped my 
brother and our entire family in a big way. Kenny, Charlie, Tommy and I can't share with you the 
hardest times and Charlie 's biggest challenges. It's hard to talk about. Maybe we think it's a 
little embarrassing. I wouldn't want Charlie to share with you hardest challenges so I won 't 
do that to Charlie either. 

Charlie is one of 68. I'm one of thousands of brothers wanting treatments to be available for the 
Charlies of North Dakota. When it's time to say yes or no, SAY YES. I will personally shake 
your hand when you do. 

Thank you very much . 
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Mr. Chairman Weisz and Human Services Committee 

I am Janice Kern. My husband and I have four children. Our 15 year old son was 
diagnosed with autism at the age of 2. 

I would like to ask for your support in passing House Bill #1434 dealing with autism 
insurance reform. Our son Charlie is covered by 3 insurance policies, one of which I 
have been paying premiums into for 26 years, a second personal plan, as well as state 
medicaid. Yet he is unable to have coverage for evidence-based treatment referred to 
as ABA Therapy, even though it has been recommended by numerous doctors and non
physician providers since the day he was diagnosed. 

Fortunately, my son was able to access ABA and because of it, his independence level 
is much higher than if he had gone without. He is one of the lucky ones. Even with 2 
insurance policies and state medicaid, our family had to pay out-of-pocket to obtain this 
treatment. Most families, even the most resourceful and creative ones, are unable to 
afford this at the cost of $5,000 - $50,000 per year. 

Without ABA Therapy, we don't know where we would be. I would never want to know. 
But, it is likely that without this treatment, Charlie would speak very little, require special 
education, need full-time care and 1 :1 supervision. This would force my husband or 
myself to stop working, force our family of 6 to reconsider future plans of Charlie's 
siblings, put us back into the days of not hearing our child's voice and the list of 
challenges goes on. 

Because of ABA Therapy, Charlie is able to attend regular ed classes at public school. 
He rides his bike across town, safely and independently, to school. He can speak full 
sentences and engage in conversations. He can participate in sports including riding 
the team bus to sporting events without his parents. 

These successes and more, have allowed for 
my husband to stay in the workforce and 
myself to re-enter the workforce. These 
changes have allowed his three brothers to 
maintain their roles as brothers rather than 
caregivers. These changes have allowed our 
family of 6 to be a part of our small North 
Dakota community. The impact of ABA has 
not only changed my son's outcome, it has 
changed the lives of all six people in our 
family. 

When it is time to decide yes or no, I hope 
you're a yes with House Bill 1434 . 

Thank you 
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Hello my name is Jens Sharbono. I love Super Mario and I am 

pretty lucky sometimes. Things are harder because I have 

autism. Please vote yes. 

I 



• 

• 

• 

January 30, 2017 

Dear Chairman Weisz and Committee, 

I want to start by thanking you for your dedication and service to the state of North Dakota. I 
have always taken pride in growing up in ND and felt that I was providing my children with an 
advantage by choosing to raise them in ND. While I continue to feel that ND has a lot to offer it 
is been a huge disadvantage to my 2 children on the autism spectrum. My children need 
assistance to obtain skills that most of us take for granted. One of the most obvious examples 
of this occurred when my daughter was in the third grade. She started a new school and came 
home excited about 2 weeks into the start of school excited because she had finally talked to 
someone at recess. I asked the obvious question that most of ask "What was her name". My 
daughter responded "I don't know, why would I ask her that?" How many times do you use 
your own name or the name of others as a way of communicating? It was another realization 
to me of how different her world is. This is a basic skill that most children learn at a very young 
age. This is a very concrete example of why autism services are so important. Specific autism 
services able to break down, explain, and teach these everyday skills. My daughter is very 
capable of learning and has a lot to teach the rest of us but basic skills of interaction do not 
come naturally for her. A person does not grow out of autism or get "cured" so it is necessary 
for these services to be available into high school and beyond. She will continue to face new 
social situations and they will only become more complex. It is medically necessary for her to 
receive autism specific services for her to reach her fullest potential and be a contributing 
member of our community. 

My son has different needs then my daughter. He has always been fascinated by people's 
names because he has been able to read them since the age of 3. It has been a strength that he 
has used to interact with others. This skill has gotten him a long way but now at the age of 8 he 
needs other skills to help him to be able to participate in activities that other kids enjoy. He 
enjoys a lot of physical contact and is naturally strong. His need for increased need for physical 
contact is due to a sensory processing disorder that is frequently a part of autism. We felt 
wrestling was a natural fit so we signed him up. He loves it but it also is a source of great 
frustration for him because he does not understand the rules and how to score points. It is hard 
to watch; something that brings him joy also brings him so much frustration. It takes someone 
with skills and knowledge to teach these things in a way that is useful to him. With assistance, 
wrestling has the potential to be an appropriate way to get his increased need for physical 



contact to get met instead of getting into physical fights with others at school. His need to learn 
new skills will end at a certain age. How will he handle walking through the crowded halls of • 
high school or in a store if others bumping into him is perceived as an invitation to wrestling or 
worse yet is interpreted as a threat instead of a simple mistake due to it being crowded? 
Autism services are essential to help him tolerate these circumstances and many more. 

A direct impact that I have seen in my children from not having services that they desperately 
need are struggles with mental health issues. Imagine how you would feel if people rarely 
understood what you were trying to explain; or if when in a group of peers you couldn't make 
sense of what was being said. My childrens' literal thinking is a unique way of looking at the 
world but also makes communicating with others challenging. This is a cartoon that my 
daughter drew: 

Draw a cartoon that tells ..,.... atiOUf you. 

Does shut up mean to shut a 

door and climb it? 

Although autism will always be a part of their lives meaningful autism services will help that to 
reach their full potential. My family and I ask you to think about what you would want for your 
loved one if they had a medical condition that had proven (evidenced based) treatments that 
would greatly improve their quality of life even though there isn't a cure. Please vote yes. 
Individuals with autism that live in North Dakota deserve the same quality of life that is offered 
in most states. 

Sincerely, 

Kristin Sharbono 

• 

• 
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Mr. Chairman and Committee Members, 

Page 1 of 2 

Thank you for your service to the State of North Dakota. You have a 
substantial time commitment to your work here in Bismarck. 

My name is Doug Sharbono, Fargo, ND. I am testifying in support of 
HB1434. I have five children, four currently living with us, and a wonderful 
wife. Two of my children are on the autism spectrum. I have been a North 
Dakotan most of my life, growing up on a grain and cattle farm in north
central North Dakota, and later educated at NDSU compliments of the 
North Dakota National Guard. I became a practicing structural engineer, 
eventually becoming involved in ownership of a small company that has 
recently celebrated its 50th year in continuous business. 

I support HB1434 because currently our medical insurance does not cover 
autism therapy and medical care. Our son has received some services 
through the developmental delay waiver. Even so, we have paid for some 
services out-of-pocket that were not covered by this. As an example, toilet 
training was not accomplished until age 5 with us paying specialists from 
the North Dakota Autism Center to spend a week in the bathroom with our 
son. We have also paid for treatment out of our own pocket for our 
daughter who does not have a developmental disability waiver. Her 
speech therapy, some portions of her occupational therapy, and social 
skills class have been paid out-of-pocket. We have discontinued some of 
this therapy due to cost considerations. Our insurance also does not pay 
for any ABA related therapy. 

With two autistic children, our household is very chaotic and busy. Often, 
the chaos and rigid thinking of our children with autism, places tremendous 

(Over) 
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stress on two of our other children who do not have autism. We currently 
need to periodically bring these children to therapy for mental health • 
treatment to sort out the hurt feelings, differences in treatment, and other 
complications. This expense currently covered by insurance treats the 
symptoms, but does not at all address the cause. We would like the 
insurance to work on the root of the issue so that other symptoms currently 
present in other family members are not present to even treat. 

I have at times heard some say that autism was not around until recently. 
do not believe this is true. Being currently fully immersed in an autistic 
world with autism that runs in our immediate family, I have the benefit (or 
burden) of looking back into prior family history. Back in the 1970's and 
1980's, autism was understood very little. I watched relatives during this 
timeframe that I now know to have had autistic tendencies. One particular 
family, who were also neighbors to us, struggled severely. Unfortunately 
back then, society did not look onto them kindly. They did not have any 
therapy or insurance coverage available to deal with their many issues of 
speech delays, poor social behavior, incessant screaming, and learning 
delays. Society, including us, incorrectly chalked these issues up to bad 
parenting. Currently, one of the adult children of this family is out of prison , • 
another is also out of prison looking to get onto disability, and the other has 
at times been institutionalized for mental health issues. With what I now 
know about early intervention, this could have been a drastically different 
story that would have had less cost impact. 

On a more positive note, autism has some very strong positives. Some of 
the more amazing strengths observed in our autistic children is very strong 
math skills and strong visual-spatial skills. My autistic son runs roughshod 
over those who play Farkle with him adding combinations of numbers in 
his head with ease, and he can almost beat me at checkers. My daughter 
has a strong photographic memory and amazing music skills. I would like 
these strengths cultivated and some of the challenges removed that would 
prevent them from using these strong skills in the real world. I believe 
approval of HB1434 would be effective in giving our autistic children the 
tools they need to become productive, tax paying citizens at very little extra 
cost to the State of North Dakota. 

Thank you, Doug Sharbono • 
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Committee Members, I am a practicing physician and father of a child with autism. My 

wife Carolyn was appointed to the Governor's Autism Task Force when now Senator Hoeven 

was in the Governor's office. I have many hats as my testimony to the committee last week 

demonstrated. My grassroots efforts in researching how to better help our society deal with the 

difficulties of autism are a key thread of research that has led me to the board of the Institute for 

Pure and Applied Knowledge. I am currently working on a public policy implementation of 

"ethical vaccinomics" that may have merit here in the macroeconomics ofthis bill. It is a 

concept of cost savings in one area of healthcare that can be used in another for a budget neutral 

approach. 

Autism is costing society much more than the policy numbers show, these are big 

numbers and growing every year. The syndrome is more complicated than cancer in its genetic 

and exposure risk assessments. Even my specialty of radiology may be playing a role in 

exposures as my written testimony last week described research in non-human mammals 

showing in utero exposure to ultrasound can induce autism-like behaviors after birth. The 

President of the United States, Mr. Donald J. Trump and many others in society are well aware 

we have an epidemic on our hands. Toxins that immunostimulators are playing a role in this 

epidemic, neuroimmunological hyper-stimulation is a key common thread in the development of 

autism. By ALARA principles, which the state's radiology technologists discussed last week, we 
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should never expose our most vulnerable children to genetic or autoimmune induction agents 

unnecessarily. Unfortunately, federal health policies enacted in the 1980's and promoted by the 

CDC have created a particularly illogical situation in vaccine schedules that now should be 

looked at for some thoughtful changes and resulting in cost savings for insurance systems and 

state governments. 

In the long standing progressive increase of vaccine distribution to our children beginning 

in the 1980's, there is one vaccine in the guidelines that is an overstep of glaring nature into the 

realm of ethics, consent, autonomy, and respect for first amendment rights even. That is the first 

year of life dosing of a vaccine for a sexually transmitted or body fluids transmitted disease. By 

the ALARA principle, because of its use on day one of life in newborn babies Hepatitis B 

vaccine is particularly problematic. However, it is the area of greatest cost savings in a titer

checked CDC vaccine protocol modification. 

By using a real world scenario of North Dakota birth statistics with regards to a Hep B 

titer check protocol, we can see a resource savings as well as a diversion of resources from 

global pharmaceutical companies into the individualized care needs for North Dakota families 

and a diagnostics shift of resources that has not previously been realized. In 2015 we had a little 

over 11,000 births in ND. Making the math a little simpler by round numbers, the following 

economic analysis shows the derived resource changes: 

10,000 ND Births in a 4 shot Hep B protocol at $50 per shot leads to cost outlay of $2 million. 

10,000 ND Births in a Titer-checked protocol at $50 for the shot and $50 for the lab (titers) will 

follow the basic bioeconomometrics on the appended email to my research colleague, James 



Lyons-Weiler, MD. After doing the math, we see a 19.4% cost savings in the titer check protocol 

over the standard approach. The resource shift from pharmaceutical companies to North Dakota 

hospitals for the lab work is in addition to that cost savings, and in the first round of labs it is 

$500,000 into hospitals, the additional rounds of labs providing lesser derived resource transfer 

since we are culling the need for many boosters as the 19 .4% savings in the protocol. A 20% 

savings on $2 million is $400,000. 

This is but one example of where we can save money, improve care, rely on our local 

resources and do the right thing for our future generations of North Dakotans. There are others 

in the CDC schedule, but this is the logical one to define the new art and practice. Dr. Todd 

Twogood and I have performed whole schedule titer check protocols for several families in 

Bismarck and the benefits across the whole schedule in this hand for of cases is an approximately 

50% reduction of vaccine boostering across the whole schedule. This is precestion medicine and 

it saves money, builds rapport between families and pediatricians in a political climate where our 

dear president is going to clean up the up the swamp in Atlanta, Georgia known as the CDC. 

Long story short, just as my Bismarck Tribune letter to the editor from 9 years ago states, 

we can do this better here because of our social fabric, professional kinship and common sense 

values. Funding the behavioral neuro-plastics medical exercise of the current generation of 

children with what an old ND veterinarian once described to me as vaccinosis through this 

pathway will make our state a leader in crossroads of civics and health policy. Thank you for 

your time and attention. If there are any questions I would be grateful to have the opportunity to 

respond. 
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TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF HOUSE BILL 1434 - INSURANCE COVERAGE FOR AUTISM 

SPECTRUM DISORDERS 

Sandy Smith 

Executive Director 

North Dakota Autism Center, Inc. 

647 13th Ave E, Ste A 

West Fargo, ND 58078 

701-367-9855 

Chairman Weisz, committee members, my name is Sandy Smith. I am the Executive Director of the North 

Dakota Autism Center Inc. (NDAC) and lam testifying in favor of House Bill 1434. My oldest daughter and I 

founded the NDAC after her brother, my son, Tyler was diagnosed with autism at twenty-two months old . 

When Tyler was diagnosed, l worked at Microsoft and was able to take advantage of the autism therapy 

benefit their out of state insurance plan offered and he started applied behavior analysis therapy (ABA) when 

he was two years old. The journey to open an autism center began in December 2004 as a home daycare that 

my daughter ran so Tyler had a place to go that would allow all of this therapists to come in and provide the 

therapy he needed. We officially founded the NDAC in December 2006 and opened for business in 

November 2008. The NDAC currently works with approximately 125 children across various different 

programs . 

Our Behavior Services Team is a team of Licensed Board Certified Behavior Analysts (BCBA's) and highly 

trained Behavior Technicians that provide one on one ABA therapy programs for several children that have 

out of state insurance, TriCare insurance or have parents that have the means to privately pay. The team also 

provides autism therapy services for seven children who are on one of the forty-seven ND Autism Waivers 

that are currently being funded. However, a significant amount of the work being done by this team is 

Behavior Consultation for families of children and adolescents and for children and adolescents in local 

school districts who have very challenging behaviors such as self-injurious behavior, physical aggression, 

destruction of property, tantrums, and dangerous behaviors such as eloping. Behavior Consultation is funded 

primarily through the ND Developmental Disabilities Waiver and by local school districts . It involves doing 

a functional behavior assessment, developing a behavior intervention plan and training families and school 

personnel to implement the programs. It sounds pretty straight forward. However, this is some of the hardest 

and most challenging work that the team does. 

Our Family Support Services Team is licensed by the ND Developmental Disabilities Division to provide In 

Home Family Suppo1i Services for children and adolescents who qualify for the ND Developmental 

Disabilities Home and Community Based Wavier. We serve individuals with various disabilities but over 

95% of the individuals have autism and most have not had access to ABA therapy. Families come to us 

because we specialize in autism. Developmental Disabilities Program Managers from the Regional Human 

Service Center determine the number of authorized hours for the in home support families receive. From our 

experience, the number of hours authorized for individuals with autism is often driven by the significance of 

their behavioral challenges. The number of hours can range from about 20 up to 300 hours per month. 

Providing staff for individuals with these challenges can also prove very difficult and requires a great deal of 

staff training. 
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Lastly our AuSome Kids Day Program is a licensed childcare center. This program was developed for • 

children who did not have access to ABA therapy. We operate with a very low child to staff ratio (3 to 1) and 

staff have specialized training. Many of the children enrolled have not been successful in other daycares 

because of significant behavioral challenges and were asked to leave. They were "childcareless" before they 

came to us. Using positive behavior supports, structure and routine we are able to reduce challenging 

behaviors significantly. Unfortunately, we only have 28 slots available in this program because the fees we 

charge cover only half the cost we incur to provide the service. We depend heavily on donations, grants and 

fundraising events to continue operating this program. This is clearly a group of children and families that is 

falling through the cracks and the waiting list for this program is long. 

Back to my son, Tyler. As I mentioned he is fomieen years old, six feet tall and weighs 220 pounds. We call 

him our gentle giant. His official diagnosis is Autism Level III formerly Autistic Disorder. This would be 

considered low functioning autism. He was non-verbal and had significant behavioral issues such as 

aggression and massive tantrums. With the help of ABA therapy and the evidence based techniques it 

employs he has learned to speak and communicate his wants and needs thus reducing the behavioral issues to 

almost non-existent. He can read and write sentences. He is very good at math and be has learned to 

independently engage in self-help skills and engage in numerous job skills in the home, at school and in the 

community. He is a happy, healthy young man who is amazing his high school job coach. H is job coach tells 

me he wishes Tyler was a lready sixteen so he could get a job because he is more than capable of having one. 

I can very confidently say he already has been and will continue to be less dependent on North Dakota tax 

payers than others with his diagnosis because he received the early intervention using ABA that others have 

not. In addition, both his and our family's quality of life has been improved. 

We founded the NDAC with the intention of being able to provide children with early intervention using the 

evidence based procedures of ABA. As I write this testimony I have just come to the realization that we have 

done much less early intervention than I had originally envisioned because fami lies can't access it without 

insurance reform. Instead we are overwhelmed with work because of the downstream effects of children not 

receiving the behavioral interventions and the ABA therapy they need. These children get older and they go 

to preschool, kindergarten, elementary school, middle school, high school and into adulthood. Without 

intervention the challenges become bigger every step of the way and the cost to families, school districts and 

tax payers just continues to grow. 

In closing, I want to address questions you may have about the number of providers in the state. Prior to 

opening the NDAC there was one Board Certified Behavior Analyst in No11h Dakota that number has grown 

to 24 in a state with no insurance reform which I believe is very remarkable. The NDAC has two Licensed 
BCBA's and there are at least 6 more employees who are in various stages of pursuing their certification. 

With passage of this legislation recruiting BCBA's from other states would become much more realistic as 

well. I am confident all ND providers would do their best to ensure we have adequate numbers of ABA 

professionals in the state. 

I strongly support House Bill 1434 and urge you to vote in suppo11 this legislation. Thank you for the 

opportunity to testify before you today. I would be happy to answer any questions. 
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HOUSE BILL NO. 1434-An Act to create and enact a new section to chapter 26.1-36 and a new section 

to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to health insurance coverage for autism

related services; to provide a statement of legislative intent; and to provide for a report to the legislative 

management. 

Good Afternoon Chairman Weisz and Human Services Committee Members. My name is Eric Mauch 

and I am father of an autistic child. My 6-year-old son Brody was diagnosed with autism shortly after 

turning 3. Over the past 3 years Brody has been one of the rare lucky children to receive some Applied 

Behavioral Analysis (ABA). ABA therapy has had a tremendous impact on Brody and our family. 

Ask any parent of a typically developing child and most will tell you they enjoy picking up their kids after 

work or coming home to see their family, before Brody received ABA therapy I did not. Brody severely 

struggled with simple life skills most parents take for granted, such as waiting for an adult to turn on a 

favorite TV program, fetch a snack or find a lost toy. Every day I dreaded coming home and scrambling 

throughout our house while Brody screamed for whatever he currently needed; this was our nightly 

routine. On one occasion, I picked Brody up after work and he screamed for a treat prior to arriving at 

home. In the 3-mile drive to our house I counted 112 times that he asked for a treat, this had occurred 

numerous times. 

Outings with friends and family were worse. Christmas gatherings, outings at the lake, and trips to local 

events meant my wife or I would spend most of the time away from the rest of the group with a child 

that would not stop screaming and crying. I had no enjoyment participating in these outings as my son 

would melt down every time. 

Addressing behavioral issues were at the top of the list when Brody began ABA therapy. Throughout the 

course of ABA therapy, Brody has shown control over his urge to melt down and throw tantrums. Going 

home after work to see my family is now routine I enjoy. ABA therapy has also turned outings with 

friends and family to an enjoyable experience. Meltdowns and tantrums still occur but on a much more 

infrequent basis and he understands the directions we give him. 

ABA therapy has given my family hope and experiences most other families take for granted. I urge you 

to consider all other families with children on the autism spectrum and give them the opportunity to 

make the best of each and every day. 

Thank you for your time and consideration. 

Sincerely, 

Eric Mauch 
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My name is Jen Werder; I grew up in Dickinson, attended DSU, and have been living and working in 
Bismarck since 2002. I have been the IT Systems Coordinator for of one of Bismarck's largest 
employers since 2008. My husband, Andy, is a native Minnesotan that attended NDSU and now 
works as a Civil Engineer with one of the nation's top 500 design firms. 

We are a typical middle-class family: two working parents, three kids, a dog, a cat, a mortgage. We 
attend events in Bismarck frequently. We support local organizations and businesses, and we 
volunteer our time and money to provide opportunities that others in our community may benefit 
from. 

Fifteen years ago, my husband and I were the young professionals that North Dakota was working 
diligently to recruit and retain. I stayed in ND, and Andy moved to ND, because ND offered us a 
quality of life that was unmatched. 

We love our home, neighborhood, and community. We love our jobs and the school system. We've 
made wonderful friendships, and we are only short drives away from our families. 

It's breaking my heart that we are considering giving this all up to move out of state . 

This is Laeken, my five year old son 

He's adventurous. He's brilliant. He's curious. 
He's honest, humorous, and helpful. 
He's defiant. He's daring. 
He's defiantly daring. 
He's silly, opinionated, strong, outgoing, perceptive, 
entertaining, talkative, and affectionate. 
And, he has autism. 

If you meet Laeken, your first impression will be that he is extraordinarily intelligent and energetic, 
but otherwise a typical five year old boy. But here is the rest of Laeken's story: 

He has difficulty processing external stimuli like noises, movement, and lights, and will become 
agitated and defensive in the wrong environment. 
He has a strong adherence to sameness, and the smallest change or unexpected occurrence in his 
daily routine results in anxiety and a meltdown. 
He does not understand danger or how his actions affect other people. He can recite rules, but he 
doesn't correlate them to his own behavior. For example, he will tell you that you need to look for 
cars before crossing a road, but he routinely runs into the street without a pause or glance . 
He can't carry on a back-and-forth conversation. While he has superior language skills and a 
vocabulary years beyond his age, he only recites answers he has pre-programmed himself with, or 
has learned from television or books. He doesn't comprehend questions that can't be answered 
with a fact or canned response, especially questions that begin with "why". 
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There are many other autistic characteristics that give Laeken his own unique, quirky personality, 
but these particular traits that I listed are the challenges that can be debilitating to him later in life if. 
he doesn't gain the skills to identify and manage these behaviors. 

When Laeken was first diagnosed with autism almost two years ago, we were presented w ith 
options. We were told that he could benefit from occupational therapy (OT) and speech therapy. 
Our insurance covered a portion of those visits, but at a cost of $800/month for less than 10 hours 
of therapy, we decided to go a different route and enrolled Laeken in Early Childhood Special Ed 
(ECSE) classes at a preschool that included half an hour each of speech and OT weekly. 

Laeken has had a lot of ups and downs through the past school year, but continually made progress 
until last spring when he started to falter. He began to struggle with behavior problems and we 
received daily reports from both his preschool and daycare regarding undesirable actions, including 
defiance, meltdowns, and verbal and physical outbursts. These behaviors were also present at 
home, and it was wearing us all down. 

I felt helpless and hopeless. 
And I felt frustrated and angry, because there was a solution suggested to us, but it was out of our 
reach. 

Applied Behavior Analysis, or ABA, is evidence-based therapy that has been used since the 1960's 
for the treatment of autism, and is the most widely accepted therapy for children with autism 
spectrum disorder. ABA helps teach social, motor, and verbal behaviors, as well as reasoning skills, 
and works to manage challenging behavior. ABA therapy is intensive and ongoing, from 10 to 40 • 
hours a week, and the family is heavily involved. ABA therapy is expensive, ranging from $30,000 to 
$50,000+ per year. Our insurance doesn't cover ABA. In fact, there are no health insurance plans in 
ND that cover ABA. The high cost of ABA paired with the lack of insurance coverage also equates to 
a shortage of providers in this area. 

ABA works best when introduced as an early intervention, preferably before the age of five, 
although it benefits children of all ages. With therapy, Laeken could learn to self-regulate, 
self-advocate, and become a successful, independent adult. 

Laeken, and the many other autistic children like him, are the out-of-the-box thinkers that could be 
the next great innovators of our society, the people that could change the world. Without support 
from a young age, many of these kids will never leave their parent's home, never graduate college, 
and will have difficulty holding a job. 

I envision Laeken having a remarkable future, but I know it's going to take a lot of work to get there. 
Time is of the essence; Laeken's formative years are passing us quickly. One in every 68 kids is now 
diagnosed with Autism. Laeken, and many other children in our community just like him, are 
depending on HB 1434. My family's future in North Dakota depends on HB 1434. 
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My name is Samantha Stewart, and this is my husband Anthony and we are here as parents of a child with 

Autism. We live and work in Fargo, and have two small children. Our daughter, Phayme, is 6 and attends 

kindergarten through Fargo Public Schools. Our son, Chevelle, is 5 and attends preschool through the Early 

Childhood Special Education program through Fargo Public Schools. 

When Chevelle was about 18 months old we started to realize that he wouldn't make eye contact, or respond 
t 1 1 ~ • • " 

to his name. He didn't seem content in his body and we could no longer communicate wlth him. He had no 

words, and had no desire to use words. We didn't know how to connect with him a·nd ~e-d'icln't'l<npw-where 

to turn for help. We were referred for a speech, occupational therapy, and physical therapy evaluation and 

the results were alarming. Our son was stationary or regressing in all areas. He was no longer meeting his 

milestones, in fact, he was going backwards in social/communication areas. The next step was to start 

therapy and try to get a diagnosis. We did that. We started OT and Speech 3 times a week for each. We 

were placed on a waiting list for an appointment to get a diagnosis for 3 months. We made very little 

progress in those three months, we felt hopeless. 

Once we finally got in for our diagnosis, we received the news we were expecting, Chevelle had Autism and 

Sensory Processing Disorder. These two things together were making it very challenging for our son to 

progress to his full potential. We asked questions about what we could do and where we could turn . They 

told us we were doing a great job having him in therapy, but there was one therapy in particular that we 

needed. Ideally we needed ABA (Applied Behavior Analysis) . That was the therapy that was prescribed to us 

and would have the most positive impact for Chevelle. We were also told in that same meeting that it would 

be nearly impossible to do here. That there was no funding for it, it was very expensive, no insurance 

company covered it, and if we wanted it, we would need to find it elsewhere. I was heartbroken. I needed 

answers. He was already in the therapies that were available to us, but we needed more! 

We were fortunate to get Chevelle into the day program at the North Dakota Autism Center. They are a 

specialized daycare for children with Autism and other special healthcare needs. Chevelle has flourished 

there. I believe it is because they use many of the ABA principles throughout their day. That small amount of 

exposure proves to me that if we had this therapy works and it will work for my son. It proves to me that his 

prescription has merit and we should be utilizing those services to meet his potential, wherever that might 
be. 

Access to this therapy is so important for our children. ABA therapy has been proven to work and endorsed 

by the American Academy of Pediatrics and the US Surgeon General. It is time that our families are able to 

util ize our insurance for the therapies that our children need and are prescribed. Our son has made many 

gains since his diagnosis. We have continued with the therapy that we have access too and we have gotten 

by. But, we can only imagine where he would be if we had access to the adequate amount and type of 

therapy that is prescribed as medically necessary for his diagnosis. 

Chevelle will start Kindergarten in the fall. We went what every parent wants for their child . We want him to 

be as happy, independent, and successful as he can be. If Chevelle has access to ABA therapy, we believe he 

can do great things. He can be a productive member of society as an adult. He can have meaningful 

relationships. He can live on his own. He can attend college. He can do all these things with the adequate 

support. We want to be able to provide our child with the tools he needs to lead a successful life. We want 

ND insurance companies to recognize the severity of our situation, and cover what is medically necessary for 
our child to meet his potential. 
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45 other states have shown us how important this is. They have paved the way for their residents' future to 

be bright. All of their residents. We are here, we are asking, pleading, we need help. We need our insurance 

companies to support us. We need you to support us. We need coverage. Please vote DO PASS on H.8 1434 

and give our families the peace of mind we have gone so long without. 

Thank you for your time. 

Samantha and Anthony Stewart 
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• To Whom it May Concern: 

This is a letter stating my strong support for House Bill 1434 which is an Autism insurance 
reform bill. As a pediatrician in our state and a mother of a child on the autism spectrum, I 
can tell you first hand the importance of this bill. 

As you know, the CDC now estimates that 1 in 68 children have autism. Coverage for 
evidence-based therapies for these children, which are supported by the American Academy 
of Pediatrics and other medical organizations, are routinely denied by insurance companies. 
To date, 45 states in our county have passed similar legislation mandating such coverage. Not 
only is Autism treatment highly efficacious and cost-effective, it is what the children of our 
great state of North Dakota deserve. This only works to create a better, more productive 
society for the future. 

Please see the enclosed informational sheet and feel free to contact me personally with any 
questions. 

Thank you in advance for your time in this vital matter, 

Dr. Tracie T. Newman, MD, MPH, FAAP 

• Sanford Children's Southwest Clinic 

2701 13th Ave S 

Fargo, ND 58103 
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Please Support House Bill 1434 
Autism Insurance Reform 

AUTISM SPEAKS for North Dakota Families 
tt's time to i1sten 

• According to the CDC, autism now affects 1 in 68 children and 1 in 42 boys. 

• Coverage for evidence-based treatments, 
endorsed by the American Academy of 
Pediatrics and the U.S. Surgeon General, is 
routinely denied by health insurers. 

• Forty-five states have passed autism insurance 
reform legislation and a majority of the 
remainder are currently pursuing passage. 

• The US Military (TRJCARE), Federal Employee 
Health Plan ( with 8 million members nationwide) and almost 40% of self funded plans also 
provide coverage. 

AUTISM INSUR.t\.N'E }U:{.ORM IS FISCALLY 
CONSERVATIVE 

• .l}ctu~I claims data from other states that 
have required similar coverage for multiple 
years indicates an average premium impact of 
31-49 cents per member per month -- less 
than a cost of a postage stamp. 

• Approximately 250,000 covered lives in 
North Dakota have private health insurance 
regulated by state law. These families and their 
employers have no access to meaningful autism 
coverage, even though they pay their health 
insurance premiums every month. 

• According to the Harvard School of Public 
Health, the incremental cost of caring for someone with autism over their lifetime is $3.2 
million. The costs of treatments covered could be expected to be recovered through reductions in 
educational and medical expenditures alone. (Oliver Wyman, 2011) State estimated lifetime 
cost savings of providing appropriate treatment are $1 million per child. Oacobsen et al, 
1998) 

For additional information please contact 
iudith.ursitti@~utisrnsr>eais.o_rg or NDAutls_mReform@gmail.com 

@ND Autism Reform 
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January 27, 2017 

North Dakota House of Representatives 

RE: support for House Bill 1434, Autism Insurance Reform for North Dakota Families 

To Whom It May Concern: 

My name is Dr. Stephanie Hanson, and I am a general pediatrician with Sanford Health in 
Fargo. I am Service Chair for Ambulatory Pediatrics in the Fargo region. 

I am writing today in support of House Bill 1434, Autism Insurance Reform for North Dakota 
Families. 

Current statistics from the Centers for Disease Control find that 1 :68 of our children are 
affected by Autism Spectrum Disorder. There are a number of evidence based treatments 
endorsed by the American Academy of Pediatrics as well as the U.S. Surgeon General. 
Unfortunately, these treatments are routinely denied by health insurers. These treatments 
may include occupational therapy, speech therapy, physical therapy, psychiatry/psychology 
care, pharmaceuticals and behavioral care including Applied Behavioral Analysis therapy. As a 
pediatrician, I have seen firsthand the positive impact of these therapies on the health of my 
patients with autism and their families. 

45 states in our country have already passed legislation in support of this reform, and the 
remaining states are all pursuing passage at this time. Both TRICARE and the Federal 
Employee Health Plan provide this coverage, as well as 40% of self-funded plans. 

According to the Harvard School of Public health, the incremental cost of caring for an 
individual with autism is $3.2 million over the lifetime. With appropriate treatment, this cost 
is estimated to reduce by $1 million per individual (Jacobsen et al 1998). 

I ask that you vote in to support this legislation, and appreciate the time and effort spent 
considering this important issue. Our North Dakota children deserve to receive quality, 
evidence based care to improve their health, the health of their families and the health of 
their schools and communities. 

Sincerely, 

Stephanie Hanson, MD FAAP 

Sanford Children's Service Chair 

Fargo, ND 58103 
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To the ND State Legislators: 

I am writing this letter of support to pass House Bill 1434 
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I have had the privilege to work with many families in ND that have children with autism. 
have seen firsthand how vital intervention and services are for the treatment and improved 
outcomes for children with autism. It can make the difference of success to independence as 
an adult. 

Therapeutic services such as speech, occupational therapy, physical therapy, psychological, 
psychiatric, pharmacy, behavioral therapy/ applied behavior analysis are medically necessary. 
The requirement for state regulated plans to cover this evidence based autism treatments in 
this House Bill will provide an ultimate lifetime cost savings. 

I encourage you to vote for House Bill 1434. 

Sincerely, 

Pam Gallagher LSW 

I 
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Chairman Weisz and members of the Human Services Committee, my name is Elizabeth Faust. I 

am the Senior Medical Director for Behavioral Health for Blue Cross Blue Shield North Dakota 

(BCBSND) . BCBSND appreciates the opportunity to provide this committee with information 

regarding its current benefit coverage for autism and share our analysis of HB 1434 as it relates 

to evidence-based treatment. 

Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) are believed to arise from a number of different causes, none 

of which are yet well understood. They are frequently associated with a variety of neurological, 

genetic and behavioral health disorders, as well as intellectual disabilities. Because of the 

complexity and the potential for associated medical, psychiatric and intellectual problems to be 

present, initial assessment of an individual with suspected ASDs must be comprehensive and 

individualized in nature and include screening for potential neurological, genetic, psychiatric and 

medical conditions which may complicate treatment and long term outcome. BCBSND currently 

provides coverage for the full range of diagnostic assessments, including physical evaluations, 

specialty evaluations, psychiatric and psychological evaluations, sensory testing, imaging and 

laboratory testing that may be necessary for a comprehensive medical evaluation. BCBSND also 

provides coverage for a full range of medically appropriate treatments including occupational 

therapy, physical therapy, speech therapy and behavior therapy for conditions identified during 

comprehensive assessment. 

House Bill 1434 creates an unnecessary requirement for availability of this full range of services 

which are already basic components of our members' benefit plans. The introduction of such 

narrow and artificially specific requirements will potentially hamper or obstruct future access of 

our members to treatments that may emerge and become evidence based but are not yet 

anticipated or developed. 

As research into autism spectrum disorders has progressed, evidence and consensus regarding 

which treatments are known to be beneficial is becoming more clear. There is now expert 

consensus regarding a number of interventions and practices known to be effective in the 

treatment of ASDs. The National Professional Development Center on Autism Spectrum 

Disorders currently identifies 27 evidence based practices, some of which are based on the 

principles of applied behavioral analysis (ABA) . Of note, 15 of these interventions are not based 

on ABA principles . 
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• As a reflection of this advancement of research, outcome studies, and expert consensus in the 

treatment of ASDs, the Federal Employee Plan (FEP), which is administered by BCBS, with the 

assessment completed by an MD such as a Family Practice, Pediatrician, Psychiatrist, has now 

incorporated the use of specific evidence-based ABA interventions for the treatment of ASDs into 

the FEP benefit plan as of 01/01/17. FEP is widely regarded as a "gold standard" in terms of 

evidence-based benefit design . BCBSND is following suit with development of ABA benefits that 

will mirror the FEP benefit design for inclusion across the BCBSND commercial lines of business. 

What this means, in essence, is that the evidence for use of specific interventions, including 

specific ABA-based procedures, has now emerged to a "tipping point", a degree of confidence 

that warrants inclusion of these treatments into the menu of treatments and services available 

for clinicians to select from as they develop individualized treatment planning for individuals with 

ASDs. 

Although HB 1434 specifically states that it is not a mandate, there is clearly an artificial 

delineation of a specific menu of services based on a current-state understanding of ABA-based 

treatments and entirely ignoring the other evidence-based behavioral treatments currently 

available . The bill specifies an arbitrary age delineation for services that is not based on current 

scientific evidence. As research continues to clarify evidence in the treatment of ASDs, it is 

• inevitable that new treatments, population-specific best practices, optimal age ranges, etc., will 

evolve. The unintended consequence of legislation mandating specific treatments, specific ages, 

and even specific monetary maximums based on today's understanding of science is limiting and 

shortsighted . It will create barriers to the adoption of evidence based treatments as those evolve 

based on tomorrow's science . 

We are also greatly concerned with Section 2 and 3 of this bill , which states that this bill is not a 

mandate and therefore not be subject to section 54-03-28, which requires that the public 

employee's retirement system would conduct a cost/benefit analysis on the ABA treatment 

coverage included in the bill for a two-year trial. This bill clearly mandates coverage of ABA up 

to age 26, with significant cost implications to the state. The two-year cost/benefit analysis has 

proven to be a highly beneficial requirement and the removal of this section runs contrary to the 

desire to hold health care costs down for North Dakota taxpayers. 

I greatly appreciate the opportunity to share this information with your committee as you seek 

solutions on these challenging issues. Please feel free to contact me with any additional 

questions you may have. 

Respectfully submitted, 

• Dr. Lisa Faust 



Testimony of Brent Bogar 

Greater North Dakota Chamber 

HB 1434 

January 30, 2017 

Greater North Dakota Chamber 

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my name is Brent Bogar. I am here representing 

the Greater North Dakota Chamber (GNDC), the champions for business in North Dakota. GNDC is 

working on behalf of our more than 1,100 members to build the strongest business environment in 

North Dakota. As a group, we stand in opposition of HB 1434. 

The Greater North Dakota Chamber supports the appropriate coverage and health care for all 

individuals in North Dakota. This issue is about the state taking a position to require insurance to cover 

a certain disorder, or a mandate to provide coverage. GNDC believes that market forces should help to 

determine the best products and services available, and that through competition the marketplace can 

and will develop appropriate solutions. 

The bill as it stands also provides for exclusions of certain classes of plans. By creating a system 

in which certain plans are required to meet new requirements and others do not HB 1434 is creating an 

unequal position in the marketplace for coverage. It is not clear whether those plans that are exempted 

from the requirement of coverage would also not make the premium payment adjustment, or would 

those plans then see the premium increase and -not receive the benefits? This type of discrepancy will 

create confusion for those people that change plans, as well as for the providers of coverage. 

Currently, as a nation we are seeing dialogue for changes at the federal level regarding health 

care coverage. The uncertainty of any changes to the Affordable Care Act, or "Obamacare," also should 

cause pause to the state adding additional regulatory requirements. Any time that there is uncertainty 

in the marketplace, costs become unknown and difficult for businesses to manage cost and expenses. 

Thank you for allowing me to appear before you in opposition to HB 1434. I know this can be an 

emotional issue, but when the emotion is removed and the issues as discussed are reviewed, we hope 

this committee understands the need for the State of North Dakota to minimize mandates and 

requirements on businesses. The Greater North Dakota Chamber urges a Do Not Pass on HB 1434. 

Champions ~""?) Business 

PO Box 2639 P: 701-222-0929 
Bismarck, ND 58502 F: 701-222-1611 

www.ndchamber.com 
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In Support of: 
North Dakota House Bill 1434 

Autism Insurance Reform for North Dakota Families 

January 27, 2017 

As a pediatrician in practice for over 20 years, having dedicated many of those years to caring for kids 
with autism and their families, I've known how families struggle and strive to do all they can for their 
child on the autism spectrum. I've seen and assisted families in finding the best evidence-based 
treatments to improve the essential skills of communication, social interaction, emotional and 
psychological well-being. The medical literature is clear; early intervention is the best intervention. 
What parent or grandparent wouldn't go to the ends of the earth for their child? I knew that in my 
head, but didn't know it in my heart until my own family was touched by autism. 

Why are medically-necessary, evidence-based proven treatments for autism (like Applied Behavioral 
Analysis, Speech Therapy, Occupational Therapy) when prescribed by a licensed physician or 
psychologist treated differently by the State of North Dakota when compared to other common chronic 
conditions like asthma or diabetes? Our state would never dream of creating financial or bureaucratic 
barriers to children getting inhalers or insulin. All children with chronic medical conditions need to have 
an equal opportunity to access appropriate, standard, proven treatments- that's one reason why I 
support House Bill 1434 as a pediatrician and a father. 

Another reason I support this bill as a taxpayer, is that I can see the cost-effectiveness of early 
intervention with proven therapies for autism. Not only is early intervention more effective medically, it 
is also more effective fiscally. Intervening now to improve the ability of our kids with autism to live and 
work in the world reduces their dependence on other taxpayer supported social, housing, and 
vocational services. Improving skills early in childhood is one of the most import ways to have adults 
with autism with more independence. 

With the introduction of this bill, the Legislature is offered an opportunity as a public servant to balance 
a duty to care for and protect those citizens most vulnerable and in need (like our children with autism 
and their families) with a duty of fiscal stewardship to the taxpayers of the North Dakota. For me it is 
clear. As a pediatrician, a father, and a citizen of North Dakota, I whole-heartedly support passage of 
House Bill 1434. 

Christopher H. Tiongson, M 
3117 38th Ave S 
Fargo, ND 58104 
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January 27, 2017 

North Dakota House of Representatives 
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RE: Support for House Bill 1434, Autism Insurance Reform for North Dakota Families 

To Whom It May Concern: 

My name is Dr. Carrie Brower-Breitwieser, and I am pediatric psychologist with Sanford Health 
in Fargo. I am the Clinical Director of the Pediatric Feeding Disorders program at Sanford 
Health, and I serve as a member of the Developmental Evaluation multidisciplinary team. 

I strongly support House Bill 1434, Autism Insurance Reform for North Dakota Families. I 
deeply regret that I cannot testify in person today, as I am currently out of the country 
attending an international conference highlighting the evidence supporting the use of Applied 
Behavior Analysis (ABA) as the treatment of choice for autism spectrum disorders. 

Autism is a complex developmental disorder that impacts an estimated 1 :68 children. 
Individuals diagnosed with autism spectrum disorders have deficits in communication, 
socialization, and self-help skills. They are at significantly increased risk for elopement and 
wandering, as individuals diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder often lack a sense of 
safety or danger. Data from the National Autism Association suggests that 92% of children 
diagnosed with autism wander, which can results in serious injury or death. Individuals 
diagnosed with autism spectrum disorders are also more likely to have co-morbid behavioral 
problems, and engage in much higher rates of aggression, self-injury (e.g., head banging, skin 
picking, etc.), or meltdowns than individuals who do not have a diagnosis of an autism 
spectrum disorder. 

According to the Harvard School of Public health, the incremental cost of caring for an 
individual with autism is $3.2 million over the lifetime. With appropriate treatment, this cost 
is estimated to reduce by $1 million per individual (Jacobsen et al 1998). Decades worth of 
rigorous research has demonstrated that ABA therapy is highly effective at treating the 
symptoms associated with an autism spectrum disorder. The science of applied behavior 
analysis is evidence based, and is considered medically necessary for the treatment of autism. 
Applied Behavior Analysis is endorsed by the American Academy of Pediatrics, the U.S., 
Surgeon General, as well as the Association for Applied Behavior Analysis. Research has shown 
that with early intervention and treatment, almost 50% of individuals diagnosed with an 
autism spectrum disorder recover typical function, and another 40% make significant progress 
toward their treatment goals. Those nearly 50% of individuals can go on to attend post
secondary training and education, and can become vital parts of our state's workforce. 

Thankfully for most families in the United States, appropriate and medically necessary 
treatment for autism spectrum disorders is available and has insurance funding. As of today, 
45 states in our country have already passed legislation in support of this reform, and the 
remaining states are all pursuing passage at this time. Both TRICARE and the Federal 
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Employee Health Plan provide this coverage, as well as 40% of self-funded plans. As a 
provider, I cannot tell you all how difficult it is to sit across from a family and inform them 
that their child meets criteria for a diagnosis of an autism spectrum disorder, and then, while 
the family is processing this new reality, explain to them that they will likely not be able to 
afford the medically necessary treatment that their child so deserves. I should not have to 
breathe a sigh of relief when I discover that the patient in my clinic lives out of state, or has 
a parent who serves in our military. All children should be afforded the equal opportunity to 
participate in highly effective therapy. If our great state cannot provide the necessary care 
that our children need, families will indeed leave this state, taking with them productive (as 
well as future productive) members of our workforce and society. 

I ask that you vote in to support this legislation, and appreciate the time and effort spent 
considering this important issue. 

Sincerely, 

Carrie Brower-Breitwieser, PhD, BCBA-D 

Pediatric Feeding Disorders, Clinical Director 

Sanford Health 

Fargo, ND 58102 
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PEDS SOUTHWEST SC 
SANFORD CHILDREN'S SOUTHWEST CLINIC 
2701 13 Ave So 
Fargo ND 58103-3602 
701-234-3620 

January 29, 2017 

No Recipients 

Dear Legislators: 

- --- - -~ 

When I trained in pediatrics at the University of Minnesota in the early 1980's I did not 
encounter a single patient with autism my entire three year training program. Conditions 
are much different now and it is not unusual to see several patients with autism in a 
single day . For practicing pediatricians , the current prevalence of autism at 1 in 68 
children is a daily fact of life. I have additional contact with autistic individuals at the 
Sanford Developmental Evaluation Center where patients with autism are often first 
formally diagnosed. I have staffed this clinic for over 10 years. 

The pediatric community now systematically screens children for autism at their 
periodic health maintenance visits with proven diagnostic instruments . Individuals are 
now being identified more often and at earlier ages . When a diagnosis of autism is 
made, we recommend intensive behavioral and educational services. To my knowledge 
there is no convince evidence that one particular program is superior , but all the proven 
effective programs have the core attributes of 1: 1 staff ratio, practitioners with 
appropriate training and expertise , functional analysis of behavioral problems and a 
minimum of 25 hours per week of services. Behavioral based intervention programs 
have evidence based efficacy and are in my opinion an established standard of care. 

There have been 2 very significant obstacles to acquiring theses services for my 
autistic patients. The first obstacle of adequately trained clinicians is finally being solved 
in ND with the arrival of many well trained behavioral specialists . The second obstacle 
is lack of funding . I do hope that this problem can be mitigated with mandated insurance 
coverage for behavioral therapy for autistic individuals. 

From my personal experience, I can anecdotally attest to the improvement in daily 
function , communication and quality of life that behavioral therapy can provide to 
autistic individuals . More importantly , these types of gains have been documented in 
well contrd1ed clinical trials. I truly believe that this therapy is the established core of any 
treatment plan for individuals with an autistic spectrum disorder. 

Sincerely, 
Dr Patrick Welle MD 
Sanford Pediatrician 
Clinical Professor UNO School of Med 
Atten~).D9thysician Srh~rd Children's Developmental Evaluation Clinic 
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Anderson, Dick D. 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Gary Boettcher <glboettcher@yahoo.com> 
Friday, January 20, 2017 9:19 PM 
Anderson, Dick D. 
House Bill 1434 

CAUTION: This email originated from an outside source. Do not click links or open attachments unless you know they 
are safe. 

Dear Mr. Anderson, 

We would like to ask for your support in passing House Bill #1434 dealing with autism insurance reform in 
North Dakota. This bill hits our family close to home because of our grandson. Charlie is a 15 year old North 
Dakotan with autism and is covered by 2 insurance policies as well as state medicaid yet he is unable to have 
coverage for the evidence-based treatment referred to as ABA Therapy. His family pays premiums every 
month, yet this doctor recommended, evidence based treatment for autism is denied. 

Forty-five states have passed autism insurance reform legislation. Please support House Bill #1434 to require 
state regulated plans to cover evidence based autism treatment for individuals under the age of 26 in North 
Dakota when prescribed by a licensed physician or licensed psychologist as medically necessary. The evidence 
based treatments include speech therapy, occupational therapy, physical therapy and behavioral health treatment 
including Applied Behavior Analysis. 

Fortunately, our grandson was able to access Applied Behavior Analysis and because of it, his independence 
level is much higher than if he had gone without. He is one of the lucky ones. Even with 2 insurance policies 
and state medicaid, Charlie' s family had to pay out-of-pocket to obtain this treatment. Most families are unable 
to afford this at the cost of $10,000 - $50,000 per year. 

Because of ABA Therapy, Charlie is able to attend regular ed classes at public school. He now rides his bike 
across town, safely and independently to school. He can speak full sentences and engage in 
conversations. These changes have allowed for both of his parents to stay in or re-enter the workforce. These 
changes have allowed his three brothers to maintain their roles as brothers rather than caregivers. These 
changes have allowed Charlie' s family of 6 to be a part of their small North Dakota community. 

Without ABA Therapy, it is likely that Charlie would speak very little, not be enrolled in regular ed classes and 
need more full-time care forcing one of his parents to stop working and forcing their family of 6 to reconsider 
future plans of Charlie' s siblings due to the cost of full-time care likely needed for a child who cannot speak or 
stay safe. 

When it is time to support House Bill 1434, I hope you will support it while considering its impact on our 
family. 

Thank you, 
Gary & Lynne Boettcher 
Bottineau, North Dakota 

1 



{1#, I 1-1131~31-
~-7-17 

ACTUARIAL ANALYSIS 

Of HB 1434 
By Acumen Actuarial 

For the State of North Dakota 

APPLIED BEHAVIORAL ANALYSIS (ABA) and 
TREATMENTS for AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS (ASD) 

Daniel Bailey, FSA, MAAA 
FEBRUARY 2, 2017 
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ACUMEN ACTUARIAL 

PREFACE 

This report was created by Acumen Actuarial for the state of North Dakota. It provides 

Acumen's analysis of HB 1434, a Bill for an Act to create new sections relating to health 

insurance coverage for autism-related services, to provide a statement of legislative intent, and 

to provide for a report to the legislative management. 

Section I of the Bill defines terms. Among its eleven points, it also stipulates that: 

• Health insurance policies will cover the screening for, diagnosis of, and treatment of 

autism spectrum disorder for insureds under 26 years of age, and must not deny 

enrollment or terminate it on the basis of an ASD diagnosis or prior treatment 

• There is no limit to the number of services an individual may receive per year, but the 

total cost for Applied Behavior Analysis is limited to $50,000. This amount will be 

indexed to Medical CPI in future years to raise the $50,000 annual maximum for ABA 

services 

• The insurance commissioner will issue a biennial report to legislative management 

concerning the cost of the bill and use of treatments for ASD . Moreover, health insurers 

and health benefit plans will provide the data needed for the report. 

The intent of this actuarial study is to analyze the ASD benefit coverage with respect to its 

possible medical and administrative cost, as well as its impact on expected premium level. The 

Bill is examined in relation to the public employees health insurance plan and public employees 

retiree health insurance plan. It is also examined in relation to all those insureds who are 

covered by health insurance in ND other than those in the public employees plans. 

In 2011, an actuarial analysis was carried out for a similar ND bill, SB2268. Over the past 

decade, many states have enacted legislation mandating that individual and group health 

policies issued in their state include coverage for ASD. Some states have already mandated a 

biennial or annual report on the use of services for the treatment of ASD and the overall cost of 

the mandate. The author has made use of current data and information where possible. There 

is actually a scarcity of reliable data available on the use and cost of ASD screening, diagnosis, 

and treatment. Many reports calculate an expected cost based on specific assumptions. This 

report from Acumen Actuarial provides its own calculation of the use and cost for North 

Dakota. It makes use of prior studies as well as emerging data and information. This report and 

cost estimate take into consideration the characteristics of North Dakota that may affect use 

and cost of ASD services such that they may be different than in other states. 

CONFIDENTIAL ALL RIGHTS RESERVED DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 2 
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ACUMEN ACTUARIAL 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Any requirement to add new medical services to insurance coverage that were not previously 

required is likely to increase the use of those newly required services and the overall cost of 

care. Treatments for autism spectrum disorder (ASD) including Applied Behavior Analysis 

(ABA) are no exception. The question is how much the use and incremental cost will be over a 

multi-year horizon. The coverage of the screening, diagnosis, and treatment for ASD is 

relatively new, and there is a scarcity of reliable data about its use and cost in other states. 

When the expense of ASD coverage is spread over all insureds, the requirement for screening, 

diagnosis, and treatment of ASD including ABA is likely to cost approximately 1% or less of the 

overall cost of health coverage per year for Active employees. During the first year of 

implementation, it is likely to cost less than 0.5% of premium or overall claims. Over the 

course of several years, it could ramp up to over 0.5% of overall cost before the utilization of 

ASD services eventually levels off at its ultimate level. 

On a per capita cost basis, the incremental cost will be greater for the ND Active Employees 

Health Insurance plan than the Retired because there are far more children younger than 26 

years of age per contract in the Active plan . 

The overall health care cost per member per month for all Active employees was $453 per 

member per month (PMPM) in Q2 2016. (This includes state employees and all political 

subdivisions.) A reasonable estimate of the expected average cost of screening, diagnosis, and 

treatment of ASD including ABA in the initial year of implementation is approximately 0.13% of 

overall cost, which is $0.58 per member per month (PMPM) on a 2016 basis when spread 

across all members. A similar medical expense can be expected for the commercial coverage of 

the general insured ND population beyond the ND employees health insurance plans for Active 

employees and their dependents. This 2016 claim cost of $0.58 PMPM can be reasonably 

expected for both non-PERS commercial group health insurance plans and "individual" 

coverage. 

If the mandate is not implemented until 2018, the annual trend in claims cost will likely affect 

both the cost of ASD services as well as the overall cost of all health care services. Although it 

may give a false sense of precision, it is reasonable to trend this 2016 per member cost 

estimate by approximately 5% per year to reflect the ongoing cost increases that are in keeping 

with the medical consumer price index. Hence, on a 2017 basis, the cost estimate is projected 

to be $0.61 PMPM. For 2018, it is $0.64 PMPM. This is the estimated first year claims cost. In 

reality, there is a wide margin of error in any projection of the cost of the ASD coverage, and it 

would be misleading to assert with certainty that this point estimate is accurate to within 

pennies. It is possible that actual year one cost will be greater or less than this amount. Given 
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the logistic challenge of getting ABA therapists to more rural locations in North Dakota, the 

actual cost in 2017 could be less than $0.61 PMPM. 

On a per contract per month basis, the cost for the NDPERS active plan would be $1.61 PCPM. 

($1.61 = $0.61 PMPM x 2.64 members per contract in the NDPERS active plan as of Jan 2017.) 

Many factors affect the use and overall cost of ASD services, especially in year one of coverage, 

but also beyond. If the supply of certified providers is low in ND in the initial year of 

implementation, this could result in lower use and spending than the estimate above, which is 

0.13% of overall claims. Provider supply in relation to patient demand will also affect the level 

of use over time. There may be an insufficient number of certified applied behavior therapists 

initially, which would suppress utilization below the level of actual patient demand, but if the 

supply increases significantly in subsequent years, year five could experience utilization of ASD 

services that is considerably greater than year one . 

The use of and expense for ASD treatment can be expected to increase over a period of several 

years as families and providers become more accustomed to the use of these services. Other 

actuarial studies and reports have shown a range of expected medical cost in the neighborhood 

of 0.1% to 1% of total cost for ASD services including ABA. The use and cost are typically 

greater on an "ultimate" basis several years after the initial implementation . The increase in 

the annual use and overall cost from initial to ultimate is important to consider. That is, there 

will likely be an increase from the year of implementation to a point in time three, four, or five 

years later when the ASD coverage requirement has ramped up to a mature level. 

There is likely to be little effect on administrative activity; however, administrative cost is often 

expressed as a percent of premium or claims cost. Hence it is reasonable to gross up the 

expected claims cost to reflect incremental administrative cost. This done by dividing the 

expected claim cost by 1 minus the administrative cost as a percent of premium. 

The requirement that insurers supply data for the biennial report is an administrative activity 

that insurers and plans are not currently obliged to carry out, and this will require some effort, 

albeit relatively minor compared with all the other activity associated with running a health 

insurance plan. The 2017 cost with incremental administrative expense is $0.61 + $0.10 = $0.71 

PMPM. [$0.71 = $0.61 / (1- 0.14)). This assumes administrative cost is 14% of premium, 

which is reasonable. 

Often, the health insurers and other payers who are financially responsible for the cost of a 

new mandate are apprehensive about it prior to implementation . These payers find the new 

benefit is most difficult to price in the first year (or few years) of coverage because they have 

no prior internal data upon which to rely. This adds to the insurer's risk of underpricing the 

mandate as well as the overall cost of care, which is never known with certainty in advance. 
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The proposed ABA benefit under HB1434 has an annual limit of $50,000. In actual practice, it is 

unlikely that many of those receiving ABA will incur a full $50,000 of cost per year. Most can 

be expected to have total annual cost below $50,000. The annual maximum cost limit is 

intended to assure that individuals with high need and high cost can obtain services. However, 

maximum annual limits in health plans also have a "sentinel" effect that serves to reduce 

possible overuse, gaming of the system, or potential overcharging for unnecessary services. 

It is important to note that some ASD services and support, including ABA, are already provided 

by school systems under IDEA, Sections Band C. There is some overlap between services 

provided by the public and private sector. Under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 

Sections Band C, children to 21 years of age are provided with Free Appropriate Public 

Education. This applies to children with any of 13 named disabilities, one of which is autism 

and another is communication disorders. These services may include treatment for autism 

spectrum disorders; however, the purpose of these ASD treatment services provided through 

the school system is to help the child to be more functional in the educational environment, but 

not necessarily at home or in the community at large. Be that as it may, it is important to 

recognize that some ASD support is provided by the school system for children with ASD, and 

this includes ABA. Moreover, the amount of ASD treatment already provided to children from 

the public sector may decrease the ASD services to be provided in the private sector through 

health insurance coverage . Hence, insurance coverage is not the sole source of funding for ASD 

treatment, services, and support. This may be one of the reasons that helps explain why the 

actual average cost for children receiving ABA and ASD treatment is significantly less than the 

maximum annual amount, according to the limited actual data currently available on the use 

and cost of ASD services provided to children . 

KEY COST STATISTICS FROM EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

HB 1434-Expected first year per member per month 2017 claims cost only for: 

• ND Health Insurance Plan for Active Employees is $0.61 PMPM 

• All other ND insureds covered (other than in public plans) is also $0.61 PMPM. 

Expected first year incremental 2017 premium cost with administrative expense for: 

• ND Health Insurance Plan for Active Employees is $0.71 PMPM 

• All other ND insureds covered (other than in public plans) is also $0.71 PMPM . 

On a per contract per month basis, the expected first year 2017 claims cost is $1.61 PCPM for 

the ND Health Insurance Plan for Active Employees. 
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The cost is expected to be significantly less for the public Retiree Health Insurance Plan because 

there are far fewer children under 26 years of age per contract in the Retiree plan. The 

expected claims cost of HB 1434 is expected to be de minimis for the Retiree plan . 

INTRODUCTION 

HB 1434 requires health insurers to cover the screening, diagnosis, and treatment of autism 

spectrum disorder (ASD) including behavior-based therapy, such as Applied Behavior Analysis 

(ABA). The bill is limited to fully insured health coverage of major medical plans that cover a 

comprehensive range of services. It is not applicable to limited plans, such as hospital 

indemnity, mini-med, Medicare Supplement, or other such plans with limited benefits. For 

further information about the purview of the bill and the types of coverage to which it applies, 

see subsection 10 under Section 1. The bill applies to the North Dakota Public Employees 

Health Insurance Plans for Active and Retired Employees and their dependents. In the event 

that the public employees plan switches from a fully insured to self-insured basis, the bill would 

continue to apply. 

Subsection 2 of the bill requires insurers to cover ASD, and it forbids them to deny issue or 

continuation of coverage to those who are diagnosed with or have received treatment for ASD. 

Subsection 6 stipulates that ABA Services will be covered to a maximum limit of $50,000 per 

year. The amount of the maximum is required to be increased annually in accordance with the 

increase in the medical consumer price index. This will assure that the maximum keeps pace 

with the increasing cost of living in future years . Some states have different maximum 

amounts. Some states vary the amount by age. The logic behind varying the maximum amount 

by age is that behavioral therapy tends to be more effective on younger people. This is 

consistent with actual practice where higher intensity of service (more hours per week) is more 

common for younger children with autism. 

In actual practice, it is unlikely that many of those receiving ABA will incur a full $50,000 of cost 

per year. Most can be expected to have total annual cost below $50,000. The annual 

maximum cost limit is intended to assure that individuals with high need and high cost can 

obtain services. However, maximum annual limits in health benefit plans traditionally also have 

a "sentinel" effect that serves to reduce possible overuse, gaming of the system, or potential 

overcharging for unnecessary services. 

Subsection 11 of the bill requires the insurance commissioner to submit a biennial report to the 

legislative management covering cost and use of services under the bill. Insurers subject to the 

bill will be required to provide data for this report. This can be a helpful follow-up activity 

subsequent to the implementation of the bill because it provides the legislative management a 
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clearer understanding of the true emerging use and cost of the bill in the state. To the extent 

the insurer data is reliable, this report could be a useful basis for future revisions to the bill. 

The bill requires insurers to cover the cost of screening for ASD in children under 26. Screening 

identifies the presence of disease in a particular population that has not been diagnosed with it. 

In the case of ASD, young children are observed in well-child pediatrician visits and may be 

identified for diagnosis; this screening may involve consultation with the child's parents or 

caregiver. In some cases, a pre-school can recommend a child for evaluation. It is possible that 

the bill will encourage better and more complete screening of ASD in medical visits, but this is 

not billed separately in pediatric office visits, so no material cost is expected to be added for 

additional screening. 

The bill requires coverage of diagnosis of ASD. It is possible that, over time, more children will 

be referred for diagnosis, but that too is not expected to materially affect overall use and cost. 

The incremental use and cost is expected to come from additional treatment provided to 

children with ASD. 

One of the key drivers of the use of ASD treatment is the number of children diagnosed with 

ASD. The prevalence rate of ASD in children has been increasing over the past ten or fifteen 

years according to reliable sources such as the Center for Disease Control (CDC) . Part of this 

increase involves the evolution of the definition in the DSM manual that is used by clinicians to 

diagnose children with ASD. 

A number of other factors contribute to use of ASD treatment. Not all children who are 

diagnosed with ASD will received treatment for ASD in any given year under the bill. Some 

children with ASD whose behavior is more severely affected by it will tend to receive more 

hours per week of treatment. Children who need more hours of treatment per week do not 

necessarily continue to receive that level of treatment for an indefinite period of time. It often 

tapers off over time. The goal is for the individual with ASD to become more functional in their 

day-to-day life at home and outside the home. 

Children with ASD often receive services and supports in their public education environments 

per the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), sections Band C. This is generally 

part of an Individual Education Plan that helps the child achieve educational goals and become 

more functional in the educational environment. Although these skills are transferable to 

environments outside of school, the intent of ASD support provided in the educational 

environment is focused on improving the child's ability to learn. This may include improving 

social and communication skills, which have benefits to the child beyond the classroom. 

There may be some overlap in ASD services provided in the public and private sectors. For 

example, children with less severe ASD might not require additional ASD services beyond those 

they already receive in the educational environment. 
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In terms of the use of ASD services under HB 1434, there are multiple additional factors that 

will affect use over time: 

• Availability of trained providers in relation to the demand for their services-if there are 

fewer qualified ASD service providers than patient demand requires, use will be reduced 

• General awareness of ASD and ASD treatments among parents, and the degree to which 

parents seek treatment for their children-parents may hold back and be more 

tentative about seeking treatment for their children in early years and more assertive in 

later years when the benefits of obtaining ASD treatment are more broadly recognized. 

This can be expected to drive up the use of services over time . 

• Logistics of providing services. North Dakota is a large state geographically with several 

population centers and many counties with low population density. Issues pertaining to 

rural medicine in sparsely populated counties could make it more difficult to provide 

services to children with ASD in more remote locations. It is possible that, at some 

future time, some parental coaching and support may be available using telehealth. 

In the course of Acumen's research for this project, data on the prevalence of autism and 

autism spectrum disorder was reviewed. With respect to geography, race, or ethnicity, there is 

little variation in the prevalence rate among children. Gender, however, is different-male 

children are approximately four times as likely to be diagnosed with ASD. North Dakota is 

expected to be similar to the rest of the nation in this respect. 

North Dakota has an autism registry maintained by the state Department of Health, but it is not 

yet an all-inclusive list of children with autism throughout the state . It went live on February 8, 

2016 and seems to be a work-in-progress. As of October 2016, there were 186 children 

included in the registry. At present, there are 302 children. The North Dakota Autism Registry 

is still growing, and it is incomplete. For example, as of December 2015, however, there were 

1,031 children on the Department of Public Instruction's list of children with an educational 

determination of autism. These two sources are not expected to be exactly identical, but the 

large difference helps us understand that the ND Autism Registry has not yet captured all those 

children with ASD that it eventually will. Yet another data source is the 2016 State Autism 

Profiles for North Dakota prepared by Easterseals, Inc. and distributed November 2016. It 

shows 939 children with autism in ND from age 3 through 21. 

In the course of this research, report author, Daniel Bailey, spoke with individuals associated 

with NDPERS, Sanford Health Plan, and the ND Department of Public Instruction. He spoke with 

Judith Ursitti at Autism Speaks. And he also conferred with an expert on ABA, John Molteni, 

who is the Director of the Institute for Autism Behavioral Studies at the University of Saint 

Joseph in West Hartford, CT. Acumen wishes to thank all those who shared their knowledge or 

otherwise assisted in this project and report. 
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DATA AND INFORMATION 

Many states have estimated the cost of similar bills that require insurers to cover the cost of 

screening, diagnosis, and treatment for ASD. Few states, however, have produced reports on 

the actual cost of those services after the insurance mandate has gone into effect. Little detail 

is provided with those reports about that data; and researchers generally find it difficult to 

assess the reliability of that data. 

Prior to implementation of an ASD mandate, many states have evaluated the expected cost of 

ASD coverage using a prevalence and expected unit cost approach . That is the approach used 

in this report from Acumen Actuarial, which has taken into consideration the characteristics 

particular to North Dakota. 

Although North Dakota's population declined somewhat from 2000 to 2004, it has grown 

steadily since then, more so in the past several years. This will have little if any effect on the 

per capita cost of ASD services, but the increase in population will affect the overall total cost of 

care because more individuals will obtain care. However, the cost of ASD services as a percent 

of overall premium is not expected to change as a result of the increase in North Dakota's 

population. 

Acumen received demographic data for the ND Employees Health Insurance Plans for Actives 

and Retirees and their dependents. Among the active members' plan, children under 26 

represented 38.6% of all members. It is assumed that this same proportion of children under 

26 applies to the general population of insureds in ND. (A slight difference will not affect the 

cost estimate materially). State-specific data was obtained from the Kaiser Family Foundation 

website, such as the percent of insureds by coverage type and a North Dakota age distribution. 

Acumen checked the Behavior Analyst Certification Board (BACB) website for information and 

data about the number of certified BACB therapists in ND relative to other states. In Missouri, 

where the ASD mandate has been in place for a few years, there is 1 qualified BACB therapist 

per 17,000 people in the general population. In North Dakota, there is 1 therapist per 33,000 

people. 

State-specific emerging actual claims data on ASD use and cost was reviewed during this study. 

It should be pointed out that this data is generally self-reported by participating insurers and 

HMOS, some of which may be delayed or remiss in their self-reporting altogether. It is not 

typically audited by an external party. Moreover, in year one, not all plans are necessarily fully 

phased-in to coverage under the mandate. Hence, year one use and cost may be materially less 

than year two and beyond . 
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The state of GA recently produced a report with state-specific 2016 ASD costs under its 

mandate requiring ASD coverage by private insurance. Ten of twenty carriers provided data. 

These findings were reported: 

20,266,939 Number of member-months reported for all members 

16,953 Number of member-months for those diagnosed with ASD subject to mandate 

1,841 Number of members for those diagnosed with ASD subject to mandate 

9.2 months Average# of months/ yr/ member diagnosed with ASD (Acumen calculated) 

0.084% Percent of member months diagnosed with ASD among all insureds 

$0.32 PMPM Cost of ASD services spread across all members 

$0.18 PMPM Cost of ABA only spread across all members (a subset of above). 

Again, this data is not guaranteed to be 100% reliable nor is it highly credible in terms of 

volume. Moreover, there is likely some under-reporting of the true PMPM claims cost because 

the requirement to cover ASD was phased in over the first year and not in effect for every plan 

for every month of 2016. We do not know what this $0.32 PMPM amount would be if all 

members were covered under the ASD mandate in GA all year. 

One noteworthy point is that the 2016 occurrence rate in the GA insured population is 0.084%. 

This is significantly less than the occurrence rate Acumen obtained when multiplying 38.6% x 

1% ASD prevalence rate among O - 26 year olds. The 38.6% represents children under 26 years 

of age as a percentage of the entire insured population of all members; this is based on NDPERS 

data for active employees and dependents as of Jan 2017. When 38.6% is multiplied by 1%, we 

obtain the expected occurrence rate in the overall insured population determined by Acumen. 

This occurrence rate developed by Acumen is 0.386%, and it is much greater than the actual 

occurrence rate reported in the GA data of 0.084%. Note that 0.386% is 4.6 times as much as 

.084%. Whereas the GA occurrence rate is based on actual data, the Acumen rate was 

projected from demographic and prevalence data. Again the GA data may be under-reported, 

but it is also possible that the Acumen occurrence rate is overstated . This may be off-set by 

similar but opposite under-statement of Acumen's "take-up" rate among children diagnosed 

with ASD, as further explained on page 14 of this report. 

A report was published in JAMA Pediatrics in July 2016, Volume I, Issue 12, titled "Effects of 

Autism Spectrum Disorder Insurance Mandates on the Treated Prevalence of Autism Spectrum 

Disorder, Diagnosis Rates Increase, but Shortfalls Remain." The key finding is, "State mandates 

requiring commercial health plans to cover services for children with autism spectrum disorder 

increased the number of children diagnosed with the disorder. However, diagnosis rates remain 

much lower than community estimates, suggesting that many commercially insured chi ldren 
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with ASD remain undiagnosed or are insured through public plans." This finding is consistent 

with the GA data. 

Missouri has had an ASD coverage mandate in place for health insurance for several years and 

published annual statistics on use and cost of ASD services from 2011 through 2015. The table 

below is from page 2 of the Annual Report to the Missouri Legislature-"lnsurance Coverage for 

Autism Treatment & Applied Behavior Analysis", Statistics section, February 1, 2016. 

MISSOURI ASD STATS 

2011 

% Total Losses 

Monthly Cost for lndiv 

for Autism Treatment 

0.10% 

Cost PMPM 

All Autism Treatments 

ABA Services only 

Annual COST Trend--Calculated 

All Autism Treatments 

ABA Services only 

Number of Autism related claims 

Number of ABA claims 

Annual Cla im #Trend--Calculated 

All Autism Treatments 

ABA Services only 

$143 

$0.25 

$0.06 

2012 

0.16% 

$222 

$0.38 

$0.17 

52% 

183% 

2013 

0.20% 

$255 

$0.48 

$0.22 

26% 

29% 

43,372 

14,505 

2014 

0.21% 

$278 

$0.50 

$0.26 

4% 

18% 

51,855 

25,291 

20% 

74% 

2015 

0.25% 

$357 

$0.60 

$0.30 

20% 

15% 

61,457 

32,997 

19% 

30% 

Note that the ASD mandate in MO is not identical to HB 1434. The MO mandate requires ABA 

to an annual maximum of $41,263 for children up to age 19. 

A VA mandate study showed a cost of $3 .50 per contract per year, which is $0.29 per contract 

per month. Assuming 2.5 members per contract; that is equivalent to $0.11 PMPM . The VA 

mandate, however, covers children 2 to 6. Hence, it too is different than HB 1434 because VA 

covers a smaller percentage of its privately insured population due to the age restriction. 

In producing this report, other sources were referenced for reasonability. The scarcity of actual 

ASD treatment use and cost data makes all these preliminary cost estimates more speculative 

prior to implementation of the mandate. However, the emerging actual ASD data is also not 

without problems. Adjustments need to be considered when using other states' estimated 

(projected) or actual data. 
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OBSERVATIONS AND FINDINGS 

As described earlier, there are a number of different factors and forces that will affect the use 

and cost of ASD under HB 1434 in the first year of implementation as well as subsequent years. 

The future extent of these different factors or forces is difficult to accurately estimate in the 

present. Sensitivity testing of these individual forces shows that the initial estimate could be 

considerably less or more than the point estimate provided in this report. That is, in advance of 

the implementation of HB 1434, there is a wide margin of error for the point estimate and a 

wide range in which the true actual cost could result. 

Most reports in advance of implementation in other states show an expected cost of 0.1% to 

1% of annual premium or claims cost. The eligibility criteria under any mandate for ASD 

treatment may affect its use and cost . Some states have different eligibility standards for ASD 

services than in HB 1434. For example, some states: 

• Limit coverage to ages 0 - 21 or other younger age groups 

• Reduce the annual maximum for ABA for older ch ildren, such as $50,000 for 0 - 6 years 

of age; $40,000 for 7 - 12 years of age; and $30,000 for 13 - 18. The rationale behind 

such a step-wise decrease is that behavior is easier to change in young children than 

older children and intensive ABA (more hours/ week) is more effective in younger 

children than older. 

HB 1434 does not reduce the ABA annual maximum with age. If it did, the expected cost could 

lower than the point estimate already provided in this report; however, that is also not certain. 

Similarly, if HB 1434 restricted eligibil ity to children younger than 21 years of age, that could 

also reduce expected cost. Nonetheless, the highest use (in terms of hours/ week) is expected 

to be associated with younger children; and, it is expected that children age 21 through 25 

years of age will obtain fewer services for ASD treatment, at lower cost annually, than younger 

children. Hence, if HB 1434 were limited to children younger than 21, the expected cost would 

not necessarily be 21/26 of the original point estimate. Those with ASD in the 21 through age 

25 range are expected to use fewer ASD treatment services annually than young children, 

especially those younger than age 9. 

States often implement ASD coverage mandates that differ somewhat with respect to eligibility 

and benefits. For this reason, caution should be exercised in comparing results of emerging 

data across different states. 
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CALCULATIONS 

Acumen estimates that first year claims cost for ASD services in 2017 under HB 1434 would be 

$0.61 per member per month (PMPM). This is a point estimate, and the true actual amount 

could be considerably more or less than the point estimate. If the availability of behavior 

therapists and other ASB providers is low, the use and cost will be less than expected. Similarly, 

if public knowledge of HB 1434 is limited and ND residents remain unaware that ASD is covered 

under private health insurance, it too could depress the initial use of ASD services. Moreover, 

children with ASD, who live in remote rural locations in the state, may have lower use of ASD 

treatment than expected. Similarly, unforeseen circumstance and factors could contribute to 

use and cost that is greater than $0.61 PMPM in year one. This estimate assumes all members 

are covered all year with no reduction for phase-in. In order to establish the initial year claim 

cost in 2016, Acumen created the following cost projection model shown below: 

Table 1-Development of Expected Average Per Member Per Month (PMPM) Claims Cost 

CALCULATIONS, Yr 1 Claims Cost, 2016 Basis 

The factors chosen below are expected values. 

They are not known for certain in advance. 

Behavioral 

Therapy (may 

include ABA} 

Occurence Rate in General Pop 

Take-Up Among All Diagnsd 

Average# Hrs/Month 

5% 

29.0 

$52.50 Avg Cost/ Hr 

2016 PMPM Claims Cost, 

spread over all insureds 

TOTAL 

Q2 2016 CLAIM COST 

NDPERS ACTIVES, PMPM 

% of Claim Cost 

$0.291 

0.00386 

so.ss! 

$453 

0.13% 

All Other 

ASDService 

& Treatments 

18% 

$5,000 Avg Annual Cost for 

Children Treated 

$0.291 
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This 2016 amount was calculated first. To obtain the 2017 amount, the 2016 expected claims 

cost was trended by 5% to reflect a 2017 basis of $0.61 PM PM. 

$0.61 = $0.58 X 1.05. 

The $0.58 PMPM expected starting point was developed as shown in Table 1. The expected 

cost of behavioral services for children under 26 diagnosed with ASD was developed separately 

from the cost of non-behavioral based ASD services. This amount is spread over all members to 

obtain a PMPM cost for each service track. The two PMPMs were then summed to obtain the 

total 2016 expected cost of $0.58 PMPM for HB 1434 when spread over all insured members. 

In the Acumen model, there is an interplay between the occurrence rate and the take-up rate. 

The former describes the relative frequency with which children with ASD are represented in 

the overall insured population. The take-up rate represents the portion of children with ASD 

who actually receive treatment in either of the two services categories-Behavioral treatment 

(which includes ABA) and non-Behavioral treatment. It is important to consider cost of these 

two service tracks in tandem. In the Acumen model, it is possible that the occurrence rate is 

understated and the take-up rate is overstated. However, these are offsetting if the one is 

understated commensurate with the overstatement of the other. 

The Acumen model splits the calculation into the two different service categories or "tracks" 

Behavioral services and non-Behaviora l. A separate PMPM is calculated for each. The "non

Behavioral" track is estimated using an expected average frequency times expected average 

cost per person treated per year. This is then converted to a per member per month basis, and 

the cost is spread over all insured members. 

After the separate claims cost is developed for each track and the two are summed, a percent 

of total claims cost number is then calculated based on the overall Medical cost of $453 PMPM 

using the Q2 2016 PMPM for the NDPERS health insurance plan active employees and 

dependents, which includes both state employees and those of political sub-divisions. On a 

2016 basis, the $0.58 claims cost is 0.13% of the overall health claims cost of $453 PMPM. For 

2017, it would be expected to be the same 0.13% of overall cost. 

Note that the claim costs for the two service tracks (Behavioral and non-Behavioral) are 

approximately equivalent. This is reasonable and consistent with the emerging ASD cost data 

from the state of Missouri. 

After developing the model for expected average year one cost as a point estimate, a five year 

proforma was developed that projects the expected values over the next four years under 

different assumed growth rates. The year one expected costs in the 5 year model are based on 

the year one point estimate. It becomes the medium initial cost estimate, and two additional 

scenarios are shown for year one cost representing a low and a high estimate. 
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FIVE YEAR COST MODEL--

In establishing a proforma with expected annual cost for the first five years, three growth-rate 

scenarios are considered in combination with three initial use and cost scenarios. 

• SCENARIOS for Initial Use and Cost-Low, Medium, High 

• SCENARIOS for Annual Growth Rate-Slow, Medium, Fast 

The initial year 2017 claims cost estimate of $0.61 PMPM corresponds to the "medium" initial 

use and cost scenario. Over a five year horizon, different results occur under the different 

combinations of scenarios. The low and high, and the slow and fast, are not meant to represent 

best-case or worst-case scenarios. 

Low Initial Use and Cost combined with Slow Growth Rate leads to the lowest use and cost in 

year 5. Oppositely, High Initial Use and Cost combined with Fast Growth Rate leads to the 

highest use and cost in year 5. This is shown in the table below: 

Table 2 

Annual INITIAL USE AND COST 

Growth 

Rate Low Medium High 

SLOW Lowest Yr 5 

MEDIUM Expected 

FAST Highest Yr 5 

Again, these are not best and worst-case scenarios. They are the lowest or highest of the 

various combinations of initial cost in year one and growth rate over future years. 

In the next table, Table 3, we see a five year proforma of expected cost over the first five years 

under the nine different combinations of 3 initial use and cost scenarios vs. 3 growth rates. 

The low initial use and cost ($0.24) is based on 40% of the expected (medium) $0.61 PMPM. 

The high initial use and cost ($0.92) is based on 150% of the expected $0.61. These year one 

costs are then trended forward to years two through five at the three different rates of annua l 

growth. The growth rates correspond to ASD treatment services under HB 1434, which are 

expected to increase more quickly than overall health spending because ASD coverage is a new 

requirement subject to different utilization trend forces than general health spending. 

The slow growth rate corresponds to 5% annually. The medium growth rate corresponds to 

15%, and the fast to 30%. Note that the slow growth rate of 5% is the same as the trend rate 
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used to establish the initial cost of ASD services under HB 1434 for 2017 and 2018 for 

whichever is the initial year of implementation . This is appropriate. The 5% trend of the 

expected 2016 ASD cost was used to establish the initial year cost only relative to the projection 

which was centered on 2016. In order to estimate the initial year cost of HB 1434 in 2017 or 

2018, a trend factor needed to be used to increase that cost relative to 2016. Once HB 1434 is 

in place, however, it is expected that the use and cost of ASD services will increase annually at a 

faster rate than the overall cost of health care . This is primarily due to a faster increase in the 

utilization of ASD services and not a faster increase in the unit cost of ASD services. 

The use of the different scenarios helps the reader to understand the range of cost that may 

occur over the course of the first five years, and even in year one. It would be misleading for 

this report to represent the cost estimate for any year as highly accurate, even under the 

medium scenario for both initial cost and growth rate . Although the numbers are shown to two 

decimal places, the two decimal digit representation does not mean that the actual cost of ASD 

services under HB 1434 (once all is known at some future time) will be exactly the same as the 

two decimal amounts shown here. 

Note that the yellow-highlighted column in the center of the medium growth rate represents 

the years 1- 5 claims cost of ASD services under HB 1434 assuming medium initial use and cost 

and a medium annual growth rate over the next four years. This is in the second box of Table 3. 

Here again, it is possible that the expected first year cost of $0.61 may be high (overstated) 

compared with the ultimate actual cost, but the 5th year actual cost could be considerably more 

than the expected $1.07 (understated) for reasons that cannot be fully anticipated at this time. 

Emerging ASD claims data from other states, despite its potential shortcomings in credibility 

and reliability, seems to show significant increases from year one to year three in some cases. 

Hence, the fast growth rate costs are shown in the last box of table 3. Under the fast growth 

scenario, the $0.61 claims cost in year one becomes a $1. 75 PMPM cost in year five. 

Note also that the year one costs are identical in all three boxes reflecting different growth 

rates-slow, medium, and fast annual growth rates . 

In year five, there is a wide range of estimated claims costs based on the nine combinations of 

the three scenarios. At the low end is $0.30 based on low initial cost and slow growth. At the 

high end is $2.62 based on high initial cost and fast growth . Neither is a best or worst-case 

scenario. 
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Table 3-Claims Cost Only (PMPM) 

SCENARIOS FOR INITIAL USE & COST vs GROWTH 

Assumes implementation in 2017 

SLOW GROWTH--Assumes 5% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.24 $0.61 $0.92 

2 $0.26 $0.64 $0.96 

3 $0.27 $0.67 $1.01 

4 $0.28 $0.71 $1.06 

5 $0.30 $0.74 $1.12 

MEDIUM GROWTH RATE--Assumes 15% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.24 $0.61 $0.92 

2 $0.28 $0.70 $1.06 

3 $0.32 $0.81 $1.21 

4 $0.37 $0.93 $1.40 

5 $0.43 $1.07 $1.61 

FAST GROWTH RATE--Assumes 30% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.24 $0.61 $0.92 

2 $0.32 $0.80 $1.19 

3 $0.41 $1.03 $1.55 

4 $0.54 $1.34 $2.02 

5 $0.70 $1.75 $2.62 

The numbers conta ined in the next table, Table 4, show the expected cost of HB 1434 over five 

years with the incremental administrative cost included in addit ion to the expected cla ims cost 

for ASD services. 
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Table 4-lncludes Both Claims Cost and Administrative Cost (PMPM) 

TOTAL INCREMENTAL COST INCLUDING BOTH CLAIMS 

and ADMIN COST PMPM OVER TIME UNDER DIFFERENT 

SCENARIOS FOR INITIAL USE & COST vs GROWTH 

Assumes implementation in 2017 

SLOW GROWTH-- Assumes 5% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.28 $0.71 $1.07 

2 $0.30 $0.75 $1.12 

3 $0.31 $0.78 $1.18 

4 $0.33 $0.82 $1.24 

5 $0.35 $0.87 $1.30 

MEDIUM GROWTH RATE--Assumes 15% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.28 $0.71 $1.07 

2 $0.33 $0.82 $1.23 

3 $0.38 $0.94 $1.41 

4 $0.43 $1.08 $1.62 

5 $0.50 $1.24 $1.87 

FAST GROWTH RATE--Assumes 30% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.28 $0.71 $1.07 

2 $0.37 $0.93 $1.39 

3 $0.48 $1.20 $1.80 

4 $0.63 $1.56 $2.35 

5 $0.81 $2.03 $3.05 
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CONCLUSION 

In many states that have contemplated implementing bills similar to HB 1434, there has been 

preliminary concern about the potential high cost of covering ABA and other treatments for 

ASD. This concern is further heightened when those estimating the future cost (and those who 

will pay for it) learn that ABA can potentially cost $50,000 per year and that an increasing 

number of children are diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. In reality, not all children 

diagnosed with ASD will receive treatment, and, of those who receive treatment, many will 

receive some form of evidence-based ASD treatment other than ABA or some other form of 

behavioral treatment. Very few children will receive $50,000 of ABA per year. Assuming that 

most children with ASD will receive $50,000 of ABA per year would be incorrect and would 

substantially overstate the true cost of HB 1434. It would similar to assuming that every person 

under the treatment of a cardiologist needs to have a heart transplant. 

Relative to some other states, especially states that already mandate the coverage of ASD in 

health insurance, ND may have a scarcity of trained providers who can provide ASD services, 

support, and treatment to children with ASD. Based on the comparison of BACB certified 

behavior therapists in Missouri vs. North Dakota, it seems there are fewer providers in North 

Dakota per 1,000 people in the general population. This deficit in provider supply could reduce 

the use and cost in the initial year of implementation of HB 1434, and this could continue 

beyond year one until there are enough qualified providers throughout the state to meet the 

demand for services for children with ASD. 

The estimated first year claims cost of providing ASD services in ND under HB 1434 is $0.61 

PMPM in 2017. This is an approximate point estimate within a wider range of possible cost 

outcomes. It is possible that the actual cost could be less than half of that. It is also possible 

that it could cost 50% more than $0.61. The wide range of potential cost is reasonable. It 

would be unreasonable to assert that the estimate of $0.61 PMPM is precise to the penny and 

the actual cost will be exactly that. 

On a per contract per month basis, the $0.61 PMPM is equivalent to $1.61 per contract per 

month for the ND PERS health insurance plan for active employees and their dependents. This 

PCPM amount is calculated using 2.64 members per contract based on the actual January 

enrollment data for members and contracts. 

While some services and support are already provided for children with ASD in the school 

setting under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, sections Band C, this is not a 

substitute or replacement for treatment for children with ASD in the home or community, 

outside of the school setting. The extent to which a child with ASD needs services in the home 
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or community under private health insurance will often be similar to the need that child has in 

school. However, there are some children with ASD who have need for services in the school 

system but do not need services outside school. Oppositely, there are children with ASD who 

have need for treatment outside school but not in school. And then there are those who 

receive services both in school and out, in varying amounts. 

Some children with ASD are high functioning and never use any ABA in their lifetimes either in 

the school setting or privately under health coverage. Other children who are at the other end 

of the spectrum may have more need for ASD services including ABA. These services, especially 

behavioral approaches, seem to be more effective when children are young and their brains 

and behavior are more malleable. In terms of hours per week of needed ASD services, children 

at one end of the spectrum have the most need, and children at the other end have the least 

need. 

When ASD services are provided in school, they are part of the child ' s Individual Education Plan . 

The intent is to help the child with ASD become more functional in the educational 

environment for the purpose of learning. Some of the behavioral tra ining the child receives in 

the school setting is transferrable to the home or community, but it is not necessarily a 

substitute for it. Whether in the school system or outside it, some of the ASD training is 

directed toward parental coaching. This is intended to give parents strategies and approaches 

to alter and improve the autistic child's behavior everywhere, including at home and in the 

community at large. In severe cases, it may begin with teaching the parents effective strategies 

to stop the child from self-injury or other behaviors that may adversely affect the siblings and 

parents in the home. 

Subsection 11 of the HB1434 requires the ND Insurance Commissioner to submit a biennial 

report to the legislative management on concerning implementation of HB 1434, and the use 

and cost of ASD services under private health insurance plans covered by the bill. This is 

important because it will help the state measure the use and cost of ASD services under HB 

1434 going forward. 

Subsection 11 requires the reporting of the number of members who are children less than 26 

years of age diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. It does not require reporting of the 

total number of member months for ill!_members. However, this would be a helpful 

requirement because it would allow the state to track the children under 26 diagnosed with 

ASD as a percentage of total members over time, which was referred to as the "occurrence 

rate" in the calculations section of this report. 

It is difficult to draw conclusions about the true actual cost of ASD services from these state

specific reports, especially in year one. The mandate may be phased-in in such a way that the 

first year numbers are understated because some plans are subject to the mandates for only 

part of the year. The data in these reports is based on self-reported numbers from participating 
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insurers. Typically, the data is not audited. There may be issues with the credibility and 

reliability of the data. The credibility issues arise as a function of small numbers since ASD cost 

is less than 1% of total health spending. 

When administrative cost is added to the expected claims cost using 14% of premium, the total 

incremental effect on premium in year one is expected to be $0.71 PMPM in 2017 for the 

NDPERS health insurance plan for active employees and their dependents. 

($0.71 = $0.61 / (1 - .14). 

The same cost is expected to apply to the commercial insured population to which HB 1434 

applies (outside of the members in the NDPERS health insurance plan for Active employees and 

dependents). 

For the NDPERS health insurance plan for Retired employees and dependents, the incremental 

2017 claims cost of HB 1434 is expected to be de minimis--less than $0.05 PMPM. This is 

substantially less than for the Active plan because the Retiree plan has far fewer children under 

26 years of age as a percent of all members. Despite the provision for coverage of 

grandchildren under special circumstances, HB 1434 will have far less effect on the PMPM cost 

of the Retiree plan, if any. Given the very low percentage of children covered by the Retiree 

plan, the claims cost (even with administrative cost added) is expected to be pennies only. 

That said, the smaller Retiree plan has far fewer members than the Active plan, and its actual 

results will be subject to more statistical fluctuation. 

Similarly, when the effects of HB 1434 are observed on health claims data in future years, some 

insurers or plan-specific data may show actual cost that deviates significantly from the 

expected. This is a common problem when health cost data is sliced and diced into multiple 

cells of relatively small credibility. The numbers prepared in this report are intended to 

represent the average expected cost across all members in North Dakota. 
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QUALIFICATIONS AND LIMITATIONS: 

This actuarial report is intended for the state of North Dakota for the purpose of its evaluation 

of the proposed legislation under HB 1434. It provides an estimate of the uncertain future cost 

of ASD services to be provided under HB 1434. This report summarizes Acumen's review and 

provides data, information, and Acumen's analytical findings. 

The use and discussion of this document is limited to North Dakota and Acumen Actuarial. This 

report is not to be used for any other application or purpose. It was developed specifically for 

the state of North Dakota as it applies to the actuarial evaluation of HB 1434 at this point in 

time. The contents of this report are not intended for any other use or purpose. If the 

distribution of this report is not prohibited by public records law, this report should not be 

distributed to third parties without Acumen's prior permission . This report shall be released 

only in whole, and it shall not be released in part to any party. 

This review is limited in time and scope. It is not a guarantee that ND's future actual ASD 

services cost under HB 1434 will equal those shown in this report . In conducting my work, I 

have reviewed various data. In addition to publically available data and information, I have 

been supplied with and relied upon data and information provided by the state of ND. 

This report does not recommend a specific course of action. The intent of this review and 

report is to provide objective facts and findings that the state of ND Legislative Council can use 

to evaluate HB 1434 with respect to the expected future cost and use of ASD services in private 

health insurance as required under the bill. It is not a legal opinion and does not provide legal 

advice on matters of law pertaining to the legislation. 

I, Daniel Bailey, am a consulting health actuary and owner of Acumen Actuarial LLC. I am a 

fellow of the Society of Actuaries and member of the American Academy of Actuaries, and in 

good standing with both organizations. I meet the Qualification Standards to render the 

opinion contained herein. If you have questions, please contact me at bailey-d-1@comcast.net. 

My office phone is 860-986-4052 . 

Daniel Bailey, FSA, MAAA 
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Texas Statute 

Sec. 1355 . 015. REQUIRED COVERAGE FOR CERTAIN ENROLLEES. 

(a) At a minimum, a health benefit plan must provide coverage 

for screening a child for autism spectrum disorder at the ages 

of 18 and 24 months. 

(a-1) At a minimum, a health benefit plan must provide 

coverage for treatment of autism spectrum disorder as provided 

by this section to an enrollee who is diagnosed with autism 

spectrum disorder from the date of diagnosis, only if the 

diagnosis was in place prior to the child's 10th birthday. 

(b) The health benefit plan must provide coverage under 

this section to the enrollee for all generally recognized 

services prescribed in relation to autism spectrum disorder by 

the enrollee's primary care physician in the treatment plan 

recommended by that physician. An individual providing 

treatment prescribed under this subsection must be: 

(1) a health care practitioner: 

(A) who is licensed, certified, or registered by 

an appropriate agency of this state; 

(B) whose professional credential is recognized 

and accepted by an appropriate agency of the United States; or 

(C) who is certified as a provider under the 

TRICARE military health system; or 

(2) an individual acting under the supervision of a 

health care practitioner described by Subdivision (1). 

(c) For purposes of Subsection (b), "generally recognized 

services" may include services such as: 

(1) evaluation and assessment services; 

(2) applied behavior analysis; 

(3) behavior training and behavior management; 

(4) speech therapy; 

(5) occupational therapy; 

(6) physical therapy; or 

(7) medications or nutritional supplements used to 

address symptoms of autism spectrum disorder. 



(c-1) The health benefit plan is not required to provide 

coverage under Subsection (b) for benefits for an enrollee 10 

years of age or older for applied behavior analysis in an amount 

that exceeds $36,000 per year . 

(d) Coverage under Subsection (b) may be subject to annual 

deductibles, copayments, and coinsurance that are consistent 

with annual deductibles, copayments, and coinsurance required 

for other coverage under the health benefit plan. 

(e) Notwithstanding any other law, this section does not 

apply to a standard health benefit plan provided under Chapter 

1507. 

(f) Subsection (a) does not apply to a qualified health 

plan defined by 45 C.F.R. Section 155.20 if a determination is 

made under 45 C.F.R. Section 155.170 that : 

(1) this subchapter requires the qualified health 

plan to offer benefits in addition to the essential health 

benefits required under 42 U.S.C . Section 18022(b); and 

(2) this state must make payments to defray the cost 

of the additional benefits mandated by this subchapter . 

(g) To the extent that this section would otherwise 

require this state to make a payment under 42 U. S.C. Section 

18031(d) (3) (B) (ii), a qualified health plan, as defined by 45 

C.F.R. Section 155 . 20, is not required to provide a benefit 

under this section that exceeds the specified essential health 

benefits required under 42 U.S.C. Section 18022(b). 
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ENTITLED, An Act to clarify health coverage for applied behavior analysis, and to establish the 

Applied Behavior Analysis Provider Workgroup. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA: 

Section 1. That chapter 58-17 be amended by adding thereto a NEW SECTION to read as 

follows: 

Terms used in this Act mean: 

( 1) "Applied behavior analysis," the design, implementation, and evaluation of environmental 

modifications, using behavioral stimuli and consequences, to produce socially significant 

improvement in human behavior, including the use of direct observation, measurement, 

and functional analysis of the relationship between environment and behavior; 

(2) "Autism spectrum disorder," a complex neurodevelopmental medical disorder 

characterized by social impairment, communication difficulties, and restricted, repetitive, 

and stereotyped patterns of behavior; 

(3) "Behavioral health treatment," evidence-based interventions that: 

(a) Achieve specific improvements in functional capacity of a person; and 

(b) Are provided by a licensed or certified practitioner as provided in section 6 of this 

Act; 

(4) "Treatment," evidence-based care which is prescribed or ordered for a person diagnosed 

with an autism spectrum disorder by a licensed physician or psychologist, including: 

(a) Behavioral health treatment; 

(b) Pharmacy care; and 

( c) Therapeutic care. 

Section 2. That chapter 58-17 be amended by adding thereto a NEW SECTION to read as 
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follows: 

Nothing in this Act applies to nongrandfathered plans in the individual and small group markets 

that are required to include essential health benefits under the federal Patient Protection and 

Affordable Care Act of 2010, as in effect on January 1, 2015, or to Medicare supplement, 

accident-only, specified disease, hospital indemnity, disability income, long-term care, major 

medical policies with a limited duration ofless than twelve months, or other limited benefit hospital 

insurance policies, or any plan or coverage exempted from state regulation by the Employee 

Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), 29 U.S.C. 18, as in effect on January 1, 2015 . 

Section 3. That chapter 58-17 be amended by adding thereto a NEW SECTION to read as 

follows: 

Except as provided in section 2 of this Act, this Act applies to all individual and group health 

insurance policies, contracts, and certificates issued by health carriers as defined in subdivision 

58-17H-1 (19) and self-funded nonfederal governmental plans with the exception of the state 

employee health plan sponsored by the State of South Dakota. 

Section 4. That chapter 58-17 be amended by adding thereto a NEW SECTION to read as 

follows: 

Every policy, contract, certificate, or plan subject to the provisions of this Act shall provide 

coverage for applied behavior analysis for the treatment of autism spectrum disorders consistent with 

this Act. 

Section 5. That chapter 58-17 be amended by adding thereto a NEW SECTION to read as 

follows: 

Coverage for an applied behavior analysis may be subject to pre-authorization, prior approval, 

and other care management requirements including limits on the number of individual visits a person 

may make for applied behavior analysis subject to the general care management provisions of the 
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plan, and may be subject to dollar limits, deductibles, copayments, or coinsurance provisions that 

apply to other medical or surgical services covered under the policy. The coverage for applied 

behavior analysis shall provide an annual maximum benefit that may not be less than the following: 

(1) Through age 6 

(2) Age 7 through age 13 

(3) Age 14 through age 18 

$36,000 

$25,000 

$12,500 

Section 6. Any person who performs applied behavior analysis shall: 

(1) Be licensed by the South Dakota Board of Medical and Osteopathic Examiners or the 

Board of Examiners of Psychologists; or 

(2) Have a master's degree or a doctoral degree and be certified by the National Behavior 

Analyst Certification Board with a designation of board certified behavior analyst. 

Supervisory services performed by such practitioners are not required to be covered. 

Section 7. That chapter 58-17 be amended by adding thereto a NEW SECTION to read as 

follows: 

A health carrier or plan provider subject to this Act shall have the right to request a review of the 

treatment that a person is receiving not more than once every three months unless the insurer and the 

person's licensed physician or licensed psychologist execute an agreement that a more frequent 

review is necessary. Any agreement regarding the right to review a treatment plan more frequently 

applies only to a particular person receiving applied behavior analysis and may not apply to all 

persons receiving applied behavior analysis by a licensed physician, licensed psychologist, or board 

certified behavior analyst. The cost of obtaining a review under this section shall be paid by the 

health carrier or plan. 

Section 8. Nothing in this Act may be construed to affect any obligation to provide services to 

a person under an individualized family service plan, an individualized education program, or an 
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individualized service plan. 

Section 9. That chapter 58-17 be amended by adding thereto a NEW SECTION to read as 

follows: 

The effective date of this Act is the first plan year, policy year, or renewal date on or after 

January I, 2016. 

Section 10. There is hereby established the Applied Behavior Analysis Provider Workgroup, 

operated under the Department of Human Services, to advise and make recommendations to the 

Governor and the Legislature regarding the certification and licensure of applied behavior analysis 

therapy providers. 

The workgroup shall consist of the following members appointed by the Governor by July 1, 

2015: two members of the Senate; two members of the House of Representatives; two persons who 

have a family member with autism spectrum disorder; two persons who are behavior analysts 

certified by the National Behavior Analyst Certification Board, including one at a supervisory level; 

one licensed healthcare provider who provides other medical or therapy services to children with 

autism spectrum disorder; one representative from the Department of Human Services; one 

representative from the Department of Social Services; one representative from the Department of 

Education; one representative from the Department of Labor and Regulation; two persons 

representing health insurance carriers who offer health coverage in the state of South Dakota; and 

one person who serves as an executive director of a medical or therapy licensing board. The 

Department of Human Services representative will chair the workgroup. 

The workgroup shall make a final report including a record of its discussions and 

recommendations to the Governor and to the Legislature by December 1, 2015. 
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PREFACE 

This supplemental actuarial report from Acumen Actuarial dated February 26, 2017 is an addendum to 

our original actuarial report issued on February 2, 2017 titled "Actuarial Analysis of HB 1434". In the 

original report, Acumen presented its findings and conclusions relative to the original version of HB 

1434. 

In this addendum, Acumen Actuarial presents its findings related to the revisions to HB 1434 proposed 

February 9, 2017 by the North Dakota Legislative Council. These revisions are contained in "First 
Engrossment, Engrossed House Bill Number HB 1434." 



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The modifications to the original bill are not extreme; however, they are expected to have a small but 

material impact on the expected average cost of the autism spectrum disorder mandate originally 

proposed in the initial version of HB 1434. 

There are two fundamental modifications to the original bill that may affect the expected average claims 

cost for 2017-1) the limitation of ASD benefits to children up to age 19 rather than to age 26, and 2) 

the reduction in the amount of annual Applied Behavioral Analysis (ABA) maximums depending on age

bracket. 

In the initial year of the mandate, 2017, the revised HB 1434 could be expected to cost approximately 

5% less than the original bill. The range of expected cost reduction relative to the original is 0% to 15%. 

The expected average claim cost for 2017 was $0.61 PMPM under the original bill. This becomes $0.58 

PMPM under the revised bill. 

With the cost of administrative services added, the original cost estimate was $0.71 PMPM. Under the 

revised bill, it is $0.67 PMPM, with rounding. 

It is not the author's intention to imply a false sense of precision . The direction of the cost change is 

known; the exact magnitude is not. The revisions to the mandate are not expected to increase the cost. 

However, the extent to which they decrease the cost relative to the original is uncertain. 

The cost reduction from the original to the revised version of HB 1434 could be described as small but 

material. As previously mentioned in the original report, the annual maximum on ABA services may 

have some sentinel effect and limit utilization that would have otherwise exceeded the revised 

maximums. That is to say the annual ABA maximums may function as a deterrent to ABA utilization, 

especially the lower maximums for children of older ages-7 through 13 years of age, and 14 through 

age 18. 



CONTENT and CONCLUSION 

As it pertains to Acumen's original cost estimate, there are two fundamental revisions to HB 

1434 in the First Engrossment that may affect the future cost: 

l. The first change to consider is the limitation of the ASD mandate to children less than 19 

years of age. (The original version covered children less than age 26.) 

2. The second fundamental change is the revision in the annual benefit maximum that 

applies to Applied Behavior Analysis services. (In the original version, an annual ABA 

maximum of $50,000 for ABA services was applicable to children up to age 26.) In the 

revised version of HB 1434, the ABA annual maximum is as follows: 

a. $36,000 for children less than age 7 

b. $25,000 for children from age 7 through age 13 

c. $12,500 for children from age 14 through age 18. 

The revised bill stipulates that the annual maximum cannot be less than these amounts, but it 

does not preclude insurers from establishing their own annual maximums for ABA services that 

exceed the amounts shown. Whether any insurers will choose to cover more than the ABA 

maximums shown is unknown at this time, but in the past, health insurers have tended not to 

exceed annual statutory maximums for specific benefits. 

In Acumen's original report, the average expected cost of the original version of HB 1434 was 

$0.61 PMPM for initial year 2017 claim cost. Given the revisions in the First Engrossment, 

Acumen expects the 2017 initial year cost would be approximately 0% to 15% less than the 

original estimate. Acumen's point estimate is an expected 5% reduction to the original cost

estimate. This projected cost differential is an approximation. It reduces the original $0.61 

PMPM claims cost to $0.58 PMPM in the revised bill. (The original cost-estimate in Acumen's 

original report was described as approximate and not a guarantee that the actual future cost 

would be exactly the same as the cost-estimate. The cost estimate of the revision is also.) 

The expected average cost of the original bill with administrative cost added was $0.71 PMPM . 

Acumen's estimate for the cost of the revised bill with administrative cost is $0.67 PMPM with 

rounding. 

In both cases, the expected reduction in cost is approximately three or four cents. While it is 

clear that the cost of the revised bill should not be greater than the original, the extent to which 

it is less than the original is quite difficult to ascertain with certitude. 

The logic behind this estimate reflects the fact that ASD services tend to be utilized more by 

younger children with ASD than older children and young adults. There is insufficient data to 

calculate the cost reduction with pinpoint precision . However, reducing the age to which the 



ASD mandate applies and reducing the amounts of the ABA annual maximums will certainly not 

increase the future cost. The extent to which these revisions will reduce the cost relative to the 

original is unclear. It is possible that no children over 18 and less than 26 would have received 

ASD care if the original version of HB 1434 would have been implemented. If that were the 

case, the reduction in the cost would be 0%. However, on a state-wide basis, it is possible that 

some children from age 19 up to age 26 would have utilized ASD services if the original bill were 

implemented. 

Concerning the reductions in the annual maximum from $50,000 to: 

a. $36,000 for children less than age 7 

b. $25,000 for children from age 7 through age 13 

c. $12,500 for children from age 14 through age 18. 

Under the original bill, some children may have received more ABA services than these revised 

maximums but less than the original $50,000. Data was provided by North Dakota's Autism 

Registry for the original actuarial report. It showed that symptoms of ASD tend to be noticed at 

a very young age, and only 3% of children with ASD had their symptoms first noticed after age 

20. 84% were first noticed before age 4. Although the data was limited, 2 years was the 

median age at which ASD symptoms were first noticed, and 7 years of age was the median age 

of diagnosis. 

The organization Autism Speaks reports that ABA techniques are effective for building 
important life skills in teens and adults with autism. They also report that there are many 
unknowns concerning the benefits of intensive ABA programs for teens and adults. ASD and 
ABA programs for younger children seem to be better studied in the academic literature than 
those for teens and adults. While many experts agree that behavior is easier to modify in 
young children, many programs nonetheless assert that ABA is effective for older children. 
Hence, it is difficult to say whether the maximums for each age-bracket are consistent with 
current ABA utilization levels or whether older children will more frequently have their ABA 
services limited by the revised annual maximums under the First Engrossment. 

By using a regressive approach to the annual maximums for ABA by age-bracket, there may be 

increased pressure on ASD providers and professionals to diagnose earlier, and parents and 

families may seek ABA treatment earlier. When all children with ASD can receive up to 

$50,000 of ABA services at any age prior to 26, as under the original version of the bill, there is 

less pressure for parents and families to obtain ABA treatment before the child ages into the 

next age-bracket with a lower maximum. The tendency to diagnose and treat earlier is not 

expected to occur instantly in year one, but it may increase over the first several years of the 

mandate as families and providers become accustomed to it. 

If there are children whose ABA is limited by the annual maximum, it is more likely that it will 

be those who are 7 to 10 and 14 to 16. These are children at the younger end of these two age 

bracket s. This assumes that the number of hours of ABA used per child per yea r declines with 



age from age 5 to 26, which is consistent with the limited data and information about ABA use . 

Similarly, in terms of total hours of ASD services used per year, the annual use of ASD services 

in general is likely greater for children less than 10 years of age than those over 20, which is 

also consistent with the limited data and information about the use of ASD services. 

One thing is clear: It would be inappropriate to estimate the reduced cost of the revised bill by 

simply scaling down the original estimate to reflect the two fundamental changes (reduced age 

and reduced annual ABA maximums by age-bracket) . This would overstate the value of the cost 

reduction stemming from the revisions contained In the First Engrossment. Assuming a 

uniform distribution of children by age, the limitation to age 19 alone may reduce the number 

of eligible children and young adults by 27%, but it would not cut cost by the same amount. 

[ - 27% = (19 / 26) -1 ]. Again, those in the age 19 through 25 bracket are expected to 

use fewer ASD services and ABA annually than younger children . Hence, a 27% reduction is 

unlikely. Based on the ND PERS data provided for Active employees and dependents, the 

number of children to age 19 represent 69.3% of the children to age 26, which is 30.7% 

reduction . This 69% is slightly lower than the 73% because there are slightly more children in 

the 19 through 25 age range, especially ages 24 and 25. This demographic 'bump" could be a 

consequence of the fact that it is more cost -effective to keep children on the parents' policy to 

age 26 than for the children to buy their own separate individual coverage. 

One other issue to note with the revised version of HB 1434 (as described in the First 

Engrossment) is interstate equity. This was not discussed in the original report from Acumen 

Actuarial, but since the parameters of the revised HB 1434 were taken from South Dakota 

legislation, North and South Dakota's ASD benefits will be equivalent. This would eliminate the 

incentive for parents of children with ASD to relocate from one state to another in order to 

obtain significantly more generous ASD benefits in one state than another. It is unclear if and 

to what extent this is already happening from state to state . There are so many other factors 

that come into play when it comes to interstate family relocation that it seems unlikely that it 

plays a material role in the cost of the mandate itself. 

The cost estimate in this supplemental report is an adjustment to the cost estimate in the 

original report. In so doing, the margin of error is increased. Projecting the cost change 

produced by the revisions to HB 1434 in the First Engrossment requires some mathematical 

hair-splitting. We can be confident that the two fundamental revisions to HB 1434 reduce the 

cost of the original bill slightly, but we cannot determine exactly how much . The estimated 

reduction of 5% is reasonable . Although the original cost of HB 1434 is less than $1.00 PMPM, 

this 5% reduction cannot be ignored as entirely immaterial or de minimis . Hence the analysis 

in this supplemental report. Nonetheless, the 5% reduction is, in fact, small, and it amounts to 

pennies per person per month when spread over all insureds. 



LIMITATIONS OF USE AND QUALIFICATIONS 

This supplemental actuarial report is intended for the state of North Dakota for the purpose of 

its evaluation of the revised legislation under HB 1434 as described in the First Engrossment 

dated February 9, 2017. It provides an estimate of the uncertain future cost of ASD services to 

be provided under the revised version HB 1434 relative to the cost of the original version. This 

supplemental report is not intended as a stand-alone report. It is a supplement to the report 

issued February 2, 2017 by Acumen Actuarial; that original report concerns the original version 

of HB 1434. 

The use and discussion of this document is limited to North Dakota and Acumen Actuarial. This 

supplemental report is not to be used for any other application or purpose . It was developed 

specifically for the state of North Dakota as it applies to the actuarial evaluation of the revised 

version of HB 1434 at this point in time. It is intended for use in conjunction with the original 

report. The contents of this report are not intended for any other use or purpose. If the 

distribution of this report is not prohibited by public records law, this report should not be 

distributed to third parties without Acumen's prior permission. Like the original report, this 

supplemental report shall be released only in whole, and it shall not be released in part to any 

party. 

This review is limited in time and scope. It is not a guarantee that ND's future actual ASD 

services cost under HB 1434 will equal those shown in this report. This report does not 

recommend a specific course of action. The intent of this review and supplemental report is to 

provide objective facts and findings that the state of ND Legislative Council can use to evaluate 

the revised version of H B 1434 with respect to the expected future cost and use of ASD services 

in private health insurance as required under the bill. It is not a legal opinion and does not 

provide legal advice on matters of law pertaining to the legislation. 

I, Daniel Bailey, am a consulting health actuary and owner of Acumen Actuarial LLC. I am a 

fellow of the Society of Actuaries and member of the American Academy of Actuaries, and in 

good standing with both organizations. I meet the Qualification Standards to render the 

opinion contained herein. If you have questions, please contact me at bailey-d-l@comcast.net. 

My office phone is 860-986-4052 . 

Daniel Bailey, FSA, MAAA 
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HB 1434 - Autism Insurance Reform 

Senate Human Services Committee 

Good morning Chairwoman Lee and members of the Senate Human Services Committee. For 
the record, my name is Thomas Beadle, State Representative from District 27 in Fargo. I am 
here today on behalf of hundreds of families across our state who are leading a grassroots 
effort pushing Autism Insurance Reform in North Dakota. 

Having a family member on the Autism Spectrum is a life changing event, and has 
massive impacts financially, and on the family's quality of life. There is plenty of data on 
this topic, with an estimated 1 in 68 children being diagnosed as autistic, including 1 in 
42 boys. According to the Harvard School of Public Health, the estimated costs of care 
over the lifetime of an Autistic individual is $3.2 Million dollars. Studies over the last 
few decades have consistently shown that early detection, early intervention, and 
therapies can save over $1 Million off these lifetime costs. Additionally, the long term 
savings to county social services, K12 resources and taxpayers at all levels should more 
than offset the PERS fiscal impact. Dr. Jeff Schatz testified to this effect in the House 
Human Services Committee. Fargo Public schools has given me some data on this, 
showing that during the 2014-15 school year, the actual costs for special education 
services was $22.1 Million in Fargo Public, with a significant chunk of this being used by 
students on the autism spectrum. They feel, that if we can have more intervention and 
detection at a young age and we get therapies including ABA therapy, which this bill 
does, than they can see significant savings to the school district and the local tax base. 

For me, this is an issue that we need to pay attention to as a state. My cousin Zach was 
diagnosed with autism a few years ago. He was considered a fussy baby, and he 
developed milestones a slower rate than his peers. It wasn't until he was 3 or 4 years 
old before he was officially diagnosed with autism. They put him into Speech and 
Occupational Therapy programs, and started to get some treatment for him, but they 
ran into roadblocks with insurance coverage. When he was 4, they ended up paying 
over $11,500 out of their own pockets, plus their monthly insurance premium of $1000. 
They have started behavior therapy programs with him, and have gotten some success. 
As an example, one of the things they do with him is video his surroundings and put him 
in the video, which is a therapy called "social stories" as part of ABA therapy. They've 
gone from the Langdon school district to the Cavalier district while trying to provide for 
Zack, and drive 80 miles round trip for Zack daily to try and provide for his needs. What 
we currently have isn't enough. They are now in the process of purchasing a home in 
West Fargo, and will be leaving the family farm because coverage isn't sufficient in their 
area and they are accumulating significant debt in trying to care for Zack. 



Their story isn't unique, it isn't even the worst case scenario that some families are 
faced with, but that's why we need bills like this. Our job is to help protect the most 
vulnerable in our state, and I contend that this bill does that. 

45 states have passed a version of this bill. The language here is a combination of South 
Dakota, Texas and Ohio. This bill ensures that providers cover medically prescribed, 
evidence-based treatments for Autism Spectrum Disorder. Decades of research 
demonstrate the effectiveness of ABA therapy, yet many insurance providers still deny 
coverage for ABA saying that it is experimental. That does seem to be changing now, 
and the insurers are saying that they will try and cover ABA therapy in the next few 
years. Well, this bill puts a floor in place, and says that if they say they are going to do it, 
then we should hold their feet to the fire and ensure it is going to happen. If they say 
they will do it, then we should ensure that they focus on early detection, intervention, 
and ensure that they cover therapies that are medically proven to be effective. This bill 
does that. While currently, most of our insurers in the state will help cover expenses for 
Speech and Physical Therapies, they do not cover one of the most widely diagnosed 
therapies, Applied Behavioral Analysis treatment. 

This bill is different than it was initially introduced on the House side. Initially, we had a 
26 years old age limit that coincided with the ACA limit of kids on their parent's plan, 
and it initially had a cap on coverage of $50k annually. This was done to offset the fiscal 
impact of the longer term of coverage and to help mitigate against opposition from the 
insurers. Knowing that some patients, especially in the early stages of treatment, 
require extensive care that can easily exceed $100k in expenses, the House committee, 
led by Rep. Porter amended the language so that it matched up with South Dakota, and 
included a floor of coverage that should in no way limit insurers from offering coverage 
above and beyond these levels. Additionally, that committee lowered the age limit to 
ensure coverage of individuals through high school, but this should again not preclude 
an insurer from offering coverage above that threshold. This bill was initially drafted to 
bypass the PERS trial and go straight to commercial plans, but that language was 
amended out. BCBS had requested this and members of the House committee thought 
it was good policy to stick to the trial that we legislatively set up. Interestingly, Sparb 
Collins from ND PERS testified on the House side, and .their position was that if this had 
the bypassing language in it, then they wouldn't need to include it in their plan until 
they rebid the contract, which meant that it wouldn't have a fiscal note for this 
biennium. Since we no longer have that language in here, the fiscal note was adjusted 
to reflect that. 

Before I conclude, I will do a quick walkthrough on the bill itself. 

Subsection 1 of the bill is definitions. These definitions were prepared by Autism 
Speaks, a national advocacy group that operates on behalf of Autism impacted families. • 



The referenced definition in subsection l(a) is as follows. 

43-32-01. Definitions 

8. "Practice of applied behavior analysis": 

a. Means the application of the principles, methods, and procedures of the 
experimental analysis of behavior and applied behavior analysis, including 
principles of operant and respondent learning. The term includes applications of 
those principles, methods, and procedures to: 

(1) Design, supervise, evaluate, and modify treatment programs to change 
the behavior of individuals diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder; 

(2) Design, supervise, evaluate, and modify treatment programs to change 
the behavior of individuals; 

(3) Design, supervise, evaluate, and modify treatment programs to change 
the behavior of groups; and 

(4) Consult with individuals and organizations. 

Subsection 2 - Institutes an age limit of 19 years old, and makes sure that an autism 
diagnosis is not grounds for denial of or termination of an insurance contract. 8 states 
currently have no age limit in place, and this puts us into the age limits that are most 
common across the country. 

Subsection 3 - Prohibits the number of limits on number of visits for treatments 

Subsection 4 - Cannot set dollar limits substantially lower than all other medical and 
surgical benefits in the plan. 

Subsection 5 - Not limit other benefits that are available in the plan 

Subsection 6 - This language mimics South Dakota, and places minimum thresholds for 
coverage at $36,000 for individuals under 7, $25,000 for individuals between 7 and 14, 
and $12,500 for individuals 14 until they turn 19 

Subsection 7 - Coverage for ABA must include the services of the personnel who work 
under the supervision of the licensed behavior analyst or psychologist overseeing the 
program. This is to ensure that insurance covers therapy overseen by a licensed 
provider, much like how we cover work by a dental hygienist that is overseen by a 
dentist. 

Subsection 8 - Allows an insurer to annually review the treatment plan for an insured 
receiving treatment for Autism spectrum disorder, unless the insurer and the insured's 
treating physician or psychologist agree to more frequent review as being necessary. 
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individual under an individualized family service plan, an individual educational program 
or an individualized service plan. 

Subsection 10 - This section does not apply to nongrandfathered plans in the individual 
or small group markets under the ACA. 

Subsection 11- Before August of each even numbered year, the Insurance 
Commissioner shall submit a biennial report to Legislative Management regarding the 
implementation of the coverage. This report will give us plenty of data to work with, 
including the number of diagnosed individuals, costs of claims received, cost per insured 
for coverage. 

One of the Insurers in the state has stated throughout discussion on the House side that 
they will be including ABA therapy as part of their commercially available plans in 2018. 
Supposedly, this coverage will be without age limits and without dollar limits. Per the 
Federal guidelines for federal employee coverage, the initial evaluation and diagnosis 
will not need prior insurance approval, but ABA therapy coverage would need prior 
approval. I believe that BCBS, the one insurer that has mentioned they intend to cover 
this, will use FEP language as a baseline for the coverage. I have included the text from 
BCBS's email to me with the summary of FEP guideline language as a part of this 
testimony. While I find this encouraging, it is important for us to remember that there is 
more than one insurer in the state, though one insurer is all that has even expressed an 
intention to start covering ABA therapy. Additionally, even if Sanford does follow suit, 
those two insurers still do not cover all North Dakotans. 

This is an important issue for hundreds of families across North Dakota. If you check out 
the Facebook group "North Dakotans for Autism Insurance Reform", you will find nearly 
550 North Dakotans that have joined this movement since September of last year. 
These are families that have been struggl ing with out of pocket expenses in caring for 
their loved ones. These are families that can tell you from experience, that they have 
been given the run around by their insurers, where they have been told that therapies 
were going to be covered soon, and yet they have had to wait and wait. These are 
families that have coverage through their work from insurers in other states, such as 
BCBS Indiana, and have tried to get therapies covered in ND only to have the local 
provider put up roadblocks to passing that coverage along. It is important for us to 
remember, that despite this mandate existing in 45 states, our insurers that are forced 
to cover this therapy elsewhere have so far refused to cover it here. Only once other 
states have had mandates implemented have they provided the coverage. All of our 
surrounding states have this mandate, including South Dakota, Minnesota, and 
Montana, and yet the free market has not yet provided a solution in North Dakota. 
Sometimes, the state needs to step in and ensure that we allow every tool to be made 



available in the toolbox for our citizens and their loved ones ... This bill is an attempt to 
do that. 

Madam Chair, this is an important issue and one that we have people passionately 
supporting that will follow me with their stories. Inaction, or waiting and hoping that 
insurance companies step up and do the right thing in the future, means years lost in 
treatments that are exponentially more effective when implemented at an early age. I 
strongly ask this committee to give them a good hearing, and for this committee to give 
this bill a Do Pass recommendation. 

Thank you! 



Hi Representative Beadle, 

After some serious digging, the language that most easily outlines the FEP benefit is included below: 

• FEP allows 
o Applied behavior analysis (ABA) for the treatment of an autism spectrum 

disorder. Prior approval is required for ABA and related services, including 
assessments, evaluations and treatment. Benefits are not available for ABA for 
any other condition. 

• FEP does not allow 
o Marital, family, educational, or other counseling or training services, or applied 

behavior analysis (ABA), when performed as part of an educational class or 
program 

• FEP has general exclusions for 
o Applied behavior analysis (ABA) and related services for any condition other 

than an autism spectrum disorder, 
o applied behavior analysis (ABA) services and related services performed as part 

of an educational program; or provided in or by a school/educational setting; or 
provided as a replacement for services that are the responsibility of the 
educational system 

FEP does provide guidance for the administration of the FEP benefit per the below: 

• ABA is a medical (habilitative) benefit 
• Prior approval is not required for the diagnostic evaluation 
• Prior approval is required for the initial assessment visit and for all ABA therapy 
• Prior approval is based on the medical necessity of the individuals care and is reviewed 

as clinically appropriate. 
• Services are allowed based on clinical need and evidence based practice, 
• Family/guardian involvement in treatment is required . 
• Benefits will not be available for telemedicine ABA therapy 

Benefits 

Federal employee program benefit changes for 2017 

• An autism spectrum evaluation and diagnosis needs to be made prior to a referral for ABA. The comprehensive 
evaluation needs to be completed by a licensed provider working within their scope of practice. This does not require 
prior approval. 

• Prior approval is required for the following ABA services: 

• The init ial assessment visit (i.e., functional behavioral assessment (FBA) to develop the ABA treat ment 
plan) . 

• All ABA therapy. 

• 



• Potential amendment for simplification and flexibility for the Insurers: 

Page 2 Line 20 after "disorder" insert"." 

Page 2 Line 20 remove "under nineteen years of age." 

Page 2 remove lines 30 and 31 

Page 3 remove lines 1 and 2 

Page 3 remove lines 5 through line 30 

Renumber accordingly 
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At the Autism Academy of South Carolina in Columbia, Kristen Bettencourt helps 
6-year-old Brooke Sharpe assemble a Mr. Potato Head. Health insurance coverage 
for behavior analysis treatment is hit or miss across the country, despite 
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requirements in 44 states. 

This story has been updated throughout. 

COLUMBIA, South Carolina - All morning at the Autism Academy of South Carolina, 

6-year-old Brooke Sharpe has been doing what her therapist tells her to do: build a 

Mr. Potato Head; put together a four-piece puzzle of farm animals; roll a tennis ball. 

Now it's Brooke's turn to choose. She touches an icon of Elsa from the movie "Frozen" 

on her iPad. When "Let It Go" begins to play, she swings her braids to the music. For 

Brooke, who has a severe form of autism and doesn't speak, this is progress: Last 

year, unable to express a preference, she might have just flailed to the floor in tears, 

said Kristen Bettencourt, her therapist. 

The treatment Brooke is receiving, "applied behavior analysis," has been proven to 

help children with autism learn new skills, develop good behaviors and stop bad 

ones. It is the method known to work best for treating autism, but health insurance 

doesn't always cover it. 

Since 2001, 44 states have begun requiring some insurance plans to cover ABA for 

children diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. But the rules are all different, 

making for uneven coverage across states. Autism Speaks, a national nonprofit, 

estimates that 36 percent of Americans have access to autism coverage. 

The mandates don't apply to those companies, often large, that insure their own 

workers. In some states, small businesses are not required to offer coverage. 

Depending on the state, coverage may be available to state employees, Medicaid 

recipients and people purchasing insurance in the marketplaces created under the 

Affordable Care Act. 

The breadth of the coverage also varies. Some states only require coverage up to a set 

dollar amount per yea r or a set number of hours of treatment per week, or only 

require the coverage until a ch ild reaches a certain age, ranging from 8 to 21. 

http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/blogs/stateline/2016/02/19/coverage-for-autism-treatment-varies-by-state 219 
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The highest annual cap was set at $50,000. That's the cap in South Carolina, where 

coverage is required until age 16. Only California, Indiana, Massachusetts and 

Minnesota require the plans to cover the therapy without any limits on age, cost or 

frequency. 

The disparities among states have sent families, such as Brooke's, packing. Her 

parents, Alicia and Edwin Sharpe, sold their "gorgeous house" in Florida, left their 

jobs, and took $30,000 pay cuts to come to South Carolina, knowing that the state 

requires some employers to cover the Autism Academy's full-time treatment 

program. 

After the move, Alicia had to switch jobs twice to find coverage. Without insurance, 

Brooke's program, which is full-day, five days a week, costs $50,000 a year. 

http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/blogs/stateline/2016/02/19/coverage-for-autism-treatment-varies-by-state 3/9 
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State lawmakers who want to require insurers to cover the treatment say doing so 

will save their states money in the long run. The lifetime costs of each person with 

autism is estimated to be $3.2 million, including medical and treatment costs for 

families, and costs to society, such as loss of productivity. ABA therapy can reduce 

those costs, as children who receive the treatment early have less trouble adapting, 

allowing them to potentially hold a job and pay taxes in the future. 

Many insurance companies and business groups oppose the mandates, arguing that 

they would result in steep premium increases. But, for some insurance companies, 

increases have been less than expected, at less than half of 1 percent. 
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National Movement 

Autism is the fastest-growing developmental disability in children in the nation, 

according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. About one in 68 

children was reported to have autism spectrum disorder in 2010, up from 1 in 150 in 

2002, according to the CDC. 

Autism advocates say the national movement to expand coverage really started with 

one boy: Ryan Unumb. Ryan was diagnosed with autism in 2003, just before his 

second birthday. 

His parents, Lorri and Dan Unumb, are attorneys. They pushed South Carolina to 

become the second state (Indiana was the first, in 2001) to require coverage of the 

therapy. Autism Speaks hired the couple to push for similar laws in other states. The 

Unumbs also are the founders of the Autism Academy . 

In ABA, board certified behavior analysts and other therapists teach children using 

requests, repetition and rewards. Brooke knows activities by their one-word prompts, 

such as "building," "standing" and "rolling." 

Ryan, now 14, is learning prepositions. At the academy, his therapist, Courtney 

Lindler, tells him to stand behind something, or on top of it. This way, he will know 

how to stand in a line somewhere else. The two do push-ups, lunges and squats 

together - physical activity lessens his aggression. 

The laws have come as more people have started to recognize the benefits of ABA 

therapy for autism, said David Mandell, director of the Center for Mental Health 

Policy and Services Research at the University of Pennsylvania. He said there is often 

resistance to covering conditions that doctors diagnose based on behavior, such as 

autism. Mandell expects mandates to be an easier sell once researchers can find 

biological markers for autism. 

"If we were talking about pediatric cancer, we wouldn't be having this discussion," he 

said. 

http:/lwww.pewtrusts .org/en/research-and-analysis/blogs/stateline/2016/02/19/coverage-for-autism-treatment-varies-by-state 5/9 
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The six states that do not require that insurers cover the therapy are Alabama, Idaho, 

North Dakota, Oklahoma, Tennessee and Wyoming. Oklahoma and Alabama are 

considering bills that would mandate coverage. 

Of the 44 states with requirements, 42 passed laws mandating the coverage; in 

Washington, coverage is required as a result of litigation; and in Ohio it is required 

because of an executive order from Republican Gov. John Kasich. In both Ohio and 

Iowa, the rules only apply to health plans for state employees. 

Since 2012, 10 states with coverage requirements have expanded them, and Iowa, 

Nebraska, Ohio and South Carolina are considering doing so this year. 

In Ohio, Republican state Rep. Cheryl Grossman has introduced a bill that would 

expand the coverage requirement to private employers. She said she knows the 

children who get treatment have a better chance of entering public schools, and 

achieving independence. 

''I'm looking at it as an investment on behalf of these children, and a very meaningful 

way to help them succeed in their lives," Grossman said. 

But her bill is facing opposition from business groups and insurers. 

In Ohio, plans offered on the Affordable Care Act marketplace cover the treatment, so 

people not happy with their employer's coverage have the option of getting an 

individual plan there, said Keith Lake of the Ohio Chamber of Commerce. 

Lake said his organization is sympathetic to the plight of families with autistic 

children. But, he said, Grossman's bill would increase insurance premiums for small 

businesses that can ill afford it - especially as the Legislature weighs similar 

coverage requirements for hearing aids and contraception. 

"Anything that the Legislature does that further increases those premiums is a 

problem," Lake sa id. 
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But premiums have increased less than expected . 

In Missouri, where the coverage for treatment was capped at $40,000 a year until 

age 19, the state found that, in 2015, the mandate cost 30 cents per member per 

month. That's at the lower end of the expected cost, said John Huff, director of the 

Missouri Department of Insurance. 

The department estimated the mandate would increase claim payments by 0.2 to 0.5 

percent. In 2015, 32,997 claims were filed and the mandate had raised premiums by 

0.25 percent, on the low end of expectations. 

"As much as anyth ing it is an educational process" for lawmakers, Grossman said, 

"because we aren't talking huge numbers here, but we are talking huge successes." 

Roadblocks 
But even in states that require coverage, families can have a hard time getting it. 

After the law passed in New York in 2011, families couldn't get the coverage for two 

years due to a licensing problem. The state Department of Financial Services was 

telling therapists they needed to get an ABA license in order to receive insurance 

reimbursement, yet the state had no ABA license available. In 2014, the Legislature 

amended the law, creating a licensing procedure. 

In stat es such as New Jersey, some famili es have trouble finding therapists who w ill 

take their insurance, sa id Peter Bell, CEO of Eden Autism Services, a nonprofit there. 

Bell sa id some insurers' plans reimburse therapists so little for the therapy that Eden 

cannot afford to accept them. 

Medicaid reimbursement rates also are low in some states. In South Carolina, fo r 

example, Medicaid pays up to $15 an hour for therapists who normally charge $50 an 

hour and $58 for board certified behavior analyst s who typically charge $125, Unumb 

sa id . 
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In a handful of states, such as Massachusetts, there is better access to coverage. The 

Massachusetts mandate includes small businesses and individual plans, and there 

are no caps. In addition, 62 percent of people working for companies that insure their 

own workers, which aren't subject to the mandate, have coverage because their 

employers have chosen to offer it, according to Amy Weinstock, director of the 

Autism Insurance Resource Center at the University of Massachusetts, which helps 

families find coverage. 

While the state hasn't released information about the cost of the mandates, 

Weinstock said premiums have not gone up much. The law allows insurers to opt out 

if premiums increase more than 1 percent, and that isn't happening, she said. 

Brooke's parents said the sacrifices they made to find coverage were worth it. Before 

they came here, autism had put their only daughter into a "zombie mode" - she 

wouldn't even acknowledge them. Now, when they pick her up from the academy, 

she runs up to shower them with hugs and kisses. 

"In the end, you have to do what you need to do for your child," Edwin Sharpe said. 

"Because no one is going to care for your child the way you are." 
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North Dakota families fighting for access to life-changing autism 
services 
By Catherine Ross on Feb 16, 2017 at 11 :01 p.m. 
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FARGO - Some are calling North Dakota one of the worst states in the country to live with autism. 

One in 68 kids will be diagnosed the disorder and the state does not currently cover the primary treatment. 

This week, legislation to mandate coverage failed in the North Dakota House on Tuesday, but received a re-vote and passed 

Wednesday. It now awaits its turn in the Senate. 

Brody Mauch , 6, walks into a therapy room at the North Dakota Autism Center with a child-sized tool belt tied around his waist and 

plastic wrench in his fist. 

"What seems to be the problem?" Brody playfully asks his therapist, Paige Davis. 

ok, my house is a disaster," Davis says, gesturing to a messy dollhouse. "Can you help me fix it?" 

o Brody, it feels like playing pretend , but the games are actually specialized therapy called Applied Behavioral Analysis (ABA). 

It's now the No. 1 prescribed method for working with someone on the autism spectrum. 

https:/lwww.wday.com/news/4219824-north-dakota-families-fighting-access-life-changing-autism-services 
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h autism when he was a toddler. 

His mother, Beth Mauch, says, "He would scream and scream, basically just not stop screaming ." 

He's now 6 years old and the ABA therapy is teaching him critical behavior skills. • 
Role-playing with two monster hand puppets, Davis uses a monster voice and directs him to find yellow and red laminated cards from a 

line of colors . 

When he picks up the correct cards and feeds them to his monster hand, she says, "You found yellow and red! Do they taste good?" 

Brody's mother says the therapy has improved his communication skills and behavior. 

"He relaxes, we're able to all sit down at the dinner table," she says. 

The Mauchs consider themselves lucky because their out-of-state health insurance covers the therapy. 

But for many in North Dakota, an autism diagnosis is more than just a lifestyle change. 

Recalling her son's prognosis from specialists , Mauch says, "They tell you you could either leave the state or make some huge life 

changes." 

Forty-five other U.S. states require insurance companies to cover ABA therapy. 

Sandy Smith from the North Dakota Autism Center says, "Unfortunately North Dakota was one of the five worst states to live in if you 

have a child with autism." , • 

The services are available at places like the North Dakota Autism Center or the Anne Carlsen Center, but out-of-pocket, ABA alone can 

cost between $30,000 to $60,000. 

The state offers autism vouchers , but there are only a few dozen up for grabs and the waiting list stretches almost five years. 

Even on the waiver, Samantha Stewart's son used most of the funds for one potty-training class. 

"It's not OK," Stewart says. "We need to have these things available to these children." 

Christina McNeal moved from Valley City to West Fargo for specialized treatment. 

Her 3-year-old son Lennon is on the waiver waiting list. 

McNeal says, "The difference between having services and not having services is their level of functioning and ability when they're 

adults." 

The McNeals have been considering another move out of state if North Dakota doesn't start covering ABA. 

"We need it," McNeal says. "Why should we be one the last few people in the entire nation that are offered a medically necessary 

treatment for our children?" 

Other families agree they can't wait much longer. 

Stewart says, "If we don't act on this now, we're going to have a whole generation of kids that had the potential to reach independence 

and success and they simply didn't get what they needed." 

WDAY reached out to North Dakota's primary insurance companies. 
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d to covering ABA unless the bill passes. 

ue Cross Blue Shield and Sanford both say they're working with doctors and patients to determine future benefits coverage. 

Catherine Ross 

Catherine joined the WDAY 6 News team as a reporter and photographer in Apri l of 2014 and is 

honored to bring you stories from around the Red River Valley. She grew up in a suburb of 

Minneapolis and got her first taste of the news industry during a high school mentorship at Fox 9 in 

the Twin Cities. Catherine graduated from Emerson College in Boston where she participated in 

the student-run TV station V\£BN and spent a semester in V\lashington , DC working at Voice of 

America. Those opportunities gave her a front-row seat to the 2012 Presidential e lection cycle , 

reporting at the Iowa Caucuses. Republican National Convention and President Obama's second 

inauguration . Now happy to be back closer to family. Catherine enIoys exploring the nature and 

culture of the upper Midwest. She's an avid runner. novice foodie and lifelong Twins fan. If you have any story ideas or just 

want to say hello, Catherine would love to hear from you! 

CRoss@wday.com 

(701 ) 241-5313 
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Terms of State Autism Reform Laws 
!_ __ State 

;IN~l~NA_ 
1SOUTH CAROLINA 
f------- - ·- -·· 
:TEXAS 

IARIZONA 

!FLORIDA -

i Enacted 
---- I 
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TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF HOUSE BILL 1434 

INSURANCE COVERAGE FOR AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS 

March 6, 2017 
Ladies and Gentlemen of the Committee: 

I am a ND Licensed Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA). l have a bachelor's degree in 

Psychology and a master's degree in Applied Behavior Analysis and Autism. I have had the privilege of 

working with children with autism for 10 years. I have been employed at the North Dakota Autism Center 
for approximately 8 years where I work alongside highly trained behavior technic ians and fellow Board 

Certified Behavior Analysts providing intensive interventions based on the field of ABA. Our team of 

professionals works daily providing evidence-based interventions to children and adolescents with autism, 

developmental disabilities, and other related disabilities and behavioral challenges. 
Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is a discipline devoted to improving the behavior of people in 

real-world settings ( clinics, schools, community, and industry) using evidence-based strategies derived 

from the field . In general terms, ABA is a field that is dedicated to helping individuals be successful in 

their everyday lives. When I refer to success, I am not referring to the general public's portrayal of 

success (money, raises, and promotions); I am referring to critical life changing skills. We are focused on 

teaching patients how to communicate when they are hungry, how to get a glass of water when they are 
thirsty, how to use the bathroom independently, how to respond to the directions of others (i.e. "Stop" 
"Hot" "Dangerous), how to communicate with others, and the list of skills goes on and on. Not only are 

we focused on teaching new skills, but we are also focused on reducing unwanted behavior(s) that can be 

detrimental to the patients. When l refer to unwanted behavior(s), I am referring to life altering behaviors 

such as reducing a patient's engagement in self-injurious behavior (i .e. a patient harming him/herself), 
physical aggression towards others, destruction of property, tantrums, and dangerous behaviors such as 
running away from caregivers or climbing on high surfaces. 

1n summary, the field of ABA teaches patients the skills that many people develop naturally and 

then take for granted on a daily basis. For example, the skills that you and I utilize every day that can 
seem so basic and routine such as taking a shower, getting dressed, brushing our teeth, problem solving, 

navigating social situations, practicing safety skills (i.e. crossing the street), using calming techniques to 

stay in control are the same skills that that these incredible, hard-working patients may not develop 
" naturally" and have to work exceptionally hard to learn . Applied behavior analysis makes that possible. 

Learning what the field of ABA is and what it does is only half the battle to understanding why 
making ABA services available is so critical to helping these individuals. The other half is learning ABA 

is a safe treatment that has scientifically been shown to be effective. The successful and effective use of 
ABA-based procedures to increase wanted behavior and decrease unwanted behavior has been 

documented across 40 years of extensive research and is well documented in scientific literature. 
Research showing that ABA-based procedures are empirically supported treatments can be found in both 
behavioral and non-behavioral journals. Thousands of studies utilizing different research designs have 

been published since the 1960s and the results of these studies can best be seen in the multiple review 
papers conducted on ABA-based interventions. For example, the Journal of Pediatrics, in a review of 

scientifically supported and unsupported interventions for childhood psychopathology concluded that: 

"The most efficacious psychosocial treatment for autism is applied behavior analysis." (Lillienfeld, 2005, 



p. 762) In addition, systematic evaluations of ABA-based procedures have been conducted based on 

standards put in place to determine if a particular intervention can be characterized as "empirically 
supported" or "established." Multiple evaluations of ABA-based procedures have concluded that ABA 

interventions are "well established" or "evidence-based." (Wong et al., 2013) Finally, in an overview and 

summary of scientific support for ABA, Hagopian and colleagues (2015) highlight the many scientific, 
government, and professional agencies that have concluded that ABA-based procedures represent best 

practice as a result of the overwhelming empirical evidence provided by the field of ABA: 

• Autism Speaks states that "ABA is widely recognized as a safe and effective treatment for autism"; and 

"Behavior analysis is a scientifically validated approach to understanding behavior and how it is affected 

by the environment. " 

• The American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (formerly the American 

Association on Mental Retardation), the o ldest and largest interdisciplinary organization of professionals 

concerned with intellectual disability and related disabilities, designated ABA-based procedures for the 

treatment of behavioral problems with individuals with intellectual disability and related disorders as 

"highly recommended" (Rush & Frances, 2000). 

• American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry concluded: "ABA techniques have been 

repeatedly shown to have efficacy for specific problem behaviors, and A BA has been found to be effective 

as applied to academic tasks, adaptive living skills, communication, social skills, and vocational skills" 
(Volkmar et al., 2014). 

• 

• Organization For Autism Research ("The Best ofthe OARacle"; see page 10) stated that " .. .[ABA} is • 
distinguished from other interventions because it has been proven effective in promoting skill development 

in persons with autism. " 

• National Autism Center's National Standards Report (2009) noted that behavioral interventions based 

on ABA were found to have an established level of evidence to support their use. Examples include 

behavioral packages, antecedent packages, comprehensive behavioral treatment for young children, 

modeling, schedules, pivotal response training, and self-management packages. 

• The Association for Science in Autism Treatment (ASA T) found that " ... A BA is effective in increasing 

behaviors and teaching new skills .... A BA is effective in reducing problem behavior ... and also indicates 
that, when implemented intensively (more than 20 hours per week) and early in life (beginning prior to the 

age of 4 years), ABA may produce large gains in development and reductions in the need for special 

services. 

• The Centers for Disease Control (see types of treatment) indicated that a " ... notable treatment approach 

for people with an ASD is called applied behavior analysis (ABA). ABA has become widely accepted 

among health care professionals and is used in many schools and treatment clinics .... " 

• The National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) noted that ABA has become widely recognized as an 

effective treatment for individuals with autism (see treatment options section). 

• 



• 

• 
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• The National Institute of Child Health and Human Development stated that " ... applied behavior 
analysis (ABA), [is} a widely accepted approach that tracks a child's progress in improving his or her 
skills ... " 

• The Surgeon General of the United States stated, "Thirty years of research demonstrated the efficacy of 
applied behavioral methods in reducing inappropriate behavior and in increasing communication, 
learning, and appropriate social behavior" (1999). 

My personal experience with this field and what these interventions are capable of are testimony 

to its effectiveness. At just 20 months old, a young boy was referred to me by his doctor as he was 
nonverbal and failing to meet his milestones. This patient had just received a diagnosis of autism, and his 
parents were motivated to get him the services he needed. Assessment of this patient revealed he was 

unable to engage in many of the expected skil ls for his age (request for wanted or needed items, follow 

the directions of others, label/name things in his environment, imitate the actions or sounds of others, or 
engage socially with peers or adults). Using evidence-based strategies derived from the field of ABA, a 
tailored intervention package was developed for this patient and was implemented 25 hours per week. At 
46 months when th is patient was reassessed, he had gained most of the ski I ls of his current age matched 
peers. Today this patient is enrolled in a general education school and spends his day in the general 
education classroom and is no longer receiving ABA services. 

In a similar example, a family of a 39-month-old boy requested an intake as their son was 
diagnosed with autism, and since both parents were medical doctors, they understood the importance of 
ABA and getting their child services. Before services started, this patient's assessment revealed high areas 

of ski ll deficits and engagement in barrier skills. After 3 years of receiving ABA services for IO - 25 
hours a week, the patient is now enrolled in a general education school where he spends his day in the 

general education classroom with his age matched peers and receives minimal support. 
I have also seen firsthand the implementation of evidence based ABA-procedures teach an 8-

year-old boy with a severe genetic disorder to be independent in the bathroom, eliminate the severe self
injurious behavior of head-banging in a 9-year-old, teach a nonverbal 6-year-old girl with a brain disorder 
how to communicate using pictures, a 14-year-old male how to independently engage in self-help skills 

and engage in numerous job skills in the home and community, and reduce the intense physical 
aggression of a 7-year-old girl to ensure her continued access to peers and family. These are only a few 
examples that highlight the effectiveness and significance of ABA services. 

In closing, I would like to share with you a situation that I encounter far more frequently than 
necessary . A concerned parent calls the center and explains to me that their son or daughter is engaging 
in a serious behavior and is unable to engage in some of the most fundamental ski lls. The parent proceeds 
to tell me how hard it is to see their loved one struggle every day and how powerless they fee l as parents, 
as they do not know what to do to help their ch ild. They proceed to tell me that their doctor referred them 
to us, and they have read and researched all about the field of ABA and how it can help. I listen to the 
parent and think about all of the evidence-based procedures that I have seen time and time again be 
successful with the same information the parent is sharing with me. I hear the hope and the desperation in 
that parent's voice, but instead of being optimistic about the chance of being able to teach this child the 
ski lls he/she needs, I sit on the other end of the line dreading the next question I have to ask and silently 
hope that this fami ly does not live in North Dakota or they have out of state insurance. I ask the parent, 
"What insurance do you have?", and undoubtedly have to spend the next part of the conversation 
explaining to this parent in desperate need that we have the evidence-based strategies that could be the 



answer to their problems, but unless they can pay out of pocket, I cannot help them because no North 

Dakota insurance companies cover ABA, the service that was prescribed by their doctor. Now, the family 

has to make the impossible decision of giving their child the opportunity to learn the skills that so many 

of us take for granted and potentially putting their family in financial ruin, watch their child struggle daily 

knowing they could be receiving help but are not financially capable, or move to one of the other 45 states 

where ABA coverage is available. 

I strongly support House Bill 1434, Autism Insurance Reform for North Dakota Families and ask that 

you vote in support this legislation . Thank you for your time and consideration of this significant matter. 

If I can be of any assistance during this time of deliberation, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Sincerely, 

Chelsea Evenstad, M.S. , BCBA, LABA 

Behavior Suppo,t Program Director 

North Dakota Autism Center 

West Fargo, ND 58078 
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TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF HOUSE BILL 1434 - INSURANCE COVERAGE FOR AUTISM 
SPECTRUM DISORDERS 

Sandy Smith, Executive Director 
North Dakota Autism Center, Inc. 
647 13th Ave E, Ste A, West Fargo, ND 58078 
701-367-9855 

Madam Chairwoman Lee and Senate Human Services Committee Members, my name is Sandy Smith. I am 
first the parent of a child with autism and the Executive Director of the North Dakota Autism Center Inc. 
(NDAC) and I am testifying in favor of House Bill 1434. My oldest daughter and I founded the NDAC in 2006 
as a result of her brother, my son, Tyler being diagnosed with autism in 2004 when he was just twenty-two 
months old. The NDAC specializes in autism and is one of the largest providers of autism services in the state. 

We founded the NDAC with the intention of being able to provide children early intervention using evidence 
based procedures of applied behavior analysis (ABA). However, over the nine years we have been in operation 
the number of children that have been able to receive ABA therapy is a very small fraction of the individuals 
served. This is because most families can't access it unless they have out of state insurance, Tricare insurance 
which is offered to active duty and retired military personnel, have parents that have the means to pay privately, 
were lucky enough to get on one of the fo1iy-seven ND Autism Waivers or as of January 201 7 have a parent 
who is a federal government employee. Instead, the NDAC is completely overwhelmed with work because of 
the downstream effects of children not receiving the behavioral interventions and the ABA therapy they need. 
The deficits in social, emotional and communication skills, problems with repetitive behaviors, the different 
ways of learning, paying attention or reacting often lead children with autism to develop very challenging 
behaviors such as physical aggression towards family members, peers and school staff, destruction of property, 
tantrums, and dangerous behaviors affecting their safety. These challenges follow them to daycare, preschool, 
all the way through high school and into adulthood. Without intervention the challenges become bigger every 
step of the way and the cost to families, school districts and tax payers just continues to grow. 

The state is already experiencing the growing costs and with the state budget challenges it is time for North 
Dakota to join the forty-five other states in the nation who passed meaningful autism insurance reform. In 2016, 
the NDAC was paid approximately $1 .4 million by taxpayers of North Dakota to provide services through the 
ND Developmental Disabilities Home and Community Based Waiver, School Districts and the ND Autism 
Waiver and Voucher Program. Unfortunately, less than $200,000 of that was for providing one on one ABA 
therapy through the ND Autism Waiver. Much of the remaining $1.2 million was for providing services to 
families and school districts that are faced with the challenges of trying to raise and educate children with 
autism who have had no or very little intervention. This bill would provide access to ABA therapy that would 
reduce the burden on ND taxpayers by requiring ND insurance companies to provide ABA therapy benefits. In 
addition, it will improve outcomes, improve quality of life and reduce the amount of suppoti individuals with 
autism will need later in life. 

I also want to call to your attention another significant issue that will put even more pressure on the state budget 
and ND tax payers. In July 2014 the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) released federal 
guidance for states on Medicaid coverage of therapies for autism, and that guidance indicates states are 
expected to adhere to long-standing EPSDT (Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment Benefit) 
obligations for individuals from birth to age 21, including providing medically necessary services available for 
the treatment of autism. Applied behavior analysis is a medically necessary therapy and is being prescribed by 
medical professionals across the state. North Dakota is currently not in compliance with this federal guidance . 
However, the ND Department of Human Services has drafted and submitted a State Plan Amendment to CMS 



in June 2016. I have included a copy in my testimony. The anticipated implementation date was November 
2016. It is not implemented today but it is only a matter of time because families are being denied services and 
are already filing claims with ND Protection & Advocacy. What this means is that any individual with autism 
under age 21 who qualifies for Medicaid either because of income or because they are on the ND Autism 
Waiver or the ND Developmental Disabilities Waiver should be receiving this medically necessary therapy. 

I believe the impact this will have on the state budget is significant enough to put language back into HB1434 
to exempt this bill from North Dakota Century Code section 54-03-28 which requires health insurance 
mandates be limited to the public employee health insurance program (PERS) for two years before being 
offered to the general public. 

The group of advocates that spearheaded this bill have worked tirelessly since July. We and the legislators that 
have introduced and sponsored this bill know no legislation is perfect. We are very open to amendments and 
have had legislative counsel draft some possible amendments for you to consider. 

The group of advocates is also firm in its conviction to ensure that ill.LNorth Dakota insurance companies 
include ABA therapy in their policies. Without this bill there is no guarantee that any ND insurance company 
will offer this benefit whether legislators are being told in one on one conversations with insurance lobbyists or 
not. Even if they do offer something there is no guarantee they will offer adequate coverage and could decide 
after a year to significantly reduce the benefit or even end it. After hearing House Representatives state during 
the House debate that BCBS had told them they were planning to offer better coverage than stated in the bill 
starting Janua1y 2018, a group of advocates met with BCBS executives on Tuesday, Februaiy 28, 2017 in 
Fargo. Advocates in attendance were myself, Beth Mauch, Kirsten Sharbano and Judith Ursitti from Autism 
Speaks. BCBS attendees were Jacquelyn Walsh, Dr. Lisa Faust, Pam Gulleson and Megan Houn. Barb Stanton 
of Prairie St. Johns also attended. We expressed our willingness to work with BCBS and Barb Stanton to make 

• 

changes to the bill to ensure all their concerns were addressed. Our intention is not to interfere or exclude any • 
providers currently providing services for children and adults with autism. We asked what the BCBS plan 
would look like and if they could confirm the implementation date of January 2018 . They said they were 
"hoping" to mirror the Federal Employee Plan but would not commit to any specifics or give a definitive "Yes" 
that they would begin coverage in Janua1y 2018. When asked about House Representatives stating on the 
record that BCBS told them they were starting coverage in January 2018 there was some discussion but no 
admission from BCBS that anyone had told Representatives that. When asked if they would go ahead on 
January 2018 with their planned coverage whether the bill passed our not, Pam Gulleson stated, "If the bill 
passes we will follow the law. It is our policy to follow the law". There is absolutely no reason except an 
internal policy that would stop them from going ahead with their planned coverage in January 2018. 

Families of children and adults with autism have been waiting a very long time for ND insurance companies to 
do the right thing and include this medically necessary therapy in their plans. The state of ND cannot continue 
to bear the costs alone. I urge you to do what it takes to pass HB 1434 and get it implemented as soon as 
possible. I sincerely thank you for your time today. 

• 



- ·- --- - ------------- - -

• • • 
13(c). Preventive Services 

(2) Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT 

A. Service Description 

General Description. Services to treat autism spectrum disorders (ASD) pursuant to EPSDT are provided only to Medicaid 

beneficiaries (defined below as individual or individuals) under age twenty-one. Pursuant to 42 C.F.R. § 440.130(c), these services 

are provided as preventive services and are recommended by a physician or other licensed practitioner of the healing arts within his or 

her scope of practice under state law to prevent disease, disability, and other health conditions or their progression; prolong life; and 
promote physical and mental health and efficiency. 

If the Level of Support Detennination is signed by a qualified practitioner and recommends services consistent with a requested 
comprehensive diagnosis to pursue development of the behavioral plan of care or ASD treatment services, as applicable, then such 
evaluation report is the licensed practitioner's recommendation of the services pursuant to 42 C.F.R. § 440.130(c). 

1. Screenings Prior to Receiving ASD Treatment Services. These screenings are covered under the Physician Services, Other 

Licensed Practitioner, or Clinic benefit category, as applicable. 

Service Service Description Qualified Practitioners 

Medical Screening A review ofthe individual's overall medical and physical health, hearing, Medical Doctor (MD, OD) 

speech, and vision, including relevant information and must include an ASD 

screening tool as approved by the state agency. The screening is also Physician's Assistant (PA) 

designed to rule out medical or behavioral conditions other than ASD, Nurse Practitioner (NP) or 

including those that may have behavioral implications and/or may co-occur Advanced Practice Registered 

with ASD. Nurse (APRN) 

The individual must receive a Medical Screening Evaluation indicating the possibility of an ASD before receiving a 

comprehensive Autism Diagnostic Evaluation, behavior assessment, or ASD treatment services including development 

of a behavioral plan of care. 

1 



13(c). Preventive Services 
Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT (continued) 

2. Autism Dia@ostic Evaluation: ·------------------- -----------------------------
Service Service Description Qualified Practitioners including Tools Required 

Credential/ 
Licensure and Required Supervision (if 
applicable) 

Autism Purpose: Determine ASD diagnosis and Clinical Oversight (The individual's primary care • ADOS-2 (for 

Spectrum medical necessity of services provider OR one of the following to Administer determining 

Disorders • Collaborate with the family to Diagnostic Evaluation - Required) ASD) 

Diagnostic determine the professionals best • Licensed Psychologist (PhD, PsyD, EDD) • Vineland II 

Evaluation suited for the child's Evaluation and • Clinical Psychiatrist (MD) (Behavior 
-

Diagnostic Team (EDT). • Pediatrician (MD) Assessment 

• The Evaluation and Diagnostic Team • Licensed Independent Clinical Social Tool for 

(EDT) will conduct a coordinated Workers (LICSW) determining 

multidisciplinary assessment using • Psychiatric Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS) Medical 

multiple tools to evaluate and • Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner (NP) Necessity) 

diagnose (or confirm the diagnosis of) S12eech-Language Pathologist (Required) 
ASD. The evaluation will incorporate • Speech and Language Pathology - Certificate 
relevant medical information and of Clinical Competence (SLP-CCC) 
identify the child's strengths, needs, • Speech and Language Pathology with 
interests, and challenges as related to Audiology Specialty (A-SLP-CCC) 
the child's daily routines. Evaluations Occu12ational TheraQist (OT) {Reguired if no PT) 
will also include an environmental • Licensed Occupational Therapist (OTRL) 
assessment in order to determine 

Certified Occupational Therapy Assistant • 
interventions, supports, and resources 

(COTA) 
that a re appropriate for the child, as 

0 Licensed Occupational Therapist 
well as his or her family. 

(OT) supervision required 

• • • 
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13(c). Preventive Services 

Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT (continued) 

Service Description Qualified Practitioners including Tools Required 
Credential/ 
Licensure and Required Supervision (if 
applicable) 

• The Evaluation and Diagnostic Team Licensed Physical Therai;1ist {PT) {Reguired if no 

(EDT) will produce a collaborative OT) 

report based upon findings of the • Licensed Physical Therapist (PT) 

initial evaluation including a Level of • Licensed Physical Therapist Aide (PTA) 

Support determination form 0 Licensed Physical Therapist (PT) 

(Attachment A) . supervision required 

Additional practitioners may incorporated, as 

determined by the clinical oversight, as optional 

additions to a diagnostic team in the event that 

other possible disorders or conditions must be 

ruled out to successfully diagnose Autism 

The individual must receive a Medical Screening Evaluation and an Autism Diagnostic Evaluation determining medical 

necessity before receiving ASD treatment services. 



13(c). Preventive Services 
Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT (continued) 

B. Service Components 

Service Service Description Qualified Practitioners including Care Plan Tools Practices 

Credential/ Allowed Required 

Licensure and Required 
Supervision (if applicable) 

Behavioral The BPDM is: Behavioral Interventionist • Essentials for Evidence-

Program • Behavior Assessment; a clinical • Board Certified Behavior Analyst- Living based 

Design compilation of observational Doctoral (BCBA-D) • The Assessment of practices 

and data, behavior rating scales, • Board Certified Behavior Analyst Basic Language based upon 

Monitor- and reports from various (BCBA} and Learning Skills national 

ing sources (e.g., schools, family, • Registered Behavior Analyst (RBA} - Revised (ABLLS- standards set 

(BPDM) pediatricians, and other RBA oversight reguired: R) by the Autism 

sources) designed to identify 0 BCBA-D, • CARD assessment Evidence-

the individual's current 0 BCBA, • Individualized Based Practice 

strengths and needs across 0 Licensed Psychologist Goal Selection Review Group, 

developmental and behavioral (PhD, PsyD, EDD) Curriculum University of 

domains • Licensed Psychologist (PhD, PsyD, • VB-MAPP: Verbal North Carolina 

• Development of a Care Plan EDD) Behavior at Chapel Hill. 

including the following: • Social Worker Milestones 

0 measurable goals and 0 Licensed Clinical Social Assessment and 
expected outcomes to Worker (LCSW) Placement 
determine if ASD 0 Licensed Independent Program 

treatment services are Clinical Social Worker • Social Skills 
effective; (LICSW) Solutions: A 

0 specific description of Hands-On Manual 
the recommended • Autism Spectrum 
amount, type, Rating Scale 

• • • 
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13(c). Preventive Services 

Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT (continued) 

Service Service Description Qualified Practitioners including Care Plan Tools Practices 

Credential/ Allowed Required 

Licensure and Required 

Supervision (if applicable) 

frequency, setting and • Gilliam Asperger 

duration of ASD Disorder Scale 

treatment services; • Social 

0 Amount and type of Communication 

caregiver (defined Questionnaire 

below) ongoing • Wechsler 
participation in the ASD Intelligence Scale 

treatment services for Children 

necessary to maximize • Stanford Binet 

the success of the • Wechsler 
services. Individual 

• Trains and oversees the Skills Achievement Test 
Trainers who work directly with II 
the participant on • Yale Brown 
implementing their specific Obsessive 
training plan protocol. Compulsive Scale 

• The formal Care Plan is written • Peabody 
in accordance with the Individual 
objectives specified in the Ach ievement Test 
individual's Participant Service • Kaufman Brief 
Plan. Intelligence Test 2 

• Meet with the participant's • Revised Children's 
Skills Trainer and the parents at Manifest Anxiety 
least monthly for the purpose Scale 2 



13(c). Preventive Services 
Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT (continued) 

Service Service Description Qualified Practitioners including Care Plan Tools Practices 

Credential/ Allowed Required 

Licensure and Required 
Supervision (if applicable) 

of reviewing progress on the • Children's 

formal training objectives and Depression 

reviewing the need for changes Inventory 

in the formal Care Plan. • UCLA Post 

Traumatic Stress 

Disorder RI 

• AFLS®- The 

Assessment of 

Functional Living 

Skills 

Skills • The Skills Training (ST) Practitioners providing Skills Training N/A Evidence-

Training professional will train the (ST) services that are not enrolled with based 

(ST) parent(s) on implementing ND Medicaid to provide Behavioral practices 

interventions across multiple Program Design and Monitoring based upon 

settings as long as it is for the (BPDM) services must be under the national 

direct benefit of the child . supervision of a practitioner that is standards set 

• ST provides hands-on training, enrolled to provide BPDM and will by the Autism 

to parents and others, as follow the specific training protocols Evidence-

needed, for the direct benefit developed in the Care Plan. Based Practice 

of the child, using evidence- Review Group, 

based behavioral intervention Behavioral Analyst University of 

methods as directed by the • Board Certified Behavior Analyst - North Carolina 

Behavioral Program Design and Doctoral (BCBA-D) at Chapel Hill. 

Monitoring Professionals. • Board Certified Behavior Analyst 

• • • 
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13(c). Preventive Services 

Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT (continued) 

Service Service Description Qualified Practitioners including Care Plan Tools Practices 

Credential/ Allowed Required 

Licensure and Required 

Supervision (if applicable) 

• ST may also provide general (BCBA) 

assistance and support on • Registered Behavior Analyst(RBA) 

interventions to individuals • Registered Behavior Technician 

who provide unpaid support, (RBT) 

training, companionship or Psychology 

supervision to participants. • Licensed Psychologist (PhD, PsyD, 

• ST professionals will meet with EDD) 

the participant's Behavioral • Licensed Professional Clinical 

Program Design and Counselor (LPCC) 

Monitoring Professiona l and • Licensed Professional Counselo r 

the parents at least monthly for (LPC) 

the purpose of reviewing • Psychiatric Triage Therapist 

progress on the formal training • Licensed Marriage and Family 
objectives and reviewing the Therapist (LMFT) 
need for changes in the Care • General psychology degree (BA, 
Plan. BS) 

Nursing 

• Psychiatric Clinical Nurse Specialist 

(CNS) 

• Registered Nurse (RN) 

• Licensed Practical Nurse (LPN) 

• Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner (NP) 

Social Worker 



13(c). Preventive Services 
Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT (continued) 

Service Service Description Qualified Practitioners including Care Plan Tools Practices 

Credential/ Allowed Required 

Licensure and Required 
Supervision (if applicable) 

• Licensed Independent Clinical 

Social Worker {LICSW) 

• Licensed Clinical Social Worker 

(LCSW) 

• Licensed Social Worker (LSW) 

• Masters in Social Work (MSW) 

Occupational Therapy 

• Licensed Occupational Therapist 

(OTRL) 

• Certified Occupational Therapy 

Assistant (COTA) 

Physical Therapist 

• Licensed Physical Therapist (PT) 

• Licensed Physical Therapist Aide 

(PTA) 

Speech-Language Pathologist 

• Speech and Language Pathology -

Certificate of Clinical Competence 

(SLP-CCC) 

• Speech and Language Pathology 

with Audiology Specialty (A-SLP-

CCC) 

Education 

• Special Education 

• • • 
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13(c). Preventive Services 

Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT ( continued) 

Service Service Description Qualified Practitioners including Care Plan Tools Practices 

Credential/ Allowed Required 

Licensure and Required 
Supervision (if applicable) 

• Elementary Education 

• Secondary Education 

• Early Childhood Development 

ASD Services Framework 
I. Care plan goals will be outcome based and progress toward goals will be monitored by training data. ASD Preventative 

Services seek to develop, maintain or restore skills and functioning in all areas (including): 

a. Social Skills, and related skills to enhance participation across all environments (school, home and 
community settings) and relationships, including imitation, initiation of social interactions with both 

adults and peers, reciprocal exchanges, parallel and interactive play with peers and siblings; 

b. A functional communication system which may include expressive verbal language, receptive language 
and nonverbal communication skills and augmentative communication; 

c. Increased engagement and flexibility in the exhibition of developmentally appropriate behaviors, 
including: play behavior, attending behavior, responding to environmental cues (including cues from the 
training staff and others) and cooperation with instructions; 

d. Replacement of inappropriate behaviors with more conventional and functional behaviors; 

e. Working with caregivers and others in the environment to promote the participant's competence and 
positive behavior; 

f. Fine and gross motor skills used for age-appropriate, functional activities, as needed; 

g. Cognitive skills related to play activity and academic skills; 
h. Adaptive behavior and self-care skills to enable the participant to become more independent and/or; 



13(c). Preventive Services 
Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT (continued) 

1. Independent exhibition of organizational skills including completing a task independently, asking for 
help, giving instrnctions to peers and following instrnctions from peers, following routines, self

monitoring and sequencing behavior. 

2. f~Jj:j_9jp_;,~J_i_9.n_9.y_C.~r:~giy~r._i_n.ASP..Ir:~aJm.~P.t __ S_~ryi~~$: Over half of all interventions must involve the primary caregiver to 
ensure generalization of skills 

3. .frn~-~X\9_~_/__A_y_~_U~l?..Ui~Y.-9f C.~i;~giy~r: A caregiver shall be present or available at all times in or around the home when services 
are being provided in the home. For services provided outside of the home, a caregiver shall be present or available as 

necessary based on the ASD treatment services provider's clinical judgment. 

4. Supervision of Skills Trainers. Skills Trainers requiring supervision by a qualified provider ( described above). Such 

supervision must: 
a. Be with the supervising provider and documented on an ongoing basis. 
b. Be at least ten percent of the amount of hours that the Skills Trainer is providing ASD treatment services to each 

individual. 

C. Limitations 

1. Total ASD treatment services under this authority may only be the amount medically necessary for each individual as 

determined by the Vineland II scores. These limits may be exceeded due to medical necessity. 

2. The department shall not pay for program services or components of services that: 

a. Are of an unproven, experimental, cosmetic or research nature. 

b. Do not relate to the individual's diagnosis, symptoms, functional limitations or medical history. 

c. Are intended solely to prepare individuals for paid or unpaid employment or for vocational equipment and uniforms. 
d. Are solely educational, vocational, recreational, or social. 

• • • 
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13(c). Preventive Services 

Services to Treat Autism Spectrum Disorders Pursuant to EPSDT ( continued) 

e. Are not coverable within the preventive services benefit category, such as respite care, child care, or other custodial 

services 
f. Duplicate other State Plan Services. 

D. Teletherapy 
a. Nothing in this state plan is intended to prohibit or restrict the use of telehealth services to deliver services under this 

amendment. 
E. Free Choice of Provider 

• 

Individuals eligible to receive ASD services described in this section have a free choice of any available provider qualified to perform 
the services. Providers must be enrolled as a Medicaid provider. 



• 

• 

• 

Good morning Chairperson Lee and members of the committee. 

My name Catherine Yeager and I am clinical psychologist and co-owner of Assessment 
and Therapy Associates of Grand Forks. I have been licensed in North Dakota since 
2002 and I specialize in the diagnosis and management of autism spectrum disorders. 

Autism has historically been characterized as a static, lifelong condition ; however, 
studies beginning in the 1980s strongly suggest that autism is a treatable disorder and 
that significant reduction in symptom expression is very possible with appropriate 
treatment. In addition , "normalization" of overall behavior to the extent that diagnostic 
criteria for autism are no longer met and the child can function independently is also 
possible with early intensive behavioral intervention, also known as Applied Behavior 
Analysis or ABA. Along with reducing impairment, use of this therapy can also offset, or 
in some cases negate , the potentially enormous costs of future social and financial 
assistance required by these children as they become adults . Although initially 
expensive , assuming an investment of $33,000 per year for three years , research 
suggests that the average lifetime savings of providing intensive, high-quality ABA for a 
very young child with autism ranges from $1.6 to $2 .8 million dollars . This savings is 
largely to the state programs that typically provide funds for services, care, and housing 
for adults with disabilities. 

Despite these facts, which have been well-known in the national and international 
autism community for decades , no North Dakota-based insurance company currently 
covers this therapy . They have suggested as recently as a few years ago that ABA is 
"experimental, " when in fact it is a well-established treatment for autism with studies 
demonstrating moderate to large treatment effects dating back to 1987. I have heard it 
said that it is a questionable treatment because it does not help all children, but the 
reality is that no treatment is perfect - for example , chemotherapy does not cure all 
cancers - and this is simply not an appropriate metric by which to judge a treatment. 
Science tells us that this is by far the best treatment we have for autism , a fact that has 
been echoed by the Surgeon General of the United States, the American Academy of 
Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, the National Institute of Mental Health, the Federal 
Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality , Center for Medicaid and Medicare 
Services, the American Academy of Pediatrics , and the American Psychological 
Association to name only a few. 

North Dakota has shown clear dedication to our individuals with autism and as a result, 
we have programs that make early identification of autism spectrum disorders possible. 
We have also begun to individually license ABA providers so that they are available to 
provide treatment without redundant supervision . Despite these efforts, most children 
with autism in North Dakota still do not rece ive what is most important - empirically
validated treatment. Although ABA is available to children who receive funds through 
North Dakota 's Autism Waiver, this program is full and the waiting list estimated to be 
several years long. Because North Dakota insurance companies do not cover autism 
treatment, parents of children with autism are often left to either allow their child to go 
without treatment, pay for therapy themselves , or move to another state where 
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treatment is mandated . I have seen all of these scenarios play out in my practice, but 
most often, children simply do not receive treatment. 
I believe that all involved in the care of kids with autism believe that this is unacceptable 
and would like to see treatment offered as a part of medical insurance; however, many 
question whether this coverage should be or needs to be mandated. This may be 
related to the fact that reportedly, Blue Cross Blue Shield of North Dakota recently 
indicated that they intend to provide a comprehensive treatment package for children 
with autism without such a mandate . If accurate , this is, of course, a very welcome 
development. However, at this point this seems to be no more than a rumor - there has 
been no confirmation of this by any specific individual at BCBS, there is no contact 
person, and no specific plan. BCBSND has developed a written policy for ABA that can 
be found on their website ; however, this policy is stated to apply to federal employees 
only. 

More importantly, if it is indeed BCBS's intent to eventually broaden ABA coverage to 
include all subscribers, there is simply nothing in this bill that would prevent them from 
doing that - the bill actually states "this section does not limit benefits that are otherwise 
available to an insured under a health insurance policy." As such, assuming their plan 
meets the minimum requirements, BCBS is free to proceed with their plan regardless of 
the status of this bill . In fact , doing so prior to the implementation of a mandate would 
simply prove their dedication to treating children with autism. However, not all children 
are insured by BCBSND and even those who are now may be subject to insurance 
changes down the road - at the beginning of each year as many as a third of patients 
who receive services in our clinic have changes in their insurance providers even with 
stable employment. This mandate would ensure that all children in the state can access 
ABA therapy and that services are not interrupted when insurance plans change. Early 
treatment would also very likely improve the functioning of children with autism over the 
course of their lives, reducing the need for services and funding by the state in 
adulthood . 

More detailed information is provided in my handout for anyone who is interested and I 
am happy to take any questions . 
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I. 

TREATMENT FOR AUTISM IN NORTH DAKOTA 
Prepared by Catherine Yeager, PhD 

Assessment and Therapy Associates of Grand Forks, PLLC 

DESCRIPTION OF AUTISM 

Autism is a developmental syndrome characterized by a specific set of problems and symptoms which 
typically become apparent during the toddler years. Early signs of autism may include atypicalities in 
behavior as well as problems in the development of language, social relatedness, and play skills. 
Specific symptoms of autism often include delayed or absent language, or, if language is present, the 
child may demonstrate abnormal language usage (i.e., a child with autism may "echo" what is said to him 
but be unable to ask or answer questions or respond to his name). Socially, children with autism are 
often disinterested in those around them or may even be unaware of the presence of others. Because 
their ability to relate with others is markedly impaired, children with autism demonstrate limited use of 
gestures (i.e., pointing, waving), imitation skills, and eye contact. Children with autism may also lack the 
capacity to form bonds with their parents and other caregivers and may dislike physical affection. Play 
skills are significantly impaired and play is often "sensory" as opposed to symbolic or imaginary in nature 
(e.g., a child with autism may prefer to line up play cars or spin their wheels as opposed than playing with 
them in a typical fashion) . Children with autism also often demonstrate odd, stereotypical and/or self
stimulatory behaviors such as "hand flapping," jumping, spinning, and toe-walking (APA, 2013). 

Many children with autism appear to have limited cognitive potential and most are assumed to have some 
degree of mental retardation. However, given the above described developmental problems, thorough 
intellectual assessment a child with autism is difficult and results may have limited valid ity. That said, 
given the extent of the developmental problems present , without treatment most children with autism 
function in a similar manner to chi ldren with mild to moderate mental impairments and require extensive 
services and support throughout the lifespan . 

II . INCIDENCE AND COST OF CARE 

Autism is increasingly common. In the 1970s the prevalence of the full spectrum of autistic disorders was 
approximately 5 to 10 per 10,000 births. Currently data from the CDC suggest that 1 in 68 children has 
an autism spectrum disorder. In North Dakota the prevalence of autism spectrum disorders is also 
increasing whereas the incidence of other developmental disabilities remains stable (Hollenbeck, 2004 ). 

As mentioned above, without early autism-specific intervention , most children with autism require lifelong 
care. The lifetime per capita cost of autism is estimated to be $3.2 million or $35 billion for an entire birth 
cohort of individuals with autism. Assuming a child with autism continues to be impaired throughout his 
lifespan, care in adulthood is the largest of all lifetime costs, costing approximately five times more than 
care in childhood (Ganz, 2007). 

Ill. SCIENTIFICALLY VALID TREATMENT OTIONS FOR AUTISM 

Al though autism has historically been characterized as a static, lifelong condition, studies beginning in the 
1980s strongly suggest that autism is a treatable disorder and that significant reduction in symptom 
expression and is very possible with appropriate treatment. In addition, "normalization" of overall 
behavior to the extent that diagnostic criteria for au tism are no longer met and the child can function 
independently is also possible wi th intensive behavioral treatment (Lovaas, 1987). 

Currentl y, the most efficacious treatments for autism have their roots in Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) 
theory (often also referred to as Early Intensive Behavioral Interven tion ). ABA-based treatments 
emphasize skil l development through repeated positive reinforcement of desired behaviors and should 
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AUTISM IN NORTH DAKOTA 

begin immediately after diagnosis. Treatment begins with an assessment of the individual child 's current 
skil l set and deficits and is customized with regard to teaching methods, pace, skill sequences, and 
reinforcers. Problems in all skill domains (i.e., language, play, social skills, behavior) are addressed 
systematically and close monitoring is required to ensure appropriate progress. Direction and supervision 
of such programs is provided by a psychologist or another highly trained individual with extensive 
experience in behavior analysis (Guralnick, 1998). Ideally treatment is intensive (i.e., 25-40 hours per 
week) and therefore several therapists or "trainers" (who are supervised by the behavior analyst or 
psychologist) are required to provide daily treatment. 

Although sometimes considered to be "experimental" or unproven by insurance companies, the fact is 
that ASA-based therapies are nationally and internationally regarded as effective treatments for autism 
spectrum disorders. In fact, the first study of ASA-based therapies suggested that 4 7% of children with 
autism receiving intensive ABA for several years beginning in preschool were able to function 
independently in the classroom setting by kindergarten. Additionally, these children's intellectual skills 
increased from the range of moderate mental retardation to the average range with intensive treatment 
over a two to three year period . Another 40% of the chi ldren in this initial study made substantial gains 
but continued to require some special education, and only 10% of the children in this study continued to 
be significantly impaired after intensive ABA therapy (Lovaas, 1987). Many studies have replicated these 
findings (Anderson, et al., 1987; Birnbrauer & Leach, 1993; McEachin, Smith, & Lovaas, 1993, Sallows & 
Graupner, 2005), and as such, there is little doubt that ABA can significantly improve functioning and 
decrease the need for specialized services later in childhood and adult life. 

Lastly, although it is certainly true that not every ch ild will respond to this therapy, this fact should not be 
used as a means by which to deny ABA to all ch ildren with autism. We do not deny treatment to children 
afflicted with cancer because of variable treatment responses, and we should not deny ABA to children 
with autism because some will benefit less than others. The fact remains that ABA is an established 
treatment for autism and recommended by the Surgeon General of the United States, the American 
Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, the National Institute of Mental Health , the Federal Agency 
for Healthcare Research and Quality, Center for Medicaid and Medicare Services, the American Academy 
of Pediatrics, and the American Psychologica l Association (Terdal, 2013). 

IV. COST AND IMPACT OF TREATMENT 

The cost of intensive ASA-based treatment programs typically range from $25,000 to $50,000 per child 
annually with treatment typically spanning a two to four year period beginning at the time of identification. 

Assuming an initial investment of $100,000 (i .e .. $33,000 per year for three years), research suggests 
that the average lifetime savings of providing intensive, high-quality ABA for a very young child with 
autism ranges from $1,686,061 to $2,816,535, depending on the effectiveness of ABA on the child's level 
of functioning (Jacobson et al., 1998). 

V. CURRENT SERVICES FOR AUTISM IN NORTH DAKOTA 

North Dakota provides free, in-home developmental screening of infants and young children through the 
Right Tracks program. Other systems, such as the Infant Development program, also make early 
identification of autism spectrum disorders possible in North Dakota. However, once identified securing 
treatment, which should begin immediately to have maximum impact, is extremely difficult. 

Although autism specific treatments, such as ABA, are available to children who receive funds through 
North Dakota's Autism Waiver, this program is full and the waiting list estimated to be several years long. 
Because North Dakota insurance companies do not provide reimbursement for autism treatment, parents 
of children with autism must pay for therapy themselves. Because this is often not financially feasible, 
most children simply go without treatment. 
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I believe that all involved in the care of kids with autism believe that this is unacceptable and would like to 
see treatment offered as a part of medical insurance; however, many question whether this coverage 
should be or needs to be mandated. This may be related to the fact that reportedly, Blue Cross Blue 
Shield of North Dakota recently indicated that they intend to provide a comprehensive treatment package 
for children with autism without a mandate. If accurate, this is, of course, a very welcome development. 
However, at this point this seems to be no more than a rumor and there has been no confirmation of this 
by any individual at BCBS, there is no contact person, and no specific plan. BCBSND has developed a 
written policy for ABA that can be found on their website; however, this policy is stated to apply to federal 
employees only. 

More importantly, if it is indeed BCBS's intent to eventually broaden ABA coverage to include all 
subscribers, there is simply nothing in this bill that would prevent them from doing that - the bill actually 
states "this section does not limit benefits that are otherwise available to an insured under a health 
insurance policy." As such, assuming their plan meets the minimum requirements, BCBS is free to 
proceed with their plan regardless of the status of this bill. In fact, doing so prior to the implementation of 
a mandate would simply prove their dedication to treating children with autism. However, not all children 
are insured by BCBSND and even those who are now may be subject to insurance changes down the 
road. This mandate would ensure that all children in the state can access ABA therapy and that services 
are not interrupted when insurance plans change. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Autism is a potentially debilitating and lifelong disorder; however, ameliorative therapies are available. 
Although the initial investment in ABA for children with autism may appear large, providing treatment for 
these children is not only the ethically-sound course of action, but it could also offset, or in some cases 
negate, the potentially enormous costs of future social and financial assistance required by these children 
as they become adults. Investing in treatment for children with autism through insurance mandates 
requiring reimbursement for such treatment is likely to be extremely beneficial not only for children with 
autism and their families, but also for the various service agencies charged with the care of the disabled 
over the lifespan. Ultimately, the most expensive option is to continue to fail to provide ABA-based 
treatment for children with autism . 
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My name is Charlie Kern. I have had autism since I was 2 years old. I am 
now 15 and in 9th grade in Grafton. 

I am standing here talking to you because I got better. 

One of the reasons I got better is ABA therapy. 

A few things ABA has done for me: 

I can talk. 

We are worried that if more kids can't get ABA, they won't talk like me. 

I can deal with changes in my schedule without losing my cool. Like 
today. I'm missing school. I'm in a new place. I'm wearing a tie around my 
neck, and I'm not losing my cool. 

Losing your cool makes everything really hard. We are worried that if more 
kids don't get ABA, they won't keep their cool. 

I have relationships. I know people. And people know me. 

Autism is tough. Without ABA, it's even tougher . 
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Hello. Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you about the topic of health 
insurance reform as it pertains to services for individuals on the autism spectrum. 
This is of vital importance to many children and families in our state and an issue 
that is a personal passion. 

My name is Dr. Shannon Alexander. I am a practicing psychologist in the state of 
North Dakota, working with the most severely mentally ill and behaviorally 
challenged individuals in the public sector. 

I am in the unique position of being a psychologist with specialized training in 
applied behavior analysis as well as being a mother to a child on the spectrum. The 
combination of my training as a scientist and clinician and my family situation has 
provided me with an unusual perspective. I have been afforded the opportunity to 
experience what it is like to sit "on the other side of the desk", to see what this is like 
as a family member. Researching options, making hundreds of phone calls, going to 
the innumerable appointments and evaluations, fighting for your child's needed 
services, and being repeatedly turned down or denied. Being told over and over, 
that, yes, he requires services but there is simply no funding source available. Over 
the past 2 years, I have spent a tremendous amount of time fighting to get my son 
the services he requires. There has been a great deal of frustration and tears 
knowing that my son could be benefitting from applied behavior analysis. Knowing 
that there was a treatment available but not being able to access it. No one expects 
to have a child with special needs and there is no way of being able to financially or 
emotionally prepare for it ahead of time. 

My son, Trey, was diagnosed with moderate-severe autism shortly after his third 
birthday, although, in hindsight, there were clear indicators by 18 months. Our 
family life revolves around Trey and his needs. There is no such thing as a simple 
task when it is new or unexpected. Every day is planned out in advance. Something 
as simple as driving into the daycare parking lot from the east rather than the west 
is sufficiently overwhelming to result in a meltdown. It takes multiple specially 
trained caregivers to assist us throughout the day. Trey is now 5 ½ years old. He will 
be going into kindergarten this fall. He is essentially non-verbal, being able to 
communicate in 1-2 word sentences. He continues to need diapers as he is not toilet 
trained. He demonstrates echolalia (repeating words), has limited interests, and 
little interest in interacting with others. He eats approximately 5 food items and 
requires therapy to address his dietary issues. He becomes overwhelmed easily, 
which results in frequent meltdowns that can include self-injury, aggression, and 
destruction of property. He has no sense of danger, is known to bolt away from 
caregivers, and is attracted to water. I have accrued $18,000 worth of debt while 
attempting to cover his medically necessary treatments on my own. I work 65-70 



hours per week in order to cover his many expenses and his past medical bills. 

In the course of pursuing my education, I lived in Arkansas, California, and Texas. I 
made the decision to return to North Dakota to raise my children due to family 
support, low crime, and good neighbors. As you are aware, North Dakota is far 
behind almost every other state in mandating insurance coverage for medically 
necessary treatments for autism. I have been repeatedly instructed to relocate 
out-of-state in order to get my child the services he needs; that the state of North 
Dakota makes it impossible to raise a child on the spectrum here due to limited 
waiver slots and an unwillingness to mandate that insurance companies cover 
services. I grew up on a family farm by Carrington. North Dakota is what me and my 
children know. I refuse to believe that the citizens of North Dakota would be okay 
with this situation in which insurance companies have been allowed to avoid their 
responsibility to cover medically necessary services for developmentally disabled 
children. 

There are multiple treatments that have been demonstrated empirically to improve 
functioning among individuals with autism, one of these being applied behavior 
analysis. There is an abundance of empirical support for applied behavior analysis 
providing moderate to large positive outcomes in areas such as intellectual 
functioning, language development, acquisition of daily living skills and social 
functioning among children on the spectrum (Virues-Ortega, 2010; Neeley et al., 
2016; Debodinance et al., 2017). It is my firm belief that any treatment that has the 
support of the professional community, as a result of passing the rigors of peer 
reviewed research, should be covered by insurance companies. It should be the 
domain of the experts, the treating providers, to make the determination of what 
treatment approach will be most effective in treating this particular patient. Within 
the autism label, there is a wide variety of presentations within autism spectrum 
disorder (Roane, Fisher, & Carr, 2016) and the provider needs the flexibility to tailor 
the treatment program to that specific individual's needs. This should not be 
dictated by the legislature or be solely a business decision from an insurance 
companies. Applied behavior analysis is simply outside the scope of being 
financially feasible for the majority of families, including my own. It is difficult to 
accept that my son would likely be functioning at a higher level if I had been able to 
afford the 30-40 hours of ABA therapy per week that research supports as being 
most effective. 

I understand that BCBS-ND has expressed a willingness to now voluntarily cover 
these services. I have serious reservations regarding this proposal. As a state 
employee, my family is covered under the Sanford plan. There are many children 
who would continue to not be covered, including those of state employees. These 
same insurance companies fought for years to not be required to cover autism 
services; their assurance to do so now when there is a push to move towards 
requiring it should give us pause. If this bill is not passed and there is no 
requirement to provide coverage, I feel confident that these children and families 



will be back in the same position of having their claims denied, in short order. 
Having a child with special needs has many challenges associated with it. They 
should not be required to face further stress, financial hardship, and bankruptcy to 
simply get their child the needed treatment. Without these services, children on the 
spectrum will grow into adults that require much more support and services from 
the state of North Dakota. Let me repeat that. Without the necessary interventions 
as children, these individuals will require high levels of supervision, assistance with 
living costs, and costly treatment as adults. In my work, I see the effect of not 
addressing mental health needs early on. Mandating that insurance companies 
assist in covering these services will pay off in the moderate to long term as these 
children will have a higher level of functioning, requiring less assistance from 
taxpayers. 

Up until this point, the state of North Dakota has placed families with children with 
autism in an unenviable and precarious position by not following the other 45 states 
in mandating coverage of services. It is my sincere hope that this legislative session 
will correct this now by passing HB 1434. Thank you for your time and for listening 
to my thoughts. 
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Madam Chairman and Committee Members, 

Page 1 of 2 

Thank you for your service to the State of North Dakota. You have a 
substantial time commitment to your work here in Bismarck. 

My name is Doug Sharbono, Fargo, ND. I am testifying in support of 
HB1434. I have five children, four currently living with us, and a wonderful 
wife. Two of my children are on the autism spectrum. I have been a North 
Dakotan most of my life, growing up on a grain and cattle farm in north
central North Dakota, and later educated at NDSU compliments of the 
North Dakota National Guard. I became a practicing structural engineer, 
eventually becoming involved in ownership of a small company recently 
celebrating its 50th year in continuous business . 

I support HB1434 because currently our medical insurance does not cover 
autism therapy and medical care. Our son has received some services 
through the developmental delay waiver. Even so, we have paid for some 
services out-of-pocket that were not covered by this. As an example, toilet 
training was not accomplished until age 5 with us paying specialists from 
the North Dakota Autism Center to spend a week in the bathroom with our 
son. We have also paid for treatment out of our own pocket for our 
daughter who does not have a developmental disability waiver. Her 
speech therapy, some portions of her occupational therapy, and social 
skills class has been paid out-of-pocket. We have discontinued some of 
this therapy due to cost considerations. Our insurance also does not pay 
for any ABA related therapy. 

HB1434 is a mandate for insurance providers to provide coverage for 
autism related services, specifically Applied Behavior Analysis, a science 
proven method of treatment. Mandates are nothing new to the North 
Dakota Legislature. They have historically embraced them when they 
make sense. Last session many of you supported HB 1072, legislation 
relating to insurance coverage of cancer treatment medications. North 

(Over) 
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Dakota has set minimum standards for various industries, whether 
agriculture, construction, oil, transportation, or healthcare. That some 
argue the State of North Dakota shouldn't interfere with the free market 
can be an appealing statement. However, it isn't what is actually 
practiced. That some argue we must take a free market ideological stance 
on this current issue of autism insurance reform is quite puzzling in light of 
the fact we have a beautiful State Mill and Elevator. 

The North Dakota State Mill and Elevator is a beautiful structure that 
supports the concept of "value added agriculture". Whether you agree with 
a state owned mill or not, I think we can learn some lessons from the state 
mill. We currently have a crop of children that will either be producers or 
consumers. I would prefer that they become producers, and we can 
support a concept of "value added children" by giving them the skills they 
need to be self-sufficient. With autistic children, certain therapies have 
been proven to be beneficial including ABA therapy. We think their 
medical condition of autism should be treated so these kids have the ability 
to be producers. A yes vote on HB 1434 will assist in this goal. 

I have heard the House floor arguments that if we set a floor to the 
coverage, the insurance companies will provide only that level of coverage 

• 

and no more. If we are to take those comments at face value, the current • 
floor for ABA services has historically by default been at $0, which 
correlates to the coverage of $0 offered by the insurance companies for 
ABA treatments. So, in that view, these arguments are affirmed. If 
HB 1434 does not pass, we should expect the insurance company's 
coverage for ABA services to remain at the floor of $0. 

If the insurance coverage limits on this bill are considered too low, then I 
encourage the committee to amend the coverage limits to what the 
insurance companies are supposedly proposing at the higher level. In this 
manner, this coverage is available to all children in our state with passage 
of HB1434. 

Self-insured companies are unaffected by this legislation. Whether this bill 
passes or not, the self-insured companies can choose to cover ABA 
services. Currently, 40% of these companies cover ABA therapy. 

In closing, I believe approval of HB1434 would be effective in giving our 
autistic children the tools they need to become productive, tax paying 
citizens at very little extra cost to the State of North Dakota. 

Thank you, Doug Sharbono 



TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF HOUSE BILL 1434 

INSURANCE COVERAGE FOR AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS 

March 6, 2017 

Chairman Lee, Ladies, and Gentlemen of the Senate Human Services Committee: 

My name is Holly Johnson, and I am a North Dakota Licensed Applied Behavior Analyst 
(LABA) and nationally Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA) located in Minot, ND. I have a 
bachelor's degree in Rehabilitation & Human Services and a master's degree in Applied Behavior 

Analysis and Autism. I have been working with adults and children with autism for the past 11 years. I 
currently serve people with autism and intellectual disabilities, and other developmental disabilities (who 
don't have autism) using strategies of applied behavior analysis (ABA), ranging in age from 1-82 across 
northern areas of ND. The geographical area I provide ABA services covers Williston to Devils Lake, to 
New Rockford to Watford City, and rural communities in between, including Native American 

Reservations. I work daily providing evidence-based interventions to children, adolescents, and adults 
with autism, developmental disabilities, and other related disabilities and behavioral challenges. 

My personal experience with this field and what these interventions are capable of are testimony 

to its effectiveness. I changed my career path from physical therapy to ABA because of its long-standing 
success for people with autism spectrum disorders and because of the lack of highly trained professionals 

in ND. Through my fieldwork experience and graduate education program, I learned of its success and 
benefits to a broader range of people. Not only is it an evidence-based intervention for people with 
autism, but an evidence-based practice for all disabilities and abilities. When I began in applied behavior 

analysis, there were three professionals in the state, and it was important to me to stay here to grow the 
field, and it is a commitment I continue to hold. Currently, we have 23 BCBAs, including 3 BCBA-Ds 
(doctorate level board certified behavior analysts), but the demand for more in ND is immense. My 

caseload is currently serving approximately 50 individuals, mostly through reducing problematic and 
dangerous behaviors (like self-injury, physical aggression, criminal behavior, addiction, and even sexual 
offending) that people with disabilities display in their home, community, and work environments. I serve 

school districts as well, for children with autism in public school settings and in their parents' homes. 
Testimony before mine spoke to the positive impact of providing ABA services early in life after 

an autism diagnosis, and my experience lies in providing services to those who did not receive ABA 
services in their childhood. The adults with autism I serve have longer behavior and learning histories that 
impact much of their day-to-day activities, and many times with negative, problematic, and even 
dangerous behavior(s). This in tum makes behavior change slower and more difficult to correct, but not 
impossible with ABA. The impact of missing this medically necessary and critical service early in life 
increases the long-term cost of services. I end up spending and providing a greater amount of time to 
change their behavior and teach adaptive skills, which in tum costs them, their families, the state, and 
taxpayers more money. By missing critical access to ABA at an early age, the end result is increased costs 
for my services for those individuals as adults, other professionals' services, and support professionals to 
manage these individuals as adults; which is something that could be decreased and help cut long-term 
costs. Early services through autism insurance coverage for the most empirically supported science for 
behavior that exists is imperative to long-term success. 
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As a past Board Member-at-Large (2014-2016) and current Board President (2016-present) for 

the North Dakota Association for Behavior Analysis and the ND Liaison (2016-present) for the 

Minnesota Northland Association for Behavior Analysis (MNABA) based in Minnesota, I hear first-hand 
testimony from our professionals across the state. ND is being significantly held back in bringing more 
professionals to our area due to the lack of insurance coverage for our services, especially for people and 
children with autism. Many BCBAs will go to our neighbors to the east, and start up or join private 

practices in MN that can ensure insurance coverage for this population. This is unfortunate for those of us 

practicing in the state, with a commitment to stay located here, because demand only continues to grow, 
yet there are not enough properly trained professionals (BCBAs) to keep up with demand. My current 
practice only serves those with an intellectual disability (IQ below 75), because of the lack of insurance 

coverage for ABA and autism. However, I still have to tell people with autism, especially children's 

parents, that they cannot access me, because their child does not have an intellectual disability. Many 

children with autism don't have a low IQ score, which excludes them from accessing me. Ifl didn' t have 
those professional boundaries, my caseload would be even larger. I believe, through conversations with 
other ND Licensed BCBAs, and my personal opinion, that if ND had mandated insurance coverage for 

applied behavior analysis and autism, more of us would open private practices, more BCBAs would move 

to the state because of the high demand, and more students would pursue a degree in this field and stay in 

ND. 

In closing, I would like to share with you a situation that l encounter often. I get contacted by a 
BCBA out of state, or a young professional wanting to enter the field of applied behavior analysis. I 

discuss with them the job opportunities in the state, and ultimately lose their interest after explaining the 

great demand we have does not have the insurance support to cover our interventions. Current 

professionals are reluctant to move here, and interested college students are worried about furthering their 

education with an unknown future and unknown job market. Just last week, I met with a student from 
Dickinson, who drove to Minot to meet with me in person to discuss ABA. She is currently an 

Occupational Therapist, who sees the great need for the knowledge of ABA in her practice and that part 

of the state. After breaking the news that she wouldn ' t currently be able to bill private insurers in ND, 

something she is already comfortable with as an OT, she left very certain it would not be practical for her 

to begin training, which again, leaves us with one less potential professional who has a commitment to 

stay in ND. 

I strongly support House Bill 1434, Autism Insurance Reform for North Dakota Families and ask 

that you vote in support this legislation. Thank you for your time and consideration of this significant 

matter. lfl can be of any assistance during this time of deliberation, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Sincerely, 

Ho~~s ., BCBA, LABA 

L icensed Board Certified Behavior Analyst 

Board President, North Dakota Association for Behavior Analysis (NDABA) 
Minot, ND 58701 
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March 6, 2017 

Dear Chairman Lee and Committee, 

I want to start by thanking you for your dedication and service to the state of North Dakota. I 
have always taken pride in growing up in ND and felt that I was providing my children with an 
advantage by choosing to raise them here. While I continue to feel that ND has a lot to offer it 
is been a huge disadvantage to my 2 children on the autism spectrum 45 other states mandate 
autism insurance coverage. My children need assistance to obtain skills that most of us take for 
granted. One of the most obvious examples of this occurred when my daughter was in the third 
grade. She started a new school and came home excited about 2 weeks into it because she had 
finally talked to someone at recess. I asked the obvious question that most of ask, "What was 
her name". My daughter responded "I don't know, why would I ask her that?" How many times 
do you use your own name or the name of others as a way of communicating? It was another 
realization to me of how different her world is. This is a basic skill that most children learn at a 
very young age. Specific autism services are able to break down, explain, and teach these 
everyday skills. 

My son has different needs then my daughter. He enjoys a lot of physical contact and is 
naturally strong. His need for increased physical contact is due to a sensory processing disorder 
that is frequently a part of autism. We felt wrestling was a natural fit so we signed him up. He 
loves it but it also is a source of great frustration for him because he does not understand the 
rules and how to score points. It takes someone with skills and knowledge to teach these things 
in a way that is useful to him. With assistance, wrestling has the potential to be an appropriate 
way to get his increased need for physical contact to get met instead of getting into physical 
fights with others at school. 

I have been following this bill and have heard the majority of testimony and debate associated 
with it. On the floor of the House of Representatives it was not a question of whether the 
services were needed but if a mandate should be put on insurance companies. I appreciate the 
value of less government but not at the expense of protecting citizens. Article 1 section 2 of the 
ND constitution states: Government is instituted for the protection, security and benefit of the people, 
and they have a right to alter or reform the same whenever the public good may require. 
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As a result of this we have many laws/regulations that are put into place to protect children in 
our state: children are required to wear seat belts, there are mandates that are put on 
professionals to report abuse, parents are required to bring their children to school, etc. 
Children with autism need the "protection" of the government in the form of mandated 
coverage for autism related services. The government stepping in to provide this protection for 
my children does not interfere with the rights of others. 

As a parent I am required to bring my children to school. This is very hard to do when your child 
is being restrained and put "in jail" as my son calls it. His outbursts at school are a direct result 
of not having the training needed so that he can handle being in the mainstream classroom or 
be able to let others know when he is feeling too overwhelmed to be there. Education is a basic 
right given to all citizens of the state of ND in article 8 of our constitution. Not having this 
medically necessary treatment interferes in the education of my children. 

Although autism will always be a part of their lives meaningful autism services will help them to 
reach their full potential. My family and I ask you to think logically think about the actions and 
statements made by BCBS representatives. They are spending money and time in order to 
convince the legislative body that as a private insurance company they want to give their policy 
holders more coverage then what is being asked. Historically this has not been their way of 
doing business. Please vote yes. Individuals with autism that live in North Dakota deserve the 
same quality of life that is offered in most states. 

Sincerely, 

Kristin Sharbono 
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Madam Chair and committee members, my name is Elizabeth Faust. I am the Senior 

Medical Director for Behavioral Health for Blue Cross Blue Shield North Dakota (BCBSND). 

BCBSND appreciates this opportunity to provide testimony regarding our current benefit 

coverage for autism spectrum disorders and to share our analysis of HB1434 as it relates to 

evidence-based treatment. 

Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) are believed to arise from a number of different causes, 

not yet well understood. They are frequently associated with a variety of neurological, genetic 

and behavioral health disorders, as well as intellectual disabilities. Because of the complexity 

and potential for associated problems to be present, initial assessment of an individual with 

suspected ASDs must be comprehensive and individualized in nature to include screening for 

potential conditions which may complicate treatment and long term outcome. BCBSND currently 

provides coverage for the full range of diagnostic assessments, including physical evaluations, 

specialty evaluations, psychiatric and psychological evaluations, sensory testing, imaging and 

laboratory testing that may be necessary for a comprehensive medical evaluation to fully assess 

the individual's needs. BCBSND also provides coverage for a full range of medically appropriate 

treatments including habilitative and behavior therapy for conditions identified during 

comprehensive assessment. BCBSND has not covered ABA based services in the past because 
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the scientific evidence was not sufficiently robust regarding their effectiveness for ASD 

conditions. 

Research in autism spectrum disorders has progressed ; evidence and consensus 

regarding which treatments are known to be beneficial has become far more clear over the past 

decade. There is now expert consensus regarding a number of behavioral interventions and 

practices known to be effective in the treatment of ASDs. A number of these are based on the 

principles of ABA. (The National Professional Development Center on Autism Spectrum Disorders 

currently identifies 27 evidence based practices. 12 of these are based on the principles of 

applied behavioral analysis (ABA) . 15 of these interventions are not based on ABA principles.) 

What this means, in essence, is that the evidence for use of specific interventions, including some 

specific ABA-based services, has now emerged to a "tipping point", a degree of confidence that 

warrants consideration of inclusion of these treatments into the menu of services available for 

clinicians to select from as they develop individualized treatment planning for those with ASDs. 

As a reflection of this advancement in research, evidence-based ABA services are now covered 

through the Federal Employee Benefit Program (FEP) as of January 2017. 

It is the standard of BCBSND that we consider all potential benefit additions objectively 

according to a standard process, measured against rigorous research standards and based on 

empirical studies of efficacy. We are guided by the scientific evidence and we hold all potential 

benefits to the same standard. We are committed to assuring that all of our members receive 

safe and effective treatments and that we are responsible stewards of their health care dollars. 

That includes our members who have autism spectrum disorders. We will be carefully assessing 

• 

• 



the potential benefits and premium impacts of additional benefits for ABA services, and balancing 

those according to our standard process. 

Proponents of HB1434 describe the proposed mandate as providing choice for families 

with afflicted children . In reality, HB1434 sets up a benefit with winners and losers. Large 

grandfathered employer groups are included, but non-grandfathered individual and small group 

businesses are excluded. BCBSND believes coverage should be offered as widely as possible and 

when we apply a benefit, we offer it across all of our eligible member groups. 

Proponents also say that North Dakota should be embarrassed to be one of only 5 states 

without an autism mandate. There are currently 45 states with 45 different mandates for 45 

different non-standardized, non-evidence-based approaches to ABA coverage. BCBSND believes 

North Dakota is fortunate that we do not have an ABA mandate. We have much better 

confidence today as we move forward with evaluation and development of rational benefit 

design to support evidence-based treatments for ASDs than we had a decade ago, or even five 

years ago. BCBSND goes where the evidence leads us, and we hold all potential benefits to the 

same evidentiary standards. When the clinical evidence emerges clearly, we move forward in 

our standard process for consideration of benefit additions. 

HB 1434 spells out an artificial delineation of a specific menu of services based on a 

current-state understanding of ABA-based treatments and entirely ignores the other evidence-

based behavioral treatments currently available. The bill specifies an arbitrary age delineation 

for services that is not based on current scientific evidence. As research continues to clarify 

evidence in the treatment of ASDs, it is inevitable that new treatments, population-specific best 

practices, optimal age ranges, etc., will evolve. The unintended consequence of legislation 



mandating specific treatments, specific ages, and even specific monetary maximums based on 

today's understanding of science is limiting and shortsighted. It will create barriers to the 

adoption of evidence based treatments as those evolve based on tomorrow's science. It will 

create "one size fits no one" treatment planning with under-allocation of resource for some who 

need more, and over-allocation of resource for others who may not benefit. 

BCBSND believes this mandate is unnecessary and frankly regressive. A mandate that supersedes 

evidence-based benefit design does not serve our citizens responsibly. We respectfully 

recommend that you not support moving this mandate into law. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Elizabeth Faust, M.D. 

BCBSND 

• 

• 

• 



Testimony for: 

HB 1434: Senate Human Services Committee 

March 6, 2017 

Madame Chairman Lee and members of the Senate Human Services Committee, 

I am Dr. Barbara Stanton. I am employed at Prairie St. John's as an outpatient 

therapist specializing in autism spectrum disorders (ASDs). I conduct diagnostic 

assessments, do individual and family therapy and provide consultation, collaboration 

and case management services. 

I appreciate the work that the sponsors and co-sponsors put into this bill. I appreciate 

the hard work of the advocates who are supporting this bill. I also appreciate that 

autism is again before the North Dakota legislature. I have been and will continue to be 

a strong advocate to address the significant needs of individuals on the autism spectrum 

and their families. Every day I talk to North Dakota families who are unable to access 

needed supports and services for a variety of reasons. Unfortunately, I believe this bill 

does not address most of those needs. 

I am submitting this testimony to express my concerns regarding HB 1434. My 

concerns are as follows: 

Section 1. 

Subsection la. Applied behavior analysis (ABA) is a theoretical orientation that is 

used in a number of different settings and applications. It is not one set of 

procedures or interventions. The National Professional Development Center on 

Autism Spectrum Disorder developed a list of Evidence Based Practices for 

Autism Spectrum Disorders. They identify 27 evidenced based practices. Those 

practices are approved by the North Dakota Department of Human Services for 

reimbursement. There are 6 intervention categories that are based primarily on 

the principles of ABA. There are 6 interventions that can be considered ABA or 

other theoretical applications. There are 15 interventions not based in ABA. 

How will these interventions be covered under this bill? To identify only one 
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intervention serves to limit the access to care to those for whom ABA may not be 

an effective or appropriate intervention. 

We know that those with an ASD are diverse and unique. It is important to have 

variety in the choice of interventions as we know that treatment must be eclectic 

to target the person's challenges. Some interventions are only evidence based 

for subcategories of individuals and take into account age and development. 

Providers must have the ability to utilize all interventions. 

Many who have used consequence or aversive based interventions, including 

forms of ABA, no longer considered them acceptable. One of the primary 

reasons for their paradigm shift was recognizing that alternative developmental 

interventions result in quicker and more long lasting positive behavioral changes 

tailored to the individual's specific needs. 

Applied behavior analysis is the only scientific discipline mentioned or defined in 

this bill. Other states with similar language in their mandates have found that, 

despite intent, providers are limited to this specific category of interventions. 

Lack of access to the right services is the same as a lack of access to any services 

at all. 

Subsection lb. The definition of "autism spectrum disorder" is from the 

Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM) IV TR not the latest DSM 5 edition which 

states that Autism Spectrum Disorder is a serious neurodevelopmental disorder 

that impairs a child's ability to communicate and interact with others. It also 

includes restricted repetitive behavior, interests and activities. These issues 

cause significant impairment in social, occupational and other areas of 

functioning. 

Subsection ld(2). I am not sure what is meant by the term "behavioral health 

treatment" and "counseling and treatment programs". In my profession, 

"behavioral health treatment" including counseling and other treatment 

programs is considered mental health care. This is critical to comprehensive care 
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for individuals with an ASD and their caregivers and should be provided by those ~-3 
who are educated and licensed to perform those services. This includes Licensed 

Independent Clinical Social Workers (LICSW), Licensed Professional Clinical 

Counselors (LPCC) and Licensed Marital and Family Therapists (LMFT). To limit 

the professionals providing care in a state with few qualified providers will serve 

to further limit the access of treatment to individuals with an Autism Spectrum 

Disorder (ASD). Licensed Behavior Analysts are not able to provide counseling 

even with the supervision of a psychologist. Those of us who are independently 

licensed must receive supervision in accordance with our licensure standards. 

Subsection lg. This section excludes other medical doctors, nurse practitioners 

and others who are educated and licensed to prescribe psychotropic 

medications. This will significantly limit access for individuals. 

Subsection li. The term "therapeutic care" is vague and should be defined. 

Those providing behavioral health services also use the term "therapeutic care" 

to describe their services yet those professionals are excluded from in this bill. 

Would individuals who currently have these valuable services covered in their 

insurance policies be limited to the scope of this bill? 

Subsection lj. "Treatment for autism spectrum disorder", specifically behavioral 

health care, is provided by many other professions besides physicians or 

psychologists. Licensed Independent Clinical Social Workers (LICSW), Licensed 

Professional Clinical Counselors (LPCC) and Licensed Marital and Family 

Therapists (LMFT) are trained and licensed to provide evidence based care, 

develop treatment plans, and determine medically necessary and appropriate 

services. Insurance companies recognize these professions and provide 

reimbursement for some services to individuals on the spectrum. 

Subsection 6. This bill states that there will be a maximum benefit which varies 

based on age. Age does not necessarily correlate to need. States with insurance 

mandates, including those with higher caps, consistently report that these 



amounts are inadequate. The cap listed in this bill is one of the lowest in the 

nation. 

Subsection 7. The language in this subsection is also vague. It is unclear what 

type of programming is being referred to other than ABA. How are other 

evidence based practices going to be provided/covered and who can provide 

them and supervise. In most professions supervision is typically not a 

reimbursable service covered under an insurance plan. 

Subsection8. I believe that there needs to be greater oversight than is listed. As 

a provider understand the reality of prior approval for services and welcome 

reviews so there is accountability to the child and their caregivers. I understand 

and support the need to document medical necessity. 

There should be consistency in training at a state level to insure that all providers 

are adequately qualified to provide their services to individuals with an ASD; 

whether direct care or supervision. 

Subsection 10. What will happen if the Affordable Care Act is repealed? Many of 

my current clients have relied on ACA benefits for assistance. This bill does not 

address the supports offered in the ACA that could be lost. 

Subsection 11. It is unclear what information/data will be in the report and what 

will be done with the report. 

We know that mandates are rigid and this bill is no exception. I am concerned that as 

the research into ASDs continues to expand, especially neurobiological research, we 

must have the flexibility to utilize new evidence based practices/interventions and 

those that are emerging so we are providing the best care possible. 

While I fully support the expansion of services and coverage of services for those with 

an ASD, this bill does not do that. The AMA Journal of Ethics (2015; 17, 4, pgs. 328-341) 

stated that "to create fiscally responsible action plans that focus on achieving and 

maintaining sustainable, long-term results, we must construct meaningful data sets by 
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melding evidence-based research from multiple disciplines including medicine, mental ~S' 
health, economics, accounting, sociology, policy, and law. Until silos are broken down 

and professionals in many disciplines are willing to work together in ways they perhaps 

never have before, ASD will unduly challenge the lives of patients and those who love 

and care for them." Mandates with the limitations of this one do not accomplish this. 

There are insurance plans, such and the Federal Employee Plan, that offers better 

coverage. This is what children in North Dakota deserve. 

People have said that a little is better than nothing. I do not believe that when the 

risks are so high. Without significant changes and clarifications in the language of this 

bill, inclusion of all evidence based and emerging interventions, inclusion of all providers 

who are qualified to provide treatment, and a significant increase in the cap without age 

limits this bill presents a high risk. 

Thank you for your time in consideration of my testimony. I will answer any 

questions. 



I 

Summary of Evidence Based Practices for Autism Spectrum Disorders 

There are 3 national organizations that review the literature and determine evidence based practices for 
those wit.ti ari· Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). While there are similarities, there are also differences in 
what is considered "evidence based" as determined by the strength and quality of the research . Each 
organization has their own standards. 

In order to avoid confusion the terminology must be very clear. Many experts adapt the term 
"intervention" as opposed to "therapy". 

In order to be effective there should be a gumber of elements combined within a behavior reduction or 
skill acquisition treatment plan. This can be challenging to providers. Inappropriate or ineffective 
services may not only cause delays in developing necessary skills but the use of "aversive" behavioral 
interventions or interventions that focus on compliance rather than skill development can cause lasting 
harm. 

National statistics state that 1 in 68 children meet the criteria for an Autism Spectrum Disorder. We 
know that those with an ASD are diverse and unique. It is important to have variety in the choice of 
interventions as we know that treatment must be eclectic in order to target the person's specific 
challenges. Some interventions are only evidence based for subcategories of individuals and take into 
account age and development. For example, Cognitive Behavior Therapy is evidence based for children 
age 6 -19 while Discrete Trial Training is evidence based for children ages 3 - 5 and 6 -11. 

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (2014) 

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) which is run by the US Department of Health 
and Human Services evaluated systematic reviews. One common finding is that interventions based on 
the principles of applied behavior analysis do have a track record of effectiveness when incorporated in 
a well-designed program for individuals who are on the autism spectrum. A well-designed program 
requires professionals to implement the framework of evidence-based practices. The framework 
includes research findings, professional judgment, values and preferences of the parents/care 
providers/individual on the spectrum, and the ability a parent/care provider/educators/practitioners to 
correctly implement an intervention. Without an intervention provided with integrity even a well
designed program is the useless. Capacity also must be considered with regard to the modality of 
treatment (individual, family, or group), whether or not parents/caregivers can implement the 
intervention in home, and is there adequate time and money to implement an intervention 
appropriately. 

National Standards Project (2015) 

In Phase 2 of the National Standards Project done by the National Autism Center, categories of 
established interventions, emerging interventions, and unestablished interventions are listed. 

Established interventions for individuals under age 22 include: 

Behavioral interventions * 
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Cognitive behavioral interventions ** 
Comprehensive behavioral treatment for young children *** 
Language training 
Modeling 
Natural teaching strategies 
Parent training, pier training 
Pivotal response training 
Schedules 
Scripting 
Self-management 
Social skills package 
Story based interventions. 

* Behavioral interventions include several subcategories of interventions. Most of them are not "stand 
alone" evidence-based interventions. Some may have four or more identified components. Some of 
these components maybe based in theoretical foundation of applied behavior analysis and some may 
not. 

* *Cognitive behavioral interventions are typically what you would consider in a traditional therapy 
session . It will need to be modified for individuals with an ASD. There are some manual lysed packages 
that maybe you specifically with those with an ASD. 

***Comprehensive behavioral treatment for young children is typically what we think of with intensive 
service delivery, typically 25-40 hours per week for 2-3 years, and are based on the principles of applied 
behavior analysis. Comprehensive behavioral treatment also includes a range of interventions to target 
specific essential skills which define or are associated with an ASD. These interventions can include 
discrete trial teaching, incidental teaching, shaping, modeling and other interventions derived from ABA. 
These interventions are considered effective for children under age 9. 

The other interventions listed above are not considered to be derived from ABA. 

There are currently 18 interventions that are considered to be emerging. Studies suggest that they may 
produce favorable outcomes but there needs to be additional high-quality studies that consistently 
show their effectiveness for individuals who are on the autism spectrum. 

There are 13 interventions consider to be unestablished. However, some of these interventions such as 
DIR and Floortime are being used consistently and effectively in many programs in other states. Other 
reviews include them in evidence based/emerging interventions. Special education teachers in the 
Fargo public school district are trained in Social Thinking interventions even though it is considered to be 
unestablished. 

Best Practice Review r'iroup 

The Evidence - Best P ·actices for Children, Youth, and Young Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder was 
compiled by the Autism Evidence - Best Practice Review Group at the University of North Carolina. 

They list the following as evidence-based practices: 

.,. ........ 
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Antecedent based intervention 
Functional communication 
Parent implemented intervention 
Picture exchange communication system 
Pivotal response training 
Prompting 
Response interruption/redirection 
Scripting 

incom~atible or other behavio 

Interventions can be derived from ABA principles and/or other theories 
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Testimony on HB 1434 

Health Insurance Coverage for Autism Related Services 

Senate Human Services Committee 

March 6, 2017 

Chairman Lee and members of the Senate Human Services Committee, I am Dan 

Hannaher, Senior Legislative Affairs Specialist with Sanford Health. I'm here today 

to provide neutral testimony on House Bill 1434 related to Health Insurance 

Coverage for Autism related services. 

In North Dakota, Sanford Health Plan covers medical services for kids with autism 

including {but not limited to) physical therapy, occupational therapy and speech 

therapy services as well as psychology and psychiatric services. Sanford Health 

Plan operates in other states where ABA services for autism is already mandated, 

some with restrictions on age limits and dollar limits. We will continue to monitor 

the impact ABA services has on the populations we serve in North Dakota. 

Sanford Health Plan has been evaluating ABA services using professionals who are 

board-certified in ABA, and we have some preliminary ideas about program 

design for insurance coverage. We continue to analyze evidence-based medicine 

whose effectiveness has been demonstrated in a convincing body of well

designed studies. Before we build the cost of new services into our benefit plans 

for all members to pay, we must ensure the services {procedures, drugs, and 

technologies) improve health outcomes of the patient, such as length of life, 

quality of life and functional ability. 

Thank you, Chairman Lee and committee members. I will stand for questions or 

at least endeavor to find answers to any inquiries . 
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To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Judy Lee <judylee1822@gmail.com> 
Saturday, March 04, 2017 12:27 PM 
NOLA, S HMS - Johnson, Marne 
FW: HB 1434 Employee Benefits Committee 2017.docx 
HB 1434 Employee Benefits Committee 2017.docx 

CAUTION: This email originated from an outside source. Do not click links or open attachments unless you know they 
are safe. 

Marne-
Please make copies of this testimony for all of us, along with Dr. Faust's message explaining it. 

From: Lisa Faust [mailto : 
Sent: Saturday, March 4, 2017 12:13 PM 
To: Judy Lee <judylee1822@gmail.com> 
Subject: HB 1434 Employee Benefits Committee 2017.docx 

Hi Senator Lee, 
Thank you for taking time out of your hectic weekend to chat with me today. As promised, I am 
attaching my testimony that Blue Cross submitted regarding 1434 when it was before Employee 

fits. Just for clarity, this commentary was regarding the version of the bill containing 
age attempting to exempt from the PERS pilot requirement, and also claimed "this is not a 

mandate", both of which were subsequently removed. 
Best regards, 
Lisa 
Confidentiality Notice: This communication and any attachments are for the sole use of the intended 
recipient(s) and may contain confidential and privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure, 
distribution or copying is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient(s), please contact the sender by 
replying to this e-mail and destroy/delete all copies of this e-mail message. 
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Employee Benefits Committee 
HB 1434 

January 27, 2017 

Madam Chair and committee members, my name is Elizabeth Faust. I am the Senior Medical 

Director for Behavioral Health for Blue Cross Blue Shield North Dakota (BCBSND). BCBSND 

appreciates the opportunity to provide this committee with information regarding its current 

benefit coverage for autism and share our analysis of HB 1434 as it relates to evidence-based 

treatment. 

Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) are believed to arise from a number of different causes, none 

of which are yet well understood. They are frequently associated with a variety of neurological, 

genetic and behavioral health disorders, as well as intellectual disabilities. Because of the 

complexity and the potential for associated medical, psychiatric and intellectual problems to be 

present, initial assessment of an individual with suspected ASDs must be comprehensive and 

individualized in nature and include screening for potential neurological, genetic, psychiatric and 

medical conditions which may complicate treatment and long term outcome. BCBSND currently 

provides coverage for the full range of diagnostic assessments, including physical evaluations, 

specialty evaluations, psychiatric and psychological evaluations, sensory testing, imaging and 

laboratory testing that may be necessary for a comprehensive medical evaluation. BCBSND also 

provides coverage for a full range of medically appropriate treatments including occupational 

therapy, physical therapy, speech therapy and behavior therapy for conditions identified during 

comprehensive assessment. 

House Bill 1434 creates an unnecessary requirement for availability of this full range of services 

which are already basic components of our members' benefit plans. The introduction of such 

narrow and artificially specific requirements will potentially hamper or obstruct future access of 

our members to treatments that may emerge and become evidence based but are not yet 

anticipated or developed. 

As research into autism spectrum disorders has progressed, evidence and consensus regarding 

which treatments are known to be beneficial is becoming more clear. There is now expert 

consensus regarding a number of interventions and practices known to be effective in the 

treatment of ASDs. The National Professional Development Center on Autism Spectrum 

Disorders currently identifies 27 evidence based practices, some of which are based on the 

principles of applied behavioral analysis (ABA). Of note, 15 of these interventions are not based 

on ABA principles. 



As a reflection of this advancement of research, outcome studies, and expert consensus in the 

treatment of ASDs, the Federal Employee Plan (FEP), which is administered by BCBS, with the 

assessment completed by an MD such as a Family Practice, Pediatrician, Psychiatrist, has now 

incorporated the use of specific evidence-based ABA interventions for the treatment of ASDs into 

the FEP benefit plan as of 01/01/17. FEP is widely regarded as a "gold standard" in terms of 

evidence-based benefit design. BCBSND is following suit with development of ABA benefits that 

will mirror the FEP benefit design for inclusion across the BCBSND commercial lines of business. 

What this means, in essence, is that the evidence for use of specific interventions, including 

specific ABA-based procedures, has now emerged to a "tipping point", a degree of confidence 

that warrants inclusion of these treatments into the menu of treatments and services available 

for clinicians to select from as they develop individualized treatment planning for individuals with 

ASDs. 

Although HB 1434 specifically states that it is not a mandate, there is clearly an artificial 

delineation of a specific menu of services based on a current-state understanding of ABA-based 

treatments and entirely ignoring the other evidence-based behavioral treatments currently 

available. The bill specifies an arbitrary age delineation for services that is not based on current 

scientific evidence. As research continues to clarify evidence in the treatment of ASDs, it is 

inevitable that new treatments, population-specific best practices, optimal age ranges, etc., will 

evolve. The unintended consequence of legislation mandating specific treatments, specific ages, 

and even specific monetary maximums based on today's understanding of science is limiting and 

shortsighted. It will create barriers to the adoption of evidence based treatments as those evolve 

based on tomorrow's science. 

We are also greatly concerned with Section 2 and 3 of this bill, which states that this bill is not a 

mandate and therefore not be subject to section 54-03-28, which requires that the public 

employee's retirement system would conduct a cost/benefit analysis on the ABA treatment 

coverage included in the bill for a two-year trial. This bill clearly mandates coverage of ABA up 

to age 26, with significant cost implications to the state. The two-year cost/benefit analysis has 

proven to be a highly beneficial requirement and the removal of this section runs contrary to the 

desire to hold health care costs down for North Dakota taxpayers. 

I greatly appreciate the opportunity to share this information with your committee as you seek 

solutions on these challenging issues. Please feel free to contact me with any additional 

questions you may have. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Dr. Lisa Faust 

• 
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Lee, Judy E. 
Saturday, March 04, 2017 12:20 PM 

To: -Grp-NOLA Senate Human Services; NOLA, S HMS - Johnson, Marne; NOLA, Intern 02 -
Arendt, Ian 

Subject: 

Senator Judy Lee 
1822 Brentwood Court 
West Fargo, ND 58078 
home phone: 701-282-6512 
e-mail : jlee@nd.gov 

From: Rachel Haman [mailto 

FW: Yes on HB 1434 

Sent: Saturday, March 4, 2017 8:25 AM 
To: Lee, Judy E.<jlee@nd.gov> 
Subject: Yes on HB 1434 

CAUTION: This email originated from an outside source. Do not click links or open attachments unless you know they 
are safe. 

Senator, 

I write this letter in regards to the ND House Bill 1434 that involves insurance coverage for applied behavior 
therapy (ABA) for children with Autism. I have worked in the ND public schools for the past 9 years, previously 
in Mandan and now West Fargo, serving a variety of ages and disability areas. A significant portion of my time 
has been working in Early Childhood Special Education (ECSE) classrooms as a Speech Language Pathologist. I 
choose to work with the preschool population because I strongly believe and advocate for early intervention 
for our preschooler students. 

I have spent my career learning, researching, and implementing the best practices available in terms of speech 
therapy and various curriculum or programs. This year, I have had an amazing opportunity to gain exposure to 
a treatment that is relatively new to me, Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA). I have been extremely fortunate to 
collaborate with two Board Certified Behavior Analysts, one within the school district and one contracted from 
the North Dakota Autism Center to assist our school team in completing intensive functional 
behavior assessments and positive behavior support plans for our students with the most intensive needs. 

Currently, the West Fargo School District pays for consultation for two of my students from Chelsea Evenstad, 
a Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA) from the ND Autism Center. This woman's skillset and what she can 
do with behavior and programming for children with Autism is truly remarkable! There are a multitude of 
research articles you can read to support the evidence-base of ABA in your own time, but when you have the 
chance to see this approach be successful right in front of your eyes, with children you have attempted 

intervention you can think of ... that is when you know the research is REAL LIFE! 

1 
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i1'A the programing they develop for our students. One of these tools is the Verbal Behavior Milestones 
f"..1·1 Assessment and Placement Program (VB-MAPP). Our consulting BCBA, Chelsea, assists in providing the • 

assessment and designing specific programming for each student. The VB-MAPP programming focuses on 
teaching the foundational skills that many children with autism have not acquired. It is not 
easy. Nevertheless, behavior analysts write these intensive detailed programs using small stepping-
stones with consistent prompting, reinforcement, task analysis, and errorless learning. This is all a part of ABA 
therapy. 

Both of my students receiving this programming have make huge improvements over the short time they have 
had access to it this school year. One child, in particular, has had his day changed 
from continuous wandering, climbing, refusal, dropping to the ground, fleeing the classroom and some self
injurious behavior to an intensely structured day. Due to this structure, he does not have 
many opportunities to have those "behavior" moments, and instead he is engaged with staff who are teaching 
him individualized play skills, imitation, functional language, and even sitting at a table do complete "work and 
therapy tasks." 

I know in my heart that this is what early intervention is all about, and I only wish that more families could 
access this support and service. By tackling this behavior at such a young age, we are allowing children to 
achieve so much more over the course of their development. 

Please consider a YES vote on ND House Bill 1434. 

Sincerely, 
Rachel Haman 
Speech Language Pathologist at West Fargo Public Schools 
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PREFACE 

This supplemental actuarial report from Acumen Actuarial dated February 26, 2017 is an addendum to 

our original actuarial report issued on February 2, 2017 titled "Actuarial Analysis of HB 1434". In the 

original report, Acumen presented its findings and conclusions relative to the original version of HB 

1434. 

In this addendum, Acumen Actuarial presents its findings related to the revisions to HB 1434 proposed 

February 9, 2017 by the North Dakota Legislative Council. These revisions are contained in "First 

Engrossment, Engrossed House Bill Number HB 1434." 



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The modificat ions to the original bill are not extreme; however, they are expected to have a small but 

material impact on the expected average cost of the autism spectrum disorder mandate originally 

proposed in the initial version of HB 1434. 

There are two fundamental modifications to the original bill that may affect the expected average claims 

cost for 2017-1) the limitation of ASD benefits to children up to age 19 rather than to age 26, and 2) 

the reduction in the amount of annual Applied Behavioral Analysis (ABA) maximums depending on age

bracket. 

In the initial year of the mandate, 2017, the revised HB 1434 could be expected to cost approximately 

5% less than the original bill . The range of expected cost reduction relative to the original is 0% to 15%. 

The expected average claim cost for 2017 was $0.61 PMPM under the original bill. This becomes $0.58 

PMPM under the revised bill. 

With the cost of administrative services added, the original cost estimate was $0.71 PMPM . Under the 

revised bill, it is $0.67 PMPM, with rounding. 

It is not the author' s intention to imply a false sense of precision. The direction of the cost change is 

known; the exact magnitude is not. The revisions to the mandate are not expected to increase the cost. 

However, the extent to which they decrease the cost relative to the original is uncertain. 

The cost reduction from the original to the revised version of HB 1434 could be described as small but 

material. As previously mentioned in the original report, the annual maximum on ABA services may 

have some sentinel effect and limit utilization that would have otherwise exceeded the revised 

maximums. That is to say the annual ABA maximums may function as a deterrent to ABA utilization, 

especially the lower maximums for children of older ages-7 through 13 years of age, and 14 through 

age 18. 

• 

• 

• 



CONTENT and CONCLUSION 

As it pertains to Acumen's original cost estimate, there are two fundamental revisions to HB 

1434 in the First Engrossment that may affect the future cost: 

1. The first change to consider is the limitation of the ASD mandate to children less than 19 

years of age. (The original version covered children less than age 26.) 

2. The second fundamental change is the revision in the annual benefit maximum that 

applies to Applied Behavior Analysis services. (In the original version, an annual ABA 

maximum of $50,000 for ABA services was applicable to children up to age 26.) In the 

revised version of HB 1434, the ABA annual maximum is as follows: 

a. $36,000 for children less than age 7 

b. $25,000 for children from age 7 through age 13 

c. $12,500 for children from age 14 through age 18. 

The revised bill stipulates that the annual maximum cannot be less than these amounts, but it 

does not preclude insurers from establish ing their own annual maximums for ABA services that 

exceed the amounts shown. Whether any insurers will choose to cover more than the ABA 

maximums shown is unknown at this time, but in the past, health insurers have tended not to 

exceed annual statutory maximums for specific benefits. 

In Acumen's original report, the average expected cost of the original version of HB 1434 was 

$0.61 PMPM for initial year 2017 claim cost. Given the revisions in the First Engrossment, 

Acumen expects the 2017 initial year cost would be approximately 0% to 15% less than the 

original estimate. Acumen's point estimate is an expected 5% reduction to the original cost

estimate. This projected cost differential is an approximation . It reduces the original $0.61 

PMPM claims cost to $0.58 PMPM in the revised bill. (The original cost-estimate in Acumen's 

original report was described as approximate and not a guarantee that the actual future cost 

would be exactly the same as the cost-estimate. The cost estimate of the revision is also.) 

The expected average cost of the original bill with administrative cost added was $0.71 PMPM. 

Acumen's estimate for the cost of the revised bill with administrative cost is $0.67 PMPM with 

rounding. 

In both cases, the expected reduction in cost is approximately three or four cents. While it is 

clear that the cost of the revised bill should not be greater than the original, the extent to which 

it is less than the original is quite difficult to ascertain with certitude. 

The logic behind this estimate reflects the fact that ASD services tend to be utilized more by 

younger children with ASD than older children and young adults. There is insufficient data to 

ca lculate the cost reduction with pinpoint precision. However, reducing the age to which the 



ASD mandate applies and reducing the amounts of the ABA annual maximums will certainly not 

increase the future cost. The extent to which these revisions will reduce the cost relative to the 

original is unclear. It is possible that no children over 18 and less than 26 would have received 

ASD care if the original version of HB 1434 would have been implemented. If that were the 

case, the reduction in the cost would be 0%. However, on a state-wide basis, it is possible that 

some children from age 19 up to age 26 would have utilized ASD services if the original bill were 

implemented. 

Concerning the reductions in the annual maximum from $50,000 to : 

a. $36,000 for children less than age 7 

b. $25,000 for children from age 7 through age 13 

c. $12,500 for children from age 14 through age 18. 

Under the original bill, some children may have received more ABA services than these revised 

maximums but less than the original $50,000. Data was provided by North Dakota's Autism 

Registry for the original actuarial report. It showed that symptoms of ASD tend to be noticed at 

a very young age, and only 3% of children with ASD had their symptoms first noticed after age 

20. 84% were first noticed before age 4. Although the data was limited, 2 years was the 

median age at which ASD symptoms were first noticed, and 7 years of age was the median age 

of diagnosis. 

The organization Autism Speaks reports that ABA techniques are effective for building 
important life skills in teens and adults with autism. They also report that there are many 
unknowns concerning the benefits of intensive ABA programs for teens and adults. ASD and 
ABA programs for younger children seem to be better studied in the academic literature than 
those for teens and adults. While many experts agree that behavior is easier to modify in 
young children, many programs nonetheless assert that ABA is effective for older children . 
Hence, it is difficult to say whether the maximums for each age-bracket are consistent with 
current ABA utilization levels or whether older children will more frequently have their ABA 
services limited by the revised annual maximums under the First Engrossment. 

By using a regressive approach to the annual maximums for ABA by age-bracket, there may be 

increased pressure on ASD providers and professionals to diagnose earlier, and parents and 

families may seek ABA treatment earlier. When all children with ASD can receive up to 

$50,000 of ABA services at any age prior to 26, as under the original version of the bill, there is 

less pressure for parents and families to obtain ABA treatment before the child ages into the 

next age-bracket with a lower maximum. The tendency to diagnose and treat earlier is not 

expected to occur instantly in year one, but it may increase over the first several years of the 

mandate as families and providers become accustomed to it. 

If there are children whose ABA is limited by the annual maximum, it is more likely that it will 

be those who are 7 to 10 and 14 to 16. These are children at the younger end of these two age 

brackets. This assumes that the number of hours of ASA used per child per year declines with 

• 

• 



age from age 5 to 26, which is consistent with the limited data and information about ABA use. 

Similarly, in terms of total hours of ASD services used per year, the annual use of ASD services 

in general is likely greater for children less than 10 years of age than those over 20, which is 

also consistent with the limited data and information about the use of ASD services. 

One thing is clear: It would be inappropriate to estimate the reduced cost of the revised bill by 

simply scaling down the original estimate to reflect the two fundamental changes (reduced age 

and reduced annual ABA maximums by age-bracket) . This would overstate the value of the cost 

reduction stemming from the revisions contained In the First Engrossment. Assuming a 

uniform distribution of children by age, the limitation to age 19 alone may reduce the number 

of eligible children and young adults by 27%, but it would not cut cost by the same amount. 

[ - 27% = (19 / 26) -1 ]. Again, those in the age 19 through 25 bracket are expected to 

use fewer ASD services and ABA annually than younger children. Hence, a 27% reduction is 

unlikely. Based on the ND PERS data provided for Active employees and dependents, the 

number of children to age 19 represent 69.3% of the children to age 26, which is 30.7% 

reduction. This 69% is slightly lower than the 73% because there are slightly more children in 

the 19 through 25 age range, especially ages 24 and 25. This demographic 'bump" could be a 

consequence of the fact that it is more cost-effective to keep children on the parents' policy to 

age 26 than for the children to buy their own separate individual coverage. 

One other issue to note with the revised version of HB 1434 (as described in the First 

Engrossment) is interstate equity. This was not discussed in the original report from Acumen 

Actuarial, but since the parameters of the revised HB 1434 were taken from South Dakota 

legislation, North and South Dakota's ASD benefits will be equivalent. This would eliminate the 

incentive for parents of children with ASD to relocate from one state to another in order to 

obtain significantly more generous ASD benefits in one state than another. It is unclear if and 

to what extent this is already happening from state to state. There are so many other factors 

that come into play when it comes to interstate family relocation that it seems unlikely that it 

plays a material role in the cost of the mandate itself. 

The cost estimate in this supplemental report is an adjustment to the cost estimate in the 

original report. In so doing, the margin of error is increased. Projecting the cost change 

produced by the revisions to HB 1434 in the First Engrossment requires some mathematical 

hair-splitting. We can be confident that the two fundamental revisions to HB 1434 reduce the 

cost of the original bill slightly, but we cannot determine exactly how much. The estimated 

reduction of 5% is reasonable . Although the original cost of HB 1434 is less than $1.00 PMPM, 

this 5% reduction cannot be ignored as entirely immaterial or de minimis. Hence the analysis 

in this supplemental report. Nonetheless, the 5% reduction is, in fact, small, and it amounts to 

pennies per person per month when spread over all insureds. 



LIMITATIONS OF USE AND QUALIFICATIONS 

This supplemental actuarial report is intended for the state of North Dakota for the purpose of 

its evaluation of the revised legislation under HB 1434 as described in the First Engrossment 

dated February 9, 2017 . It provides an estimate of the uncertain future cost of ASD services to 

be provided under the revised version HB 1434 relative to the cost of the original version. This 

supplemental report is not intended as a stand-alone report. It is a supplement to the report 

issued February 2, 2017 by Acumen Actuarial; that original report concerns the original version 

of HB 1434. 

The use and discussion of this document is limited to North Dakota and Acumen Actuarial. This 

supplemental report is not to be used for any other application or purpose. It was developed 

specifically for the state of North Dakota as it applies to the actuarial evaluation of the revised 

version of HB 1434 at this point in time. It is intended for use in conjunction with the original 

report. The contents of this report are not intended for any other use or purpose. If the 

distribution of this report is not prohibited by public records law, this report should not be 

distributed to third parties without Acumen's prior permission. Like the original report, this 

supplemental report shall be released only in whole, and it shall not be released in part to any 

party. 

This review is limited in time and scope. It is not a guarantee that ND's future actual ASD 

services cost under HB 1434 will equal those shown in this report . This report does not 

recommend a specific course of action. The intent of this review and supplemental report is to 

provide objective facts and findings that the state of ND Legislative Council can use to evaluate 

the revised version of HB 1434 with respect to the expected future cost and use of ASD services 

in private health insurance as required under the bill. It is not a legal opinion and does not 

provide legal advice on matters of law pertaining to the legislation. 

I, Daniel Bailey, am a consulting health actuary and owner of Acumen Actuarial LLC. I am a 

fellow of the Society of Actuaries and member of the American Academy of Actuaries, and in 

good standing with both organizations. I meet the Qualification Standards to render the 

opinion contained herein. If you have questions, please contact me at bailey-d-l@comcast.net . 

My office phone is 860-986-4052. 

Daniel Bailey, FSA, MAAA 
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Dear Senators-

I hope this email finds you well. I'm sure you are very busy now, so I won't take much of your 
time. Today I want to talk to you about the Autism Insurance Reform for the State of North 
Dakota. We have submitted a bill , HB 1434, and would like to reach out to you and ask for your 
support in our efforts to provide medically necessary therapies for our population with Autism. 

My daughter recently benefitted from a clinic (Sanford) in Fargo to address a feeding disorder. It 
was very successful for us but we had to separate our family for 7 weeks while my daughter and 
I lived in Fargo to receive this care. Not all families would be able to do this. See her picture 
below. Amelia is 10 years old and is a nonverbal autistic child. 

This therapy is the only one of its ABA kind that I've found in my research that is covered and it 
took our doctor to have a special arrangement with BCBS and Sanford. We waited under this 
doctor's care for many years to be able to be one of the first 12 children to go through this 
program. She went from eating only 3 foods to now over 30!! Without this intensive program, 
her health, brain growth and probably her life would have been compromised as she became an 
adult. 

Programs like this need to be funded by insurance companies in order for families to keep 
themselves out of bankruptcy. We all have a responsibility to our communities to get our 
children help when they are young and as they grow. These children need to become positive 
members of society because if the help is not there, they could become a challenge as adults in 
this world. 

We need your help to move this forward on a pace that gets 
children the help they need now, not "down the road". Thank 
you for support and for taking the time to read my email. We 
really appreciate all you do. 

Donna and Rolan Bye 

Minot, ND 
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Bringing 
Meaningful z 

Autism Insurance 
Coverage to 
North Dakota 

What is Autism? 

• Autism and autism spectrum disorder 
(ASD) are both general terms for a group 
of complex disorders of brain 
development. 

• Autism affects a person's communication 
abilities and social skills, and often 
causes repetitive patterns of behavior 
and a narrow range of interests. 

• Its symptoms range from mild to severe. 



Severity is judged by 
amount of support one ' 
needs due to social 
communication 
impairments and 
restricted, repetitive 
patterns of behavior 

/ 

Autism Spectrum 
Disorder 

(The umbrella disorder in 
the DSM-V) 

Level3 
Requiring very 

substantial support 

Level2 
Requiring 

substantial support 

Level1 
Requiring support 

Severe impairments 
in functioning as a 

result of severe 
deficits. 

Marked deficits in 
functioning even with 

support in place 

Noticeable 
impairments in 

functioning 

Diagnosing Autism 

• The American Academy of Pediatrics 
recommends screening every child for 
autism at their 18 and 24 month 
checkups. 

• Autism is diagnosed by a physician; 
usually by a developmental 
pediatrician, pediatric neurologist or 
team of developmental specialists. 

* 
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Treatment 

Early diagnosis and treatment are critical to a 
positive outcome for individuals with an autism 
spectrum disorder (ASD) 

Treatment is prescribed by a licensed physician or .a. 
licensed psychologist: ;a; 

Behavioral health treatment, including 
Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) Therapy 

Speech, Occupational and Physical Therapy 

Psychological, Psychiatric, and 
Pharmaceutical Care 

--- ________________________ _JI 

Jun., 20, ZUU 

Tc, 1!1n,,,:,y of 
\'l!r-~ r . Tall Ml>, fAAP 

i\m..rlc;in AcadtelDY of r edl.il rln 

S11b~umml1ltt u11 r~nv1111tl. 
S.-11 art Armed ScrvkN Comm!lttt 

_..., .. ., ...... ,., ....... 
GO\U;o.1« .. ,,-..,s.. .. , , 

0 "0pt!m1zlng medical care and therapy can have a 
positive impact on the hab!l!tatlve progress and 
quality ofl!fe for the child. Medically necessary 
treatments ameliorate or manage symptoms, 
improve functioning, and/ or prevent 
deterioration. Thus, In addition to routine 
preventive care and treatment of acute illnesses, 
children with ASDs also require management of 
sleep problems, obsessive behaviors, hygiene and 
self-care skills , eating a healthy diet, and l!m!tlng 
self-!nJurious behaviors. 

"Effective medical care and treatment may also 
allow a child with ASD to benefit more optimally 
from therapeutic Interventions. Therapeutic 
Interventions, Including behavioral strategies and 
hab!l!tative therapies, are the cornerstones of care 
for ASDs. These Interventions address 
communication, social skills, daily-11v1ng skills, play 
and leisure skills, academic achievement, and 
behavior." 
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Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) 

• ABA is the most commonly prescribed 
evidence-based treatment for ASD 

• Decades of research demonstrate the 
effectiveness of ASA therapy for autism 

• Many insurers still deny coverage for 
ABA based on the assertion that ABA 
therapy is "experimental. " This 
assertion is simply not supported by 
science 

/1m~:ZU,lUl1 

Testimunyor 
v,m1 f . Tall MO, FAAP 

Onbch..Jfoflh~ 
American Aademy or Pedl,trln 

Subc11mmllt rc 011 f',nonn cL 
Sen.le Armnl Scnkn Cummlll~ 

A nwrican Ac:.1c.k·nw 1.2:S 
uf Pediatric-. ~ 

• "An example of a demonstrated, 
effective treatment for ASD is Applied 
Behavior Analysis, or ABA ABA uses 
behavioral health principles to increase 
and maintain positive adaptive behavior 
and reduce negative behaviors or .&. 
narrow the conditions under which they iillii 
occur. ABA can teach new skills, and 
generalize them to new environments 
or situations. ABA focuses on the 
measurement and objective evaluation 
of observed behavior in the home, 
school, and community . " 

-- ••M•_ ,.,,,_...,,.., • ou""-"'-''....,"' I\NI;> 
fCllttl,l<N_,, ... , 1,.t,•:,C....,. , W,,,. ......... ~l~ 

l~. IWJK.~<il • I ff,.-. ... ,i..tl!>"•""' 
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JuneZ0, 2012 

Testimony of 
Vern F. Tall MD, FAAI' 

Onbuha!fofthe 
An1erlcanAcitdtn1yofl'edlalriu 

Seforcthe 
Subcommlt1n 11 11 rcNtmntL 
S.-ult· Armed St ~ "kc1 Commlu« 

Amtrkan Ac:ad(•n w 
ol P(·d iatrics · 

• "ASD is a medical/ 
neurodevelopmental condition with 
behavioral symptoms that are 
directly addressed by applied 
behavior analysis methods. ABA has 
proved effective in addressing the 
core symptoms of autism as well 
as developing skills and improving : 
and enhancing functioning in · 
numerous areas that affect the 
health and well-being of people with 
ASD." 

,._,;,,..,,..-.,, . .. ,.. ...... , , 0. ............ - , .. . , ..... r.c, n.,.l.l.,_ ,.,....,,..c,c._,. . ...,,,..,.,_x ,:c,Y. 
... lo00. U 0 .1H1 • !· - •. o.wl• .. •• • ... G-1 

June ZO, 101~ 

Tl•1.hmonyof 
Vtir" f . Tal l Ml>, FAAP 

On bt.'11 ,ilfufUlc 
Aml"rlun Academy of Pedi;ilrln 

Before: th~ 
Subcummil1rc un l'rr1<mn cL 
S,,ulf Armnl 'i-t'nk.'t"! Cumml llt't" 

• "The effectiveness of ABA-based 
interventions in ASDs has been well 
documented through a long history of 
research in university and community 
settings. Children who receive early 
intensive behavioral treatment have 
been shown to make substantial gains 
in cognition, language, academic 
performance, and adaptive behavior 
as well as some measures of social 
behavior, and their outcomes have 
been significantly better than those of 
children in control groups ." 

5 



Outcome of Lovaas 1987 UCLA Study 
Efficacy of ABA Therapy 

Control Group ABA Group 

e Achieved Normal IQ Did Not Achieve Normal IQ 

• 
Outcome of Lovaas 1987 UCLA Study 

Educational Placement for Group that Received ABA 

e Mainstreamed with No Support 
e Low-Intensity Special Education Placement (for language delay) 

High-Intensity Special Education Placement (for autism or intellectual disability) 
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ABA endorsements 

United States Surgeon General {1999) [-

Th~ty Y•= of researeh demoMteated the ,moeoy of applied 
ehavioral m ethods in reducing inappropriate behavior and in 

increasing communication, learning, and appropr iat e social 
; behavior." 
! 

• 

• 

• 

The U.S. Office of Pers onnel Management {2012) 

"The OPM Benefit Review Panel recently evaluated the status 
of Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) for children with autism. 
Previously, ABA was considered to be an educational 
intervention and not covered under the FEHB Program. The 
.Panel concluded that there is now sufficient evidence to 
categorize ABA as medical therapy. Accordingly, plans may 
propose benefit packages which include ABA. ·· 

Facing Financial Reality 

According to a 2007 study conducted by the Harvard 
School of Public Health, it costs approximately $3.2 million 
to take care of an autistic person over his or her lifetime. 

The Ganz 2007 Harvard study also found that caring for allZ 
people with autism over their lifetimes costs an estimated 
$35 billion per year in direct and indirect costs . 

Estimated lifetime cost savings of providing appropriate 
treatment are $1 million per child (Jacobsen et al, 1998) 
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State Response 

2017 

45 states now require coverage of autism treatment, 
Including applied behavior analysis. 

• 

u, 
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United States Department 
of Defense 

Tricare provides meaningful 
autism coverage for both 
active duty and retired 
military personnel, including .a. 
behavioral health treatment .a; 
like applied behavior 
analysis. 

a . . 

What about the nation's 
largest employer? 

• The Office of Personnel Management, which manages the 
Federal Employees Health Benefits Program (FEHP) has 
directed its carriers to cover applied behavior analysis 
(ABA) starting January I, 2017. 

• The FEHB program is the nation's largest employer
sponsored health benefits program, covering 8.2 million 
federal employees, retirees and dependents. 

"We expect all carriers to offer clinically 
appropriate and medically necessary 

treatment for children diagnosed with ASD." 
OPM Letter to Carriers Dated February 26, 2016 
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In States with Autism 
Insurance Reform ... 

• People who have never before been able to 
receive treatment are making remarkable 
progress. 

• Providers have joined adequate networks of 
participating providers and negotiated 
satisfactory reimbursement rates. 

• The impact on premiums has been negligible. 

Cost of Coverage 
If the out of pocket cost of treatment can be as 
high as $60,000 per child per year, how can 
the reported claims data be so low? 

• Autism is a spectrum and treatment is 
individualized based on the severity and 
individual needs of the affected 
individual. 

• Utilization of benefits is not 100% 

* 

10 

1434 
lit 
}Ali 

• 



• 

I 

• 
Ii, 

f 
18 

Utilization 
• Of the estimated number of affected individuals, 

how many access treatment? 

• Disease Prevalence '* Treated Prevalence 

• Based on claims data collected by Autism Speaks, z 
estimated benefit utilization is 30-50%. (Minnesota 
providers report 20%.) 

• Contributing factors? 
undiagnosed individuals 
parent choice 
higher functioning 
socioeconomic status 

Projected vs Actual Costs 

• Actual Cost • Fiscal Note from State Legislature 

~;,=7~ ~...,,,,,,, 
$15,000,000 c!v-::;. TotalCllims 

FlscalNot.from Dm91'9nC•ln 
p,ojectadv..-.us 81SL9gl1lature 

actualeo&l 

$13,500,000 SSSE,369 $10.590,000 1.23N ...... c. .... 
$2,042,394 $10,590,000 519o/. 

$12,000,000 $722,828 $2,118.307 2113'1,, ,_ 
$722.826 $2,686.796 372% 

$10,500,000 $473,818 $2,500,000 528"'-

S9,000,000 Arlrona 
S473.818 $4 ,900,000 1,034'1~ 

S388.662 $2.500.000 643o/. 

$7,500,000 
$388,662 $4,900,000 1,21i l~·. 

$6,000.000 

$4.500,000 

$3,000,000 

$1 ,500,000 

$0 

SC SC LA LA AZ AZ AZ AZ 
year! year2 year 2 year2 year1 yur1 year2 year2 

WW high low high WW high 

:t 
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The Cost of Autism Insurance 
Reform - Year Three 

Yuro! Num.,., of 10181 t'Mt'M 

Cover- Covered Liv•• Claim• Paid Cost 

Souttl Carolina 3 427,314 2,065 7TT s 0.40 

llllnole 3 208,466 416,741 s 0. 17 

KansH 3 100,000 326,907 s 027 

Mluourl 3 1,443,680 8,289 917 $ 0.48 

Vlrolnla 3 183.407 583,945 s 0.27 

Iowa 3 79000 205 573 $ 0.22 

NewJer..., 3 597,104 4 482,066 $ 0.63 

Maine 3 29,6.17 67,384 s 0.19 

Averaoe Third Year Coat PMPM s 0.45 

References: Data collected by Autism Speaks from State agencies responSlble !or administering State 
Employee Health Bonol1ts Programs (2011); Missoun Department ol lnsuranco, Financial Institutions and 
Professional Registration (2012); and the Kansas Department ol Health and Environment (2012) 

The Cost of Autism I nsu ranee 
Reform - Year Four 

Tear or Numoer or 10181 PMPM 
Covar~ Covered Lives Clalrna Paid Cost 

Mlaeourl 4 1,634,042 9,804,254 s 0.50 

Vlrolnl• 4 179,634 1,065,180 s 0.49 

Iowa 4 79,000 175,734 s 0.19 

Averaoe Fourth Year Coat PMPM s 0.49 

References: Data collected by Autism SpeakS lrom State agencies responsible for administering State 
Employee Health Bonelits Programs (2011 ); Missouri Department of Insurance. Financial lnStltutions and 
Prolesslonal Registration (2012); and the Kansas Department ol Health and Environment (2012) 

:t 
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Effect on Premiums 
Annual Report 

tOlho 
MassouriLegtslature 

Insurance Coverage 
for Autism Treatment & 

Applied Behavior Analysis 

S1atis1ic!>Scction 
Jan. 31. 2012 

• DIFP 

~"'-"' --1-- f-i....-. _ .. _ 
..,.._ --... i- -

Claims incurred for 
treatment of ASD 
represent 0.9% of total 
claims 

"While claims costs are j: 
expected to grow 
somewhat in the future, 
it seems very unlikely 
that costs for autism 
treatment will have an 
appreciable impact on 
insurance premiums." 

The Virginia State Corporation Commission reports to the Virginia 
General Assembly annually regarding the impact of health insurance 
mandates on the private health insurance market. 

Tho 2013 report The 2014 report The 2015 report 
reflects the loilowiog: reflects the lei.lowing: reflects the folOW'ing: 

The average The average Toe average 
annual cialm cost annual claim annual daim co<st 
per contract or cos! per contract per contract or 
certificate related or certificate certificate related 
to mandated related to 10 mandated 
covorago of mandated coverage of 
autism spectrum coverage of autism spectrum 
d isorder is S2.19 autism spectrum disorder is $3.50 

disorder is $2.66 
This represents . This represents . 
04%of 101a1 This represents . 05%of total 
daims reported 06% of total claims reported 
and equates a claims reported and equates a 
premium impact and equates a premium impact 
for policyholders premium impact tor poOc:yholders 
of 18 cent• per for polcyholdcrs of 29 cents per 
member per of 22 cent& per member per 
month member per month 

13 



NATIONAL SURVEY OF 
EMPLOYER-SPONSORED 
HEALTH PLANS 
2:0B SURVEY TABLES 

Pl:"rC.:~.pr.Of~t'flp' li~I· o,cniC:loq (Q','f'f.t!Jt' !?' ,-1,1ti51"1 ·~:~~:;;ordl"•.,".,.· .. ,,-1r-,_'°h·-, --, 
Mt"C Cilt.(M'I outpacieri,t ~"olVic'o'II .-.\i hMn 1!> net 

lJlioJ:'"lf' MI th tt~f)*c1 co,,.·~u•(I ,., 

2U 
--io-

65 69 Sb IA 

6SS b9'> ,.,, 
51 ., 5$ 

2~ 151tri,, 
---- --,,--~,.- n 

S7 6] $7 ll 2-1 --
!~~/ ~n-i,,nie/Utll,t 61 6] 6] $0 

~c,ttnca,• /2 " •• Sl 
f i~il'I( ~ ~ 87 72 78 

Gov.:..·n1m,m1 69 6' ~ 

i_a___ '" 
)7 22 
ss --;-· 
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500-999 69 .. ., .. (,,1'11t ,.,. 
1.~ " 

--- 64 72 S7 
5,00,0..9,999 70 " Es:- - ., 
!0,000-19 939 ,,. 57 70 62 
}0,000 0t mote " 56 b7 51 

JJ1' .U'-
1---~3_9_- - -1-.--

"---+- -'!-'-~- 10 

J J 17 

Mercer National Survey of Employer Sponsored Health Plans 2013 

Self-Funded Plans that Provide 
Coverage for Autism Treatment 

Microsoft Wal Mart Wells Fargo 

AT&T Bank of America Jet Blue 

Turner Broadcasting JP Morgan Chase American Airlines 

Georgia Power University of Minnesota Southern Baptist Convention 

Home Depot Progressive Group Northern Trust 
Arnold & Porter Intel Abbott Labs 

Symantec DTE Energy GE 

Cisco Emory University General Motors 

Children's Healthcare of SunTrust EMC 
Atlanta Carner American Express 
Eli Lilly Merck Liberty Mutual 
UTC State Street Michelin 
Ohio State University Corporation National Grid 
Time Warner Children's Mercy Safeway 
John Deere Capital One RR Donnelly 
MIT Yahoo T Rowe Price 
Blackbaud Rubbermaid Newell Morgan Stanley 
Partners Healthcare Sisters of Mercy Health Price Waterhouse Coopers 
Deloitte Systems 

And Many more .. 
White Castle 

Princeton University 

• 14 



! 

WALL STREET 
JOURNAL 

• More Autism Help ... As diagnoses of autism rise, a growing number 
of families are grappling with the worry and expense of finding 
treatment for children with the complex developmental disorder, 
autism. And many are pressing employers and legislators for help. 
(Wall Street Journal) 
http://on line. ws j .com/article/ 
S810001424052748703867704576183022242647068.html 

Bernie Marcus, Co-Founder Home Depot ... "The insurance 
lobbies obviously don't want to cover it and yet we know the 
cost is only 32 cents per month per member. And they're 
fighting it tooth and nail. I put it into Home Depot years 
ago and I will tell you, it didn't break Home Depot. " 

Job Growth in States with Autism 
Insurance Reform Laws 

State/(Year Law Passed) 

Board Certified Behavior Analyst 
Provider Growth By State 

~ 
Kentucky (20 10) ~=-----,w::::-.._.;;._.,."'"-'= 

Rhode Island (2011) 

Kansas (20 10) ~::::::;:.:wllliilll-!m::!lll'liZ:S 
M:.1ina (20 1 O) 

,\nzonn (2008) ~ 5~~~;:~::::::::ISIE!ltllill=zii,-
Nevada (2009) L 

South Carolina (2007) !:::::::.:;:~~~::::~::=:::311!!:!Zi:::~:iil ~== amllS:::::C::::mJ-=·:il 
Wisconsin (2009) 

Louisiana (2008) 

New Hampshire {20 10) """"~=~~~~~=~~--_J 
45 90 

D Number of CerUcant.t 2007 
Number of Certmcants 20 15 

135 180 
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What Should an Autism 
Benefit Look Like? 

• Coverage should include 

- Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) Therapy z 
- Speech Therapy, Occupational Therapy, 

and Physical Therapy 

- Psychological, Psychiatric, and 
Pharmaceutical Care 

- Diagnosis and Assessments 

What Should an Autism 
Benefit Look Like? 

• No denials on the basis that treatment is 

- Habilitative in nature 

- Educational in nature 

- Experimental in nature 

• For Applied Behavior Analysis coverage, treatment must 
be provided or supervised by a behavior analyst who is 
certified by the Behavior Analyst Certification Board®, or 

- a licensed psychologist so long as the services 
performed are commensurate with the psychologist's 
formal university training and supervised experience 

• 

• 16 



i 
~ 

r 
~ 
I 

About Autism Speaks 

Autism Speaks is the world 's largest autism science and advocacy 
organization, dedicated to funding research into the causes, 

prevention, treatments and a cure for autism; increasing awareness 
of autism spectrum disorders; and advocating for the needs of 

individuals with autism and their families. 

Autism Votes is an Autism Speaks initiative; a comprehensive 
grassroots advocacy program, coordinating activist efforts in support 

of federal and state legislative initiatives. 

For more information, please visit www.autismvotes.org and 
www.autismspeaks.org 

Contact Information 
Autism Speaks 

State Government Affairs 

Lorri Unumb, Esq. 
Vice President 

lorri .unumb@autismspeaks.org 

Judith Ursitti, CPA 
Director 

j udith.ursitti@autismspeaks.org 

Michael Wasmer, DVM, DACVIM 
Director 

michael. wasmer@autismspeaks.org 
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Judith Ursitti , CPA 
Director State Government Affai rs 
Autism Speaks 
judith.urstti @autismspeaks.org 

* 

About Autism Speaks 
Autism Speaks Autism Speaks is the world 's leading autism science and 
advocacy organization. It is dedicated to funding research into the causes, 
prevention, treatments and a cure for autism; increasing awareness of autism 
spectrum disorders; and advocating for the needs of individuals with autism 
and their families. 

Autism Speaks was founded in February 2005 by Suzanne and Bob Wright , 
the grandparents of a child with autism. Mr. Wright is the former vice chairman 
of General Electric and chief executive officer of NBC and NBC Universal. 
Since its inception, Autism Speaks has committed more than $500 million to its 
mission, the majority in science and medical research . 

Each year Walk Now for Autism Speaks events are held in more than 100 
cities across North America. On the global front, Autism Speaks has 
established partnerships in more than 40 countries on five continents to foster 
international research , services and awareness. 

To learn more about Autism Speaks, please visit www.AutismSpeaks.org 
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Testimony of Brent Bogar 
Greater North Dakota Chamber 

HB 1434 

March 6, 2017 

Madam Chairwoman and members of the committee, my name is Brent Bogar. I am here 

representing the Greater North Dakota Chamber (GNDC), the champions for business in North Dakota. 

GNDC is working on behalf of our more than 1,100 members to build the strongest business environment 

in North Dakota . As a group, we stand in opposition of HB 1434. 

The Greater North Dakota Chamber supports the appropriate coverage and health care for all 

individuals in North Dakota. This issue is about the state taking a position to require insurance to cover a 

certain disorder, or a mandate to provide coverage. GNDC believes that market forces should help to 

determine the best products and services available, and that through competition the marketplace can 

and will develop appropriate solutions. 

The bill as it stands also provides for exclusions of certain classes of plans. By creating a system 

in which certain plans are required to meet new requirements and others do not HB 1434 is creating an 

unequal position in the marketplace for coverage. It is not clear whether those plans that are exempted 

from the requ irement of coverage would also not make the premium payment adjustment, or would 

those plans then see the premium increase and not receive the benefits? This type of discrepancy will 

create confusion for those people that change plans, as well as for the providers of coverage. 

Currently, as a nation we are seeing dialogue for changes at the federal level regarding health care 

coverage. The uncertainty of any changes to the Affordable Care Act, or "Obamacare," also should cause 

pause to the state adding additional regulatory requirements. Any time that there is uncertainty in the 

marketplace, costs become unknown and difficult for businesses to manage cost and expenses. 

Thank you for allowing me to appear before you in opposition to HB 1434. I know this can be an 

emotional issue, but when the emotion is removed and the issues as discussed are reviewed, we hope 

this committee understands the need for the State of North Dakota to minimize mandates and 

requirements on businesses. The Greater North Dakota Chamber urges a Do Not Pass on HB 1434. 



AUTISM SPEAKS. 
It's time to listen. 

Please Support House Bill 1434 
Autism Insurance Reform 
for North Dakota Families 

AUTISM INSURANCE REFORM IS FISCALLY CONSERVATIVE 

• Actual claims data from other states that have required similar coverage for multiple years 
indicates an average premium impact of 31-49 cents per member per month -- less than a cost 
of a postage stamp. 

• Approximately 250,000 covered lives in North Dakota have private health insurance regulated by 
state law. These families and their employers have no access to meaningful autism coverage, even 
though they pay their health insurance premiums every month. 

• According to the Harvard School of Public Health, the lifetime per capita incremental societal cost 
of autism is $3.2 million. Lost productivity and adult care are the largest components of costs. The 
distribution of costs over the life span varies by cost category. Although autism is typically thought 
of as a disorder of childhood, its costs can be felt well into adulthood. The substantial costs 
resulting from adult care and lost productivity of both individuals with autism and their parents have 
important implications for those aging members of the baby boom generation approaching 
retirement, including large financial burdens affecting not only those families but also potentially 

society in general. (Ganz, 2007) 

• The financial implications of the increased prevalence of autism, though rarely discussed, are 
extremely important to society. Chasson compared the costs associated with18 years of special 
education to the costs associated with the implementation of an average of 3 years of Discrete Trial 
Training as an Early Intensive Behavioral Intervention (EIBI) in an effort to minimize the need for 
special education. Results indicate that the state of Texas would save $208,500 per child 
across eighteen years of education with EIBI. When applied to the conservative estimate of 
10,000 children with autism in Texas, the State would save a total of $2.09 billion with EIBI. 
(Chasson, 2007) 

• State estimated lifetime cost savings of providing appropriate treatment are $1 million per 
child. At varying rates of effectiveness and in constant dollars, estimated cost savings range from 
$187,000 to $203,000 per child for ages 3±22 years, and from $656,000 to $1 ,082,000 per child for 
ages 3±55 years. (Green, Jacobsen et al , 1998) 

• The costs of treatments covered could be expected to be recovered through reductions in 
educational and medical expenditures alone. (Oliver Wyman, 2011) 

For additional information please contact 
judith.ursitti@autismspeaks.org or NDAutismReform@gmail.com 

-JI @NDAutismReform 



AUTISM 
SPEAKS® 

March 6, 2017 

North Dakota Senate 
Human Services Committee 
Bismarck, North Dakota 

Re: House Bill 1434 

Madam Chair and Members of the Human Services Committee: 

I write to you today in strong support of House Bill 1434 which would simply 
require North Dakota regulated health insurance plans to cover basic, evidence
based autism treatment. I do not write representing any providers or business 
interest, but rather in support of North Dakota families struggling with the 
challenges of autism in every corner of the state. 

As you likely are already aware, autism is a spectrum disorder which affects a 
person's communication abilities and social skills and often causes repetitive 
patterns of behavior and a narrow range of interests. Its symptoms can range 
from mild to quite severe. The CDC estimates that 1 in 68 children in the United 
States are now diagnosed with this disorder. 

Recognizing the importance of early intervention, The American Academy of 
Pediatrics recommends screening every child for autism at their 18 and 24 month 
checkups. Autism is subsequently diagnosed, based on strict criteria found in 
The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 

Early diagnosis and treatment are critical to a positive outcome for individuals 
with autism. Treatment is prescribed by a licensed physician or licensed 
psychologist. As reflected in the current version of House Bill 1434, current 
evidence-based treatment for autism includes: 

• Behavioral health treatment (including Applied Behavior Analysis) 
• Speech, Occupational and Physical Therapy 
• Psychological, Psychiatric and Pharmaceutical Care 



Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA) is the most commonly prescribed, evidence
based treatment for autism. Decades of research demonstrate the effectiveness 
of ABA therapy for the challenges of autism. Unfortunately, state-regulated 
insurers still deny coverage for ABA, frequently based on the assertion that ABA 
therapy is "experimental." This assertion is simply not supported by science. 

The American Academy of Pediatrics, for example, states that 

ASD is a medical/neurodevelopmental condition with behavioral 
symptoms that are directly addressed by applied behavior analysis 
methods. ABA has proved effective in addressing the core symptom of 
autism as well as developing skills and improving and enhancing 
functioning in numerous areas that affect the health and well-being of 
people with ASD. 

The effectiveness of ABA interventions in ASD's has been well 
documented through a long history of research in university and 
community settings. Children who receive early intensive behavioral 
treatment have ben shown to make substantial gains in cognition, 
language, academic performance and adaptive behavior as well as some 
measures of social behavior, and their outcomes have been significantly 
better than those of children in control groups. 

Without this critical intervention, however, individuals with autism may never 
learn to speak or connect with the world around them. From a personal 
perspective, this is a devastating consequence for the individual and their family. 
From a fiscal perspective, the implication for the North Dakota taxpayer is dire. 

According to a 2007 study from the Harvard School of Public Health, it costs 
about $3.2 million to care for an individual with autism over their lifetime. In 
contrast, estimated lifetime cost savings of providing appropriate treatment is $1 
million per child . (Please see attached information.) 

Because in great part of the fiscal implications, over the past decade states have 
taken action to require health insurers to cover basic, evidence-based treatment 
for autism. To date, 45 states have done so. In addition, the US Department of 
Defense has offered coverage of ABA to their active-duty and retirees for many 
years. The nation's largest employer, the Federal Employee Health Plan, has 
also been rolling out coverage over the last couple of years to their 8 million 
employees. 

In the 45 states where autism insurance reform legislation has been passed , 
people who have never before been able to receive treatment are making 
remarkable progress. Providers have joined networks, building the workforce. 
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(See workforce graphic in attached information.) The impact on premiums, which 
is of great concern, has also been negligible. 

Average claims impact reported by state employee health plans and state 
bureaus of insurance indicate a range of 31-49 cents per member per month. 
(See attached handout.) This moderate impact reflects the reality that autism is 
a spectrum and treatment is individualized based on severity. Similar to other 
health conditions, utilization is not 100%. 

Because of the efficacy of the treatment and the growing number of states 
requiring coverage over the years, many self-funded employers (which are 
federally regulated and can't be regulated by the states) are now offering 
coverage as well. According to the Mercer National Survey of Employer
Sponsored Health Plans, almost 40% of self-funded plans now cover autism 
treatment, including intensive behavioral therapies like ABA. This number 
continues to grow. Some examples of self-funded companies that cover ABA are 
Wells Fargo, Microsoft, United Technologies and John Deere. (A list of more 
examples is included in the attached information .) 

In closing, it has been my honor and privilege to provide support to your 
constituents in North Dakota over the years, as they work to ensure their children 
with autism are simply treated fairly. They work hard and pay their health 
insurance premiums. Basic, evidence-based treatment for autism is broadly 
covered around the nation. It is their hope (and mine as well) that North Dakota 
legislators will work to find a viable, meaningful solution. It is my assertion that 
common-sense solution lies in the passage of House Bill 1434, which simply 
requires coverage of evidence-based treatment. 

Please know that this community has and will continue to communicate with 
North Dakota health plans, who have most recently told us they are considering 
the addition of coverage at some point. The lack of specificity (nothing in writing 
and no timeline provided) warrants concern and action by the legislature. How 
many human lives will be impacted by this ambiguity? 

North Dakotans for Autism Reform is also working with providers to ensure that 
North Dakota licensed-practitioners providing evidence-based therapy for autism 
are included in the legislation. The reflected age caps and dollar caps on Applied 
Behavior Analysis in House Bill 1434 were placed there by amendment in the 
House Human Services Committee. They are certainly negotiable as it is 
important that this legislation require meaningful coverage of a// health plans that 
are regulated by the state of North Dakota. Amendments are available for your 
consideration to address concerns. 

North Dakota children with autism, their families, and ultimately the taxpayers of 
North Dakota who will bear the financial burden of caring for individuals who 
haven't received adequate, medically necessary care, are looking to you for 
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common sense leadership on this issue. Please move House Bill 1434 with a 
"Do Pass" recommendation out of your committee this year. 

Respectfully, 

Judith Ursitti, CPA 
Director - State Government Affairs 

Attachments 
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Board revokes license of Fargo doctor who ran clinics in Minnesota - Twin Cities 

NEWS 

Board revokes license of 
Fargo doctor who ran clinics 
in Minnesota 

By ASSOCIATED PRESS I 
PUBLISHED: August 27, 2008 at 11 :01 pm I UPDATED: November 14, 2015 at 4:27 am 

BISMARCK, N.D. - North Dakota's medical watchdog panel has revoked a Fargo 

doctor's medical license. 

Dr. Rodney Lee's license was revoked Wednesday by the state Board of Medical 

Examiners. The panel accused Lee of sloppy handling of addictive painkillers and 

overbilling the state's Medicaid program. 

The board suspended Lee's medical license last month. Judge Allen Hoberg made 

a recommendation last week to revoke Lee's license. The board says it followed 

Hoberg's recommendation, and ordered Lee to pay the cost of prosecution. 

Lee ran RapidCare clinics in Fargo and Grand Forks in North Dakota, and in 

Moorhead and Detroit Lakes in Minnesota. 

Lee's attorney, John Goff, told the that Lee accepted responsibility for his actions, 

but never intended to harm anyone. 

Associated Press 

Page 1 of 2 l43~ 
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Board revokes license of Fargo doctor who ran clinics in Minnesota-Twin Cities 

As you comment, please be respectful of other commenters and 
other viewpoints. Our goal with article comments is to provide a 
space for civil, informative and constructive conversations. We 
reserve the right to remove any comment we deem to be 
defamatory, rude , insulting to others, hateful , off-topic or reckless to 
the community. See our full terms of use here. 

VIEW COMMENTS 

Page 2 of 2 
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Arizona 
Arkansas 
California 
Colorado 
Connecticut 
Delaware 
D.C. 
Florida 
Georgia 
Hawaii 
Idaho 
Illinois 
Indiana 
Iowa 
Kansas 
Kentucky 
Louisian'a 
Maine 
Maryland 
Massachusetts 
Michigan 
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Mississippi 
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$5,563,413,438 

$10,201,941,673 
$1,446,698,958 
$2,092,993,865 
$3,520,421,319 
$2,076,589,333 

$15,080,356,828 
- $5,537,037,048 

$62,909,519,309 
$12,821,165,394 
$22,485,693,773 
$4,698,727,448 
$8,814,205,907 
$28,220,307,793 
$2,626,681,914 
$6,230,510,941 
$875,472,076 

$9,928,469,426 
$41,068,187,142 
$2,251,931,573 
$1,768,236,337 
$8,927,198,595 

$11,458,035,943 
$3,813,616,346 
$8,026,421,926 
$637,273,743 

$258,698,147 $571,229,555,606 

2 Recoveries are defined as the amount of money that defendants are required to pay as a result of a settlement, judgment, or prefiling settlement in criminal and civil cases and may not reflect actual collections. Recoveries may involve cases that include participation by other Federal and State agencies. 

, "Globar recoveries derive from dvil settlements or judgments involving the U.S. Department of Justice and a group of State MFCUs and are facilrtated by the National Association of Medicaid Fraud Control Unrts. 

4 MFCU and Medicaid Expenditures include both State and Federal expenditures. In previous years, these expenditures were entitled "'MFCU Grant" and "Total Medicaid" respectively. 

Information in this chart was reported to OIG by the SO State MFCUs, except Total Medicaid Expenditures. Abuse/Neglect cases are defined to include "patient funds" cases. 

All information is current as of January 26, 2017. 
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,_M_a_rn_e ________________________ }f~ 
From: 

t: 
Lee, Judy E. 
Tuesday, March 14, 2017 8:36 PM 
NOLA, S HMS - Johnson, Marne 
Fwd: HB1434 

Copies, please 

Senator Judy Lee 
1822 Brentwood Court 
West Fargo, ND 58078 
Phone: 701-282-6512 
e-mail: jlee@nd.gov 

Begin forwarded message: 

From: Lisa Faust <. 

Date: March 14, 2017 at 8:33:45 PM CDT 
To: "Judy Lee (jlee@nd.gov)" <jlee@nd.gov> 
Cc: Pam Gulleson <Pam.Gulleson@bcbsnd.com>, Megan Haun <Megan.Houn@bcbsnd.com> 
Subject: HB1434 

CAUTION: This email originated from an outside source. Do not click links or open attachments unless 
you know they are safe. 

Hi Senator Lee, 
This is in follow up to your questions about FEP. While the Federal Employee 
Program does not allow us to reproduce the benefit, I thought it might be helpful 
to give you our internal interpretation information: 

ABA is covered in 2017 as a habilitative benefit for FEP plans. To qualify for this benefit the 
individual must have a diagnosis of autism. 
• A comprehensive evaluation for autism spectrum disorder with a diagnosis of autism spectrum 
disorder needs to be performed prior to a referral for ABA. Recommendation for a functional 
behavioral assessment must be made by the diagnosing provider. The comprehensive evaluation 
needs to be completed by a licensed provider working within their scope of practice. This 
assessment does not require preauthorization. 
• Prior Approval is required for the following: 
o The initial assessment visit (i.e. functional behavioral assessment (FBA) to develop ABA 
treatment Plan) 
o All ABA therapy. 

For purpose of the FEP benefit, accepted ABA therapies include: UCLA/Lovas Method, Discrete Trial 
Teaching, Pivotal Response Training, Treatment and Education of Autistic &Communication related 
handicapped Children {TEACCH), Early Start Denver Model {ESDM), Picture exchange 
Communication System (PECS) Functional Communication training and Verbal Behavior, 
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Developmental individual difference, Relat ionship based model (DIR), Social commination, 
Emotional regulation and Transactional supports (SCERTS). 

In addition, the website for FEP is available for public viewing or copying: 

https:/ /media.fepblue.org/-/media/PDFs/Brochures/2017 SBP %20Brochure.pdf 

The references to ABA are on Pages 16, 22, 55,65, 88 and 132. 

I hope this is of some benefit. 
Best regards, 
Lisa 

Elizabeth Faust, MD 
Senior Medical Director 
Behavioral Health 
Blue Cross Blue Shield North Dakota 
701.277.2477(work) I 701.306.1217(cell) 
elizabeth.faust@bcbsnd.com I www.bcbsnd.com 

BOLDER SKA.OE OF BLUE 

Legal and Tax Advice and Compliance Disclosure: The information provided in this email is not intended to advise any company 
on how it may comply with any provisions of referenced law or regulations, nor it is otherwise intended to impart any legal or tax 
advice. If you have any questions about how to comply with this or any other law or regulation, we recommend that you consult with 
appropriate legal and tax experts. 

Confidentiality Notice: This communication and any attachments are for the sole use of the 
intended recipient(s) and may contain confidential and privileged information. Any unauthorized 
review, use, disclosure, distribution or copying is prohibited. If you are not the intended 
recipient(s), please contact the sender by replying to this e-mail and destroy/delete all copies of 
this e-mail message. 
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17.0261 .02003 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Representative Beadle 

March 6, 2017 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1434 

Page 1, line 2, remove "and" 

Page 1, line 3, after "management" insert "; and to provide for application" 

Page 2, line 20, remove "in insureds under nineteen years of age." 

Page 2, remove lines 21 through 23 

Page 2, line 24, remove "amended, adjusted, or renewed in this state" 

Page 2, remove lines 30 and 31 

Page 3, remove lines 1 and 2 

Page 3, line 3, replace "5." with "4." 

Page 3, remove lines 5 through 30 

Page 4, line 1, replace "11.:." with "~" 

Page 4, after line 9, insert: 

"SECTION 2. APPLICATION. This Act applies to health insurance policies 
issued or renewed after the effective date of this Act." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 17.0261.02003 
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March 12, 2017 
RE: HB 1434 

To: ND Senate Human Services Committee 
From : The North Dakota Autism Spectrum Disorder Advocacy Coalition 

Chairperson Lee and Committee Members, please accept this testimony on behalf of the North 

Dakota Autism Spectrum Disorders Advocacy Coalition (NDASDAC). 

Formed in early 2013, the Coalition members were initially at odds over an array of proposed 

autism-related services. Advocates came together to attempt agreement on the best 

approaches for people with autism spectrum disorders. We found that, collectively, we had 

much more in common than we had anticipated. Through a series of consensus-based decision-

making meetings, the organizations comprising the Coalition have reached agreement on key 

program elements of Autism Spectrum Disorders services for the people of North Dakota. 

The Coalition meets monthly following our mission of advocating for improved, informed, and 

appropriate public policies and superior seNice provision for all people on the autism spectrum 

statewide. 

The NDASDAC supports and recognizes the importance of insurance coverage in accessing the 

services needed by people on the autism spectrum. As one of only a few states without such 

coverage, this issue is a priority for the Coalition and for the people of North Dakota. Thank you for 

your time. 

NDASDAC I C/O Consensus Council I 1003 E Interstate Ave. I Suite 7 I Bismarck, ND I 58503 



• 

North Dakota Autism Spectrum Disorder Advocacy Coalition 2017 
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Family Voices of North Dakota 
312 2nd Ave. W- PO Box 163 
Edgeley, ND 58433 
701.493.2634 

C E N T E R 

Anne Carlsen Center 
701 3rd Ave. NW - PO Box 8000 
Jamestown, ND 58402 
701.252.3850 

~ .,V\ v&P .. __ 
ASPERGER • AUTISM NETWOR~ 

Red River Valley 
Asperger - Autism Network 
701.566.1675 

North Dakota Protection & Advocacy 
Project 
400 E. Broadway Ave. - Suite 409 
Bismarck, ND 58501 
701.328.2950 

The Arc. 
Bismarck 

The Arc of Bismarck 
PO Box 2081 
Bismarck, ND 58502 
701.222.1854 

II ill ND Federation of Famil ies 
(!jjJl@ for Children's Mental Health 

ND Federation of Families 
For Children' s Mental Health 
PO Box 3061 
Bismarck, ND 58502 
701.222.3310 

Prairie St. John' s 
510 4th Street South 
Fargo, ND 58103 
701.476.7200 

NDASDAC I c/o Consensus Council I 1003 E Interstate Ave. I Suite 7 I Bismarck, ND 58503 
701.224.0588 
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North Dakota Insurance Department 

Data Call as of 8/1/2016- Cumulative data for BCBS, Sanford, Medica and NDPer's 

ND PERS 
Contracts 

(Employees) 

29,125 

Small Group- Fully Insured only 

Non-GRF (ACA & Transitional plans) 
Contracts 

(Employees) 

Total 16,725 

Grandfathered 

Total 16,289 

Individual- Fully Insured only 

Non-GRF (ACA & Transitional plans) 
Contracts 

(Employees) 

Total 25,494 

Grandfathered 

Total 3,691 

Large group- Fully Insured only 

Non-GRF (ACA & Transitional plans) 
Contracts 

(Employees) 

Total 63,522 

Grandfathered 

Total 55,252 

Self-Funded plans 

TOTAL 

Totals of required coverage by 1434 

Totals of NO required coverage by 1434 

Contracts 

(Employees) 

83,841 

167,879 

126,060 

Covered Lives 

66,690 

Covered Lives 

31,100 

31,811 

Covered Lives 

43,669 

7,673 

Covered Lives 

134,511 

116,280 

Covered Lives 

180,495 

356,965 

255,264 

NOTES 

Require Coverage 

Exempt from coverage 

Require Coverage 

Exempt from coverage 

Require Coverage 

Require Coverage 

Require Coverage 

Exempt from coverage 

Please NOTE- Transitional plans referenced above would be required to provide the Autism benefit . This chart 

is intended to show the non-Grandfathered plans in ND. The transitional plans in the state are 1713 covered 

lives, so that number can be subtracted from exempt total and added to the required total. 
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17.0261.02005 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senate Human Services Committee 

March 15, 2017 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1434 

Page 1, line 1, after "A BILL" replace the remainder of the bill with "for an Act to create and 
enact a new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to 
public employees retirement system uniform group insurance coverage of autism 
services; to require a report regarding coverage of autism services; and to provide an 
expiration date. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. A new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

Coverage of autism services. 

i_ As used in this section: 

a. "Applied behavior analysis" has the same meaning as "practice of 
applied behavior analysis" as defined under section 43-32-01. 

b. "Autism spectrum disorder" means any of the pervasive 
developmental disorders or autism spectrum disorders as defined by 
the "Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders," American 
psychiatric association, fifth edition (2013) or a more recent version as 
identified by the board or as defined by the edition in effect at the time 
of diagnosis. 

c. "Behavioral health treatment" means a counseling or treatment 
program, including applied behavior analysis. that is: 

ill Necessary to develop, maintain, or restore. to the maximum 
extent practicable. the functioning of an individual; and 

.(21 Provided or supervised by a licensed behavior analyst or 
psychologist. 

~ "Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder" means any medically 
necessary assessment. evaluation. or test to diagnose whether an 
individual has an autism spectrum disorder. 

e. "Pharmacy care" means a medication prescribed by an individual 
authorized to prescribe such a medication and any health-related 
service deemed medically necessary to determine the need or 
effectiveness of the medication. 

t "Psychiatric care" means a direct or consultative service provided by a 
psychiatrist licensed in the state in which the psychiatrist practices. 

g_,_ "Psychological care" means a direct or consultative service provided 
by a psychologist licensed in the state in which the psychologist 
practices. 

Page No. 1 17.0261.02005 
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.Q "Therapeutic care" means any service provided by a licensed speech 
language pathologist, occupational therapist, or physical therapist. 

L "Treatment for autism spectrum disorder" means evidence-based care 
and related equipment prescribed or ordered for an individual 
diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder by a licensed physician 
or a licensed psychologist who determines the care is medically 
necessary, including behavioral health treatment, pharmacy care, 
psychiatric care, psychological care, and therapeutic care. 

b For all policies that become effective after June 30, 2017, and which do not 
extend past June 30, 2019, the board shall provide health benefits 
coverage for the screening for, diagnosis of, and treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder in covered individuals under nineteen years of age. 

_§.,_ Coverage under this section is not subject to limitations on the number 
of visits a covered individual may make for treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder. 

~ Except as allowed under subdivision c, coverage under this section is 
not subject to dollar limits, deductibles, or coinsurance provisions less 
favorable to a covered individual than the dollar limits, deductibles, or 
coinsurance provisions that apply to substantially all medical and 
surgical benefits under the health benefits coverage. 

c. Coverage for applied behavioral analysis under this section must 
provide an annual maximum benefit of: 

ill Thirty-six thousand dollars for individuals under the age of 
seven; 

.(21 Twenty-five thousand dollars for individuals between the ages of 
seven and not yet fourteen; and 

.Ql Twelve thousand five hundred dollars for individuals between 
the ages of fourteen and not yet nineteen. 

g__,_ The coverage for applied behavior analysis must include the services 
of the personnel who work under the supervision of the licensed 
behavior analyst or psychologist overseeing the program . 

~ Except for inpatient services, if a covered individual is receiving 
treatment for an autism spectrum disorder, the coverage may allow for 
annual review of the treatment plan, unless a more frequent review is 
necessary. An agreement regarding the right to review a treatment 
plan more frequently than annually is limited in application to a 
particular covered individual being treated for an autism spectrum 
disorder. The cost of obtaining a review or treatment plan must be 
borne by the policy. 

J,. This section does not limit benefits otherwise available to a covered 
individual under the uniform group insurance program. This section does 
not affect an obligation to provide services to a covered individual under an 
individualized family service plan, an individualized education program, or 
an individualized service plan . 

Page No. 2 17.0261 .02005 
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SECTION 2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM - COVERAGE 
OF AUTISM SERVICES. Pursuant to section 54-03-28, the public employees 
retirement system shall prepare and submit for introduction a bill to the sixty-sixth 
legislative assembly to repeal the expiration date for section 1 of this Act and to extend 
the coverage of autism services to apply to all group and individual health insurance 
policies. The public employees retirement system shall append to the bill a report 
regarding the effect of the autism services coverage requirement on the system's 
health insurance programs, information on the utilization and costs relating to the 
coverage, and a recommendation regarding whether the coverage should continue. 

SECTION 3. EXPIRATION DATE. Section 1 of this Act is effective through 
July 31, 2019, and after that date is ineffective." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 3 17.0261 .02005 
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17.0261.02006 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senate Human Services Committee 

March 15, 2017 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1434 

Page 1, line 1, after "A BILL" replace the remainder of the bill with "for an Act to create and 
enact a new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to 
public employees retirement system uniform group insurance coverage of autism 
services; to require a report regarding coverage of autism services; and to provide an 
expiration date. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. A new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

Coverage of autism services . 

.1. As used in this section: 

B..:. "Applied behavior analysis" has the same meaning as "practice of 
applied behavior analysis" as defined under section 43-32-01 . 

Q,. "Autism spectrum disorder" means any of the pervasive 
developmental disorders or autism spectrum disorders as defined by 
the "Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders," American 
psychiatric association, fifth edition (2013) or a more recent version as 
identified by the board or as defined by the edition in effect at the time 
of diagnosis. 

c. "Behavioral health treatment" means a counseling or treatment 
program, including applied behavior analysis, that is: 

ill Necessary to develop, maintain, or restore, to the maximum 
extent practicable, the functioning of an individual; and 

.(21 Provided or supervised by a licensed behavior analyst or 
psychologist. 

~ "Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder" means any medically 
necessary assessment, evaluation, or test to diagnose whether an 
individual has an autism spectrum disorder. 

e. "Pharmacy care" means a medication prescribed by an individual 
authorized to prescribe such a medication and any health-related 
service deemed medically necessary to determine the need or 
effectiveness of the medication. 

:t. "Psychiatric care" means a direct or consultative service provided by a 
psychiatrist licensed in the state in which the psychiatrist practices. 

g,_ "Psychological care" means a direct or consultative service provided 
by a psychologist licensed in the state in which the psychologist 
practices. 

Page No. 1 17.0261.02006 



~ "Therapeutic care" means any service provided by a licensed speech 
language pathologist, occupational therapist, or physical therapist. 

L. "Treatment for autism spectrum disorder" means evidence-based care 
and related equipment prescribed or ordered for an individual 
diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder by a licensed physician 
or a licensed psychologist who determines the care is medically 
necessary, including behavioral health treatment, pharmacy care, 
psychiatric care, psychological care, and therapeutic care. 

2. For all policies that become effective after June 30, 2017, and which do not 
extend past June 30, 2019, the board shall provide health benefits 
coverage for the screening for, diagnosis of, and treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder. Coverage under this section is not subject to limitations 
on the number of visits a covered individual may make for treatment for 
autism spectrum disorder. 

SECTION 2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM - COVERAGE 
OF AUTISM SERVICES. Pursuant to section 54-03-28, the public employees 
retirement system shall prepare and submit for introduction a bill to the sixty-sixth 
legislative assembly to repeal the expiration date for section 1 of this Act and to extend 
the coverage of autism services to apply to all group and individual health insurance 
policies. The public employees retirement system shall append to the bill a report 
regarding the effect of the autism services coverage requirement on the system's 
health insurance programs, information on the utilization and costs relating to the 
coverage, and a recommendation regarding whether the coverage should continue. 

SECTION 3. EXPIRATION DATE. Section 1 of this Act is effective through 
July 31 , 2019, and after that date is ineffective." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 2 17.0261.02006 
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17.0261.02007 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator J. Lee 

March 16, 2017 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1434 

Page 1, line 1, after "A BILL" replace the remainder of the bill with "for an Act to create and 
enact section a new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, 
relating to public employees retirement system uniform group insurance coverage of 
autism services; to require a report regarding coverage of autism services; and to 
provide an expiration date. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. A new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

Coverage of autism services . 

.1. As used in this section: 

~ "Applied behavior analysis" has the same meaning as "practice of 
applied behavior analysis" as defined under section 43-32-01 . 

h,. "Autism spectrum disorder" means any of the pervasive 
developmental disorders or autism spectrum disorders as defined by 
the "Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders," American 
psychiatric association, fifth edition (2013) or a more recent version as 
identified by the board or as defined by the edition in effect at the time 
of diagnosis. 

c. "Behavioral health treatment" means a counseling or treatment 
program, including applied behavior analysis, that is: 

ill Necessary to develop, maintain, or restore, to the maximum 
extent practicable, the functioning of an individual; and 

.(2} Provided or supervised by a licensed behavior analyst or 
psychologist. 

~ "Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder" means any medically 
necessary assessment, evaluation , or test to diagnose whether an 
individual has an autism spectrum disorder. 

~ "Pharmacy care" means a medication prescribed by an individual 
authorized to prescribe such a medication and any health-related 
service deemed medically necessary to determine the need or 
effectiveness of the medication. 

L "Psychiatric care" means a direct or consultative service provided by a 
psychiatrist licensed in the state in which the psychiatrist practices. 

fl. "Psychological care" means a direct or consultative service provided 
by a psychologist licensed in the state in which the psychologist 
practices. 

Page No. 1 17.0261 .02007 
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he "Therapeutic care" means any service provided by a licensed speech 
language pathologist, occupational therapist, or physical therapist. 

L. "Treatment for autism spectrum disorder" means evidence-based care 
and related equipment prescribed or ordered for an individual 
diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder by a licensed physician 
or a licensed psychologist who determines the care is medically 
necessary, including behavioral health treatment, pharmacy care, 
psychiatric care, psychological care, and therapeutic care . 

~ For all policies that become effective after June 30, 2017, and which do not 
extend past June 30, 2019, the board shall provide health benefits 
coverage for the screening for, diagnosis of, and treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder in covered individuals under nineteen years of age. 

§..:. Coverage under this section is not subject to limitations on the number 
of visits a covered individual may make for treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder. 

12.,_ Except as allowed under subdivision c, coverage under this section is 
not subject to dollar limits, deductibles, or coinsurance provisions less 
favorable to a covered individual than the dollar limits, deductibles, or 
coinsurance provisions that apply to substantially all medical and 
surgical benefits under the health benefits coverage. 

c. Coverage for applied behavioral analysis under this section must 
provide an annual maximum benefit of: 

ill Thirty-six thousand dollars for individuals under the age of 
seven; 

ill Twenty-five thousand dollars for individuals between the ages of 
seven and not yet fourteen ; and 

Q} Twelve thousand five hundred dollars for individuals between 
the ages of fourteen and not yet nineteen. 

st The coverage for applied behavior analysis must include the services 
of the personnel who work under the supervision of the licensed 
behavior analyst or psychologist overseeing the program. 

~ Except for inpatient services, if a covered individual is receiving 
treatment for an autism spectrum disorder, the coverage may allow for 
annual review of the treatment plan, unless a more frequent review is 
necessary. An agreement regarding the right to review a treatment 
plan more frequently than annually is limited in application to a 
particular covered individual being treated for an autism spectrum 
disorder. The cost of obtaining a review or treatment plan must be 
borne by the policy. 

~ This section does not limit benefits otherwise available to a covered 
individual under the uniform group insurance program. This section does 
not affect an obligation to provide services to a covered individual under an 
individualized family service plan, an individualized education program, or 
an individualized service plan . 

Page No. 2 17.0261 .02007 



SECTION 2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM - COVERAGE 
OF AUTISM SERVICES. 

1. Pursuant to section 54-03-28, the public employees retirement system 
shall prepare and submit for introduction a bill to the sixty-sixth legislative 
assembly to repeal the expiration date for section 1 of this Act and to 
extend the coverage of autism services to apply to all group and individual 
health insurance policies. The public employees retirement system shall 
append to the bill a report regarding the effect of the autism services 
coverage requirement on the system's health insurance programs, 
information on the utilization and costs relating to the coverage under this 
Act, a comparison of the system's coverage of autism services under this 
Act and the coverage of autism services by North Dakota insurers, and a 
recommendation regarding whether the coverage under this Act should 
continue as provided in this Act or should continue with amendments. 

2. Quarterly during the 2017-18 interim, the insurance commissioner shall 
survey health insurance carriers in the state to collect data regarding policy 
coverage and utilization of autism services. The commissioner shall 
provide this data to the public employees retirement system for inclusion in 
the report prepared under subsection 1. 

SECTION 3. EXPIRATION DATE. Section 1 of this Act is effective through 
July 31 , 2019, and after that date is ineffective." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 3 17.0261 .02007 
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NDLA, S HMS - Johnson, Marne 

Clark, Jennifer S. 
Thursday, March 16, 2017 3:39 PM 

To: Lee, Judy E.; Anderson, Jr., Howard C.; Larsen, Oley L.; Clemens, David; Kreun, Curt E.; 
Heckaman, Joan M .; Piepkorn, Merrill 

Cc: 
Subject: 

NOLA, Intern 02 - Arendt, Ian; NOLA, S HMS - Johnson, Marne; Sandness, Sheila M. 
FW: HB 1434 - Autism 

Attachments: Acumen Report_H B 1434_Feb 2 2017 _Final (002).pdf; Supplemental Actuarial Report.pdf 

Comm ittee Members-

Attached, please find the origina l and suppleme nta l actuarial reports on HB 1434. 

The law addressing your duties regarding health insurance mandates is NDCC 54-03-08, w hich provides (emphasis 
added): 

54-03-28. Health insurance mandated coverage of services Cost-benefit analysis requirement. 

1. A legislative measure mandating health insurance coverage of services or payment for specified providers 
of services may not be acted on by any committee of the legislative assembly unless the measure is accompanied 
by a cost-benefit analysis provided by the legislative council. Factors to consider in this analysis include: 

a. The extent to which the proposed mandate would increase or decrease the cost of the service. 

b. The extent to which the proposed mandate would increase the appropriate use of the service. 

c. The extent to which the proposed mandate would increase or decrease the administrative expenses of 
insurers and the premium and administrative expenses of insureds. 

d. The impact of the proposed mandate on the total cost of health care. 

2. A legislative measure mandating health insurance coverage of services or payment for specified providers 
of services may not be acted on by any committee of the legislative assembly unless the measure as recommended 
by the committee provides : 

a. The measure is effective through June thirtieth of the next odd-numbered year following the year in which 
the legislative assembly enacted the measure, and after that date the measure is ineffective. 

b. The application of the mandate is limited to the public employees health insurance program and the public 
employee retiree health insurance program. The application of such mandate begins with every contract for health 
insurance which becomes effective after June thirtieth of the year in which the measure becomes effective. 

c. That for the next legislative assembly, the public employees retirement system shall prepare and request 
introduction of a bill to repeal the expiration date and to extend the mandated coverage or payment to apply to 
accident and health insurance policies. The public employees retirement system shall append to the bill a report 
regarding the effect of the mandated coverage or payment on the systems health insurance programs. The report 
must include information on the utilization and costs relating to the mandated coverage or payment and a 

ommendation on whether the coverage or payment should continue. For purposes of this section, the bill is not 
gislative measure mandating health insurance coverage of services or payment for specified providers of 

vices, unless the bill is amended following introduction so as to change the bills mandate. 
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3. A majority of the members of the committee, acting through the chairman, has sole authority to determine 
whether a legislative measure mandates coverage of services under this section. 

4. Any amendment made during a legislative session to a measure which mandates health insurance covera. 
of services may not be acted on by a committee of the legislative assembly unless the amendment is accompani 
by a cost-benefit analysis provided by the legislative council. 

5. The legislative council shall contract with a private entity, after receiving one or more recommendations 
from the insurance commissioner, to provide the cost-benefit analysis required by this section. The insurance 
commissioner shall pay the cost of the contracted services to the entity providing the services. 

Source: 
S.L. 2001 , ch. 471 , 1; 2003, ch.240, 6. 

Good luck-

Jenn 

Jennifer Clark 
Counsel 

ND Legislative Council 

(701) 328-2916 
jclark@nd.gov 

• 

• 
2 



ACTUARIAL ANALYSIS 

Of HB 1434 
By Acumen Actuarial 

For the State of North Dakota 

APPLIED BEHAVIORAL ANALYSIS {ABA) and 
TREATMENTS for AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS {ASD) 

Daniel Bailey, FSA, MAAA 
FEBRUARY 2, 2017 



ACUMEN ACTUARIAL 

• TABLE OF CONTENTS: 

1. PREFACE 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

3. INTRODUCTION 

4. DATA and INFORMATION 

5. OBSERVATIONS and FINDINGS 

6. CALCULATIONS • 
7. CONCLUSION 

8. LIMITATIONS OF USE and QUALIFICATIONS 

CONFIDENTIAL ALL RIGHTS RESERVED DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 1 



ACUMEN ACTUARIAL 

PREFACE 

This report was created by Acumen Actuarial for the state of North Dakota. It provides 

Acumen's analysis of HB 1434, a Bill for an Act to create new sections relating to health 

insurance coverage for autism-related services, to provide a statement of legislative intent, and 

to provide for a report to the legislative management. 

Section I of the Bill defines terms. Among its eleven points, it also stipulates that: 

• Health insurance policies will cover the screening for, diagnosis of, and treatment of 

autism spectrum disorder for insureds under 26 years of age, and must not deny 

enrollment or terminate it on the basis of an ASD diagnosis or prior treatment 

• There is no limit to the number of services an individual may receive per year, but the 

total cost for Applied Behavior Analysis is limited to $50,000. This amount will be 

indexed to Medical CPI in future years to raise the $50,000 annual maximum for ABA 

services 

• The insurance commissioner will issue a biennial report to legislative management 

concerning the cost of the bill and use of treatments for ASD. Moreover, health insurers 

and health benefit plans will provide the data needed for the report. 

The intent of this actuarial study is to analyze the ASD benefit coverage with respect to its 

possible medical and administrative cost, as well as its impact on expected premium level. The 

Bill is examined in relation to the public employees health insurance plan and public employees 

retiree health insurance plan. It is also examined in relation to all those insureds who are 

covered by health insurance in ND other than those in the public employees plans. 

In 2011, an actuarial analysis was carried out for a similar ND bill, SB2268. Over the past 

decade, many states have enacted legislation mandating that individual and group health 

policies issued in their state include coverage for ASD. Some states have already mandated a 

biennial or annual report on the use of services for the treatment of ASD and the overall cost of 

the mandate. The author has made use of current data and information where possible. There 

is actually a scarcity of reliable data available on the use and cost of ASD screening, diagnosis, 

and treatment. Many reports calculate an expected cost based on specific assumptions. This 

report from Acumen Actuarial provides its own calculation of the use and cost for North 

Dakota . It makes use of prior studies as well as emerging data and information. This report and 

cost estimate take into consideration the characteristics of North Dakota that may affect use 

and cost of ASD services such that they may be different than in other states. 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Any requirement to add new medical services to insurance coverage that were not previously 

required is likely to increase the use of those newly required services and the overall cost of 

care. Treatments for autism spectrum disorder (ASD) including Applied Behavior Analysis 

(ABA) are no exception. The question is how much the use and incremental cost will be over a 

multi-year horizon. The coverage of the screening, diagnosis, and treatment for ASD is 

relatively new, and there is a scarcity of reliable data about its use and cost in other states. 

When the expense of ASD coverage is spread over all insureds, the requirement for screening, 

diagnosis, and treatment of ASD including ABA is likely to cost approximately 1% or less of the 

overall cost of health coverage per year for Active employees. During the first year of 

implementation, it is likely to cost less than 0.5% of premium or overall claims. Over the 

course of several years, it could ramp up to over 0.5% of overall cost before the utilization of 

ASD services eventually levels off at its ultimate level. 

On a per capita cost basis, the incremental cost will be greater for the ND Active Employees 

Health Insurance plan than the Retired because there are far more children younger than 26 

years of age per contract in the Active plan. 

The overall health care cost per member per month for all Active employees was $453 per 

member per month (PMPM) in Q2 2016. (This includes state employees and all political 

subdivisions.) A reasonable estimate of the expected average cost of screening, diagnosis, and 

treatment of ASD including ABA in the initial year of implementation is approximately 0.13% of 

overall cost, which is $0.58 per member per month (PMPM) on a 2016 basis when spread 

across all members. A similar medical expense can be expected for the commercial coverage of 

the general insured ND population beyond the ND employees health insurance plans for Active 

employees and their dependents. This 2016 claim cost of $0.58 PMPM can be reasonably 

expected for both non-PERS commercial group health insurance plans and "individual" 

coverage. 

If the mandate is not implemented until 2018, the annual trend in claims cost will likely affect 

both the cost of ASD services as well as the overall cost of all health care services. Although it 

may give a false sense of precision, it is reasonable to trend this 2016 per member cost 

estimate by approximately 5% per year to reflect the ongoing cost increases that are in keeping 

with the medical consumer price index. Hence, on a 2017 basis, the cost estimate is projected 

to be $0.61 PMPM. For 2018, it is $0.64 PMPM. This is the estimated first year claims cost. In 

reality, there is a wide margin of error in any projection of the cost of the ASD coverage, and it 

would be misleading to assert with certainty that this point estimate is accurate to within 

pennies. It is possible that actual year one cost will be greater or less than this amount. Given 
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the logistic challenge of getting ABA therapists to more rural locations in North Dakota, the 

actual cost in 2017 could be less than $0.61 PMPM. 

On a per contract per month basis, the cost for the NDPERS active plan would be $1.61 PCPM. 

($1.61 = $0.61 PMPM x 2.64 members per contract in the NDPERS active plan as of Jan 2017.) 

Many factors affect the use and overall cost of ASD services, especially in year one of coverage, 

but also beyond. If the supply of certified providers is low in ND in the initial year of 

implementation, this could result in lower use and spending than the estimate above, which is 

0.13% of overall claims. Provider supply in relation to patient demand will also affect the level 

of use over time . There may be an insufficient number of certified applied behavior therapists 

initially, which would suppress utilization below the level of actual patient demand, but if the 

supp ly increases significantly in subsequent years, year five could experience utilization of ASD 

services that is considerably greater than year one. 

The use of and expense for ASD treatment can be expected to increase over a period of several 

years as families and providers become more accustomed to the use of these services. Other 

actuarial studies and reports have shown a range of expected medical cost in the neighborhood 

of 0.1% to 1% of total cost for ASD services including ABA. The use and cost are typically 

greater on an "ultimate" basis several years after the initial implementation. The increase in 

the annual use and overall cost from initial to ultimate is important to consider. That is, there 

will likely be an increase from the year of implementation to a point in time three, four, or five 

years later when the ASD coverage requirement has ramped up to a mature level. 

There is likely to be little effect on administrative activity; however, administrative cost is often 

expressed as a percent of premium or claims cost. Hence it is reasonable to gross up the 

expected claims cost to reflect incremental administrative cost. This done by dividing the 

expected claim cost by 1 minus the administrative cost as a percent of premium. 

The requirement that insurers supply data for the bienn ial report is an administrative activity 

that insurers and plans are not currently obliged to carry out, and this will require some effort, 

albeit relatively minor compared with all the other activity associated with running a health 

insurance plan . The 2017 cost with incremental administrative expense is $0.61 + $0.10 = $0.71 

PMPM. [$0.71 = $0.61 / (1 - 0.14)]. This assumes administrative cost is 14% of premium, 

which is reasonable. 

Often, the health insurers and other payers who are financially responsible for the cost of a 

new mandate are apprehensive about it prior to implementation . These payers find the new 

benefit is most difficult to price in the first year (or few years) of coverage because they have 

no prior internal data upon which to rely. This adds to the insurer's risk of underpricing the 

mandate as well as the overall cost of care, which is never known with certainty in advance. 
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The proposed ABA benefit under HB1434 has an annual limit of $50,000. In actual practice, it is 

unlikely that many of those receiving ABA will incur a full $50,000 of cost per year. Most can 

be expected to have total annual cost below $50,000. The annual maximum cost limit is 

intended to assure that individuals with high need and high cost can obtain services. However, 

maximum annual limits in health plans also have a "sentinel" effect that serves to reduce 

possible overuse, gaming of the system, or potential overcharging for unnecessary services. 

It is important to note that some ASD services and support, including ABA, are already provided 

by school systems under IDEA, Sections Band C. There is some overlap between services 

provided by the public and private sector. Under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 

Sections Band C, children to 21 years of age are provided with Free Appropriate Public 

Education. This applies to children with any of 13 named disabilities, one of which is autism 

and another is communication disorders. These services may include treatment for autism 

spectrum disorders; however, the purpose of these ASD treatment services provided through 

the school system is to help the child to be more functional in the educational environment, but 

not necessarily at home or in the community at large. Be that as it may, it is important to 

recognize that some ASD support is provided by the school system for children with ASD, and 

this includes ABA. Moreover, the amount of ASD treatment already provided to children from 

the public sector may decrease the ASD services to be provided in the private sector through 

health insurance coverage. Hence, insurance coverage is not the sole source of funding for ASD 

treatment, services, and support. This may be one of the reasons that helps explain why the 

actual average cost for ch ildren receiving ABA and ASD treatment is significantly less than the 

maximum annual amount, according to the limited actual data currently ava ilable on the use 

and cost of ASD services provided to children. 

KEY COST STATISTICS FROM EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

HB 1434- Expected first year per member per month 2017 claims cost only for: 

• ND Health Insurance Plan for Active Employees is $0.61 PMPM 

• All other ND insureds covered (other than in public plans) is also $0.61 PMPM. 

Expected first year incremental 2017 premium cost with administrative expense for: 

• ND Health Insurance Plan for Active Employees is $0.71 PMPM 

• All other ND insureds covered (other than in public plans) is also $0.71 PMPM. 

On a per contract per month basis, the expected first year 2017 claims cost is $1.61 PCPM for 

t he ND Health Insurance Plan for Active Employees. 
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The cost is expected to be significantly less for the public Retiree Health Insurance Plan because 

there are far fewer children under 26 years of age per contract in the Retiree plan. The 

expected claims cost of HB 1434 is expected to be de minimis for the Retiree plan. 

INTRODUCTION 

HB 1434 requires health insurers to cover the screening, diagnosis, and treatment of autism 

spectrum disorder (ASD) including behavior-based therapy, such as Applied Behavior Analysis 

(ABA). The bill is limited to fully insured health coverage of major medical plans that cover a 

comprehensive range of services. It is not applicable to limited plans, such as hospital 

indemnity, mini-med, Medicare Supplement, or other such plans with limited benefits. For 

further information about the purview of the bill and the types of coverage to which it applies, 

see subsection 10 under Section 1. The bill applies to the North Dakota Public Employees 

Health Insurance Plans for Active and Retired Employees and their dependents. In the event 

that the public employees plan switches from a fully insured to self-insured basis, the bill would 

continue to apply. 

Subsection 2 of the bill requires insurers to cover ASD, and it forbids them to deny issue or 

continuation of coverage to those who are diagnosed with or have received treatment for ASD. 

Subsection 6 stipulates that ABA Services will be covered to a maximum limit of $50,000 per 

year. The amount of the maximum is required to be increased annually in accordance with the 

increase in the medical consumer price index. This will assure that the maximum keeps pace 

with the increasing cost of living in future years. Some states have different maximum 

amounts. Some states vary the amount by age. The logic behind varying the maximum amount 

by age is that behavioral therapy tends to be more effective on younger people. This is 

consistent with actual practice where higher intensity of service (more hours per week) is more 

common for younger children with autism. 

In actual practice, it is unlikely that many of those receiving ABA will incur a full $50,000 of cost 

per year. Most can be expected to have total annual cost below $50,000. The annual 

maximum cost limit is intended to assure that individuals with high need and high cost can 

obtain services. However, maximum annual limits in health benefit plans traditionally also have 

a "sentinel" effect that serves to reduce possible overuse, gaming of the system, or potential 

overcharging for unnecessary services. 

Subsection 11 of the bill requires the insurance commissioner to submit a biennial report to the 

legislative management covering cost and use of services under the bill . Insurers subject to the 

bill will be required to provide data for this report. This can be a helpful follow-up activity 

subsequent to the implementation of the bill because it provides the legislative management a 
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clearer understanding of the true emerging use and cost of the bill in the state. To the extent 

the insurer data is reliable, this report could be a useful basis for future revisions to the bill. 

The bill requires insurers to cover the cost of screening for ASD in children under 26. Screening 

identifies the presence of disease in a particular population that has not been diagnosed with it. 

In the case of ASD, young children are observed in well-child pediatrician visits and may be 

identified for diagnosis; this screening may involve consultation with the child's parents or 

caregiver. In some cases, a pre-school can recommend a child for evaluation. It is possible that 

the bill will encourage better and more complete screening of ASD in medical visits, but this is 

not billed separately in pediatric office visits, so no material cost is expected to be added for 

additional screening. 

The bill requires coverage of diagnosis of ASD. It is possible that, over time, more children will 

be referred for diagnosis, but that too is not expected to materially affect overall use and cost. 

The incremental use and cost is expected to come from additional treatment provided to 

children with ASD. 

One of the key drivers of the use of ASD treatment is the number of children diagnosed with 

ASD. The prevalence rate of ASD in children has been increasing over the past ten or fifteen 

years according to reliable sources such as the Center for Disease Control (CDC) . Part of this 

increase involves the evolution of the definition in the DSM manual that is used by clinicians to 

diagnose children with ASD. 

A number of other factors contribute to use of ASD treatment. Not all children who are 

diagnosed with ASD will received treatment for ASD in any given year under the bill. Some 

children with ASD whose behavior is more severely affected by it will tend to receive more 

hours per week of treatment. Children who need more hours of treatment per week do not 

necessarily continue to receive that level of treatment for an indefinite period of time. It often 

tapers off over time. The goal is for the individual with ASD to become more functional in their 

day-to-day life at home and outside the home. 

Children with ASD often receive services and supports in their public education environments 

per the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), sections B and C. This is generally 

part of an Individual Education Plan that helps the child achieve educational goals and become 

more functional in the educational environment. Although these skills are transferable to 

environments outside of school, the intent of ASD support provided in the educational 

environment is focused on improving the child's ability to learn. This may include improving 

social and communication skills, which have benefits to the child beyond the classroom. 

There may be some overlap in ASD services provided in the public and private sectors. For 

example, children with less severe ASD might not require additional ASD services beyond those 

they already receive in the educational environment. 
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In terms of the use of ASD services under HB 1434, there are multiple additional factors that 

will affect use over time: 

• Availability of trained providers in relation to the demand for their services-if there are 

fewer qualified ASD service providers than patient demand requires, use will be reduced 

• General awareness of ASD and ASD treatments among parents, and the degree to which 

parents seek treatment for their children-parents may hold back and be more 

tentative about seeking treatment for their children in early years and more assertive in 

later years when the benefits of obtaining ASD treatment are more broadly recognized . 

This can be expected to drive up the use of services over time. 

• Logistics of providing services. North Dakota is a large state geographically with several 

population centers and many counties with low population density. Issues pertaining to 

rural medicine in sparsely populated counties could make it more difficult to provide 

services to children with ASD in more remote locations. It is possible that, at some 

future time, some parental coaching and support may be available using telehealth. 

In the course of Acumen's research for this project, data on the prevalence of autism and 

autism spectrum disorder was reviewed. With respect to geography, race, or ethnicity, there is 

little variation in the prevalence rate among children. Gender, however, is different-male 

children are approximately four times as likely to be diagnosed with ASD. North Dakota is 

expected to be similar to the rest of the nation in this respect. 

North Dakota has an autism registry maintained by the state Department of Health, but it is not 

yet an all-inclusive list of children with autism throughout the state. It went live on February 8, 

2016 and seems to be a work-in-progress. As of October 2016, there were 186 children 

included in the registry. At present, there are 302 children. The North Dakota Autism Registry 

is still growing, and it is incomplete. For example, as of December 2015, however, there were 

1,031 children on the Department of Public Instruction's list of children with an educational 

determination of autism. These two sources are not expected to be exactly identical, but the 

large difference helps us understand that the ND Autism Registry has not yet captured all those 

children with ASD that it eventually will. Yet another data source is the 2016 State Autism 

Profiles for North Dakota prepared by Easterseals, Inc. and distributed November 2016. It 

shows 939 children with autism in ND from age 3 through 21. 

In the course of this research, report author, Daniel Bailey, spoke with individuals associated 

with NDPERS, Sanford Health Plan, and the ND Department of Public Instruction. He spoke with 

Judith Ursitti at Autism Speaks. And he also conferred with an expert on ABA, John Molteni, 

who is the Director of the Institute for Autism Behavioral Studies at the University of Saint 

Joseph in West Hartford, CT. Acumen wishes to thank all those who shared their knowledge or 

otherwise assisted in this project and report. 
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DATA AND INFORMATION 

Many states have estimated the cost of similar bills that require insurers to cover the cost of 

screening, diagnosis, and treatment for ASD. Few states, however, have produced reports on 

the actual cost of those services after the insurance mandate has gone into effect. Little detail 

is provided with those reports about that data; and researchers generally find it difficult to 

assess the reliability of that data . 

Prior to implementation of an ASD mandate, many states have evaluated the expected cost of 

ASD coverage using a prevalence and expected unit cost approach. That is the approach used 

in this report from Acumen Actuarial, which has taken into consideration the characteristics 

particular to North Dakota. 

Although North Dakota's population declined somewhat from 2000 to 2004, it has grown 

steadily since then, more so in the past several years. This will have little if any effect on the 

per capita cost of ASD services, but the increase in population will affect the overall total cost of 

care because more individuals will obtain care. However, the cost of ASD services as a percent 

of overall premium is not expected to change as a result of the increase in North Dakota's 

population. 

Acumen received demographic data for the ND Employees Health Insurance Plans for Actives 

and Retirees and their dependents. Among the active members' plan, children under 26 

represented 38.6% of all members. It is assumed that this same proportion of children under 

26 applies to the general population of insureds in ND. (A slight difference will not affect the 

cost estimate materially). State-specific data was obtained from the Kaiser Family Foundation 

website, such as the percent of insureds by coverage type and a North Dakota age distribution. 

Acumen checked the Behavior Analyst Certification Board (BACB) website for information and 

data about the number of certified BACB therapists in ND relative to other states. In Missouri, 

where the ASD mandate has been in place for a few years, there is 1 qualified BACB therapist 

per 17,000 people in the general population. In North Dakota, there is 1 therapist per 33,000 

people. 

State-specific emerging actual claims data on ASD use and cost was reviewed during this study. 

It should be pointed out that this data is generally self-reported by participating insurers and 

HMOS, some of which may be delayed or remiss in their self-reporting altogether. It is not 

typically audited by an external party. Moreover, in year one, not all plans are necessarily fully 

phased-in to coverage under the mandate. Hence, year one use and cost may be materially less 

than year two and beyond. 

CONFIDENTIAL ALL RIGHTS RESERVED DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 9 

• 

• 



• 

ACUMEN ACTUARIAL 

The state of GA recently produced a report with state-specific 2016 ASD costs under its 

mandate requiring ASD coverage by private insurance. Ten of twenty carriers provided data. 

These findings were reported : 

20,266,939 Number of member-months reported for all members 

16,953 Number of member-months for those diagnosed with ASD subject to mandate 

1,841 Number of members for those diagnosed with ASD subject to mandate 

9.2 months Average# of months/ yr/ member diagnosed with ASD (Acumen calculated) 

0.084% Percent of member months diagnosed with ASD among all insureds 

$0.32 PMPM Cost of ASD services spread across all members 

$0.18 PMPM Cost of ABA only spread across all members (a subset of above). 

Again, this data is not guaranteed to be 100% reliable nor is it highly credible in terms of 

volume. Moreover, there is likely some under-reporting of the true PMPM claims cost because 

the requirement to cover ASD was phased in over the first year and not in effect for every plan 

for every month of 2016. We do not know what this $0.32 PMPM amount would be if all 

members were covered under the ASD mandate in GA all year. 

One noteworthy point is that the 2016 occurrence rate in the GA insured population is 0.084%. 

This is significantly less than the occurrence rate Acumen obtained when multiplying 38.6% x 

1% ASD prevalence rate among O - 26 year olds. The 38.6% represents children under 26 years 

of age as a percentage of the entire insured population of all members; this is based on NDPERS 

data for active employees and dependents as of Jan 2017. When 38.6% is multiplied by 1%, we 

obtain the expected occurrence rate in the overall insured population determined by Acumen. 

This occurrence rate developed by Acumen is 0.386%, and it is much greater than the actual 

occurrence rate reported in the GA data of 0.084%. Note that 0.386% is 4.6 times as much as 

.084%. Whereas the GA occurrence rate is based on actual data, the Acumen rate was 

projected from demographic and prevalence data. Again the GA data may be under-reported, 

but it is also possible that the Acumen occurrence rate is overstated. This may be off-set by 

similar but opposite under-statement of Acumen's "take-up" rate among children diagnosed 

with ASD, as further explained on page 14 of this report . 

A report was published in JAMA Pediatrics in July 2016, Volume I, Issue 12, titled "Effects of 

Autism Spectrum Disorder Insurance Mandates on the Treated Prevalence of Autism Spectrum 

Disorder, Diagnosis Rates Increase, but Shortfalls Remain." The key finding is, "State mandates 

requiring commercial health plans to cover services for children with autism spectrum disorder 

increased the number of children diagnosed with the disorder. However, diagnosis rates remain 

much lower than community estimates, suggesting that many commercially insured children 
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with ASD remain undiagnosed or are insured through public plans." This finding is consistent 

with the GA data. 

Missouri has had an ASD coverage mandate in place for health insurance for several years and 

published annual statistics on use and cost of ASD services from 2011 through 2015. The table 

below is from page 2 of the Annual Report to the Missouri Legislature-"lnsurance Coverage for 

Autism Treatment & Applied Behavior Analysis", Statistics section, February 1, 2016. 

MISSOURI ASD STATS 

2011 

% Total Losses 

Monthly Cost for Ind iv 
for Autism Treatment 

0.10% 

Cost PMPM 
All Autism Treatments 
ABA SeNices only 

Annual COST Trend--Calculated 

All Autism Treatments 

ABA SeNices only 

Number of Autism related claims 
Number of ABA claims 

Annual Claim #Trend--Calculated 

All Autism Treatments 
ABA SeNices only 

$143 

$0.25 

$0.06 

2012 

0.16% 

$222 

$0.38 

$0.17 

52% 

183% 

2013 

0.20% 

$255 

$0.48 

$0.22 

26% 

29% 

43,372 

14,505 

2014 

0.21% 

$278 

$0.50 

$0.26 

4% 

18% 

51,855 

25,291 

20% 

74% 

2015 

0.25% 

$357 

$0.60 

$0.30 

20% 

15% 

61,457 

32,997 

19% 

30% 

Note that the ASD mandate in MO is not identical to HB 1434. The MO mandate requires ABA 

to an annual maximum of $41,263 for children up to age 19. 

A VA mandate study showed a cost of $3.50 per contract per year, which is $0.29 per contract 

per month. Assuming 2.5 members per contract; that is equivalent to $0.11 PMPM. The VA 

mandate, however, covers children 2 to 6. Hence, it too is different than HB 1434 because VA 

covers a smaller percentage of its privately insured population due to the age restriction. 

In producing this report, other sources were referenced for reasonability. The scarcity of actual 

ASD treatment use and cost data makes all these preliminary cost estimates more speculative 

prior to implementation of the mandate. However, the emerging actual ASD data is also not 

without problems. Adjustments need to be considered when using other states' estimated 

(projected) or actual data. 
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OBSERVATIONS AND FINDINGS 

As described earlier, there are a number of different factors and forces that will affect the use 

and cost of ASD under HB 1434 in the first year of implementation as well as subsequent years. 

The future extent of these different factors or forces is difficult to accurately estimate in the 

present. Sensitivity testing of these individual forces shows that the initial estimate could be 

considerably less or more than the point estimate provided in this report. That is, in advance of 

the implementation of HB 1434, there is a wide margin of error for the point estimate and a 

wide range in which the true actual cost could result. 

Most reports in advance of implementation in other states show an expected cost of 0.1% to 

1% of annual premium or claims cost. The eligibility criteria under any mandate for ASD 

treatment may affect its use and cost. Some states have different eligibility standards for ASD 

services than in HB 1434. For example, some states: 

• Limit coverage to ages 0 - 21 or other younger age groups 

• Reduce the annual maximum for ABA for older children, such as $50,000 for 0 - 6 years 

of age; $40,000 for 7 - 12 years of age; and $30,000 for 13 - 18. The rationale behind 

such a step-wise decrease is that behavior is easier to change in young children than 

older children and intensive ABA {more hours/ week) is more effective in younger 

children than older. 

HB 1434 does not reduce the ABA annual maximum with age. If it did, the expected cost could 

lower than the point estimate already provided in this report; however, that is also not certain. 

Similarly, if HB 1434 restricted eligibility to children younger than 21 years of age, that could 

also reduce expected cost. Nonetheless, the highest use {in terms of hours/ week) is expected 

to be associated with younger children; and, it is expected that children age 21 through 25 

years of age will obtain fewer services for ASD treatment, at lower cost annually, than younger 

children. Hence, if HB 1434 were limited to children younger than 21, the expected cost would 

not necessarily be 21/26 of the original point estimate. Those with ASD in the 21 through age 

25 range are expected to use fewer ASD treatment services annually than young children, 

especially those younger than age 9. 

States often implement ASD coverage mandates that differ somewhat with respect to eligibility 

and benefits. For this reason, caution should be exercised in comparing results of emerging 

data across different states . 
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CALCULATIONS 

Acumen estimates that first year claims cost for ASD services in 2017 under HB 1434 would be 

$0.61 per member per month (PMPM). This is a point estimate, and the true actual amount 

could be considerably more or less than the point estimate. If the availability of behavior 

therapists and other ASB providers is low, the use and cost will be less than expected. Similarly, 

if public knowledge of HB 1434 is limited and ND residents remain unaware that ASD is covered 

under private health insurance, it too could depress the initial use of ASD services. Moreover, 

children with ASD, who live in remote rural locations in the state, may have lower use of ASD 

treatment than expected. Similarly, unforeseen circumstance and factors could contribute to 

use and cost that is greater than $0.61 PMPM in year one. This estimate assumes all members 

are covered all year with no reduction for phase-in. In order to establish the initial year claim 

cost in 2016, Acumen created the following cost projection model shown below: 

Table 1-Development of Expected Average Per Member Per Month (PMPM) Claims Cost 

CALCULATIONS, Yr 1 Claims Cost, 2016 Basis 

The factors chosen below are expected values. 

They are not known for certain in advance. 

Behavioral 

Therapy (may 

include ABA) 

Occurence Rate in General Pop 
Take-Up Among All Diagnsd 

Average# Hrs/Month 
Avg Cost/ Hr 

5% 
29.0 

$52.50 

0.00386 

All Other 

ASDService 

& Treatments 

18% 

$5,000 Avg Annual Cost for 

Children Treated 

2016 PMPM Claims Cost, 

spread over all insureds 

TOTAL 

Q2 2016 CLAIM COST 

NDPERS ACTIVES, PMPM 

% of Claim Cost 

CONFIDENTIAL 

$0.291 $0.291 

$0.ss! 

$453 

0.13% 
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ACUMEN ACTUARIAL 

This 2016 amount was calculated first . To obtain the 2017 amount, the 2016 expected claims 

cost was trended by 5% to reflect a 2017 basis of $0.61 PMPM. 

$0.61 = $0.58 X 1.05. 

The $0.58 PMPM expected starting point was developed as shown in Table 1. The expected 

cost of behavioral services for children under 26 diagnosed with ASD was developed separately 

from the cost of non-behavioral based ASD services. This amount is spread over all members to 

obtain a PMPM cost for each service track. The two PMPMs were then summed to obtain the 

total 2016 expected cost of $0.58 PMPM for HB 1434 when spread over all insured members. 

In the Acumen model, there is an interplay between the occurrence rate and the take-up rate . 

The former describes the relative frequency with which children with ASD are represented in 

the overall insured population. The take-up rate represents the portion of children with ASD 

who actually receive treatment in either of the two services categories-Behavioral treatment 

(which includes ABA) and non-Behavioral treatment. It is important to consider cost of these 

two service tracks in tandem. In the Acumen model, it is possible that the occurrence rate is 

understated and the take-up rate is overstated . However, these are offsetting if the one is 

understated commensurate with the overstatement of the other. 

The Acumen model splits the calculation into the two different service categories or "tracks" -

Behavioral services and non-Behavioral. A separate PMPM is calculated for each. The "non

Behavioral" track is estimated using an expected average frequency times expected average 

cost per person treated per year. This is then converted to a per member per month basis, and 

the cost is spread over all insured members. 

After the separate claims cost is developed for each track and the two are summed, a percent 

of total claims cost number is then calculated based on the overall Medical cost of $453 PMPM 

using the Q2 2016 PMPM for the NDPERS health insurance plan active employees and 

dependents, which includes both state employees and those of political sub-divisions. On a 

2016 basis, the $0.58 claims cost is 0.13% of the overall health claims cost of $453 PMPM . For 

2017, it would be expected to be the same 0.13% of overall cost. 

Note that the claim costs for the two service tracks (Behavioral and non-Behavioral) are 

approximately equivalent. This is reasonable and consistent with the emerging ASD cost data 

from the state of Missouri. 

After developing the model for expected average year one cost as a point estimate, a five year 

proforma was developed that projects the expected values over the next four years under 

different assumed growth rates . The year one expected costs in the 5 year model are based on 

the year one point estimate. It becomes the medium initial cost estimate, and two additional 

scenarios are shown for year one cost representing a low and a high estimate. 
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FIVE YEAR COST MODEL--

In establishing a proforma with expected annual cost for the first five years, three growth-rate 

scenarios are considered in combination with three initial use and cost scenarios. 

• SCENARIOS for Initial Use and Cost-Low, Medium, High 

• SCENARIOS for Annual Growth Rate-Slow, Medium, Fast 

The initial year 2017 claims cost estimate of $0.61 PMPM corresponds to the "medium" initial 

use and cost scenario. Over a five year horizon, different results occur under the different 

combinations of scenarios. The low and high, and the slow and fast, are not meant to represent 

best-case or worst-case scenarios. 

Low Initial Use and Cost combined with Slow Growth Rate leads to the lowest use and cost in 

year 5. Oppositely, High Initial Use and Cost combined with Fast Growth Rate leads to the 

highest use and cost in year 5. This is shown in the table below: 

Table 2 

Annual INITIAL USE AND COST 
Growth 

Rate Low Medium High 

SLOW Lowest Yr 5 

MEDIUM Expected 

FAST Highest Yr 5 

Again, these are not best and worst-case scenarios. They are the lowest or highest of the 

various combinations of initial cost in year one and growth rate over future years. 

In the next table, Table 3, we see a five year proforma of expected cost over the first five years 

under the nine different combinations of 3 initial use and cost scenarios vs. 3 growth rates. 

The low initial use and cost ($0.24) is based on 40% of the expected (medium) $0.61 PMPM . 

The high initial use and cost ($0.92) is based on 150% of the expected $0.61. These year one 

costs are then trended forward to years two through five at the three different rates of annual 

growth . The growth rates correspond to ASD treatment services under HB 1434, which are 

expected to increase more quickly than overall health spending because ASD coverage is a new 

requirement subject to different utilization trend forces than general health spending. 

The slow growth rate corresponds to 5% annually. The medium growth rate corresponds to 

15%, and the fast to 30%. Note that the slow growth rate of 5% is the same as the trend rate 
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ACUMEN ACTUARIAL 

used to establish the initial cost of ASD services under HB 1434 for 2017 and 2018 for 

whichever is the initial year of implementation. This is appropriate. The 5% trend of the 

expected 2016 ASD cost was used to establish the initial year cost only relative to the projection 

which was centered on 2016. In order to estimate the initial year cost of HB 1434 in 2017 or 

2018, a trend factor needed to be used to increase that cost relative to 2016. Once HB 1434 is 

in place, however, it is expected that the use and cost of ASD services will increase annually at a 

faster rate than the overall cost of health care. This is primarily due to a faster increase in the 

utilization of ASD services and not a faster increase in the unit cost of ASD services. 

The use of the different scenarios helps the reader to understand the range of cost that may 

occur over the course of the first five years, and even in year one. It would be misleading for 

this report to represent the cost estimate for any year as highly accurate, even under the 

medium scenario for both initial cost and growth rate. Although the numbers are shown to two 

decimal places, the two decimal digit representation does not mean that the actual cost of ASD 

services under HB 1434 (once all is known at some future time) will be exactly the same as the 

two decimal amounts shown here. 

Note that the yellow-highlighted column in the center of the medium growth rate represents 

the years 1 - 5 claims cost of ASD services under HB 1434 assuming medium initial use and cost 

and a medium annual growth rate over the next four years. This is in the second box of Table 3. 

Here again, it is possible that the expected first year cost of $0.61 may be high (overstated) 

compared w ith the ultimate actual cost, but the 5th year actual cost could be considerably more 

than the expected $1.07 (understated) for reasons that cannot be fully anticipated at this time. 

Emerging ASD claims data from other states, despite its potential shortcomings in credibility 

and reliability, seems to show significant increases from year one to year three in some cases. 

Hence, the fast growth rate costs are shown in the last box of table 3. Under the fast growth 

scenario, the $0.61 claims cost in year one becomes a $1. 75 PMPM cost in year five. 

Note also that the year one costs are identical in all three boxes reflecting different growth 

rates-slow, medium, and fast annual growth rates. 

In year five, there is a wide range of estimated claims costs based on the nine combinations of 

the three scenarios. At the low end is $0.30 based on low initial cost and slow growth. At the 

high end is $2.62 based on high initial cost and fast growth. Neither is a best or worst-case 

scenario. 
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Table 3-Claims Cost Only (PMPM) 

SCENARIOS FOR INITIAL USE & COST vs GROWTH 

Assumes implementation in 2017 

SLOW GROWTH-- Assumes 5% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.24 $0.61 $0.92 

2 $0.26 $0.64 $0.96 

3 $0.27 $0.67 $1.01 

4 $0.28 $0.71 $1.06 

5 $0.30 $0.74 $1.12 

MEDIUM GROWTH RATE--Assumes 15% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.24 $0.61 $0.92 

2 $0.28 $0.70 $1.06 

3 $0.32 $0.81 $1.21 

4 $0.37 $0.93 $1.40 

5 $0.43 $1.07 $1.61 

FAST GROWTH RATE--Assumes 30% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.24 $0.61 $0.92 

2 $0.32 $0.80 $1.19 

3 $0.41 $1.03 $1.55 

4 $0.54 $1.34 $2.02 

5 $0.70 $1.75 $2.62 

The numbers contained in the next table, Table 4, show the expected cost of HB 1434 over five 

years with the incremental administrative cost included in addition to the expected claims cost 

for ASD services. 
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ACUMEN ACTUARIAL 

Table 4-lncludes Both Claims Cost and Administrative Cost (PMPM) 

TOTAL INCREMENTAL COST INCLUDING BOTH CLAIMS 

and ADMIN COST PMPM OVER TIME UNDER DIFFERENT 

SCENARIOS FOR INITIAL USE & COST vs GROWTH 

Assumes implementation in 2017 

SLOW GROWTH-- Assumes 5% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.28 $0.71 $1.07 

2 $0.30 $0.75 $1.12 

3 $0.31 $0.78 $1.18 

4 $0.33 $0.82 $1.24 

5 $0.35 $0.87 $1.30 

MEDIUM GROWTH RATE--Assumes 15% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.28 $0.71 $1.07 

2 $0.33 $0.82 $1.23 

3 $0.38 $0.94 $1.41 

4 $0.43 $1.08 $1.62 

5 $0.50 $1.24 $1.87 

FAST GROWTH RATE--Assumes 30% Annual Trend 

Initial Use and Cost 

Low Medium High 

YEAR 

1 $0.28 $0.71 $1.07 

2 $0.37 $0.93 $1.39 

3 $0.48 $1.20 $1.80 

4 $0.63 $1.56 $2.35 

5 $0.81 $2.03 $3.05 
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CONCLUSION 

In many states that have contemplated implementing bills similar to HB 1434, there has been 

preliminary concern about the potential high cost of covering ABA and other treatments for 

ASD. This concern is further heightened when those estimating the future cost (and those who 

will pay for it) learn that ABA can potentially cost $50,000 per year and that an increasing 

number of children are diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. In reality, not all children 

diagnosed with ASD will receive treatment, and, of those who receive treatment, many will 

receive some form of evidence-based ASD treatment other than ABA or some other form of 

behavioral treatment. Very few children will receive $50,000 of ABA per year. Assuming that 

most children with ASD will receive $50,000 of ABA per year would be incorrect and would 

substantially overstate the true cost of HB 1434. It would similar to assuming that every person 

under the treatment of a cardiologist needs to have a heart transplant. 

Relative to some other states, especially states that already mandate the coverage of ASD in 

health insurance, ND may have a scarcity of trained providers who can provide ASD services, 

support, and treatment to children with ASD. Based on the comparison of BACB certified 

behavior therapists in Missouri vs. North Dakota, it seems there are fewer providers in North 

Dakota per 1,000 people in the general population. This deficit in provider supply could reduce 

the use and cost in the initial year of implementation of HB 1434, and this could continue 

beyond year one until there are enough qualified providers throughout the state to meet the 

demand for services for children with ASD. 

The estimated first year claims cost of providing ASD services in ND under HB 1434 is $0.61 

PMPM in 2017. This is an approximate point estimate within a wider range of possible cost 

outcomes. It is possible that the actual cost could be less than half of that. It is also possible 

that it could cost 50% more than $0.61. The wide range of potential cost is reasonable . It 

would be unreasonable to assert that the estimate of $0.61 PMPM is precise to the penny and 

the actual cost will be exactly that. 

On a per contract per month basis, the $0.61 PMPM is equivalent to $1.61 per contract per 

month for the NDPERS health insurance plan for active employees and their dependents. This 

PCPM amount is calculated using 2.64 members per contract based on the actual January 

enrollment data for members and contracts. 

While some services and support are already provided for children with ASD in the school 

setting under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, sections Band C, this is not a 

substitute or replacement for treatment for children with ASD in the home or community, 

outside of the school setting. The extent to which a child with ASD needs services in the home 
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or community under private health insurance will often be similar to the need that child has in 

school. However, there are some children with ASD who have need for services in the school 

system but do not need services outside school. Oppositely, there are children with ASD who 

have need for treatment outside school but not in school. And then there are those who 

receive services both in school and out, in varying amounts. 

Some children with ASD are high functioning and never use any ABA in their lifetimes either in 

the school setting or privately under health coverage . Other children who are at the other end 

of the spectrum may have more need for ASD services including ABA. These services, especially 

behavioral approaches, seem to be more effective when children are young and their brains 

and behavior are more malleable. In terms of hours per week of needed ASD services, children 

at one end of the spectrum have the most need, and children at the other end have the least 

need. 

When ASD services are provided in school, they are part of the child's Individual Education Plan. 

The intent is to help the child with ASD become more functional in the educational 

environment for the purpose of learning. Some of the behavioral training the child receives in 

the school setting is transferrable to the home or community, but it is not necessarily a 

substitute for it. Whether in the school system or outside it, some of the ASD training is 

directed toward parental coaching. This is intended to give parents strategies and approaches 

to alter and improve the autistic child's behavior everywhere, including at home and in the 

community at large. In severe cases, it may begin with teaching the parents effective strategies 

to stop the child from self-injury or other behaviors that may adversely affect the siblings and 

parents in the home. 

Subsection 11 of the HB1434 requires the ND Insurance Commissioner to submit a biennial 

report to the legislative management on concerning implementation of HB 1434, and the use 

and cost of ASD services under private health insurance plans covered by the bill. This is 

important because it will help the state measure the use and cost of ASD services under HB 

1434 going forward . 

Subsection 11 requires the reporting of the number of members who are children less than 26 

years of age diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. It does not require reporting of the 

total number of member months for fill.members. However, this would be a helpful 

requirement because it would allow the state to track the children under 26 diagnosed with 

ASD as a percentage of total members over time, which was referred to as the "occurrence 

rate" in the calculations section of this report. 

It is difficult to draw conclusions about the true actual cost of ASD services from these state

specific reports, especially in year one. The mandate may be phased-in in such a way that the 

first year numbers are understated because some plans are subject to the mandates for only 

part of the year. The data in these reports is based on self-reported numbers from participating 
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insurers. Typically, the data is not audited. There may be issues with the credibility and 

reliability of the data. The credibility issues arise as a function of small numbers since ASD cost 

is less than 1% of total health spending. 

When administrative cost is added to the expected claims cost using 14% of premium, the total 

incremental effect on premium in year one is expected to be $0.71 PMPM in 2017 for the 

NDPERS health insurance plan for active employees and their dependents. 

($0.71 = $0.61 I (1- .14). 

The same cost is expected to apply to the commercial insured population to which HB 1434 

applies (outside of the members in the ND PERS health insurance plan for Active employees and 

dependents). 

For the NDPERS health insurance plan for Retired employees and dependents, the incremental 

2017 claims cost of HB 1434 is expected to be de minimis--less than $0.05 PMPM. This is 

substantially less than for the Active plan because the Retiree plan has far fewer children under 

26 years of age as a percent of all members. Despite the provision for coverage of 

grandchildren under special circumstances, HB 1434 will have far less effect on the PMPM cost 

of the Retiree plan, if any. Given the very low percentage of children covered by the Retiree 

plan, the claims cost (even with administrative cost added) is expected to be pennies only. 

That said, the smaller Retiree plan has far fewer members than the Active plan, and its actual 

results will be subject to more statistical fluctuation. 

Similarly, when the effects of HB 1434 are observed on health claims data in future years, some 

insurers or plan-specific data may show actual cost that deviates significantly from the 

expected. This is a common problem when health cost data is sliced and diced into multiple 

cells of relatively small credibility. The numbers prepared in this report are intended to 

represent the average expected cost across all members in North Dakota . 
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QUALIFICATIONS AND LIMITATIONS: 

This actuarial report is intended for the state of North Dakota for the purpose of its evaluation 

of the proposed legislation under HB 1434. It provides an estimate of the uncertain future cost 

of ASD services to be provided under HB 1434. This report summarizes Acumen's review and 

provides data, information, and Acumen's analytical findings. 

The use and discussion of this document is limited to North Dakota and Acumen Actuarial. This 

report is not to be used for any other application or purpose. It was developed specifically for 

the state of North Dakota as it applies to the actuarial evaluation of HB 1434 at this point in 

time. The contents of this report are not intended for any other use or purpose. If the 

distribution of this report is not prohibited by public records law, this report should not be 

distributed to third parties without Acumen's prior permission. This report shall be released 

only in whole, and it shall not be released in part to any party. 

This review is limited in time and scope. It is not a guarantee that ND's future actual ASD 

services cost under HB 1434 will equal those shown in this report. In conducting my work, I 

have reviewed various data. In addition to publically available data and information, I have 

been supplied with and relied upon data and information provided by the state of ND. 

This report does not recommend a specific course of action. The intent of this review and 

report is to provide objective facts and findings that the state of ND Legislative Council can use 

to evaluate HB 1434 with respect to the expected future cost and use of ASD services in private 

health insurance as required under the bill. It is not a legal opinion and does not provide legal 

advice on matters of law pertaining to the legislation. 

I, Daniel Bailey, am a consulting health actuary and owner of Acumen Actuarial LLC. I am a 

fellow of the Society of Actuaries and member of the American Academy of Actuaries, and in 

good standing with both organizations. I meet the Qualification Standards to render the 

opinion contained herein. If you have questions, please contact me at bailey-d-l@comcast.net. 

My office phone is 860-986-4052. 

Daniel Bailey, FSA, MAAA 
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PREFACE 

This supplemental actuarial report from Acumen Actuarial dated February 26, 2017 is an addendum to 

our original actuarial report issued on February 2, 2017 titled "Actuarial Analysis of HB 1434". In the 

original report, Acumen presented its findings and conclusions relative to the original version of HB 

1434. 

In this addendum, Acumen Actuarial presents its findings related to the revisions to HB 1434 proposed 

February 9, 2017 by the North Dakota Legislative Council. These revisions are contained in "First 

Engrossment, Engrossed House Bill Number HB 1434." 



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The modifications to the original bill are not extreme; however, they are expected to have a small but 

material impact on the expected average cost of the autism spectrum disorder mandate originally 

proposed in the initial version of HB 1434. 

There are two fundamental modifications to the original bill that may affect the expected average claims 

cost for 2017-1) the limitation of ASD benefits to children up to age 19 rather than to age 26, and 2) 

the reduction in the amount of annual Applied Behavioral Analysis (ABA) maximums depending on age

bracket. 

In the initial year ofthe mandate, 2017, the revised HB 1434 could be expected to cost approximately 

5% less than the original bill. The range of expected cost reduction relative to the original is 0% to 15%. 

The expected average claim cost for 2017 was $0.61 PMPM under the original bill. This becomes $0.58 

PMPM under the revised bill. 

With the cost of administrative services added, the original cost estimate was $0.71 PMPM. Under the 

revised bill, it is $0.67 PMPM, with rounding. 

It is not the author's intention to imply a false sense of precision. The direction of the cost change is 

known; the exact magnitude is not. The revis ions to the mandate are not expected to increase the cost . 

However, the extent to which they decrease the cost relative to the original is uncertain. 

The cost reduction from the original to the revised version of HB 1434 could be described as small but 

material. As previously mentioned in the original report, the annual maximum on ABA services may 

have some sentinel effect and limit utilization that would have otherwise exceeded the revised 

maximums. That is to say the annual ABA maximums may function as a deterrent to ABA utilization, 

especially the lower maximums for children of older ages-7 through 13 years of age, and 14 through 

age 18. 



CONTENT and CONCLUSION 

As it pertains to Acumen's original cost estimate, there are two fundamental revisions to HB 

1434 in the First Engrossment that may affect the future cost: 

1. The first change to consider is the limitation of the ASD mandate to children less than 19 

years of age. {The original version covered children less than age 26.) 

2. The second fundamental change is the revision in the annual benefit maximum that 

applies to Applied Behavior Analysis services. {In the original version, an annual ABA 

maximum of $50,000 for ABA services was applicable to children up to age 26.) In the 

revised version of HB 1434, the ABA annual maximum is as follows: 

a. $36,000 for children less than age 7 

b. $25,000 for children from age 7 through age 13 

c. $12,500 for children from age 14 through age 18. 

The revised bill stipulates that the annual maximum cannot be less than these amounts, but it 

does not preclude insurers from establishing their own annual maximums for ABA services that 

exceed the amounts shown. Whether any insurers will choose to cover more than the ABA 

maximums shown is unknown at this time, but in the past, health insurers have tended not to 

exceed annual statutory maximums for specific benefits. 

In Acumen's original report, the average expected cost of the original version of HB 1434 was 

$0.61 PMPM for initial year 2017 claim cost. Given the revisions in the First Engrossment, 

Acumen expects the 2017 initial year cost would be approximately 0% to 15% less than the 

original estimate. Acumen's point estimate is an expected 5% reduction to the original cost

estimate. This projected cost differential is an approximation. It reduces the original $0.61 

PMPM claims cost to $0.58 PMPM in the revised bill. {The original cost-estimate in Acumen's 

original report was described as approximate and not a guarantee that the actual future cost 

would be exactly the same as the cost-estimate. The cost estimate of the revision is also.) 

The expected average cost of the original bill with administrative cost added was $0.71 PMPM. 

Acumen's estimate for the cost of the revised bill with administrative cost is $0.67 PMPM with 

rounding . 

In both cases, the expected reduction in cost is approximately three or four cents. While it is 

clear that the cost of the revised bill should not be greater than the original, the extent to which 

it is less than the original is quite difficult to ascertain with certitude. 

The logic behind this estimate reflects the fact that ASD services tend to be utilized more by 

younger children with ASD than older children and young adults. There is insufficient data to 

calculate the cost reduction with pinpoint precision. However, reducing the age to which the 



ASD mandate applies and reducing the amounts of the ABA annual maximums will certainly not 

increase the future cost. The extent to which these revisions will reduce the cost relative to the 

original is unclear. It is possible that no children over 18 and less than 26 would have received 

ASD care if the original version of HB 1434 would have been implemented. If that were the 

case, the reduction in the cost would be 0%. However, on a state-wide basis, it is possible that 

some children from age 19 up to age 26 would have utilized ASD services if the original bill were 

implemented. 

Concerning the reductions in the annual maximum from $50,000 to: 

a. $36,000 for children less than age 7 

b. $25,000 for children from age 7 through age 13 

c. $12,500 for children from age 14 through age 18. 

Under the original bill, some children may have received more ABA services than these revised 

maximums but less than the original $50,000. Data was provided by North Dakota's Autism 

Registry for the original actuarial report. It showed that symptoms of ASD tend to be noticed at 

a very young age, and only 3% of children with ASD had their symptoms first noticed after age 

20. 84% were first noticed before age 4. Although the data was limited, 2 years was the 

median age at which ASD symptoms were first noticed, and 7 years of age was the median age 

of diagnosis. 

The organization Autism Speaks reports that ABA techniques are effective for building 
important life skills in teens and adults with autism. They also report that there are many 
unknowns concerning the benefits of intensive ABA programs for teens and adults. ASD and 
ABA programs for younger children seem to be better studied in the academic literature than 
those for teens and adults. While many experts agree that behavior is easier to modify in 
young children, many programs nonetheless assert that ABA is effective for older children. 
Hence, it is difficult to say whether the maximums for each age-bracket are consistent with 
current ABA utilization levels or whether older children will more frequently have their ABA 
services limited by the revised annual maximums under the First Engrossment. 

By using a regressive approach to the annual maximums for ABA by age-bracket, there may be 

increased pressure on ASD providers and professionals to diagnose earlier, and parents and 

families may seek ABA treatment earlier. When all children with ASD can receive up to 

$50,000 of ABA services at any age prior to 26, as under the original version of the bill, there is 

less pressure for parents and families to obtain ABA treatment before the child ages into the 

next age-bracket with a lower maximum. The tendency to diagnose and treat earlier is not 

expected to occur instantly in year one, but it may increase over the first several years of the 

mandate as families and providers become accustomed to it. 

If there are children whose ABA is limited by the annual maximum, it is more likely that it will 

be those who are 7 to 10 and 14 to 16. These are children at the younger end of these two age 

brackets. This assumes that the number of hours of ABA used per child per year declines with 



age from age 5 to 26, which is consistent with the limited data and information about ABA use. 

Similarly, in terms of total hours of ASD services used per year, the annual use of ASD services 

in general is likely greater for children less than 10 years of age than those over 20, which is 

also consistent with the limited data and information about the use of ASD services. 

One thing is clear: It would be inappropriate to estimate the reduced cost of the revised bill by 

simply scaling down the original estimate to reflect the two fundamental changes {reduced age 

and reduced annual ABA maximums by age-bracket) . This would overstate the value of the cost 

reduction stemming from the revisions contained In the First Engrossment. Assuming a 

uniform distribution of children by age, the limitation to age 19 alone may reduce the number 

of eligible children and young adults by 27%, but it would not cut cost by the same amount. 

[ - 27% = {19 / 26) -1 ]. Again, those in the age 19 through 25 bracket are expected to 

use fewer ASD services and ABA annually than younger children . Hence, a 27% reduction is 

unlikely. Based on the ND PERS data provided for Active employees and dependents, the 

number of children to age 19 represent 69.3% of the children to age 26, which is 30.7% 

reduction. This 69% is slightly lower than the 73% because there are slightly more children in 

the 19 through 25 age range, especially ages 24 and 25. This demographic 'bump" could be a 

consequence of the fact that it is more cost-effective to keep children on the parents' policy to 

age 26 than for the children to buy their own separate individual coverage. 

One other issue to note with the revised version of HB 1434 {as described in the First 

Engrossment) is interstate equity. This was not discussed in the original report from Acumen 

Actuarial, but since the parameters of the revised HB 1434 were taken from South Dakota 

legislation, North and South Dakota's ASD benefits will be equivalent. This would eliminate the 

incentive for parents of children with ASD to relocate from one state to another in order to 

obtain significantly more generous ASD benefits in one state than another. It is unclear if and 

to what extent this is already happening from state to state. There are so many other factors 

that come into play when it comes to interstate family relocation that it seems unlikely that it 

plays a material role in the cost of the mandate itself. 

The cost estimate in this supplemental report is an adjustment to the cost estimate in the 

original report. In so doing, the margin of error is increased. Projecting the cost change 

produced by the revisions to HB 1434 in the First Engrossment requires some mathematical 

hair-splitting. We can be confident that the two fundamental revisions to HB 1434 reduce the 

cost of the original bill slightly, but we cannot determine exactly how much. The estimated 

reduction of 5% is reasonable. Although the original cost of HB 1434 is less than $1.00 PMPM, 

this 5% reduction cannot be ignored as entirely immaterial or de minimis. Hence the analysis 

in this supplemental report. Nonetheless, the 5% reduction is, in fact, small, and it amounts to 

pennies per person per month when spread over all insureds. 



LIMITATIONS OF USE AND QUALIFICATIONS 

This supplemental actuarial report is intended for the state of North Dakota for the purpose of 

its evaluation of the revised legislation under HB 1434 as described in the First Engrossment 

dated February 9, 2017. It provides an estimate of the uncertain future cost of ASD services to 

be provided under the revised version HB 1434 relative to the cost of the original version. This 

supplemental report is not intended as a stand-alone report. It is a supplement to the report 

issued February 2, 2017 by Acumen Actuarial; that original report concerns the original version 

of HB 1434. 

The use and discussion of this document is limited to North Dakota and Acumen Actuarial. This 

supplemental report is not to be used for any other application or purpose. It was developed 

specifically for the state of North Dakota as it applies to the actuarial evaluation of the revised 

version of HB 1434 at this point in time. It is intended for use in conjunction with the original 

report. The contents of this report are not intended for any other use or purpose. If the 

distribution of this report is not prohibited by public records law, this report should not be 

distributed to third parties without Acumen's prior permission. Like the original report, this 

supplemental report shall be released only in whole, and it shall not be released in part to any 

party. 

This review is limited in time and scope. It is not a guarantee that ND's future actual ASD 

services cost under HB 1434 will equal those shown in this report. This report does not 

recommend a specific course of action. The intent of this review and supplemental report is to 

provide objective facts and findings that the state of ND Legislative Council can use to evaluate 

the revised version of HB 1434 with respect to the expected future cost and use of ASD services 

in private health insurance as required under the bill. It is not a legal opinion and does not 

provide legal advice on matters of law pertaining to the legislation. 

I, Daniel Bailey, am a consulting health actuary and owner of Acumen Actuarial LLC. I am a 

fellow of the Society of Actuaries and member of the American Academy of Actuaries, and in 

good standing with both organizations. I meet the Qualification Standards to render the 

opinion contained herein. If you have questions, please contact me at bailey-d-l@comcast.net. 

My office phone is 860-986-4052. 

Daniel Bailey, FSA, MAAA 
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17.0261.02006 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senate Human Services Committee 

March 15, 2017 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1434 

Page 1, line 1, after "A BILL" replace the remainder of the bill with "for an Act to create and 
enact a new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to 
public employees retirement system uniform group insurance coverage of autism 
services; to require a report regarding coverage of autism services; and to provide an 
expiration date. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. A new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

Coverage of autism services. 

1.:. As used in this section: 

a. "Applied behavior analysis" has the same meaning as "practice of 
applied behavior analysis" as defined under section 43-32-01. 

b. "Autism spectrum disorder" means any of the pervasive 
developmental disorders or autism spectrum disorders as defined by 
the "Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders," American 
psychiatric association, fifth edition (2013) or a more recent version as 
identified by the board or as defined by the edition in effect at the time 
of diagnosis. 

c. "Behavioral health treatment" means a counseling or treatment 
program, including applied behavior analysis, that is: 

ill Necessary to develop, maintain, or restore, to the maximum 
extent practicable, the functioning of an individual; and 

.(21 Provided or supervised by a licensed behavior analyst or 
psychologist. 

g.,_ "Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder" means any medically 
necessary assessment, evaluation, or test to diagnose whether an 
individual has an autism spectrum disorder. 

~ "Pharmacy care" means a medication prescribed by an individual 
authorized to prescribe such a medication and any health-related 
service deemed medically necessary to determine the need or 
effectiveness of the medication. 

t. "Psychiatric care" means a direct or consultative service provided by a 
psychiatrist licensed in the state in which the psychiatrist practices. 

fl "Psychological care" means a direct or consultative service provided 
by a psychologist licensed in the state in which the psychologist 
practices. 
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~ "Therapeutic care" means any service provided by a licensed speech 
language pathologist, occupational therapist, or physical therapist. 

L. "Treatment for autism spectrum disorder" means evidence-based care 
and related equipment prescribed or ordered for an individual 
diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder by a licensed physician 
or a licensed psychologist who determines the care is medically 
necessary, including behavioral health treatment, pharmacy care, 
psychiatric care, psychological care, and therapeutic care. 

2. For all policies that become effective after June 30, 2017, and which do not 
extend past June 30, 2019, the board shall provide health benefits 
coverage for the screening for, diagnosis of, and treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder. Coverage under this section is not subject to limitations 
on the number of visits a covered individual may make for treatment for 
autism spectrum disorder. 

SECTION 2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM - COVERAGE 
OF AUTISM SERVICES. Pursuant to section 54-03-28, the public employees 
retirement system shall prepare and submit for introduction a bill to the sixty-sixth 
legislative assembly to repeal the expiration date for section 1 of this Act and to extend 
the coverage of autism services to apply to all group and individual health insurance 
policies. The public employees retirement system shall append to the bill a report 
regarding the effect of the autism services coverage requirement on the system's 
health insurance programs, information on the utilization and costs relating to the 
coverage, and a recommendation regarding whether the coverage should continue. 

SECTION 3. EXPIRATION DATE. Section 1 of this Act is effective through 
July 31 , 2019, and after that date is ineffective." 

Renumber accordingly 
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17.0261 .02007 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator J. Lee 

March 16, 2017 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1434 

Page 1, line 1, after "A BILL" replace the remainder of the bill with "for an Act to create and 
enact section a new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, 
relating to public employees retirement system uniform group insurance coverage of 
autism services; to require a report regarding coverage of autism services ; and to 
provide an expiration date. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

SECTION 1. A new section to chapter 54-52.1 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

Coverage of autism services . 

.L As used in this section : 

g.,_ "Applied behavior analysis" has the same meaning as "practice of 
applied behavior analysis" as defined under section 43-32-01 . 

~ "Autism spectrum disorder" means any of the pervasive 
developmental disorders or autism spectrum disorders as defined by 
the "Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders," American 
psychiatric association, fifth edition (2013) or a more recent version as 
identified by the board or as defined by the edition in effect at the time 
of diagnosis. 

c. "Behavioral health treatment" means a counseling or treatment 
program, including applied behavior analysis, that is: 

ill Necessary to develop, maintain , or restore , to the maximum 
extent practicable, the functioning of an individual ; and 

.(2_)_ Provided or supervised by a licensed behavior analyst or 
psychologist. 

~ "Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder" means any medically 
necessary assessment, evaluation, or test to diagnose whether an 
individual has an autism spectrum disorder. 

e. "Pharmacy care" means a medication prescribed by an individual 
authorized to prescribe such a medication and any health-related 
service deemed medically necessary to determine the need or 
effectiveness of the medication. 

t "Psychiatric care" means a direct or consultative service provided by a 
psychiatrist licensed in the state in which the psychiatrist practices. 

fl. "Psychological care" means a direct or consultative service provided 
by a psychologist licensed in the state in which the psychologist 
practices. 
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~ "Therapeutic care" means any service provided by a licensed speech 
language pathologist, occupational therapist, or physical therapist. 

L "Treatment for autism spectrum disorder" means evidence-based care 
and related equipment prescribed or ordered for an individual 
diagnosed with an autism spectrum disorder by a licensed physician 
or a licensed psychologist who determines the care is medically 
necessary, including behavioral health treatment, pharmacy care, 
psychiatric care, psychological care, and therapeutic care. 

2. For all policies that become effective after June 30, 2017, and which do not 
extend past June 30, 2019, the board shall provide health benefits 
coverage for the screening for, diagnosis of, and treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder in covered individuals under nineteen years of age. 

g_,_ Coverage under this section is not subject to limitations on the number 
of visits a covered individual may make for treatment for autism 
spectrum disorder. 

h,. Except as allowed under subdivision c, coverage under this section is 
not subject to dollar limits, deductibles, or coinsurance provisions less 
favorable to a covered individual than the dollar limits, deductibles, or 
coinsurance provisions that apply to substantially all medical and 
surgical benefits under the health benefits coverage. 

c. Coverage for applied behavioral analysis under this section must 
provide an annual maximum benefit of: 

ill Thirty-six thousand dollars for individuals under the age of 
seven; 

.(22 Twenty-five thousand dollars for individuals between the ages of 
seven and not yet fourteen; and 

.Q.l Twelve thousand five hundred dollars for individuals between 
the ages of fourteen and not yet nineteen. 

d. The coverage for applied behavior analysis must include the services 
of the personnel who work under the supervision of the licensed 
behavior analyst or psychologist overseeing the program. 

~ Except for inpatient services, if a covered individual is receiving 
treatment for an autism spectrum disorder, the coverage may allow for 
annual review of the treatment plan, unless a more frequent review is 
necessary. An agreement regarding the right to review a treatment 
plan more frequently than annually is limited in application to a 
particular covered individual being treated for an autism spectrum 
disorder. The cost of obtaining a review or treatment plan must be 
borne by the policy. 

~ This section does not limit benefits otherwise available to a covered 
individual under the uniform group insurance program. This section does 
not affect an obligation to provide services to a covered individual under an 
individualized family service plan, an individualized education program, or 
an individualized service plan. 
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SECTION 2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM - COVERAGE 
OF AUTISM SERVICES. 

1. Pursuant to section 54-03-28, the public employees retirement system 
shall prepare and submit for introduction a bill to the sixty-sixth legislative 
assembly to repeal the expiration date for section 1 of this Act and to 
extend the coverage of autism services to apply to all group and individual 
health insurance policies. The public employees retirement system shall 
append to the bill a report regarding the effect of the autism services 
coverage requirement on the system's health insurance programs, 
information on the utilization and costs relating to the coverage under this 
Act, a comparison of the system's coverage of autism services under this 
Act and the coverage of autism services by North Dakota insurers, and a 
recommendation regarding whether the coverage under this Act should 
continue as provided in this Act or should continue with amendments. 

2. Quarterly during the 2017-18 interim, the insurance commissioner shall 
survey health insurance carriers in the state to collect data regarding policy 
coverage and utilization of autism services. The commissioner shall 
provide this data to the public employees retirement system for inclusion in 
the report prepared under subsection 1. 

SECTION 3. EXPIRATION DATE. Section 1 of this Act is effective through 
July 31 , 2019, and after that date is ineffective." 

Renumber accordingly 
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